

DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY Fort Detrick Frederick, Maryland 21701

TECHNICAL REPORT 117

ON FLIGHT DYNAMICS OF MAGNUS ROTORS

Peter H. Zipfel

Munitions Development Division COMMODITY DEVELOPMENT & ENGINEERING LABORATORIES

Project 1T061101A91A

A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR A CONTRACTOR A CON

•

Constanting of the local division of the loc

••

November 1970

#### PREFACE

This report is the culmination of six years of Magnus Rotor research at Fort Detrick. The actual writing was carried out under the In-House Laboratory Independent Research Program (Project 1T061101A91A) with Dr. Harold N. Glassman as Director. This report was also submitted to the Faculty of the School of Engineering and Architecture of the Catholic University of America in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Engineering.

The author is indebted to Mr. Carroll B. Buttler, Air Force Armament Laboratory, and Mr. Ron E. Davis, Arnold Research Organization, for an advance copy of their wind tunnel data. Many ideas in this report evolved during discussions with Mr. James E. Brunk, Alpha Research, and Mr. Abraham Flatau, Edgewood Arsenal. Their contributions are gratefully acknowledged.

i

A LA MANA

# <u>A B S T R A C T</u>

Heinrich C. Magnus demonstrated experimentally, in 1852, that a body rotating in an air stream experiences a force that acts substantially normal to the air flow. An autorotating flight vehicle, designed to develop this Magnus force efficiently and to employ it as the major lift force in free flight, is called a Magnus rotor. It has been considered for application in areas such as the recovery of rocket boosters and aerial delivery. The underlying idea is to make the container serve as its own decelerator and thus eliminate the parachute. In this report the equations of motion of Magnus rotors are derived and their performance and stability analyzed and correlated with free flight tests.

Tensor concepts are used extensively in formulating the flight dynamical problem. In particular, the ordinary time derivative is replaced by a covariant time derivative, the Rotational Derivative, thus permitting an invariant formulation of the equations of motion, even under time-dependent coordinate transformations. As in airplane and missile dynamics, a reference flight is chosen and perturbation equations are developed. The reference flight of a Magnus rotor may be accelerated or decelerated. To determine its effect on the perturbation equations, a special tensorial formulation of the perturbations is introduced. It is also tailored to yield the aerodynamic forces in a simple McLaurin expansion. Because of the symmetry properties of Magnus rotors, certair aerodynamic derivatives are zero. An easy-to-apply rule is derived that tells which derivavive of arbitrary order vanishes. The nonlinear aerodynamics are represented by derivatives up to the third order; with all

i i

second order derivatives vanishing because of the symmetry properties of Magnus Rotors.

The perturbation equations are nonlinear nonautonomous ordinary differential equations of fifth order with three degrees of freedom: rolling, yawing, and sideslipping. Their stability is analyzed first for the simple but important case of linear aerodynamics and a steadystate reference flight; i.e., the governing equations are linear and autonomous. A simplified form of the roots is given. The roots describe three modes: nutation, undulation, and precession. If the nutational motions are of major concern, the perturbation equations can be reduced to two degrees of freedom: rolling and yawing. A further reduction to one degree of freedom is achieved by combining the roll and yaw angles to form the nutation angle and by employing the method of averaging. The result is a first order equation. Its stability is discussed. Necessary and sufficient conditions for limit cycles are derived, and it is shown that limit cycles can be avoided by proper design of the Magnus rotor.

The complete equations of motion are programmed in Fortran IV. Some sample computer runs show the trajectories and attitude motions of typical Magnus rotors under various initial conditions. They also validate the two- and one-degree-of-freedom perturbation equations and, in particular, verify the analytical prediction of limit cycles.

Thirty models flight tested represented eight different Magnus rotors: rectangular, triangular, and cylindrical shapes with different end plates and mass distributions. Their trajectories and attitude motions are

iii

correlated with computer simulations whose aerodynamic input data are solely based on wind tunnel tests. The agreement is satisfactory. To measure the aerodynamic damping derivatives in free flight, the inducednutation and limit-cycle methods are introduced. Two different Magnus rotor shapes were tested for limit cycles. The test results agree well with the predictions. It was found that larger end plates or a high moment of inertia about the spin axis can eliminate the limit cycle.

iv

# CONTENTS

, r

فتقتبه الانكافاتية والكلاف والمرابع والمتناسية المسلم للملال

٩

•

وتوقاته والمرتب وتوقد فالافتقاد وأخطر فالفنوع كذفر والزافيات ومرود ولاتوع فاست فلناوض فتروح وموارد وتتسرب وتحاف والمراجع والم

ر یک فیاست مریان به ایکوال ند سر

للتعاندون يهوهم ؤهالنا إجاماته المانيا لمرسياتك ومسترقا ومعاومة وبلاسة محاسكم وممرطلة ولأسرب المأنوان وخوانكم أوطرأت أمريك فالكرائية مترسيك فكرائلة مترسلين

รายการ สามารถการการการการสมบัตรณ์สมบัตร์ เหตุรัฐการการการสมบัตรที่สมบัตร

r

3

		Page
	Acknowledgments	i
	Abstract	ii
	List of Tables	vii
	List of Illustrations	viii
1.	INTRODUCTION	1
2.	PROBLEM STATEMENT AND APPROACH	9
3.	. TENSOR CONCEPTS IN FLIGHT DYNAMICS	
	3.1 General Principles and Definitions	15
	3.2 Concept of Position	19
	3.3 Concept of Motion	22
4.	PERTURBATION EQUATIONS	34
5.	5. NORMALIZATION	
	5.1 Dynamic-Normalized System	43
	5.2 Aero-Normalized System	45
	5.3 Discussion and Application	46
6.	FRAME AXES	51
7.	KINEMATICS	
8.	REFERENCE FLIGHT	66
	8.1 Conditions for the Existence of a Planar Glide Phase	66
	8.2 Equations of Motion	74
9.	LINEAR MOMENTUM	79
10.	ANGULAR MOMENTUM	83
	10.1 Simplifications	83
	10.2 Equations in Component Form	88

v

		Page
11.	AERODYNAMIC FORCES	96
	11.1 Functional Relationship	96
	11.2 Taylor Series Expansion	99
	11.3 Conditions for Vanishing Derivatives	108
	11.4 Discussion	114
	11.5 Applications	117
12.	EQUATIONS OF MOTION	126
	12.1 Lateral Perturbation Equations	126
	12.2 Averaging the Reference Equations	130
	12.3 Averaging the Lateral Perturbation Equations	134
	12.4 Averaged Equations of Motion	138
13.	STABILITY ANALYSIS	143
	13.1 Reduction to a Fourth Order System	144
	13.2 Stability of the First Approximation	149
	13.3 Nutation Limit Cycles	155
14.	COMPUTER SIMULATIONS AND TEST RESULTS	166
	14.1 Computed Flight Histories	166
	14.2 Validation of Assumptions	187
	14.3 Flight Test Results	192
15.	CRITICAL EVALUATION OF RESULTS	206
Nome	enclature	209
Literature Cited		216
APPE	ENDIXES	
	A. Proofs of Section 3.3	219
	B. Computer Program MAGSIX	229
	C. Magnus Rotor Data	240

vi

# LIST OF TABLES

Table No.	Title	Page
5.1	Defined Unit Scales of the Dynamic-Normalized System	44
5.2	Derived Unit Scales of the Dynamic-Normalized System	45
5.3	Defined Unit Scales of the Aero-Normalized System	46
5.4	Derived Unit Scales of the Aero-Normalized System	46
5.5	Dimensions and Unit Scales	48
6.1	Flight-Mechanical Frame Axes	54
6.2	Gyro-Mechanical Frame Axes	55
6.3	Coordinate Transformation Matrices	58
11.2	Lateral Derivatives	123
12.1	Equations of Motion	128
14.1	Computer Simulations	173
14.2	Validation of Order of Magnitude Estimates	188
14.3	Steady-State Nutation Frequencies	190
14.4	Analyzed Flight Tests	194
B.1	Data Sheet	232
B.2	Computer Symbols	233

.

.

,

t endstead

the state

مترجع الإضاب المتأثرات والمستخدمة والمراجع المراحية وتكركون والمتروط والمراجع والمكاتف والمراقع والمراقع

# LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

No. of the second s

ورقاعا فالأنافية والمتعارية والمعالية والمتلافية والمتحالية والمتحالية والمتحالية والمستحدية والمستحد والمستعملية

Figure No.	Title	Page
1.1	Typical Triangular, Cylindrical, and Rectangular Magnus Rotors	2
1.2	Perturbed Motions	6
4.1	The Two Kinds of Perturbations	39
6.1	Intersections of the Frame Axis with the Unit Sphere	56
7.1	Spherical Triangle	62
8.1	Location of Mass Elements	67
11,1	Aerodynamic Derivatives	121
13,1	Roll and Yaw Angles Projected on a Horizontal Plane	145
14.1	Transient Performance of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 1. Computer Run 13	174
14.2	Transient Trajectory of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 1. Computer Run 13	174
14.3	Transient Nutation of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 1. Computer Run 13	175
14.4	Transient Nutation of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 1. Computer Run 13	176
14.5	High Speed Transient Performance of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 1. Computer Run 15	176
14.6	High Speed Transient Trajectory of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 1. Computer Run 15	177
14.7	Lateral Motions With and Without Acceleration Term of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 1. Computer Runs 15 and 23	177
14.8	Performance of Accelerated Rectangular Magnus Rotor 1. Computer Runs 7.4 and 25	178
14.9	Lateral Motions With and Without Acceleration Term of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 1. Computer Runs 24 and 25	178

viii

ix

Figure No.	Title	Page
14.10	"Lift Down" High Speed Transient Performance of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 1. Computer Run 21	179
14.11	"Lift Down" High Speed Transient Trajectory of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 1. Computer Run 21	179
14.12	"Lift Down" Lateral Motions of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 1. Computer Run 21	180
14.13	High Speed, Low Spin Rate Transient Performance of Triangular Magnus Rotor 1. Computer Run 39	180
14.14	Transient Trajectory of Triangular Magnus Rotor 1. Computer Run 39	181
14.15	Transient Attitude Motions of Triangular Magnus Rotor 1. Computer Run 39	181
14.16	Low Speed, High Spin Rate Transient Performance of Cylindrical Magnus Rotor 1. Computer Run 40	182
14.17	Transient Trajectory of Cylindrical Magnus Rotor 1. Computer Run 40	182
14.18	Steady-State Limit Cycle of Cylindrical Magnus Rotor 4A. Computer Run 30	183
1¢.19	Dampened Nutation Cycles in Steady-State Flight of Cylindrical Magnus Rotor 11. Computer Run 31	184
14.20	Limit Cycle in Steady-State Flight of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 2. Computer Run 36	185
14.21	Dampened Nutation Cycles in Steady-State Flight of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 2. Computer Run 37	186
14.22	Comparison of Exact and Approximate Transient Nutation Frequencies of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 1. Computer Run 13	191
14.23	Flight Speed and Glide Angle of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 1. Flight Test July 26. Simulation Run 19	198
14.24	Spin Rate of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 1. Flight Test July 26. Simulation Run 19	198
14.25	Trajectory of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 1. Flight Test July 26, Simulation Run 19	199

aler in

ومقادهم فكالإفتاح فأكوب سأتح عادمتنا معلمان منافلا لأكال أسادكم ومعاف فالمحاص منافلان والماريون معاقدا لمسالم ومنت

والمتحافظ فلوالي والمعدود والمتقادات والمتحر والتحر وحاجاتهم والكالما والمراكب والمراري

وقارفته وتعاقب ووثاقتها وحرمانك وكالمرود

~

and the second of the second second

•

.

Figure No.	Title	Page
14,26	Transient Nutation of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 1 with Initial Conditions from Flight Test July 26, Simulation Run 19	200
14.27	Transient Nutation of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 1. FlightTest July 26. Simulation Run 19	201
14.28	Induced Nutation of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 1. Flight Test July 26	201
14.29	Transient Performance of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 3. Flight Test June 10. Simulation Run 32	202
14.30	Steady-State Limit Cycle of Rectangular Magnus Rotor 2. Flight Test June 30	202
14.31	Transient Performance of Triangular Magnus Rotor 1. Flight Test June 30. Simulation Run 35	203
14.32	Transient Performance of Cylindrical Magnus Rotr 1. Flight Test June 10. Simulation Run 34	203
14.33	Induced Nutation of Cylindrical Magaus Rotor 1. Flight Test June 10	204
14.34	Induced Nutation of Cylindrical Magnus Rotor 3. Flight Test June 30	204
14.35	Transient Performance of Cylindrical Magnus Rotor 11. Flight Test June 30. Simulation Run 38	205
14.36	Steady-State Limit Cycle of Cylindrical Magnus Rotor A. Flight Test June 30	205
B.1	MAGSIX Functional Chart	230
C.1	Rectangular Magnus Rotors 1, 2, and 3. Dimensions in Inches	240
J.2	Triangular Magnus Rotor l. Dimensions in Inches	241
C.3	Cylindrical Magnus Rotors 1, 3, 4A, and 11. Dimensions in Inches	242

x

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

Heinrich G. Magnus demonstrated experimentally, in 1852, that a body rotating in an air stream experiences a force that acts substantially normal to the air flow. An autorotating flight vehicle, designed to develop this Magnus force efficiently and to employ it as the major lift force in free flight, is called a Magnus rotor (MR). It consists of a center body, driving vanes, and, in most cases, endplates or ribs to assure proper orientation in free flight.

In general, the designer has much freedom in selecting the geometrical configuration so long as he provides driving vanes that generate a torque about an axis, the spin axis, and chooses a body with mirror symmetry relative to a plane normal to the spin axis. Any endplates will be arranged so that they are normal to the spin axis and the mirror symmetry is maintained. Five typical MR's are shown in Figure 1.1. They will be used to demonstrate and validate the analytical methods developed in this report. Some of the pertinent dimensions are: span b,\* chord c, and endplate diemeter d. The chord is defined as the diameter of that cylinder that fits tightly over the center body without driving vanes and is parallel to the spin axis. The reference area is  $S = b \cdot c$ .

The principal flight regime is the <u>planar steady-state glide phase</u>. It is characterized by a constant descent velocity of the center of mass along a straight line. The angle between this line and the horizon is the glide angle. While descending, part of the potential energy is

\* All symbols are listed in Nomenclature, page 209



converted via the driving vanes into kinetic energy, resulting in a constant rotation of the MR about a horizontal spin axis. The so generated aerodynamic circulation induces a Magnus force that is approximately normal to the flight velocity vector and the spin axis. Of particular importance is the ratio of the peripheral speed of the driving vanes to the flight speed of the MR. It is commonly referred to as the <u>tip-speed ratio</u>  $\hat{\omega}$ . In steady-atste flight any MR with geometrical similar configuration has the same tip-speed ratio, regardless of size, weight, and mass distribution. We now define the planar steady-state glide phase as that part of the flight, when the angular velocity vector is constant and horizontal and the linear velocity vector is constant and normal to the angular velocity vector.

Unless the initial conditions match the steady-state values, the MR will go through some transient flight regimes. The most important one is the <u>planar transient glide phase</u>. It is defined as that part of the flight when the angular velocity vector is still horizontal and the linear velocity vector remains in a vertical plane normal to the angular velocity vector, but the absolute values of both vectors change in time.

The <u>planar glide phase</u> comprises both the steady-state and transient flight regimes. It is the flight phase that is of principal interest in any performance analysis.

Other flight regimes, like end-on flight, end-over rotation, or flat spin, are sometimes investigated. However, they are studied only to find out how to avoid them through proper design. They usually are not part of a performance analysis.

In recent years, the Magnus rotor principle has been considered for application in areas such as the recovery of rocket boosters, Brunk (1, 2)\* and aerial delivery, Boehler (3) and Foshag (4). The MR also has been suggested for landing an instrumentation payload on Venus or Mars. The underlying idea is to make the container serve as its own decelerator and to eliminate the parachute. This is possible, because the high spin rate of an MR results in a drag coefficient between one and two (based on reference area S). In addition, the large angular momentum makes it insensitive to short-duration perturbations, and a lift-over-drag-ratio between one and three provides ample targeting range. With one of the several steering systems that have been proposed, the MR can be made to impact at a predetermined point. Thus, the MR is a precision decelerator system.

To discuss the flight dynamics of MR's in more detail, consider a particular application, say, the delivery of supplies from an air raft to a ground station. The supplies are stored in the center body, and the MK is prespun and launched through the tail gate of the cargo plane. Ideally, if the initial conditions match the steady-state conditions and the flight is free of disturbances, the MR would descend in a planar steady-state glide phase. However, this is never satisfied. Usually, the spin rate and the velocity vector are mismatched. If no other disturbances occur, the MR would go through e planar transient glide phase until the steadystate values are reached; i.e., the MR would perform a planar glide phase. Again, this is an ideal case. The disturbances that can be expected are mlsalignments during the launch phase, wind gusts, and geometrical and

<sup>\*</sup> All references are listed on pages 216 through 218

mass misalignments of the MR. They cause the MR to deviate from the planar glide phase. The question of "how much" must be answered by a stability analysis.

We are led to a similar stability analysis if we study the recovery of rocket boosters using the MR principle. After burn-out and separation, the booster goes through an arbitrary tumbling motion while picking up some spin with its driving vanes. The motion eventually transits into a nutational mode with a horizontal axis of nutation. The nutation damps out, and the steady-state velocity and rotation vectors are approached. The latter part of the flight, starting with a sufficiently small nutation-cone angle, can be considered as the planar glide phase of an MR with perturbations in the initial conditions.

The dynamics of an MR can best be explained in terms of a horizontally spinning gyroscope subjected to aerodynamic forces. The perturbations of the planar glide phase are rolling, yawing, and sideslipping (see Figure 1.2). They can perform three modes: nutation, precession, and undulation. The nutation and precession modes are those of a gyroscope with the modification that the nutation is aerodynamically damped. The undulation mode is a new mode that results from the aerodynamic forces created by sideslipping  $\beta$ . To these forces the MR responds with a precession that, in turn, changes  $\beta$ . The result is an unsteady precession; i.e., an undulation. The undulation mode can be oscillatory or aperiodic. In general, its motions are much slower than those of the nutation mode.

The MR is insensitive to short duration disturbances. However, even Email long-duration disturbances can cause the MR to deviate considerably



#### FIGURE 1.2 PERTURBED MOTIONS

from its planar glide phase. The most important such disturbance is a center of gravity offset along the spin axis. It causes the MR to precess horizontally at a constant rate.

To put the flight dynamics of MR's into perspective, we consider the dynamics of airplanes and spinning missiles. The MR shares the gyroscopic properties with the spinning missile. Hewever, its spin axis is approximately normal to the flight direction and in a horizontal plane. This results in different perturbation equations. The equations of the missile are expressed in pitch, yaw, angle of attack, and sideslip angle and can be brought into a convenient complex form. The perturbations of an MR are rolling, yawing, and sideslipping, and the equations are not amenable

Ş

to the complex variable transformation. Here, the angle of attack is measured in the plane normal to the spin axis, between a driving vane and the roll axis. It plays the part of the roll angle in the missile case. Yet the roll orientation of a rapidly spinning missile is unimportant, while the angle of attack in the case of the MR influences the aerodynamic forces considerably, because of the shape of the center body and the driving vanes.

With regard to the symmetry of the external configuration, the MR has the mirror symmetrical properties of an aircraft rather than the rotational symmetry of a missile. That is why the aerodynamics of MR's are expressed in terms of airplane conventions, while borrowing the Magnus derivative notation from missile aerodynamics. The MR differs from an airplane by its high angular momentum and its rapidly changing angle of attack. But the perturbation equations can still be separated into longitudinal and lateral equations. The lateral equations describe the rolling, yawing, and sideslipping motions with a strong gyroscopic coupling in the roll and yaw equations.

In general, the moment of inertia tensor of an MR is not circular relative to the spin axis as is usually the case in spinning missile dynamics. This again shows that the orientation of the MR, expressed by the angle of attack, plays a more important part than the roll orientation of a missile. Summarizing, we note that the flight dynamics of MR's are a combination of airplane and spinning missile dynamics.

A historical review of the Magnus rotor principle was given by Foshag and Boehler (4). It suffices to mention that Maxwell (5) first discussed the phenomenon of a free-falling spinning card. Only recently

have the flight dynamics of Magnus rotors again attracted the interest of researchers. Brunk (1, 2) studied the equivalent problem of the dynamics of spinning missiles at a 90-degree complex angle of attack, developing a linear theory of the steady-state glide phase and employing a six-degreeof-freedom computer simulation. Millevolte (6) investigated the linear aspects of the dynamic stability of Vortex Gliders (Magnus rotors) during steady-state glide phase. The autorotational characteristics of various Magnus rotor shapes were studied by Bustamante (7, 8, 9) with particular emphasis on the spin degree-of-freedom. All these efforts have helped to explain some of the flight phenomena of MR's. But much research remains to be done until the flight dynamics of MR's are understood as well as aircraft and missile dynamics.

#### 2. PROBLEM STATEMENT AND APPROACH

A properly designed MR will descend in a planar glide phase to the ground. The purpose of this report is to investigate the dynamics of the planar glide phase. For a complete analysis, the equations of motion must be derived, taking into account such effects as a noncircular moment of inertis ellipsoid, the rapidly rotating angle of attack, nonlinear aerodynamic forces, and the acceleration of the center of mass during the transient glide phase. But the equations should also be simple enough to be examined analytically. In particular, they should be suited for a stability analysis. This will yield the physical understanding of the flight phenomena and provide some simple velationships that are helpful in improving the design of an MR. To obtain the actual flight time histories, the equations must be programmed for computer. Finally, the required validation of these theoretical results can only come from the correlation of free-flight tests with computer runs.

To implement this program, we introduce the following basic assumptions:

1. The earth is an inertial reference frame and can be considered to be flat.

2. The MR is rigid with constant mass and is mirror symmetrical with respect to its external geometry and its mass distribution.

3. The material density of the MR is much greater than the density of the surrounding medium.

4. The perturbations of the planar glide phase are small.

CHAPTER ?

5. The flight speed and spin rate do not drop below ten percent cf their stenay-state values.

Assumptions 1 to 4 are familiar from the flight dynamics of airplanes. Because MR motions are rapid and their distances traveled short compared with the earth's rotation and diameter, respectively, Assumption 1 is well justified. Assumption 2 enables one to focus on the flight dynamical problem by introducing the ideal MR. Aeroelastic and asymmetrical effects are of second order and are not treated in this report in detail. The high material density ratio, Assumption 3, is required to simplify the equations and to permit the use of an averaging process. It is always satisfied if air is the surrounding medium. The small perturbation assumption eliminates the trigonometric functions, and Assumption 5 assures that the equations of motion do not become singular.

The problem requires an approach on two different levels. The first part of this report supplies the mathematical tools to formulate the flight dynamics of MR's. It is mathematically rigorous. The second part, beginning with Chapter 8, deals with the engineering analysis of the flight dynamics of MR's. There, many assumptions must be introduced and much intuition and experimental evidence is needed to arrive at a manageable set of equations of motion.

The equations of motion consist of reference equations and perturbation equations. The reference flight of the perturbation equations is the planar glide phase. Since, in general, the center-of-mass of the MR is accelerated, care must be taken in deriving the perturbation equations. This is achieved by using the methods of tensor analysis and by introducing

the special concept of a Rotational Derivative. The definitions and theorems are summarized in Chapter 3 and applied in Chapter 4 to obtain a general formulation of the perturbation equations of atmospheric flight dynamics. In Chapter 5 the systems for normalizing the equations are introduced. The Dynamic-Normalized System is used to simplify the equations of motion, whereas the Aero-Normalized System is needed to arrive at the aerodynamic coefficients.

Up to Chapter 5, the development is general enough to apply to all atmospheric flight dynamic problems. With the introduction of the Flight-Mechanical and Gyro-Mechanical Frame Axes in Chapter 6, the specialization on MR's begins. After collecting some of the kinematical relationships in Chapter 7, the Reference Flight is defined in Chapter 8, and necessary and sufficient conditions are stated under which a planar glide phase is possible. Then, the perturbation equations are derived starting with the linear momentum in Chapter 9 and the angular momentum in Chapter 10. The formulation of the aerodynamic forces in terms of derivatives is executed in detail in Chapter 11. Again, the methods of tensor analysis are used to prove a theorem that establishes the conditions for vanishing derivatives of arbitrary order. This is the key to the nonlinear representation of the aerodynamic forces. In Chapter 12, the implicit dependence of the equations of motions on the rapidly rotating angle of attack is eliminated by the Method of Averaging. The perturbation equations are separated into Lateral and Longitudinal Equations. The longitudinal equations are dropped, and the final equations of motion (i.e., the reference equations of the planar glide phase and the lateral perturbation equations) are summarized.

The stability of the lateral perturbation equations is analyzed in

Chapter 13. The linear perturbation equations are used to discuss the stability of the first approximation. To analyze the effect of aerodynamic nonlinearities, the perturbation equations are reduced to a one-degree-of-freedom equation using the Method of Averaging. The conditions under which limit cycles occur are shown, as are the methods of avoiding them.

In Chapter 14, the theoretical methods are applied to several typical Magnus rotor shapes. The equations of motion are programmed for computer, and some typical flight histories are shown. The reduction of the perturbation equation to a one-degree-of-freedom equation is justified by comparison with the integration of the exact equations by computer. To validate the theoretical approach, approximately 30 flight tests were conducted. Some of the results are correlated with computer simulations whose aerodynamic input data are solely based on wind tunnel tests. Two new methods are introduced to measure the aerodynamic damping derivatives. They are the induced-nutation and limit-cycle methods. Finally, in Chapter 15, the contributions of this report are evaluated, the weak points exposed, and future work described.

The report is divided into chapters and sections. In each chapter the equations are numbered consecutively. If the equations are crossreferenced between different chapters, the chapter number precedes the equation number. The reader who is not interested in the mathematical development of the equations of motion can skip Chapters 3, 4, 8, 9, 10, and 11, and concentrate on the results in Chapters 12 through 15.

#### 3. TENSOR CONCEPTS IN FLIGHT DYNAMICS .

The formulation and interpretation of problems in flight dynamics can be a formidable task if many bodies and reference frames are involved. It is therefore important to have a concise mathematical language on hand to model the physical processes. In this chapter a tool will be introduced that is (i) capable of expressing dynamic problems in an invariant tensor form under time-dependent coordinate transformations and (ii) particularly tailored to problems whose major elements are rigid bodies.

To motivate the reader, we consider Newton's Second Law in its usual form:

where it is always understood that the time derivative is taken relative to an inertial frame. If we use a matrix formulation, we must specify the coordinate system of the vector components. Let I indicate an inertial coordinate system. Then Equation (1) is written as:

For a non-inertial coordinate system, say ]<sup>6</sup>, the well known Euler transformation yields:

$$\frac{d}{dt} [p]^{8} + [\Omega^{(0)(1)}]^{3} [p]^{3} - [t]^{8}$$
(3)

where  $\left[\Omega^{(0)(r)}\right]^{B}$  is a skew-symmetric matrix describing the angular velocity of frame (B) relative to frame (I) . Comparing Equations (2) and (3) we note that Newton's law may assume different forms, depending on

the coordinate system it is expressed in. Consequently, the formulation of Equation (2) is not invariant under a coordinate transformation. This is not a serious disadvantage if two frames suffice to formulate a problem. But, in flight dynamics, many frames usually are involved: inertial frame, earth frame, stability frame, wind frame, body frame, etc. Then it is desirable to work with an invariant (i.e., tensor) formulation in order not to lose sight of the physics of the problem. However, the transformations between the coordinate systems are time-dependent. We therefore need a tensor formulation that is invariant even under time-dependent coordinate transformations. This will be achieved by introducing the so-called rotational time derivative,  $\mathcal{D}$ . Newton's law then assumes the invariant tensor form with respect to all time-dependent coordinate transformations:

$$[\mathcal{D}^{(\mathbf{r})}\boldsymbol{\rho}] - [\mathbf{f}] \tag{4}$$

where  $\mathfrak{P}^{(r)}$  is the rotational time derivative relative to the inertial frame (1). Expressed in the coordinate systems  $\mathfrak{I}^{r}$  and  $\mathfrak{I}^{\bullet}$ , we obtain the forms equivalent to the Equations (2) and (3):

$$[\mathcal{B}^{(r)}\rho]^{r} = [f]^{r}$$
<sup>(5)</sup>

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(r)}\rho\right]^{B} = \left[\uparrow\right]^{B} \tag{6}$$

Before we can give the definition of the rotational time derivative, we shall state a few general principles and definitions on which the two fundamental concepts of "position" and "motion" are based. The fundamental kinematical theorems will then be formulated and proved. In later chapters it will be shown, using the MR as an example, how the new tools are applied

ARY YELL

ないべい きちいが

to problems in flight dynamics.

## 3.1 GENERAL PRINCIPLES AND DEFINITIONS

The three basic notions of classical mechanics are according to Truesdell (10):

a. <u>Material Body</u>. A body is a three dimensional differentiable manifold, the elements of which are called particles. It possesses a nonnegative scalar measure that is called the mass distribution of the body. In particular, a body is called rigid if the distances between every pair of its particles are time-invariant.

b. <u>Force</u>. The force describes the action of the outside world on a body and the interaction between the different parts of the body. We distinguish between volume force (e.g., gravitational force) and surface force (e.g., aerodynamic force).

c. Euclidean Space-Time.

Classical mechanics is the investigation of the interaction of these three basic notions under four <u>axioms</u> (see Hamel (11)):

a. Time and space are homogeneous.

b. Space is isotropic.

c. Every effect must have its cause by which it is uniquely determined.

d. No particular length, velocity, or mass is singled out.

The surface forces of the force system depend on the kinematics of the body. This is expressed by the <u>constitutive equation</u>. Fr m Axiom b, it

follows, as Noll (12) showed, that the constitutive equations are invariant under a rotation in space. He calls this the <u>Principle of Material</u> <u>Indifference</u>.

The general principles must be cast into a mathematical language in order to allow a concise formulation of the dynamic problem and make it amenable to mathematical analysis. We introduce two basic mathematical notions:

a. <u>Point</u>. A point is the mathematical model of a physical object whose spatial extension is irrelevant. Example: particle.

b. <u>Frame</u>. A frame is an unbounded continuous set of elements over the Euclidean three-space whose distances are time-invariant and which possesses, as a subset, at least three noncollinear points.

The following <u>hypothesis</u> will govern the modeling of dynamic problems: The mathematical notions of "point" and "frame" are sufficient to formulate any problem in classical dynamics.

This statement cannot be proven universally, because we do not know every conceivable problem in classical dynamics. However, it can be made plausible by considering the first two basic notions of classical mechanics. A body can be modeled by a frame or by points, depending on whether it is rigid or not. Forces can be empressed as the interaction of points or frames. Because dynamics is that branch of mechanics that deals with material bodies and forces as they interact in Euclidean space-time, the hypothesis appears to be justified sufficiently.

The mapping of the elements of a frame onto Euclidean three-space is

accomplished via coordinate systems.

DEFINITIONS: A coordinate system is an abstract entity embedded in Euclidean three-space that establishes a one-to-one correspondence between the elements of a frame and the ordered triple of algebraic numbers. A coordinate system is said to be <u>associated</u> with a frame if the one-to-one correspondence is time-invariant. All coordinate systems associated with one frame form a class,  $\Upsilon$ , with  $\varpi^2$  elements related by translation and rotation. The entity of all these classes over all frames are the <u>allowable coordinate systems</u>, where we restrict ourselves to righthanded orthogonal Cartesian coordinate systems. The group of <u>allowable</u> coordinate transformations are the transformations between allowable coordinate systems. They are, in general, functions of time. Only within one class are the transformations time-invariant.

We are now in a position to define the meaning of a tensor as it will be used throughout this report. The components of a first-order tensor in a coordinate system, say  $J^{\bullet}$ , will be represented by lower case letters; e.g.,  $[x]^{\bullet}$ . Upper case letters are reserved for the components of secondorder tensors; e.g.,  $[x]^{\bullet}$ . The transformation matrix between two coordinate systems, say  $J^{\bullet}$  with respect to  $J^{\bullet}$ , is abbreviated by  $[T]^{\bullet \bullet}$ . (See Jeffreys (13)).

<u>DEFINITION</u>: A <u>first-order tensor (vector)</u> is the abstract collection of ordered triples (i.e., components), each of which is associated with an allowable coordinate system and such that any two satisfy the transformation law

 $[x]^{B} = [T]^{BA} [x]^{A}$ 

(7)

where  $\mathbf{j}^{\mathbf{x}}$  and  $\mathbf{j}^{\mathbf{x}}$  can be any allowable coordinate system. If we refer to this abstract collection, we write  $\{\mathbf{x}\}$ .  $[\mathbf{x}]^{\mathbf{x}}$  is just a particular element of  $[\mathbf{x}]$ ; i.e., the components expressed in the  $\mathbf{j}^{\mathbf{x}}$  coordinate system.

A similar statement defines a second-order tensor (tensor) with Equation (7) replaced by:

$$[8]^{\bullet} = [T]^{BA} [8]^{A} [T]^{BA^{T}}$$
(6)

[2] again stands for the abstract collection of all ordered 9-tuples associated with all allowable coordinate systems. The superscript  $\tau$  indicates the transposed matrix. Higher-order tensors could be defined similarly. However, they will not be required.

The notation combines the features of the dyadic and the matrix formulations. For instance, [X] is the abstract dyadic form that does not single out any coordinate system.  $[X]^{\circ}$  is a 3 x 3 matrix whose elements are the components of the second-order tensor in the coordinate system  $J^{\circ}$ . For further reference, we also adopt the convention that a frame is represented by a capital letter in parenthesis, say (A), and an element or point of the frame by the same capital letter A with a possible subscript. The coordinate systems associated with (A) also have the same capital letter,  $J^{\circ}$ , possibly modified by a subscript,  $J^{\circ}$ .

Thus far, we have assembled the basic mathematical elements needed to model kinematic problems. Two more concepts are required to establish the association between actual physical processes and the mathematical language. These are: position and motion.

# 3.2 CONCEPT OF POSITION

The position of a point C or a frame (B) is a relative concept in the sense that its definition requires a reference point R and a reference frame (R). In particular, the position of point C relative to point R is determined by the vector  $[X_{CR}]$ . To describe the position of the frame (B) relative to frame (R), we start with the definition of a frame given in Section 3.1. The three noncollinear points  $B_1, B_2, B_3$  of frame (B) are referred to the three noncollinear points  $R_1, R_2, R_3$  of frame (R) by the three vectors  $[X_{S_iR_i}]$ , i=1,2,3. Only six of the nine vector components are independent; i.e., a frame has six degrees of freedom.

An alternate and more useful way to describe the position of a frame is the distinction between location and orientation. Let B and R be two representative points of (B) and (R).  $[X_{gg}]$  is then called the <u>location</u> of frame (B) relative to frame (R). The <u>orientation</u> of frame (B) relative to frame (R) is determined by the <u>rotation tensor</u>  $[R^{(g)(R)}]$  whose definition is given below. By Euler's theorem on rigid bodies, and for that matter on frames, the general displacement is a rotation about some axis through a "fixed point." This "fixed point" is, in our case, an element that belongs to (G) and (R) and is not affected by the rotation. Since (B) and (R) are unbounded, such an element always exists. Location and orientation together describe the position of frame (B) relative to frame (R). Both  $[X_{gn}]$  and  $[R^{(G)(R)}]$  have three independent components; i.e., together they have the correct number to specify 6 degrees of freedom.

If [n] is the unit vector of the axis of rotation and  $\theta$  the angle of rotation, the rotation tensor is defined by:

$$[R^{(\Theta)(R)}] = \cos \Theta[E] + (1 - \cos \Theta)[n][n]^{T} + \sin \Theta[N]$$
(9)

where [E] is the unit tensor and [N] the skew-symmetric tensor obtained from [n]. The derivation of this formula and the proof of the tensor property of  $[R^{(G)(R)}]$  can be found in Jeffreys (13). We note further that the rotation tensor is orthonormal and that its determinant is +1 for proper and -1 for improper rotations. The trace is

$$R_{11} + R_{22} + R_{23} = 1 + 2\cos\theta \tag{10}$$

In flight dynamics it is customary to use a triad of orthogonal axes to represent a frame. But confusion very often arises because the axes of the triad and the coordinate axes are used as synonyms. Nothing could be more misleading. We will try to give an accurate account of the situation.

<u>DEFINITION</u>: A <u>triad</u> is a set of three orthonormal <u>base vectors</u> that connect one physically important point of a frame, the <u>base point</u>, with three other points of the frame.

The position of a frame, say (B), is uniquely determined by the position of its triad. The base point B defines the location and the base vectors  $[b_1], [b_2], [b_3]$  the orientation relative to a reference frame (R). The rotation tensor  $[R^{(3)(R)}]$  can be thought of as mapping the base vectors  $[b_1], [b_2], [b_3]$  into the base vectors  $[\pi_1], [\pi_2], [\pi_3]$  of the reference frame; namely,

$$[b_i] = [R^{(G_i(R))}][n_i] ; i = 1, 2, 3$$
(11)

Consider any two vectors  $[X_{B_kB}]$  and  $[X_{R_kR}]$ , where  $B_k$  and  $R_k$  are any elements of (B) and (R), respectively. If  $[X_{B_kB}]$  and  $[X_{R_kR}]$  are composed

of the same linear combination of the base vectors  $[b_1]$ ,  $[b_2]$ ,  $[b_3]$  and  $[n_1]$ ,  $[n_2]$ ,  $[n_3]$ , respectively, then the two vectors are related by

$$\left[\chi_{B_{R}B}\right] = \left[R^{(9\chi_R)}\right]\left[\chi_{R_{L}R}\right]$$
(12)

because, if

$$[x_{B_{1}B}] = Y_{1}[b_{1}] + Y_{2}[b_{2}] + Y_{3}[b_{3}]$$
(13)

and

$$[x_{n_{w}n}] = Y_{1}[n_{1}] + Y_{2}[n_{2}] + Y_{3}[n_{3}]$$
(14)

then Equation (12) follows from Equation (11).

Now we are in a position to establish a relationship between the rotation tensor and the coordinate transformation.

<u>THEOREM</u>: Consider two arbitrary frames (B), (R) and choose  $[\chi_{B_RB}]$  and  $[\chi_{R_RR}]$  as outlined above. In particular, Equation (12) is supposed to be satisfied. Define two coordinate systems  $]^{G}$  and  $]^{R}$  in (B) and (R) respectively, such that

$$\left[\chi_{B_{H}B}\right]^{B} = \left[\chi_{R_{H}R}\right]^{R}$$
(15)

Then the following relationship helds:

$$\left[R^{(g)(R)}\right]^{g} = \left[R^{(g)(R)}\right]^{R} = \left[T\right]^{GR^{T}}$$
(16)

PROOF: From Equation (15) it follows that

$$\left[\chi_{B_{H}B}\right]^{B} = \left[T\right]^{BR} \left[\chi_{R_{H}R}\right]^{B}$$
(17)

and

$$\left[\chi_{G_{R}G}\right]^{R} = \left[T\right]^{GR^{T}} \left[\chi_{R_{R}R}\right]^{R}$$
(18)

Express Equation (12) first in the  $n^{R}$  coordinate system and compare with Equation (17) and then in the  $n^{R}$  coordinate system and compare with Equation (18). Equation (16) follows immediately.

It is very important to distinguish carefully between frame and space, triad and coordinate system, rotation tensor and coordinate transformation matrix. Frame, triad, and rotation are invariant tensor concepts, whereas space, coordinate system, and coordinate transformation are purely algebraic notions.

#### 3.3 CONCEPT OF MOTION

The concept of motion is formulated by introducing time into the purely spatial concept of position; i.e.,  $[X_{GR}(t)]$  and  $[R^{(B)(R)}(t)]$ . Obviously, it is also a relative concept. It makes sense to talk about the motion of a point or a frame only with respect to another frame.

The time derivative  $\frac{d}{dt}$  of a tensor is considered to operate on its components. It preserves the tensor character if the allowable coordinate systems are related by time-invariant coordinate transformations. However, in flight dynamics, it is very often necessary to express the time rate of change of a tensor relative to a reference frame in terms of the time rate of change of this tensor with respect to a moving body. Usually, this is achieved by introducing coordinate systems fixed with the reference frame

and the moving body and taking time derivatives of the corresponding components. The correction factor is given by Euler's transformation theorem. As Jeffreys (13) points out, the time derivative with respect to the moving body has lost its tensor properties, and one must continue to solve the remainder of the problem in one particular coordinate system.

We shall alleviate this shortcoming by introducing the concept of a rotational derivative. A rotational derivative is a time derivative of a tensor relative to an arbitrary frame; e.g., an inertial frame or body frame. It is also a tensor of the same order and therefore a covariant derivative with respect to the parameter t . The term "tensor" is understood here in the sense of the definitic...given in Section 3.1. If we use the rotational derivative instead of the ordinary time derivative, the time rate of change of a tensor, relative to a moving body, is still a tensor. In more general terms, we will be able to formulate the equations of motion in tensor form and carry out much of the analysis without recurring to the component form. For instance, we will be able to introduce perturbation equations that are not limited to a steady reference flight. However, before advancing into applications, we must lay a sound foundation for the rotational derivative. As far as I am aware, only Wrede (14) has reported a similar concept. But his approach is limited to vectors and restricted to one particular reference frame.

<u>DEFINITION</u>: Let  $[\rho]$  be an arbitrary vector (first-order tensor) and [P]an arbitrary tensor (second-order tensor). Furthermore, let (R) be an arbitrary frame. The rotational derivative of a vector and tensor with respect to the frame (R) is written in dyadic form:

# $[\mathcal{D}^{(n)} \{ l, p \} \}$ , $[\mathcal{D}^{(n)} \{ l, p \} \}$ $[\mathcal{D}^{(n)} p \}$ , $[\mathcal{D}^{(n)} P ]$

or shorter

This is an abbreviation for the abstract collection of all component forms that arise from the allowable coordinate systems. For instance, let  $\mathbf{J}^{\mathbf{n}}$  be any allowable coordinate system, and let  $\mathbf{J}^{\mathbf{R}}$  be a coordinate system associated with the frame (R), where  $[\mathbf{T}]^{\mathbf{m}\mathbf{R}}$  is the possibly time-dependent transformation matrix. Then the components of the rotational derivative for a vector and tensor are defined:

$$\left[ \mathcal{D}^{(R)} p \right]^{H} = \frac{d}{dt} \left[ p \right]^{H} + \left[ T \right]^{HR} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \left[ T \right]^{HR} \right) \left[ p \right]^{H}$$
(19) 
$$\left[ \mathcal{D}^{(R)} p \right]^{H} = \frac{d}{dt} \left[ p \right]^{H} + \left[ T \right]^{HR} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \left[ T \right]^{HR} \right) \left[ p \right]^{H} + \left[ P \right]^{H} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \left[ T \right]^{HR} \right) \left[ T \right]^{HR}$$
(20)

Some of the important properties of the rotational derivative are:

<u>PROPERTY 1</u>: The rotational derivative of a vector **[p]** relative to a frame **(R)** is a vector; i.e., let  $(\overline{M})$  and  $(\overline{\overline{M}})$  be any two frames with the associated coordinate systems  $]^{\overline{M}}$  and  $]^{\overline{M}}$  and the transformation matrix  $[T]^{\overline{M}}$ , then

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)}p\right]^{\tilde{\mathbf{h}}} = \left[\tau\right]^{\tilde{\mathbf{h}}\tilde{\mathbf{h}}} \left[\mathcal{D}^{(\alpha)}p\right]^{\tilde{\mathbf{h}}}$$
(21)

<u>PROPERTY 2</u>: The rotational derivative of a tensor [P] relative to a frame (R) is a tensor; i.e., let  $(\overline{M})$  and  $(\overline{\overline{M}})$  be any two frames with the associated coordinate systems  $]^{\overline{M}}$  and  $]^{\overline{\overline{M}}}$  and the transformation matrix  $[T]^{\overline{\overline{M}}\overline{\overline{M}}}$ , then

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(R)}\mathcal{P}\right]^{\vec{H}} = \left[\mathcal{T}\right]^{\vec{H}\vec{H}} \left[\mathcal{D}^{(R)}\mathcal{P}\right]^{\vec{H}} \left[\mathcal{T}\right]^{\vec{H}\vec{H}^{\mathsf{T}}}$$
(22)
The second-order skew-symmetric tensors play an important role because they represent concepts like angular velocity, angular momentum, and torque. In Euclidean three-space, they have only three independent components and can therefore be contracted to a first-order tensor capacity (see Brillouin (15)). If we restrict ourselves to right-hand orthogonal Cartesian coordinate system, then the tensor capacity is determined uniquely. Such a first-order tensor capacity is called an <u>axial vector</u>.

<u>PROPERTY 3</u>: If the allowable coordinate systems are right-hand orthogonal Cartesian coordinate systems, then an axial vector [() has the same rotational derivative as a regular vector; i.e., let  $(\bar{n})$  and  $(\bar{\bar{n}})$  be any two frames with the associated coordinate systems  $]^{\bar{n}}$  and  $]^{\bar{\bar{n}}}$  and the transformation matrix  $[T]^{\bar{n}\bar{\bar{n}}}$ , then

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(\mathbf{R})}\mathcal{L}\right]^{\overline{\mathbf{R}}} = \left[\mathsf{T}\right]^{\overline{\mathbf{R}}\overline{\mathbf{R}}} \left[\mathcal{D}^{(\mathbf{R})}\mathcal{L}\right]^{\overline{\mathbf{R}}}$$
(23)

The proofs of the three preceding properties are given in Appendix A. <u>PROPERTY 4</u>: The rotational derivative is a linear operator. <u>PROOF</u>: Let  $[p_1]$  and  $[p_2]$  be two arbitrary vectors and  $]^{H}$  any coordinate system. The rotational derivative with respect to a reference frame expressed in the  $]^{H}$  coordinate system is

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(n)}\left\{\left[p_{1}\right]+\left[p_{2}\right]\right\}\right]^{H}=\frac{d}{dt}\left(\left[p_{1}\right]^{H}+\left[p_{2}\right]^{H}\right)+\left[T\right]^{HR}\left(\frac{d}{dt}\left[T\right]^{HR}\right)\left(\left[p_{1}\right]^{H}+\left[p_{2}\right]^{H}\right)(24)$$

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(R)}\left\{\left[p_{1}\right]+\left[p_{2}\right]\right\}\right]^{H}=\left[\mathcal{D}^{(R)}p_{1}\right]^{H}+\left[\mathcal{D}^{(R)}p_{2}\right]^{H}$$
(25)

Furthermore, let K be a time-invariant scalar and [p] any vector. We get

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(n)}\left\{\kappa[p]\right\}\right]^{H} = \frac{d}{dt}\left(\kappa[p]^{H}\right) + \left[T\right]^{HR}\left[\frac{d}{dt}\left[T\right]^{HR}\right]\kappa[p]^{H} \qquad (26)$$

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(\mathbf{R})}\left\{\kappa[\mathbf{p}]\right\}\right]^{\mathsf{H}} = \kappa \left[\mathcal{D}^{(\mathbf{R})}\mathbf{p}\right]^{\mathsf{H}}$$
(27)

Equations (25) and (27) are the properties of a linear operator. They hold for any coordinate system. Therefore, we can write the properties in an invariant form:

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(n)}\left\{\left[p_{1}\right]+\left[p_{2}\right]\right\}\right] = \left[\mathcal{D}^{(n)}p_{1}\right]+\left[\mathcal{D}^{(n)}p_{2}\right]$$
(28)

$$[\mathcal{D}^{(R)} \{ \kappa[p] \}] = \kappa[\mathcal{D}^{(R)} p]$$
<sup>(29)</sup>

It can easily be verified that the same properties hold for tensors.

<u>PROPERTY 5:</u> <u>Chain Rule</u>. Let [B] be any tensor and [p] be any vector. The following rule holds:

$$[\mathcal{D}^{(n)} \{ [\mathbf{0}][\mathbf{p}] \} ] = [\mathcal{D}^{(n)} \mathbf{B}][\mathbf{p}] + [\mathbf{B}][\mathcal{D}^{(n)} \mathbf{p}]$$
(30)

<u>PROOF</u>: Let ]<sup>\*</sup> be any coordinate system and consider the component form of Equation (30):

$$[\mathcal{D}^{(n)} \{ [B][p] \} ]^{n} = [\mathcal{D}^{(n)} B]^{n} [p]^{n} + [B]^{n} [\mathcal{D}^{(n)} p]^{n}$$
(31)

Write out the right-hand side using the definitions of Equations (19) and (20):

$$\begin{aligned} & \left[ \mathscr{D}^{(n)} \left\{ [B][p] \right\} \right]^{H} = \left( \overset{d}{dt} [B]^{H} \right) [p]^{H} + [T]^{HR} \left( \overset{d}{dt} [T]^{HR} \right) [B]^{H} [p]^{H} + \\ & + [B]^{H} \left( \overset{d}{dt} [T]^{HR} \right) [T]^{HR} [p]^{H} + [B]^{H} \overset{d}{dt} [p]^{H} + [B]^{H} [T]^{HR} (\overset{d}{dt} [T]^{HR} \right) [p]^{H} \\ & = \overset{d}{dt} \left( [B]^{H} [p]^{H} \right) + [T]^{HR} \left( \overset{d}{dt} [T]^{HR} \right) [B]^{H} [p]^{H} + \\ & (32) \\ & + [B]^{H} \left\{ \left( \overset{d}{dt} [T]^{HR} \right) [T]^{HR} + [T]^{HR} \left( \overset{d}{dt} [T]^{HR} \right) \right\} [p]^{H} \end{aligned}$$

The expression in the braces is zero because the first term is skew-symmetric:

$$\left(\frac{d}{dt}\left[T\right]^{hR}\right)\left[T\right]^{hR^{T}} = \left\{\left[T\right]^{hR}\frac{d}{dt}\left[T\right]^{hR^{T}}\right\}^{T} = -\left[T\right]^{hR}\frac{d}{dt}\left[T\right]^{hR^{T}}$$
(33)

This proves the chain rule.

The five properties of the rotational derivative are the more important characteristics that we will need in the sequel. In particular, we are now able to defir- linear and angular velocity.

<u>DEFINITION</u>: Let B be a point and (R) a reference frame containing a reference point R. The position of B relative to (R) is given by  $[X_{BR}(t)]$ . The velocity of B relative to (R) is defined by

$$\left[\mathcal{W}_{\mathcal{G}}^{(\mathbf{R})}\right] = \left[\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{G}}^{(\mathbf{R})} \times_{\mathbf{GR}}\right] \tag{34}$$

It is commonly called the <u>linear velocity</u> of point B.

<u>COMMENT</u>: Let  $R_i$  and  $R_i$  be two arbitrary points of (R). Then we have

$$\left(\mathcal{D}^{(\mathbf{R})} \times_{\mathbf{GR}_{1}}\right) = \left[\mathcal{D}^{(\mathbf{R})} \times_{\mathbf{GR}_{2}}\right] \tag{35}$$

because introducing

$$[\chi_{BR_1}] = [\chi_{BR_2}] + [\chi_{R_2R_1}]$$
(36)

and taking the rotational derivative relative to (R) yields:

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(R)} \times_{\mathcal{B}R_1}\right] = \left[\mathcal{D}^{(R)} \times_{\mathcal{B}R_2}\right] + \left[\mathcal{D}^{(R)} \times_{\mathcal{R}_2R_1}\right]$$
(37)

But

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(R)} \times_{R_2 R_1}\right] = [0] \tag{38}$$

because, for a coordinate system  $]^{R}$  associated with (R).

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(R)} \times_{R_{2}R_{1}}\right]^{R} = \left[\frac{d}{dt} \times_{R_{2}R_{1}}\right]^{R} = \left[0\right]^{R}$$
(39)

Therefore, Equation (35) is correct, and we do not have to specify a special reference point to define the linear velocity uniquely. All that is needed is a reference frame. This is the explanation for the particular notation in Equation (34). It reduces to the familiar definition if we show its components in a  $\int^{R}$  coordinate system:

$$\left[\mathcal{N}_{0}^{(R)}\right] = \left[\mathcal{D}^{(R)} \times_{GR}\right]^{R} = \frac{d}{dt} \left[\times_{GR}\right]^{R}$$
(40)

<u>DEFINITION</u>: Let (B) and (R) be two arbitrary frames whose orientation relative to each other is given by  $[R^{(B)(R)}(t)]$ . Let  $B_{L}$  and B be elements of (B) and connected by the vector  $[\times_{B_{L}B}]$ . According to Equation (12) there exists a similar vector  $[\times_{R_{L}R}]$  in (R) such that

$$\left[\chi_{\mathcal{G}_{\mathsf{K}}\mathcal{B}}\right] = \left[\mathcal{R}^{(\mathcal{G})(\mathcal{R})}\right] \left[\chi_{\mathcal{R}_{\mathsf{K}}\mathcal{R}}\right]$$
(41)

Take the rotational derivative relative to  $(\mathbf{R})$  and use Property 5:

$$[\mathcal{D}^{(R)} \times_{\mathcal{B}_{R} \mathcal{B}}] = [\mathcal{D}^{(R)} R^{(\mathcal{B})(R)}][X_{R_{R} R}] + [R^{(\mathcal{B})(R)}][\mathcal{D}^{(R)} \times_{R_{R} R}]$$
(42)

The last term is zero. Substitute Equation (41) into Equation (42):

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(R)} \times_{\mathcal{G}_{R} \mathcal{B}}\right] = \left[\mathcal{D}^{(R)} \mathcal{R}^{(\mathcal{B})(R)}\right] \left[\mathcal{R}^{(\mathcal{B})(R)}\right]^{\mathsf{T}} \left[\times_{\mathcal{B}_{L} \mathcal{B}}\right]$$
(43)

and abbreviate

$$\left[\Omega^{(0)(R)}\right] = \left[\mathcal{D}^{(R)} R^{(0)(R)}\right] \left[R^{(0)(R)}\right]^{\mathsf{T}}$$
(44)

to get

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(\mathbf{R})} \times_{\mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{R}}\mathbf{B}}\right] = \left[\Omega^{(\mathbf{B})(\mathbf{R})}\right] \left[\times_{\mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{R}}\mathbf{B}}\right]$$
(45)

 $[\Omega^{(n)}]$  is called the <u>angular velocity tensor</u> of frame (B) with respect to frame (R).

It is certainly a second-order tensor. Its skew-symmetric property is proved as follows. Consider

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{D}^{(R)} \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} R^{(B)(R)} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} R^{(B)(R)} \end{bmatrix}^{T} \right\} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{D}^{(R)} E \end{bmatrix}$$
(46)  
We first show that  $\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{D}^{(R)} E \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \end{bmatrix}$ . For any coordinate system, say  $\end{bmatrix}^{B}$ :  

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{D}^{(R)} E \end{bmatrix}^{B} = \frac{d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} E \end{bmatrix}^{B} + \begin{bmatrix} T \end{bmatrix}^{BR} \begin{pmatrix} d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} T \end{bmatrix}^{BR} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} E \end{bmatrix}^{B} + \begin{pmatrix} d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} T \end{bmatrix}^{BR} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} T \end{bmatrix}^{BR} \begin{bmatrix} E \end{bmatrix}^{B}$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} 0 \end{bmatrix}^{B} + \begin{bmatrix} T \end{bmatrix}^{BR} \begin{pmatrix} d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} T \end{bmatrix}^{BR}^{T} + \begin{pmatrix} d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} T \end{bmatrix}^{BR} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} T \end{bmatrix}^{BR}^{T}$$
(47)  

$$= \frac{d}{dt} \left( \begin{bmatrix} T \end{bmatrix}^{BR} \begin{bmatrix} T \end{bmatrix}^{BR} \begin{bmatrix} T \end{bmatrix}^{BR}^{T} \right) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

Therefore, Equation (46) becomes:

 $\left[\mathcal{D}^{(R)} R^{(G)(R)}\right] \left[ R^{(G)(R)} \right]^{\mathsf{T}} + \left[ R^{(G)(R)} \right] \left[ \mathcal{D}^{(R)} R^{(G)(R)} \right]^{\mathsf{T}} = \left[ 0 \right]$ (48)

or by definition:

$$\left[\Omega^{(0)(R)}\right] + \left[\Omega^{(0)(R)}\right]^{\mathsf{T}} = \left[0\right] \tag{49}$$

There is another important relationship linking the angular velocity tensor to coordinate transformation matrices:

$$\left[\Omega^{(B)(R)}\right]^{R} = \left(\frac{d}{dt}\left[T\right]^{BR^{T}}\right)\left[T\right]^{BR}$$
(50)

or

$$\left[\Omega^{(B)(R)}\right]^{B} = \left[T\right]^{BR} \frac{d}{dt} \left[T\right]^{BR^{T}}$$
(51)

Equation (50) is proved simply by taking the  $\int^{\mathbf{R}}$  components of Equation (44) and employing Equation (16). Equation (51) follows then from Equation (50) by coordinate transformation.

Note that Equation (19) can be written, in view of Equation (51) as:

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(\mathbf{R})}\mathbf{p}\right]^{\mathsf{H}} = \frac{d}{dt}\left[\mathbf{p}\right]^{\mathsf{H}} + \left[\Omega^{(\mathbf{H})(\mathbf{R})}\right]^{\mathsf{H}}\left[\mathbf{p}\right]^{\mathsf{H}}$$
(52)

However, a word of caution is necessary. Equation (52) may suggest that  $\frac{1}{4} \lfloor p \rfloor^{H}$  is a tensor because  $\left[ \mathcal{D}^{(R)} p \right]^{H}$  and, seemingly,  $\left[ \Omega^{(H)(R)} \right]^{H} \lfloor p \rfloor^{H}$  are tensors. But we know from Jeffreys (13) that neither term on the right-hand side of Equation (52) is a tensor. Only the sum is a tensor.

Before stating other important properties of the angular velocity tensor, we need to formulate the fundamental theorem of kinematics that governs the change of frames.

THEOREM OF TRANSFORMATION OF FRAMES. Let (A) and (B) be two arbitrary frames related by the angular velocity tensor  $[\Omega^{(G)(A)}]$ . Then for any vector  $[\rho]$  the following relationship holds:

$$[\mathcal{D}^{(n)}p] = [\mathcal{D}^{(0)}p] + [\Omega^{(0)(n)}][p]$$
(53)

where every term is a first-order tensor.

The proof is somewhat lengthy and given in Appendix A. Note that Euler's theorem is a special case of Equation (53). Because if we choose the proper coordinate systems, we get:

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left[ p \right]^{AB} \left\{ \frac{d}{dt} \left[ p \right]^{B} + \left[ \int_{a} \int$$

The additive property of angular velocity tensors will now be proved. Consider three arbitrary frames (A), (B), and (C). Apply Equation (53) three times:

$$[\mathcal{D}^{(a)}p] = [\mathcal{D}^{(b)}p] + [\Omega^{(b)(a)}][p]$$
(55)

$$[\mathcal{D}^{(e)}p] = [\mathcal{D}^{(e)}p] + [\Omega^{(e)(e)}][p]$$
(56)

$$[\mathcal{D}^{(A)}p] = [\mathcal{D}^{(E)}p] + [\Omega^{(E)(A)}][p]$$
(57)

Substituting Equations (56) and (57) into (55) and in view of the fact that [p] is an arbitrary vector:

$$\left[\Omega^{(\mathcal{C})(\mathbf{A})}\right] = \left[\Omega^{(\mathcal{C})(\mathbf{B})}\right] + \left[\Omega^{(\mathbf{B})(\mathbf{A})}\right]$$
(58)

Notice the consistent sequence of superscripts.

Another useful property to remember is:

$$\left[\Omega^{(0)(A)}\right] = -\left[\Omega^{(A)(0)}\right]$$
<sup>(59)</sup>

It follows again from applying Equation (53) twice

$$[\mathcal{D}^{(A)}p] = [\mathcal{D}^{(0)}p] + [\Omega^{(B)(A)}][p]$$
(60)

$$[\mathcal{D}^{(0)}p] = [\mathcal{D}^{(n)}p] + [\Omega^{(n)(0)}][p]$$
(61)

and adding both equations.

Finally, we will prove a second important theorem:

THEOREM OF ROTATION OF VECTORS. Let (A) and (B) be two arbitrary frames related by the rotation tensor  $[R^{(\beta)(A)}]$ . Then for any vector  $[\rho]$  the to lowing holds:

$$[\mathcal{B}^{(A)}\rho] = [R^{(O(A)}]^{T}[\mathcal{B}^{(O)}\{[R^{(B)(A)}][\rho]\}]$$
(62)

This can be interpreted as follows: The rotational derivative of [p] relative to (A) can also be evaluated by first rotating [p] through  $[R^{(G)(A)}]$  and then taking the rotational derivative relative to the likewise rotated frame, now called (B); then the result is rotated back through  $[R^{(G)(A)}]^{\mathsf{T}}$ . This theorem is actually a consequence of the isotropic property of space, Axiom b of Section 3.1; i.e., taking the rotational derivative is invariant under spatial rotations of all points and frames involved.

PROOF. Apply the Chain Rule to the left side of Equation (62):

$$[\mathcal{D}^{(A)}p] = [R^{(G)(A)}]^{T} [\mathcal{D}^{(G)}R^{(G)(A)}][p] + [\mathcal{D}^{(G)}p]$$
(63)

 $[\mathcal{D}^{(A)}\rho] =$ )

and the Theorem of Transformation of Frames to the last term of Equation (63):

$$[R^{(G)(h)}]^{T}[\mathcal{D}^{(B)}R^{(B)(A)}][p] + [\mathcal{D}^{(A)}p] + [\Omega^{(A)(G)}][p] \quad (64)$$

$$D_{(v)} ] = - [ \mathcal{D}_{(v)(G)} ]$$

It remains to be shown that
$$\left[R^{(G)(A)}\right]^{T}\left[\mathcal{D}^{(G)}R^{(G)(A)}\right] = -\left[\Omega^{(A)(G)}\right] \tag{65}$$

(66)

(69)

$$[0] = \left[ \mathcal{D}^{(R)} R^{(R)(B)} \right] \left[ \chi_{B_{K}B} \right] + \left[ R^{(R)(B)} \right] \left[ \mathcal{D}^{(R)} \chi_{B_{K}B} \right]$$
(67)

and take the rotational derivative relative to (R):

Let us start with a form equivalent to Equation (41)

$$[0] = \left[ \mathcal{B}^{(R)} R^{(R)(B)} \right] \left[ \chi_{B_{R}B} \right] + \left[ R^{(R)(B)} \right] \left[ \mathcal{B}^{(R)} \chi_{B_{R}B} \right]$$
(67)

$$[0] = [\mathcal{B}^{(R)} R^{(R)(B)}][\chi_{B_{R}B}] + [R^{(R)(B)}][\mathcal{B}^{(R)} \chi_{B_{R}B}]$$
(67)

$$0] = \left[ \mathcal{B}^{(\mathbf{R})} \mathcal{R}^{(\mathbf{R})(\mathbf{B})} \right] \left[ \mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{B}^{\mathbf{R}}\mathbf{B}} \right] + \left[ \mathcal{R}^{(\mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{R}}\mathbf{G})} \right] \left[ \mathcal{B}^{(\mathbf{R})} \mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{B}^{\mathbf{R}}\mathbf{G}} \right]$$
(67)

 $\left[\Omega^{(p)(R)}\right] = -\left[R^{(R)(B)}\right]^{\mathsf{T}}\left[\mathcal{D}^{(p)}R^{(p)(B)}\right]$ 

with Equation (43) and conclude

$$[\mathcal{D}^{(k)} \times_{\mathcal{O}_{k}} \mathcal{B}] = - [R^{(k)(0)}]^{T} [\mathcal{D}^{(k)} R^{(k)(0)}] [\times_{\mathcal{O}_{k}} \mathcal{B}]$$
(68)

But this 1s just the form of Equation (65).

 $[x_{R_{\mu}R}] = [R^{(R)(B)}][x_{B_{\mu}B}]$ 

$$\mathcal{P}^{(\mathbf{R})} \times_{\mathbf{Q}} \mathbf{R}^{1} = - \left[ \mathcal{R}^{(\mathbf{R})(\mathbf{0})} \right]^{\mathsf{T}} \left[ \mathcal{P}^{(\mathbf{R})} \mathcal{R}^{(\mathbf{R})(\mathbf{0})} \right] \left[ \chi_{\mathbf{Q}} \mathbf{R} \right]$$
(68)

CHAPTER .

# 4. PERTURBATION EQUATIONS

We shall apply the tensor concepts of Chapter 3 to shed light on the perturbation equations commonly used in flight dynamics. Two different perturbation methods can be distinguished. Their areas of application depend on the role the aerodynamic forces play. In space dynamics, where the aerodynamic forces are small, the first method is used. The second method applies to atmospheric flight dynamics where aerodynamic forces dominate.

Consider a rigid body subjected to aerodynamic and gravitational forces. Its mass and gravity center are assumed to coincide for all practical purposes. The Euler equations of mechanics are in the tensor formulation of Chapter 3:

$$\left[\mathcal{B}^{(\mathbf{r})} p^{(\mathbf{b})(\mathbf{r})}\right] = \left[f_{\alpha}\right] + \left[f_{\beta}\right] \tag{1}$$

$$\left[\mathcal{B}^{(r)} \mathcal{L}_{B}^{(0)(r)}\right] = \left[m_{a}\right]$$
<sup>(2)</sup>

The allowable coordinate systems are right-hand orthogonal Cartesian coordinate systems.  $\mathcal{D}^{(\mathbf{r})}$  is the rotational derivative with respect to an inertial frame  $(\mathbf{I})$ ,  $[\rho^{(\mathbf{g})(\mathbf{I})}]$  is the linear momentum of the body  $(\mathbf{B})$ relative to the inertial frame, and  $[\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{G}}^{(\mathbf{g})(\mathbf{I})}]$  is the angular momentum of the body relative to the inertial frame and referred to the mass center,  $\mathbf{B}$ .  $[f_{\mathbf{G}}]$  and  $[\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{G}}]$  are the aerodynamic force and moment, respectively, and  $[f_{\mathbf{y}}]$  the gravitational force. Because the allowable coordinate systems are restricted to right-hand orthogonal Cartesian coordinate systems, the skew-symmetric angular momentum and aerodynamic moment tensors are written as axial vectors.

Consider two solutions of Equations (1) and (2). Call the first one the reference flight:  $\left[ p \begin{pmatrix} (p)(T) \\ \pi \end{pmatrix} \right]$ ,  $\left[ \lambda_{g_n}^{(0)(T)} \right]$ . Call the second one the perturbed flight:  $\left[ p \begin{pmatrix} (0)(T) \\ p \end{pmatrix} \right]$ ,  $\left[ \lambda_{g_n}^{(0)(T)} \right]$ . The  $\pi$  and p below (B) indicate that the body frame is in a reference state or a perturbed state, respectively. To arrive at the so-called <u>first perturbation equations</u>, define the perturbations from the reference flight as the vector increments:

$$[\delta p^{(0)(t)}] = [p^{(0)(t)}] - [p^{(0)(t)}]$$
(3)

$$[\delta L_{g}^{(3)(t)}] = [L_{g}^{(0)(t)}] - [L_{g}^{(0)(t)}]$$
(4)

Because both the perturbed flight and the reference flight satisfy the equations of motion, and because the rotational derivative is a linear operator, we obtain from Equations (1) and (2) in view of Equations (3) and (4):

$$[\mathcal{D}^{(c)} \mathcal{S} p^{(0)(c)}] = [t_{\alpha}(p)] - [t_{\alpha}(n)] + [t_{\alpha}(p)] - [t_{\alpha}(n)]$$
(5)

$$[\mathcal{D}^{(r)} \delta L_{0}^{(B)(r)}] = [m_{a}(p)] - [m_{a}(n)]$$
(6)

where  $(\mathbf{x})$  and  $(\mathbf{p})$  indicate that the respective functions are evaluated during reference or perturbed flight. The last two terms in Equation (5) cancel because the gravitational force is invariant under the flat-earth approximation. Define the perturbations of the aerodynamic force and moment as the vector increments

 $[\delta f_a] = [f_a(p)] - [f_a(n)]$ 

35

(7)

$$[\delta m_a] = [m_a(p)] - [m_a(n)]$$
(8)

We obtain then the first perturbation equations of a rigid body in free flight:

$$\left( \partial^{(r)} \delta^{(p)(r)} \right) = \left[ \delta f_{\alpha} \right]$$
(9)

$$\left[\mathcal{B}^{(r)} \mathcal{J}\left(\mathbf{a}^{(r)}\right) = \left[\mathcal{J}\mathbf{m}_{a}\right] \tag{10}$$

These are the most concise forms in which we can write the perturbation equations. They are valid in any allowable coordinate system, whether it is associated with an inertial system or some moving system.

To formulate the so-called <u>second perturbation equations</u>, we have to introduce a third frame, the stability frame (S). The aerodynamic forces are expressed in a coordinate system associated with this stability frame. Just as we have to distinguish between a body frame being in a reference state during reference flight and in a perturbed state during perturbed flight, so we have to define  $\binom{(S)}{n}$  as the stability frame in the reference state and perturbed state, respectively. The relationship between them is given by the orthonormal rotation tensor  $\left[ \mathcal{R} \stackrel{(S)}{p} \stackrel{(S)}{n} \right]$ that expresses the rotation of the frame  $\binom{(S)}{n}$  with respect to the frame  $\binom{(S)}{n}$ . Finally, the angular velocity tensor  $\left[ \Omega \stackrel{(S)}{p} \right]$  describes the angular velocity of the stability frame  $\binom{(S)}{p}$  relative to the inertial frame  $\binom{(I)}{p}$ .

Define the perturbations from the reference flight as the vector increments:

$$\left[ \epsilon_{p}^{(g)(r)} \right] = \left[ \rho_{p}^{(g)(r)} \right] - \left[ R_{p}^{(g)(g)} \right] \left[ \rho_{n}^{(g)(r)} \right]$$
(11)

$$\left[ \mathcal{E} \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{B}}^{(\mathcal{G})(\mathcal{I})} \right] = \left[ \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{B}}^{(\mathcal{G},(\mathcal{I}))} \right] - \left[ \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{P}}^{(\mathcal{I})(\mathcal{I})} \right] \left[ \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{B}}^{(\mathcal{B})(\mathcal{I})} \right]$$
(12)

$$\left[\mathcal{E} \,\Omega^{(g)(\mathbf{I})}\right] = \left[\Omega^{(g)(\mathbf{I})}\right] - \left[R^{(g)(g)}\right] \left[\Omega^{(g)(\mathbf{I})}\right] \left[R^{(g)(g)}\right]^{\mathsf{T}}$$
(13)

$$[\varepsilon f_a] = [f_a(p)] - [R_{p_n}^{(\varepsilon)(s)}][f_a(n)]$$
(14)

$$[\epsilon m_{a}] = [m_{a}(p)] - [R_{pn}^{(l)}][m_{a}(n)] \qquad (15)$$

In writing Equations (12) and (15) in form of axial vectors, we must restrict the rotation tensor to the class of right-hand orthonormal rotations.

Let Equations (1) and (2) describe the equations of motion during a perturbed flight. Introducing Equations (11), (12), (14), and (15) then yields:

$$\left[ \mathcal{D}^{(r)} \varepsilon p^{(s)(r)} \right] + \left[ \mathcal{D}^{(r)} \left\{ \left[ R^{(s)(s)}_{p,n} \right] \right] p^{(s)(r)}_{n} \right] \right\} = \left[ \varepsilon f_{a} \right] + \left[ R^{(s)(s)}_{p,n} \right] \left\{ f_{a}(n) \right\} + \left[ f_{b}(p) \right] (16)$$

$$\left[ \mathcal{D}^{(r)} \varepsilon 1_{a}^{(a)(r)} \right] + \left[ \mathcal{D}^{(r)} \left\{ \left[ R^{(s)(s)}_{p,n} \right] \right] \left[ 1_{a}^{(a)(r)} \right] \right\} \right] = \left[ \varepsilon m_{a} \right] + \left[ R^{(s)(s)}_{p,n} \right] \left[ m_{a}(n) \right] (17)$$

The second term on the left-hand side can be put in a more convenient form. In view of the Theorem of Transformations of Frames, Equation (3.53), we write for the line or momentum term:

$$[\mathcal{D}^{(1)}[[\mathcal{R}^{(3)}_{p,n}]] p^{(0)}_{n}]] = [\mathcal{D}^{(1)}_{p,n}[[\mathcal{R}^{(3)}_{p,n}]] p^{(0)}_{n}]]] + [\Omega^{(3)}_{p,n}][\mathcal{R}^{(3)}_{p,n}][\mathcal{R}^{(3)}_{p,n}]] p^{(3)}_{n}]^{(18)}$$

$$\{ \mathcal{D}_{p}^{(s)} \{ [\mathcal{R}_{p}^{(s)}] | p_{n}^{(0)(s)}] \} = [\mathcal{R}_{p}^{(s)}] [\mathcal{D}_{n}^{(s)}] [\mathcal{D}_{n}^{(s)}] [\mathcal{D}_{n}^{(s)}] \}$$

$$= [\mathcal{R}_{pn}^{(s)(s)}] \{ [\mathcal{D}_{n}^{(t)}] | p_{n}^{(0)(t)}] \} + [\mathcal{L}_{n}^{(t)(s)}] [p_{n}^{(0)(t)}] \}$$

$$(19)$$

Apply the Theorem of Rotation of Vectors, Equation (3.62), and then again Equation (3.53) to the first term on the right-hand side:

CHAPTER 4

and substitute Equation (19) into (18):

 $\left[ \mathcal{D}^{(t)} \left\{ \left[ \mathcal{R}^{(s)}_{p, x}^{(s)} \right] \left[ p^{(B)(t)}_{x} \right] \right\} \right] = \left[ \mathcal{R}^{(s)}_{p, x}^{(s)} \right] \left[ \mathcal{D}^{(t)}_{p, x} p^{(0)(t)}_{x} \right] +$   $\left\{ \left[ \mathcal{L}^{(s)(t)}_{p, x} \right] - \left[ \mathcal{R}^{(s)(s)}_{p, x} \right] \left[ \mathcal{R}^{(s)(s)}_{p, x} \right] \right] \left[ \mathcal{R}^{(s)(s)}_{p, x} \right] \left[ \mathcal{R}^{(s)(s)}_{p, x} \right] \left[ p^{(b)(t)}_{x} \right] \right]$  (20)

From Equations (16) and (20), after introducing the definition of Equation (13), we obtain:

$$= \left[ \frac{R^{(s)(r)}}{p_{n}} \right] \left[ \frac{f_{0}(n)}{p_{n}} \right] + \left[ \frac{R^{(s)(s)}}{p_{n}} \right] \left[ \frac{f_{0}(n)}{p_{n}} \right] + \left[ \frac{R^{(s)(s)}}{p_{n}} \right] \left[ \frac{f_{0}(n)}{p_{n}} \right] \left[ \frac{f_{0}(n)}{p_{n}} \right] + \left[ \frac{R^{(s)(s)}}{p_{n}} \right] \left[ \frac{f_{0}(n)}{p_{n}} \right] \left[ \frac{f_{0}(n)}{p_{n}} \right] + \left[ \frac{R^{(s)(s)}}{p_{n}} \right] \left[ \frac{R^{(s)(s)}}{p_{n}} \right] \left[ \frac{R^{(s)(s)}}{p_{n}} \right] + \left[ \frac{R^{(s)(s)}}{p_{n}} \right] \left[ \frac{R^{(s)(s)}}{p_{n}} \right] + \left[ \frac{R^{(s)(s)}}{p_{n}} \right] \left[ \frac{R^{(s)(s)}}{p_{n}} \right] + \left[ \frac{R^{(s)(s)}}{p_{n}} \right] + \left[ \frac{R^{(s)(s)}}{p_{n}} \right] \left[ \frac{R^{(s)(s)}}{p_{n}} \right] + \left[ \frac{R^{(s)(s)}}{p_{n}} \right] \left[ \frac{R^{(s)(s)}}{p_{n}} \right] + \left[ \frac{R^{(s)(s)}}{p_{n}} \right] + \left[ \frac{R^{(s)(s)}}{p_{n}} \right] \left[ \frac{R^{(s)(s)}}{p_{n}} \right] + \left[ \frac{R^{(s)(s)}}{p_{n}} \right] \left[ \frac{R^{(s)(s)}}{p_{n}} \right] + \left[ \frac{R^{(s)($$

The underlined terms are the equations of motion, Equation (1), of the reference flight rotated by  $\left[ \begin{array}{c} \mathcal{R}^{(s)} \\ p \\ \end{array} \right]$ . They are satisfied identically.

Performing the same operations on the angular momentum Equation (17) yields an equivalent equation; however, without gravitational term. Both together are called the second perturbation equations of a rigid body in free flight. They are summarized below making use of the invariance of

the gravitational term; i.e., 
$$[f_{3}(\rho)] = [f_{3}(\pi)]$$
  
 $[\mathcal{D}^{(I)} \varepsilon \rho^{(0)(I)}] + [\varepsilon \Omega^{(3)(I)}] [\Omega^{(3(F)}_{\rho \pi}] [\rho^{(G)(I)}_{n}] = [\varepsilon f_{a}] + ([\varepsilon] - [\Omega^{(3)(9)}_{\rho \pi}]) [f_{3}(\pi)] (22)$   
 $[\mathcal{D}^{(I)} \varepsilon I_{B}^{(0)(I)}] + [\varepsilon \Omega^{(3)(I)}] [\Omega^{(3(F)}_{\rho \pi}] [I_{B\pi}^{(3)(9)}] [I_{B\pi}^{(9)(I)}] = [\varepsilon m_{a}] (23)$   
where  $[\varepsilon]$  is a second order unit tensor.

<u>DISCUSSION</u>: The second perturbation equations determine the deviations from a reference flight that has been rotated by  $\left[\mathcal{R} \stackrel{(f)}{p} \stackrel{(s)}{n}\right]$ . The second terms on the left-hand sides of Equations (22) and (23) are the correction factors. To see the advantage of the second perturbation method, compare Equation (7) with Equation (14). Figure 4.1 shows the quantities involved.



# FIGURE 4.1 THE TWO KINDS OF PERTURBATIONS

 $[\mathcal{E}f_a]$  contains the aerodynamic forces due to a deviation from the rotated reference flight only, while  $[\delta f_a]$  also depends on this rotation. This difference can be seen if  $[f_a(\rho)]$  is eliminated from Equations (7) and (14):

CHAFTER 4

$$[\delta f_{a}] = [\varepsilon f_{a}] + ([R_{pa}^{(e)}] - [\varepsilon])[f_{a}(n)]$$
(24)

A more detailed discussion of why the second perturbation method is better suited to formulate the aerodynamic forces than the first one is given in Section 11.4.

Equations (22) and (23) reveal best the difference between the two perturbation methods. For applications, an alternate form of the second perturbation equations is sometimes more convenient. It is obtained simply by subtracting the reference equations of motion multiplied by  $\left[ R_{p,n}^{(s)(s)} \right]$ from the perturbed equations of motion:

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(t)} p_{p}^{(a)(t)}\right] - \left[R_{p}^{(a)(s)}\right] \left[\mathcal{D}^{(t)} p_{n}^{(a)(t)}\right] = \left[\varepsilon f_{a}\right] + \left(\left[\varepsilon\right] - \left[R_{p}^{(s)(s)}\right]\right) \left[f_{s}^{(s)(s)}\right] (25)$$

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(t)} \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{B} p}^{(\mathbf{B}) (\mathbf{t})}\right] - \left[\mathcal{R}_{p n}^{(\mathbf{S}) (\mathbf{S})}\right] \left[\mathcal{D}^{(t)} \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{B} n}^{(\mathbf{S}) (\mathbf{t})}\right] = \left[\mathcal{E} m_{a}\right]$$
(26)

<u>COMMENT</u>: The second perturbation method can be considered as a generalization of the classical small disturbance method (see Etkin (16)). While the second perturbation equations are expressed in tensor form into therefore valid in any coordinate system, the classical disturbance equations hold only in one coordinate system, usually a stability or hody system. For example, the definition of small disturbances for the velocities and the aerodynamic forces are:

$$\begin{cases} \varepsilon_{u} \\ \varepsilon_{w} \\ \varepsilon_{w} \end{cases} = \begin{bmatrix} U_{p} \\ V_{p} \\ W_{p} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} = \begin{bmatrix} U_{k} \\ V_{k} \\ W_{k} \end{bmatrix}_{n}^{s} ; \begin{cases} \varepsilon_{L} \\ \varepsilon_{M} \\ \varepsilon_{N} \end{cases} = \begin{bmatrix} L_{p} \\ M_{p} \\ M_{p} \\ N_{p} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} = \begin{bmatrix} L_{k} \\ M_{k} \\ N_{k} \end{bmatrix}_{n}^{s} (27)$$

where  $\rho$  and  $\kappa$  indicate the perturbed and reference flights, respectively. During the perturbed flight the variables are measured in the stability coordinate system  $\int_{\rho}^{s}$  of the perturbed state, and during the reference flight they are measured in the stability coordinate system  $\int_{\kappa}^{s}$  of the reference state. Because the two coordinate systems are not the same, the small disturbances in Equation (27) are not vector increments, but rather the scalar differences between components measured in two different coordinate systems. This can be a serious disadvantage if the time derivative of Equation (27) is taken:

$$\frac{d}{dt} \begin{cases} \varepsilon_{U} \\ \varepsilon_{W} \\ \varepsilon_{W} \end{cases} = \frac{d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} U_{p} \\ V_{p} \\ W_{p} \end{bmatrix}^{\varepsilon} - \frac{d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} U_{n} \\ V_{n} \\ W_{n} \end{bmatrix}^{\varepsilon}$$
(28)

because it is very difficult to interpret the physical meaning of the last time derivative. The only alternative is to make it vanish by restricting the analysis to nonaccelerated reference flights. Another disadvantage of the classical approach lies in the effort required to think in three components. Errors might result from an intuition too badly strained.

The perturbation methods used in this report employ strictly tensorial concepts; i.e., invariants under allowable coordinate transformations. This

formulation was made possible by introducing the new concept of a rotational derivative to replace the time derivative. No restrictions have to be imposed on the reference flight, and the intuitional thinking process is improved.

### 5. NORMALIZATION

It is often possible to simplify the treatment of the equations of motion and, at the same time, to embrace a general class of related problems by normalizing the variables and parameters. This normalization process should be introduced early into the formulation of the equations and should be uniform for all components of a vector or tensor. There are two conflicting requirements to be satisfied when selecting the normalizing quantities: they should be constant in time and reduce the aerodynamic forces to the standard coefficient form. For instance, a constant reference flight speed usually is employed to normalize the equations of motion, but the actual variable flight speed is used to arrive at the aerodynamic coefficients. We shall therefore introduce two normalizing systems. Following Hopkin (17) we shall define a dynamic-normalized system for the equations of motion and an aero-normalized system for the aerodynamic forces.

#### 5.1 DYNAMIC-NORMALIZED SYSTEM

÷.

Equations derived from the Euler equations of mechanics, Equations (4.1) and (4.2), allow three independent dimensions to be specified. In the "ordinary system" they are mass M, length L, and time T. The dynamicnormalized system is based on Mass M, Force F, and Velocity V. The relationships between the systems are:

ordinary system

dynamic-normalized system

$$M = M \qquad M = M$$

$$L = \frac{V^2 M}{F} \qquad F = \frac{ML}{T^2} \qquad (1)$$

$$T = \frac{V M}{F} \qquad V = \frac{L}{T}$$

For our particular dynamic-normalized equations of motion, we select the following time-invariant quantities to define the unit scales of the three independent dimensions

Dimension	м	F	V	
Unit Scale	m	$\frac{1}{2}$ $V_{35}^{2}$ S'	Vss	

### TABLE 5.1 DEFINED UNIT SCALES OF THE DYNAMIC-NORMALIZED SYSTEM

where m is the vehicle's mass, S the reference area,  $V_{35}$  the absolute value of the steady-state velocity, and g is some constant reference air density.

In specifying three dimensions, the dynamic-normalized system is a consistent dimensional set. By consistent we mean that the equations of motion remain unchanged when expressed in dynamic-normalized dimensions. There is no need to carry along artificial constants.

Any other d\_mension with its unit scale must be derived from the three basic dimensions. Thus, two of the dimensions in the ordinary system must be derived from the dynamic-normalized system as shown in Equation (1). Their derived unit scales are



TABLE 5.2 DERIVED UNIT SCALES OF THE DYNAMIC-NORMALIZED SYSTEM

where we introduced the time parameter  $\tau$  to abbreviate the time unit scale.

### 5.2 AERO-NORMALIZED SYSTEM

The functions expressing the aerodynamic forces are most conveniently formulated in the aero-normalized system. The three independent dimensions are specified to be length L, force F, and velocity V. The relationships between the ordinary and aero-normalized system are:

ordinary system

- -

acro-normalized system

$$M = \frac{FL}{V^2} \qquad L = L$$

$$L = L \qquad F = \frac{HL}{T^2} \qquad (2)$$

$$T = \frac{L}{V} \qquad V = \frac{L}{T}$$

and between the dynamic and aero-normalized system:

dynamic-normalized system

aero-normalized system

 $H = \frac{FL}{V^2} \qquad L = \frac{MV^2}{F}$   $F = F \qquad F = F \qquad (3)$ 

The unit scales for the independent dimensions of the aero-normalized system are chosen such that the variables in the aerodynamic functions ussume their simplest form:

Dimension	L	F	v	
Unit Scale	L.	$\frac{1}{2} q V_n^2 s$	V <sub>n</sub>	

### TABLE 5.3 DEFINED UNIT SCALES OF THE AERO-NORMALIZED SYSTEM

where l is some reference length and  $V_q$  the absolute value of the velocity vector. Note that the unit scale for force and velocity are time-variant. Therefore, aero-normalized quantities should not be used where time derivatives must be taken, unless great care is being exercised.

If we adopt the three independent dimensions of the aero-normalized system as the three basic dimensions, the two dimensions, H and T, of the ordinary system are derived dimensions. Their derived unit scales are obtained from Equation (2):



TABLE 5.4 DERIVED UNIT SCALES OF THE AERO-NORMALIZED SYSTEM

## 5.3 DISCUSSION AND APPLICATION

Throughout this study we shall use the dynamic-normalized system whenever dynamic problems arise. A horizontal bar will indicate a

dynamic-normalized quantity. For instance, the Muler equations of mechanics, Equations (4.1) and (4.2), become:

$$\left[\overline{\mathcal{D}^{(r)}} p^{\overline{(a)(r)}}\right] = \left[\overline{f_a}\right] + \left[\overline{f_q}\right]$$
 (4)

$$\left[\mathcal{F}^{(r)} I_{\theta}^{(\theta)(r)}\right] = \left[\overline{m_{a}}\right]$$
<sup>(5)</sup>

where the dynamic-normalized rotational derivative is

$$\widehat{\mathcal{D}}^{(\mathbf{r})} = \mathcal{T} \widehat{\mathcal{D}}^{(\mathbf{r})} \tag{6}$$

with the time parameter  $\tau$  defined in Table 5.2.

Similarly, the perturbation equations (4.9), (4.10) and (4.22), (4.23) expressed in the dynamic-normalized system receive just a bar above each quantity. There is one exception to this rule. The rotation tensor of the perturbation equations contains only elements that depend on angles. Because angles are already nondimensional quantities, the rotation tensor is not affected by a change in the dimensional system.

The aero-normalized system will only be employed to formulate the aerodynamic derivatives. Once the aerodynamic forces are combined with the rate of change of linear and angular momentum, we will express all terms in the dynamic-normalized system. A circumflex will designate an aero-normalized quantity.

Table 5.5 summarizes the dimensions and unit scales of some important physical quantities in the three systems.

PHVSTC41 OIIANTTY	ORDINARY S	<b>YSTEM</b>	DYNAMIC-NORM	ALIZED	AERO-NORMA	LIZED
	DIMENSION	UNIT	DIMENSION	UNIT	DIMENSION	UNIT
Mass, m'	Σ	kq.	Ľ	£		155
Length, [s]	ر. ر	۳. ۲	H <sub>2</sub> N	2 m 6 S	د .	~
Time, t	Ŧ	sec	Σu	g Vss S	< -	<b>~</b>  > <sup>*</sup>
Linear Velocity, [1]		E	>	Vss	>	~*
Linear Momentum, Lp1	- TH	Ke We	N	m Vss	ᆋᠵ	2 VnSC
Force, [1]	HL.	sec2	LL .	2 9 45 5	li.	2 42
Angular Velocity, [w]	+	-	u M	<u>e Ves e</u> 2 m	- <	4-1
Angular Nomentum, [ 4 ]	<u>нг</u> 2	Ka Min 2	M2V3	2 m <sup>2</sup> V 55	272	2 VASE
Moment, [m]	H L <sup>6</sup>	hy m*2 Sec 2	MV <sup>2</sup>	7 J m V 4	L L	P Vr SIL
Moment of Inertia, (I)	ML	kg m <sup>22</sup>	H <sup>3</sup> V <sup>4</sup>	4 m 3 82 52	<b>FL</b> <sup>3</sup>	2523
1/ Asterisk is used in th of the physical quantity w	ll is table to dis ass m'	stinguish betw	veen meter, m*,	mass of vehi	cle, m, and t	he symbol

•\*

TABLE 5.5 DIMENSIONS AND UNIT SCALES

The relationship between the three different forms of one quantity are derived from the requirement that the equations must be dimensionally consistent. Some examples are given below:

$$\mathbf{m}' = \mathbf{m} \, \mathbf{\bar{m}}' = \frac{\mathbf{i}}{2} \, \mathbf{S} \, \mathbf{k} \, \mathbf{\hat{m}}' \tag{7}$$

$$[s] = \frac{2m}{rS} [\overline{s}] = \{[s]\}$$
(8)

$$t = \frac{2m}{9V_{ss}S} \bar{t} = \frac{l}{V_R} \hat{t}$$
(9)

$$[w] = V_{ss}[\overline{w}] = V_{R}[\hat{w}]$$
(10)

$$[p] = m V_{ss} [\overline{p}] = \frac{9}{2} V_n SL [\hat{p}]$$
(11)

$$[f] = \frac{9}{2} V_{ss}^2 \leq [\bar{f}] = \frac{9}{2} V_{R}^2 \leq [\hat{f}]$$
(12)

$$[\omega] = \frac{PV_{ss}S}{2m} [\omega] = \frac{V_R}{L} [\omega]$$
(13)

$$[L] = \frac{2m^2 V_{cs}}{9S} [\overline{L}] = \frac{9}{2} V_R S \ell^2 [\widehat{L}]$$
(14)

$$[m] = m V_{ss}^{2} [m] = \frac{9}{2} V_{h}^{2} SL[\hat{m}]$$
(15)

$$[I] = \frac{4m^3}{p^2 s^2} [\overline{I}] = \frac{9}{2} s_1^3 [\hat{I}] \qquad (16)$$

If dynamic-normalized and aero-normalized variables are compared, two additional parameters are introduced for convenience:

۰.

mass parameter

$$\mu = \frac{2m}{pSl}$$

velocity parameter

$$\overline{V}_{R} = \frac{V_{R}}{V_{SS}}$$

From Equations (7) through (16) we obtain:

$$\hat{m}' = \mu \, \overline{m}' \tag{17}$$

$$[\hat{s}] = \mu [\bar{s}]$$
<sup>(18)</sup>

$$\hat{t} = \mu \bar{V}_{\mu} [\bar{t}]$$
<sup>(19)</sup>

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{\nu} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{\bar{V}_n} [\bar{\nu}]$$
(20)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{\rho} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{\mu}{\bar{V}_{R}} \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\rho} \end{bmatrix}$$
 (21)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{f} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{\overline{V}_n^2} \begin{bmatrix} \overline{f} \end{bmatrix}$$
 (22)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{\omega} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{\mu \, \bar{\nu}_{R}} \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\omega} \end{bmatrix} \tag{23}$$

$$[\hat{\mathcal{L}}] = \frac{\mu^2}{\bar{\mathcal{V}}_n} [\overline{\mathcal{L}}]$$
<sup>(24)</sup>

$$\left[\hat{m}\right] = \frac{\mu}{\bar{V}_{\pi}^{2}} \left[\bar{m}\right]$$
(25)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{r} \end{bmatrix} = \mu^3 \begin{bmatrix} \overline{r} \end{bmatrix}$$
(26)

### 6. FRAME AXES

The modeling of the flight dynamic problem in this report requires an extensive use of physical and mathematical concepts. Many of them are defined in Chapter 3. It is particularly important that we understand the meanings of: frame, triad, and poordinate system.

Frames are the building stones for modeling rigid body problems. They represent physical concepts like earth frame, reference frame, body frame, etc. Three noncollinear frame points are sufficient to determine the position of a frame. However, many times a <u>triad</u> is used to represent a frame. It is defined by a right-hand orthonormal triad of base vectors and the base point; i.e., by four frame points. Therefore, two of the base vectors and the base point define a frame uniquely. Frames and their triads are physical concepts in the sense that they are invariants under allowable coordinate transformations. Thus, they can be cast into tensor formalism.

In contrast, a <u>coordinate system</u> is not a physical concept. All it does is to establish a one-to-one correspondence between the frame points and the ordered set of algebraic numbers. The set is called the coordinates of the point. However, knowing the coordinates of a point is not sufficient to locate a point because there are an infinite number of coordinate systems that can be associated with a particular frame. Only if we introduce another point of the frame as a reference point and if we form the coordinate differences, can we define the relative location of the point. Thus, we arrive at a displacement vector connecting both frame points. The coordinate differences are called the components of the displacement vector in a particular coordinate system. The abstract collection of the components

in all allowable coordinate systems constitutes the vector. The same collective point of view is used to define all other vectors and tensors. Knowing a set of components of a vector does not uniquely determine a coordinate system. It only fixes the set of coordinate systems generated by translational transformations. Thus, the location of the origin of the coordinate system is immaterial. In effect, all points of a frame are origins for the set of coordinate systems generated by translation.

The geometrical picture of a Cartesian coordinate system in a threedimensional Euclidean space is modeled by three orthonormal axes. It is this geometrical analog that causes confusion because, intuitively, the geometrical picture is elevated to physical reality, even though we know that a coordinate system is a pure mathematical concept. However, in flight dynamic problems the notion of axes is too deeply rooted to be dispensed with. We will, therefore, retain this term but associate it with the physical concept of a triad. The base vectors of the triad will be called the <u>frame axes</u>. There exists a particular simple component form of the axes, the unit component form  $\begin{bmatrix} i \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$ , etc. The set of coordinate systems, generated by translations, that provide this form are of special interest. They are usually meant, when we talk about a coordinate system associated with a frame.

To summarize, a frame is represented by a triad whose base vectors are called the frame axes. Two axes and their origin, the base point, define the position of a frame. The coordinate systems associated with a frame are purely mathematical concepts. There is always one set of them in which the axes attain a particular simple form. In a geometrical analog we would say that the coordinate axes of this set are parallel to the

frame axes. This set is used to express the components of a vector in a given frame.

Throughout this study we will use right-hand Cartesian coordinate systems and right-hand orthonormal triads. The base points of all triads coincide with the center of mass, B, of the Magnus rotor (MR). There are two groups of frames: the flight mechanical frames, Table 6.1, and the gyro-mechanical frames, Table 6.2. The sequence of rotations of the flight mechanical frame axes is shown in Figure 6.1. It differs from that of conventional airplane dynamics (see Etkin (16)) because the singularity at glide angles  $Y = \frac{1}{2}$  90 degree is undesirable. An MR in transient flight may perform a full loop, thus changing its glide angle 360 degree. We, therefore, prefer to locate the wingularities at roll angles  $\frac{1}{2}$  90 degree. This is a better choice because, later on, the perturbation equations will be limited to small roll angles but the glide angle will remain unrestricted.

The singularity of the sequence of the gyro-mechanical frame axes is at  $\eta = 0$ . But this is just the position of the spin axes in reference flight. The gyro-mechanical frame axes, therefore, cannot be used to formulate the general perturbation equations. Nonetheless, they are useful to discuss the gyroscopic properties of MR's and, notably, to estimate the order of magnitude of certain terms.

FRAME		RAME AXES	
	X1	X2	۲٦
Earth frame, used as inertial frame (E)	horizontal and in the plane of the reference flight trajectory		parallel and in direction of gravity vector
Reference frame of (g) reference flight <sub>a</sub>	parallel and in direction of velocity vector of mass center during reference flight	horizontal to the right	
Reference frame of (R) perturbed flight p	parallel and in direction of the projection of the $x_i^s$ - stability axis on the plane of the reference flight trajectory	horizontal to the right	-
Yawing frame (Y)	coincides with x <sub>1</sub> <sup>5</sup>	parallel and in the direction of the projection of the spin axis on the $x_i^{R}$ , $x_2^{R}$ plane	
Stability frame (\$)	parallel and in the direction of the projection of the velocity vector on the mirror symmetry plane $x_1^{a}$ , $x_3^{b}$	positive spin axis	
Body frame (B)	parallel to principle moment of inertia axis, direction arbitrary	positive spin axis	
Wind frame (W)	parallel and in the direction of the linear velocity vector		coincident with X <sub>3</sub> <sup>\$</sup>

TABLE 6.1 FLIGHT-MECHANICAL FRAME AXES

CHAPTER 6

۰.

FRAME		FRAME AXES	
	×۲	X	×.
Nodal frame (L)	line of nodes	horízontal to the right	parallel and in the direction of the projection of the spin axis into the vertical plane $x_{L}^{F}, x_{a}^{F}$
Nutation frame (N)	coincid <b>es</b> with x <sub>L</sub> <sup>L</sup>	positive spin axis	-
Body frame (D)	parallel to a principal moment of inertia axis, direction arbitrary	positive spin axis	

TABLE 6.2. GYRO-MECHANICAL FRAME AXES

SEQUENCE OF ROTATIONS  $\begin{bmatrix} F_{1} \\ F_{2} \end{bmatrix}_{r}^{R} \begin{bmatrix} F_{2} \\ F_{2} \end{bmatrix}_{r}^{R} \psi$  $X_2^L = X_2^R$ X<sub>2</sub> χ

- E . EARTH AXES

- STABILITY AXES WIND AXES

- NUTATION AXES

- LINE OF NODE AXES

- . YAWING AXES

BODY AXES

- R = REFERENCE AXES



- GLIDE ANGLE
- . YAW ANGLE
- ROLL ANGLE
- " ANGLE OF ATTACK
- ANGLE OF SIDESLIP
- NODE ANGLE
- CONE ANGLE ŋ
- 5 . BODY ANGLE

FIGURE 6.1 INTERSECTIONS OF THE FRAME AXIS WITH THE UNIT SPHERE



Except for the earth frame, we must distinguish the individual flight mechanical frames during reference and perturbed flight. The definitions of the frame axes, given in Tables 6.1 and 6.2, can be applied to both flight states except for the reference axes. For the latter, both definitions are provided. Note that the following frame axes coincide during reference flight:  $\binom{(w)}{n} = \binom{(s)}{n} = \binom{(v)}{n} = \binom{(a)}{n}$ . The nodal and nutation frame axes of the gyro-mechanical frames are not defined for the reference flight.

A definition of the spin axis remains to be given. The <u>spin axis</u> of an MR intersects the mirror plane orthonogally at the center of mass. Its positive direction is determined by the following <u>corkscrew rule</u>: Pick up an MR with your right hand such that the driving vanes offer the most resistance against a right-handed twist with your hand. The spin axis has then the same direction as the axial vector representing the twist.

Figure 6.1 presents the axes as they intersect the unit sphere. The lines are the great circles on the sphere connecting two axes. They carry the angles of rotation between the frame axes. These angles can be defined either by rotation tensors or transformation matrices. We choose to use here the transformation matrices. Associate with each frame a coordinate system that puts the components of the system axes in the simplest form  $\begin{bmatrix} 1\\0\\0 \end{bmatrix}$ , etc. The transformation matrices between these coordinate systems are given in Table 6.3.

FOR SHALL ANGLES SY, 4, 4:

$$\begin{bmatrix} T \end{bmatrix}_{Px}^{SS} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 4 & -\delta T \\ -4 & 1 & 4 \\ \delta T & -4 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

TABLE 6,3 COORDINATE TRANSFORMATION MATRICES

### 7. KINEMATICS

All kinematic concepts have been introduced in Chapter 3. In particular, Equations (3.19) and (3.20) define the rotational derivatives of tensors and Equation (3.44) the angular velocity tensor. Here we shall concentrate on providing the formulas needed for the further development of the equations of motion.

One method of evaluating the angular velocity is given by Equations (3.50) and (3.51). But usually one tries to avoid the matrix multiplication and instead regards the angular velocity tensor as an axial vector and adds vectorially the individual components along the axes of rotation. As an example we shall evaluate the angular velocity vector  $\begin{bmatrix} \omega & \rho & 0 \\ \rho & 0 \end{bmatrix}_{\rho}^{\sigma}$  of the stability frame of the perturbed flight,  $\begin{pmatrix} \sigma & 0 \\ \rho & 0 \end{pmatrix}_{\rho}^{\sigma}$  associated vector in a coordinate system  $\begin{bmatrix} \sigma & \sigma & 0 \\ \rho & 0 \end{bmatrix}_{\rho}^{\sigma}$  associated with  $\begin{pmatrix} \sigma & 0 \\ \rho & 0 \end{pmatrix}_{\rho}$ . Refer back to Figure 6.1 and read off:

$$\left[ \omega_{p}^{(s)(x)} \right]_{p}^{s} = \left[ \omega_{pp}^{(s)(Y)} \right]_{p}^{s} + \left[ \omega_{pp}^{(Y)(g)} \right]_{p}^{s} + \left[ \omega_{p}^{(g)(g)} \right]_{p}^{s}$$
(1)

To simplify the evaluation, express the last two terms in different coordinate systems:

$$\left[ \left[ \omega \right]_{p}^{(f)} \left[ \left[ \omega \right]_{p}^{(f)} \right]_{p}^{f} = \left[ \left[ \omega \right]_{p}^{(f)} \right]_{p}^{f} + \left[ T \right]_{p}^{f} \left[ \left[ \omega \right]_{p}^{(f)} \right]_{p}^{Y} + \left[ T \right]_{p}^{f} \left[ \left[ \omega \right]_{p}^{(f)} \right]_{p}^{R}$$
(2)

with

$$\begin{bmatrix} \omega_{p}^{(\mathbf{r})} \overset{\langle \mathbf{r} \rangle}{p} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{\mathbf{r}} = \begin{bmatrix} \dot{\phi} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{\mathbf{r}} ; \begin{bmatrix} \omega_{p}^{(\mathbf{r})} (\mathbf{n}) \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{\mathbf{r}} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \dot{\mu} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{\mathbf{r}} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \dot{\mu} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{\mathbf{r}} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \dot{\mathbf{r}}_{p} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{\mathbf{r}}$$
(3)

Carrying out the multiplications yields:

$$\left[ \omega_{p}^{(\varsigma)(I)} \right]_{\rho}^{\varsigma} = \begin{bmatrix} \dot{\phi} + \dot{\gamma}_{p} \sin \mu \\ \dot{\mu}_{i} \sin \phi + \dot{\gamma}_{p} \cos \mu_{i} \cos \phi \\ \dot{\mu}_{i} \cos \phi - \dot{\gamma}_{p} \cos \mu_{i} \sin \phi \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{\varsigma}$$

$$(4)$$

where the dot stands for the derivative  $\frac{d}{dt}$ . If we set  $v_p = 0$  in Equation (4), we get

$$\begin{bmatrix} \omega {}^{(5)}(\mathbf{R}) \\ \mathbf{p} \\ \mathbf{p} \end{bmatrix}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathbf{s}} = \begin{bmatrix} \dot{\mathbf{q}} \\ \dot{\mathbf{q}} \\ \dot{\mathbf{s}} \\ \dot{\mathbf{n}} \\ \mathbf{cos 4} \end{bmatrix}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathbf{s}}$$
(5)  
and if we add 
$$\begin{bmatrix} \omega {}^{(5)}(\mathbf{c}) \\ \mathbf{p} \\ \mathbf{p} \end{bmatrix}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathbf{s}}$$
to Equation (5), we obtain
$$\begin{bmatrix} \dot{\mathbf{q}} \\ \dot{\mathbf{q}} \\ \dot{\mathbf{p}} \\ \mathbf{p} \\ \mathbf{p} \end{bmatrix}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathbf{s}} = \begin{bmatrix} \dot{\mathbf{q}} \\ \dot{\mathbf{q}} \\ \dot{\mathbf{q}} \\ \dot{\mathbf{p}} \\ \dot{\mathbf{q}} \\ \dot{\mathbf{s}} \\ \dot{\mathbf{s}} \\ \dot{\mathbf{s}} \\ \mathbf{s} \\ \mathbf{q} \end{bmatrix}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathbf{s}}$$
(6)

Three more formulas are derived directly from Figure 6.1.

$$\left[ \omega_{R}^{(\mathbf{s})(\mathbf{x})} \right]_{R}^{\mathbf{s}} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \mathbf{\dot{Y}}_{A} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}_{R}^{\mathbf{s}}$$
 (7)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \omega_{p}^{(\alpha)}(s) \\ \beta_{n} \end{bmatrix}_{R}^{s} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ s\dot{Y} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}_{R}^{s}$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} \omega_{p}^{(\omega)}(s) \\ \beta_{p} \end{bmatrix}_{P}^{w} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \beta_{p} \end{bmatrix}_{R}^{s}$$

r

(9)

(8)
$$\begin{bmatrix} \omega_{n} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{s} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{k} \\ \mathbf{k} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}_{n}^{\mathbf{s}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{0} \\ \dot{\mathbf{c}}_{n} \\ \mathbf{0} \end{bmatrix}_{n}^{\mathbf{s}}$$
(10)

For further reference, we shall also need the time derivatives of Equations (6) and (10):

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left[ \left( \omega \right)^{(\mathbf{R})}_{\mathbf{P}} \right]^{\mathbf{s}}_{\mathbf{P}} = \begin{bmatrix} \ddot{\phi} \\ \vec{\alpha}_{\mathbf{P}} + A \ddot{\mu} \sin \phi + A \dot{\mu} \dot{\phi} \cos \phi \\ \vec{\alpha}_{\mathbf{P}} + A \ddot{\mu} \dot{\phi} \sin \phi \end{bmatrix}^{\mathbf{s}}_{\mathbf{P}} \qquad (11)$$

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left[ \left( \omega \right)^{(\mathbf{R})}_{\mathbf{P} - \mathbf{A}} \right]^{\mathbf{s}}_{\mathbf{A}} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \vec{\alpha}_{\mathbf{A}} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}^{\mathbf{s}}_{\mathbf{A}} \qquad (12)$$

In Chapter 6 two groups of axis systems were introduced: the flightmechanical and gyro-mechanical frame axes. The flight-mechanical frame axes are used to formulate the aerodynamic forces and the equations of motion. The purposes of introducing the gyro-mechanical frame axes are to establish the connection with the dynamics of gyroscopes and to obtain order of magnitude estimates for certain terms in the equations of motion. In the following we shall derive the relationships between the flightmechanical angles  $\phi$  and  $\mu$  and the gyro-mechanical angles  $\delta$  and  $\eta$ , together with their time derivatives. This could be done via the appropriate coordinate transformations. However, to avoid lengthy matrix multiplications, we shall employ spherical trigonometry.

Consider the opherical triangle  $(\chi_{\lambda}^{E}, \chi_{1}^{V}, \chi_{1}^{V})$  of Figure 6.1 and reproduced in Figure 7.1.



# FIGURE 7.1 SPHERICAL TRIANGLE

We read off:  

$$sind = \cos(90^{\circ} - \eta) \cos(90^{\circ} - \delta + 270^{\circ})$$
(13)

$$\sin \phi = \sin \eta \cos \phi$$
 (14)

Similarly we get:

$$\sin (90^{\circ} - 3 + 270^{\circ}) = \tan \psi \tan (90^{\circ} - \eta)$$
(15)

ør

ton 4 - - tan n sin &

62

(16)

The first time derivatives of Equations (14) and (16) are:

$$\dot{\phi} = \frac{-\dot{\delta} \sin\eta \sin\delta + \dot{\eta} \cos\eta \cos\delta}{\left(1 - \sin^2\eta \cos^2 \delta\right)^{1/2}}$$
(17)

$$\dot{\mu} = \frac{-3 \sin\eta \cos\eta \cos\beta - \eta \sin\beta}{1 - \sin^2\eta \cos^2\beta}$$
(18)

To simplify the expressions, we introduce the small-angle assumption. From Figure 7.1 we conclude that small angles  $\phi$  and  $\mu$  imply a small angle  $\eta$ . With this assumption that the cone angle  $\eta$  is a small angle, we obtain from Equations (14), (16), (17), and (18)

$$\phi = \eta \cos \delta \tag{19}$$

$$H = -\eta \sin 2 \tag{20}$$

$$\dot{\phi} = -\eta \dot{\beta} \sin \beta + \eta \cos \beta \qquad (21)$$

$$4\dot{\mu} = -\eta \dot{\partial} \cos \partial - \eta \sin \partial \qquad (22)$$

The second-order time derivatives are deduced from Equations (17) and (18). Again, assuming that  $\eta$  is a small angle, they become:

$$\ddot{\phi} = (-\eta \dot{\sigma}^2 + \ddot{\eta}) \cos \delta - (2\eta \dot{\delta} + \eta \ddot{\delta}) \sin \delta$$
 (23)

$$\ddot{\mu} = (\eta \dot{\delta}^{2} - \ddot{\eta}) \sin \delta - (L\eta \dot{\delta} + \eta \ddot{\delta}) \cos \delta$$
 (24)

Let us multiply Equation (21) by Equation (22) and Equation (14) by Equation (22), respectively:

$$\dot{\phi}_{\mu} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \eta^2 \dot{\sigma}^2 - \dot{\eta}^2 \right) \sin 2\dot{\sigma} - \eta \dot{\eta} \dot{\sigma} \cos 2\dot{\sigma}$$
 (25)

$$i\phi = \frac{1}{2} \left( -\eta^2 \dot{c} - \eta^2 \dot{c} \cos 2\beta - \eta \eta \sin 2\beta \right)$$
 (26)

Squaring the Equations (19) through (22) and adding the first two and last two equations yields:

$$\mu^{2} + \phi^{2} = \eta^{2} \tag{27}$$

and

$$\dot{\mu}^{2} + \dot{\phi}^{2} = \eta^{2} \dot{z}^{2} + \dot{\eta}^{2}$$
<sup>(28)</sup>

For further reference we also give the time derivatives of the cone angle  $\eta$  and the node angle  $\delta$  for small angles 4 and  $4\mu$ :

$$\dot{\eta} = \frac{\phi \dot{\phi} + \psi \dot{\psi}}{(\psi^2 + \phi^2)^{1/2}}$$
(29)

$$\dot{\delta} = \frac{-\phi \dot{\mu} + \psi \dot{\phi}}{\mu^2 + \phi^2} \tag{30}$$

All these equations will be used later to estimate the order of magnitude of certain terms. As an example, we want to show that the absolute value of  $\begin{bmatrix} \omega & 0 \\ \rho & \rho \end{bmatrix}$  is of the order  $\gamma \dot{c}$ ; i.e.,

$$\| \omega_{PP}^{(3)(n)} \| = \mathcal{O}\{\eta \hat{s}\}$$
(31)

From Equation (5) generate the absolute value and obtain in view of Equation (28):

$$\| \omega_{PP}^{(s)(R)} \| = (\dot{\phi}^2 + \dot{\mu}^2)^{1/2} = (\eta^2 \dot{\sigma}^2 + \dot{\eta}^2)^{1/2}$$
(32)

65

Because the nutation rate  $\dot{\delta}$  for common MR's is much greater than the decay of the cone angle  $\eta$ ; i.e.,

$$\sigma\{\dot{s}\} / \sigma\{\dot{\eta}\} \ge 10^2 \tag{33}$$

and because  $\eta = 0$  implies  $\dot{\eta} = 0$ , we receive the desired result

$$\| \omega_{\rho}^{(s)}(\mathbf{R}) \| \approx \gamma \dot{s}$$
(34)

The time derivatives of all expressions are in real time. In later chapters we shall often need them in dynamic-normalized time. This can be achieved simply by substituting  $\frac{d}{dt}$  or a circle for  $\frac{d}{dt}$  or a dot, respectively.

## 8. <u>REFERENCE FLIGHT</u>

Consider a Magnus rotor (MR) in free flight. Its most important flight regime is the descent in a vertical plane with horizontal spin axis. We call this flight condition the <u>planar glide phase</u>. It will serve as the reference or unperturbed flight for the stability investigations in later chapters. Before deriving the equations of this reference flight, we shall establish the conditions under which the MR is able to perform a planar glide phase.

#### 8.1 CONDITIONS FOR THE EXISTENCE OF A PLANAR GLIDE PHASE

The equations for the planar glide phase were formulated by Brunk (1). They describe two translational and one rotational degrees of freedom of an MR. It is intuitively clear that a mirror-symmetrical MR can actually achieve a planar glide phase, provided that no external disturbances occur. However, we shall present a rigorous proof. Before we can formulate this proof, we must define mirror symmetry and the planar glide phase in mathematical terms. Let us begin by introducing the concept of a reflectional tensor that will lead us to the definition of mirror symmetry.

Consider a plane, P, normal to the MR's spin axis. The point of intersection with the spin axis is B. We consider two sets of displacement vectors. The first set connects the mass elements  $\Delta m_R$ ;  $\pi = 1, 2, \cdots, n$ to the right of the plane P with the point B,  $[S_RB]$ . The right-hand side is the side of the positive spin axis. The second set connects the mass elements  $\Delta m_\ell$ ;  $\ell = 1, 2, \cdots, m$  to the left of the plane P with the point B,  $[S_{1B}]$  (see Figure 8.1).



## FIGURE 8.1 LOCATIONS OF MASS ELEMENTS

Let the subscript be chosen such that, if  $\pi_{-} \lambda$ , the displacement vector  $[s_{\ell B}]$  is the mirror image of  $[s_{\pi B}]$  with respect to the mirror plane P. This can be expressed mathematically by a tensor [H] such that

$$[s_{\ell B}] = [H][s_{RB}]$$
(1)

In a body axis system, [H] has the form

$$[H]^{6} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}^{6}$$
 (2)

It is symmetric and orthogonal with a value  $det \{[H]\} = -1$ . We will refer to it as the <u>reflection tensor</u>. Any displacement vector in the plane P,  $[s_{PB}]$ , is reflected into itself; i.e.,

$$[S_{PG}] = [H][S_{PG}]$$
(3)

The reflectional tensor operates on a second-order tensor, [A], as:

$$[A'] = [H][A][H]^{T}$$
<sup>(4)</sup>

If [A] is skew-symmetric, say [ $\Omega$ ], then an equivalent form of Equation (4) is obtained for the axial vector [ $\omega$ ] of [ $\Omega$ ]:

$$[\omega'] = -[H][\omega]$$
<sup>(5)</sup>

To prove this we write Equation (4) in subscript notation with summation convention:

$$\Omega'_{jk} = H_{jn} \Omega_{ns} H_{ks}$$
(6)

Contract the second-order tensor by multiplying both sides by  $\epsilon_{ijk}$  and sum twice

$$\varepsilon_{ijk} \int \mathcal{L}_{jk} = \varepsilon_{ijk} H_{jk} H_{ks} \int \mathcal{D}_{ks}$$
(7)

Because, from Jeffreys (13), page 72,

$$\mathcal{E}_{ijk} H_{jn} H_{ks} = det(H) H_{il} \mathcal{E}_{lns}$$
<sup>(8)</sup>

and det(H) = -1, Equation (7) becomes

$$\varepsilon_{iju} \Omega_{ju}^{t} = -H_{il} \varepsilon_{lns} \Omega_{ns}$$
<sup>(9)</sup>

The axial vectors of the skew-symmetric tensors are

$$\omega_i' = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{ijk} \Omega'_{jk} ; \quad \omega_l = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{lns} \Omega_{ns}$$
(10)

Therefore, we can write Equation (9) as

$$\omega_i' = -H_{ik} \quad \omega_k \tag{11}$$

which is in the form of Equation (5).

<u>DEFINITION</u>: An MR is said to have mirror-symmetrical mass distribution if, for every mass element  $\Delta m_R$ ; n = 1, 2, ..., n located at  $[S_{RG}]$ , we can find a mass element  $\Delta m_L = \Delta m_R$ ;  $\lambda = 1, 2, ..., n$  located at  $[S_{LG}] = [H][S_{RB}]$ .

<u>DEFINITION</u>: An MR is said to have a mirror-symmetrical <u>external configura-</u> <u>tion</u> if, for every surface element  $\Delta A_R$ ;  $h = 1, 2, \dots, q$  at  $[S_{nB}]$ we can find a surface element  $\Delta A_L = \Delta A_R$ ;  $l = 1, 2, \dots, q$  located at  $[S_{lB}] = [H][S_{RB}]$ .

From the first definition, two properties of the mirror-symmetrical MR follow immediately: (i) its center of mass is in the mirror plane  $P_{\rm f}$  and (ii) its moment-of-inectia tensor is invariant under a reflectional tensor operation; i.e.,

$$[I^{(0)}_{0}] = [H][I^{(0)}_{0}][H]^{T}$$
(12)

To prove Equation (12), we express the moment-of-inertia tensor by its definition:

$$[H][I^{(P)}_{0}][H]^{T} = \sum_{i}^{i} \Delta m_{i} [s_{iB}]^{T} [s_{iB}][H][E][H]^{T} -$$

$$(13)$$

$$- \sum_{i}^{i} \Delta m_{i} [H][s_{i0}][s_{iB}]^{T}[H]^{T}$$

70

Because the MR possesses mirror-symmetrical mass distribution, Equation (1) and its inverse  $[S_{RB}] = [H][S_{LB}]$  holds for all K = 1, 2, ..., n. Thus, we write Equation (14)

$$S_{0m_{i}}^{T}[H][s_{i0}][s_{i0}]^{T}[H]^{T} = S_{n}^{T} \Delta m_{n} [s_{10}][s_{10}]^{T} + (15)$$

$$+ \sum_{k} \Delta m_{k} [s_{k0}] [s_{k0}]^{T}$$

Furthermore,  $\Delta m_{R} = \Delta m_{L}$  and  $\sum_{R} = \sum_{k}^{\prime}$ . Therefore,

$$S_{\text{Am};[\text{H}][s_{ib}][s_{ib}][\text{H}]}^{T} = S_{ib}^{S} \text{Am}; [s_{ib}][s_{ib}]^{T}$$
 (16)

Substituting Equation (16) into Equation (13) delivers the desired proof:

$$[H][I^{(9)}_{B}][H]^{T} = \sum_{i}^{f} \Delta_{mi} \{ [s_{ig}]^{T}[s_{ig}][E] - [s_{ig}][s_{ig}]^{T} \} = [I^{(0)}_{B}]^{(17)}$$

Let us define now what we mean by planar glide phase.

<u>DEFINITION</u>: An MR performs a <u>planar glide phase</u> if three conditions are satisfied throughout the flight:

$$[\ell_{0,n}^{(0)(1)}]^{T}[f_{2}] = 0$$
(18)

$$[\mathcal{L}_{B} \stackrel{(0)}{_{n}} \stackrel{(1)}{_{n}} ]^{\mathsf{T}} [\mathcal{D}^{(x)} p \stackrel{(3)}{_{n}} \stackrel{(1)}{_{n}} ] = 0$$
(19)

$$[p_{n}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{I})}]^{\mathsf{T}}[\mathcal{D}^{(\mathbf{I})} \{g_{n}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{I})}] = 0$$
(20)

THEOREM. The necessary and sufficient conditions for the existence of a planar glide phase are:

1. The MR possesses mirror symmetry with respect to its external geometry and the moment of inertia tensor satisfies Equation (12).

2. The perturbations during flight are limited to forces whose resultant vectors lie in the vertical plane and to horizontal moment vectors.

3. The initial conditions are:

s. Mirror plane is vertical; i.e., the gravitational force is contained in the plane:

$$[f_3] = [H][f_3]$$
(21)

b. The linear momentum vector is contained in a vertical plane:

$$[p_{R}^{(g)(r)}(p)] = [H][p_{n}^{(g)(r)}(b)]$$
(22)

c. The angular momentum vector is horizontal:

$$\left[\left(\begin{array}{c} (\mathbf{s}) (\mathbf{r}) \\ \mathbf{r} \end{array}\right)^{\mathsf{T}} = -\left[\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{H}\right]^{\mathsf{T}} \left[\left(\begin{array}{c} (\mathbf{s}) (\mathbf{r}) \\ \mathbf{r} \end{array}\right) (\mathbf{0})\right]$$
(23)

<u>PROOF</u>: We shall first give the initial orientation of the aerodynamic force and moment. As outlined in Section 11.3, the aerodynamic force must satisfy the relationship

$$\begin{bmatrix} f_{\mu}(0) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} f_{\mu} \{ M_{\pi}, R_{\pi}, [S_{iB}(0)], [\omega_{\pi}^{(G)(r)}(0)], [\omega_{B_{\pi}}^{(r)}(0)] \} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} H \end{bmatrix}^{T} \begin{bmatrix} f_{\mu} \{ M_{\pi}, R_{\pi}, [H] [S_{iB}(0)], -[H] [\omega_{\pi}^{(G)(r)}(0)], [H] [\omega_{B_{\pi}}^{(r)}(0)] \} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$(24)$$

where  $M_n$  and  $R_n$  are the Mach number and the Reynolds number, respectively.  $\begin{bmatrix} \Lambda & (0)(r) \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$  and  $\begin{bmatrix} \Lambda & (r) \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$  are the aero-normalized angular and linear velocities, respectively, of the MR relative to an inertial frame at time t = 0.

Because the surface is mirror symmetrical, we have:

$$[s_{iB}(0)] = [H][s_{iB}(0)]$$
(25)

From Equation (22):

$$\left[ \mathcal{N}_{B_{A}}^{(\mathbf{r})}(0) \right] = \left[ H \right] \left[ \mathcal{N}_{B_{A}}^{(\mathbf{r})}(0) \right]$$
(26)

and from Equation (23) with Equation (12):

$$\begin{bmatrix} \omega_{n}^{(B)(I)}(0) \end{bmatrix} = - [H] \begin{bmatrix} \omega_{n}^{(B)(I)}(0) \end{bmatrix}$$
(27)

Therefore, Equation (24) has the form:

$$[f_{a}(0)] = [H][f_{a}(0)]$$
 (28)

A similar procedure leads to:

$$[m_{a}(0)] = -[H][m_{a}(0)]$$
 (29)

This means that initially the aerodynamic force is in a vertical plane and the aerodynamic moment is horizontal.

Now we shall show that Equations (18) through (20) are satisfied at += 0. Equation (18) is automatically satisfied by Condition 3c of the theorem. Using the equation of motion, Equation (4.1), and premultiplying by  $\left[ \int_{B} \int_{0}^{B} (\mathbf{r}) (0) \right]^{T}$  gives:

$$\left[\mathcal{L}_{B,x}^{(0)(x)}(0)\right]^{\mathsf{T}}\left[\mathcal{D}^{(x)}\rho_{x}^{(0)(x)}\right] = \left[\mathcal{L}_{B,x}^{(0)(x)}(0)\right]^{\mathsf{T}}\left[f_{a}(0)\right] + \left[\mathcal{L}_{B,x}^{(0)(x)}(0)\right]^{\mathsf{T}}\left[f_{a}\right]$$
(30)

The right-hand side is zero because  $\left\{ f_{\lambda}(0) \right\}$  and  $\left[ f_{\lambda} \right]$  are in a vertical plane. Therefore, Equation (19) is also satisfied. Also, premultiply Equation (4.2) by  $\left[ p \right]_{R}^{(B)}(\Gamma) \left[ 0 \right]$  and obtain

$$\left[p_{n}^{(0)(t)}(0)\right]^{T}\left[\mathcal{D}^{(t)}\left[l_{0}^{(0)(t)}\right] = \left[p_{n}^{(0)(t)}(0)\right]^{T}\left[m_{0}^{(0)}(0)\right]$$
(31)

This is again zero, and Equation (20) is therefore also satisfied. Summarizing, we have at the initial time  $\pm = 0$ :

$$[l_{G_{R}}^{(G)(r)}(0)]^{T}[f_{2}] = 0$$
(32)

$$\left[ \left( \mathcal{B}_{R}^{(0)(x)}(0) \right)^{\mathsf{T}} \left[ \mathcal{B}^{(x)} p_{R}^{(0)(x)} \right] = 0$$
(33)

$$[p_{x}^{(B)(L)}(0)]^{T} [\mathcal{D}^{(L)} l_{B_{x}}^{(B)(L)}] = 0$$
(34)

which agrees with Equations (18) through (20). To arrive at these equations, we employed Conditions (1) and (3) of the theorem. It can easily be verified that, if any of these conditions is violated, then Equations (32) through (34) do not hold and, by definition, the MR is not in a planar glide phase initially. Therefore, for t=0, Conditions (1) and (3) are the necessary and sufficient conditions for a planar glide phase.

To extend the reasoning to positive times, we interpret the Equations (32) through (34) as stating that, after a time increment  $\delta t$ , the linear momentum vector is still in the vertical plane and the angular momentum vector remains horizontal. Now we can again show that Equations (18) through (20) are satisfied for the time  $t = \delta t$ . However, because perturbations may be acting during the time increment, we must impose Condition (2) of the theorem. These admissible perturbations do not affect the restrictions on the linear and angular momentum vectors. But any other perturbation would force the linear momentum out of the vertical plane and/ or the angular momentum from its horizontal attitude. Therefore, Conditions (1) through (3) are the necessary and sufficient conditions for a planar glide phase at  $t = \delta t$ . This process can be repeated for the next time increment, and so on. Thus, the theorem is proved.

#### 8.2 EQUATIONS OF MOTION

We shall formulate the reference equations of motion in a coordinate system associated with the stability frame  $\binom{(s)}{n}$  during reference flight (see Table 6.1). From Equations (5.4) and (5.5), we obtain:

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left[ p_{n}^{(0)(t)} \right]_{n}^{s} + \left[ \Omega_{n}^{(s)(t)} \right]_{n}^{s} \left[ p_{n}^{(0)(t)} \right]_{n}^{s} = \left[ f_{a}(n) \right]_{n}^{s} + \left[ f_{a}(n) \right]_{n}^{s}$$
(35)

From Section 8.1, we know that the linear momentum and the aerodynamic and gravitational forces remain in the vertical plane; i.e.,

$$\left[ p_{n}^{(0)}(t) \right] = \left[ H \right] \left[ p_{n}^{(0)}(t) \right]$$
(37)

$$\left[f_{a}(n)\right] = \left[H\right]\left[f_{a}(n)\right]$$
(38)

$$[\overline{f_{g}}] = [H][\overline{f_{g}}]$$
<sup>(39)</sup>

and that the angular momentum and aerodynamic moment remain horizontal; i.e.,

$$\left[ \mathcal{I}_{\mathfrak{G}} \overset{(\mathfrak{g})(\mathfrak{c})}{n} \right] = - \left[ H \right] \left[ \mathcal{I}_{\mathfrak{G}} \overset{(\mathfrak{g})(\mathfrak{c})}{n} \right]$$

$$(40)$$

$$[m_{a}(n)] = -[H][m_{a}(n)]$$
<sup>(41)</sup>

With the reflection tensor

$$\begin{bmatrix} H \end{bmatrix}_{R}^{S} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}_{R}^{S}$$
(42)

Equations (37) through (41) require that some of the components in Equations (35) and (36) must be zero. We obtain the following result:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{V}_{R} \\ 0 \\ -\tilde{V}_{R}\tilde{Y}_{R} \end{bmatrix}_{R}^{d} = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{fa_{1}(R)} \\ 0 \\ \overline{fa_{3}(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{R}^{d} + \frac{mq}{\frac{9}{2}V_{ss}^{2}S} \begin{bmatrix} -\sin\tilde{V}_{R} \\ 0 \\ \cos\tilde{V}_{R} \end{bmatrix}_{R}^{d}$$
(43)

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0\\ \overline{I}_{y} \ddot{\overline{\omega}}_{R}\\ 0 \end{bmatrix}_{R}^{d} = \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ \overline{m_{a_{2}}}(n)\\ 0 \end{bmatrix}_{R}^{d}$$
(44)

where  $\overline{V}_n$  is the flight speed,  $\overline{\omega}_n$  the spin rate about the spin axis,  $\overline{I}_y$  the moment of inertia about the spin axis, and  $\overline{V}_a$  the glide angle. Equation (43) is the linear momentum equation with the first component along the flight path and the third component normal to it. The last terms on the right-hand side are the gravitational force components. The angular momentum Equation (44) consists of the component about the spin axis only.

We turn now to the determination of the aerodynamic forces. In Chapter 11, Equations (11.13) and (11.14), we shall show that the following functional relationships exist:

$$\left[\overline{f_{n}(n)}\right] = \overline{V_{n}^{2}}\left[C_{F}\left[H_{n}, R_{n}, \left[b_{\kappa}(n)\right]_{n}^{s}, \left[\omega_{n}\right]_{n}^{s}, \left[U_{B_{n}}^{(s)}\right]_{n}^{s}\right]\right] (45)$$

$$\left[\frac{1}{m_{a}(n)}\right] = \frac{\overline{V_{n}^{2}}}{\mu} \left[C_{H} \left\{ \text{ same dependence } \right\}\right] (46)$$

where we made the ASSUMPTION:

$$\| \omega_{n}^{(s)(r)} \| \ll \| \omega_{n-n}^{(0)(s)} \|$$
(47)

i.e., the maximum rate of change of glide angle is less than one percent of the spin rate. Furthermore, by definition, we have

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{N}_{\mathbf{G}_{R}}^{(\mathbf{I})} \end{bmatrix}_{\mathbf{A}}^{\mathbf{S}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{V}_{R}} \\ \mathbf{V}_{R} \\ \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{A}} \end{bmatrix}_{\mathbf{A}}^{\mathbf{S}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{1} \\ \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{D} \end{bmatrix}_{\mathbf{A}}^{\mathbf{S}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{1} \\ \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} \end{bmatrix}_{\mathbf{A}}^{\mathbf{S}}$$
(48)

Let

$$\begin{bmatrix} \Lambda \\ [\omega] \\ [\omega]$$

(49)

and remember that  $[b_{k}(n)]_{n}^{s} = [T]_{nn}^{Bs} [b_{k}(n)]_{n}^{s}$  contains the only variable  $\alpha_{n}$ . Then we can simplify the functional relationship in Equations (45) and (46).

$$[\overline{f_{\alpha}(n)}] = \overline{V_{n}} [C_{f} \{ M_{n}, R_{n}, d_{n}, \hat{\omega}_{n} \}]$$
(50)

$$\left[\overline{\mathbf{M}_{n}(n)}\right] = \frac{\overline{\mathbf{V}_{n}^{2}}}{\mu} \left[C_{n}\left\{\mathbf{M}_{n}, \mathbf{R}_{n}, \mathbf{d}_{n}, \hat{\mathbf{W}}_{n}\right\}\right]$$
(51)

The lift and drag coefficients are introduced by the following definition:

$$\begin{bmatrix} c_{\mathbf{D}} \\ 0 \\ c_{\mathbf{L}} \end{bmatrix}_{\mathbf{R}}^{\mathbf{S}} = -\begin{bmatrix} c_{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{L}}}^{(\mathbf{R})} \\ 0 \\ c_{\mathbf{F}_{3}}^{(\mathbf{R})} \end{bmatrix}_{\mathbf{R}}^{\mathbf{S}}$$
(52)

The spin torque coefficient is written as

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ C_{H} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}^{c} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ C_{H_{2}}(\mathbf{k}) \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}^{c}$$
(53)

Experimental evidence justifies the following simplified functional forms for the coefficients:

$$C_{D} = C_{D} \{ M_{n}, R_{n}, \alpha_{n} \}$$
<sup>(54)</sup>

$$C_{L} = C_{L_{\tilde{W}}} \{ M_{R}, R_{R}, d_{R} \} \hat{\omega}_{R}$$
(55)

$$C_{m} = C_{ma} \{ M_{n}, R_{n}, d_{n} \} + C_{M_{dis}} \{ M_{n}, R_{n}, d_{n} \} \hat{W}_{n}$$
 (56)

where  $C_{\mathfrak{D}}$ ,  $C_{\mathfrak{L}}$ ,  $C_{\mathfrak{H}_{\mathfrak{A}}}$ ,  $C_{\mathfrak{H}_{\mathfrak{A}}}$ , must be determined experimentally. Substitute Equations (54) through (56) into Equations (43) and (44), and convert all

aero-normalized quantities into dynamic-normalized terms. The final result is:

$$\tilde{\vec{V}}_{n} = -C_{D}\bar{\vec{V}}_{n}^{2} - \frac{\tilde{c}}{V_{ss}}q\sin \tilde{f}_{n}$$
<sup>(57)</sup>

$$\tilde{\mathcal{X}}_{n} = \frac{1}{\mu} C_{L_{\hat{\omega}}} \, \bar{\omega}_{n} - \frac{\mathcal{X}}{V_{ss}} \, q \, \frac{1}{\bar{V}_{n}} \cos \tilde{\mathcal{X}}_{n} \tag{58}$$

$$\hat{\overline{\omega}}_{R} = \frac{1}{\mu} \overline{I}_{y} \overline{V}_{R}^{2} C_{Ha} + \frac{1}{\mu^{2}} \overline{I}_{y} \overline{V}_{R} C_{Hd\hat{\omega}} \overline{\omega}_{R}$$
(59)

where we used the previously introduced assumption that the rate of change of glide angle is much smaller (<1%) than the spin rate.

 $\overline{V}_{n}$ ,  $\overline{V}_{n}$ , and  $\overline{\omega}_{n}$  are the dependent variables. The absolute value of the flight velocity  $\overline{V}_{n}$  and the glide angle  $\overline{V}_{n}$  are the polar coordinates of the velocity vector. The dynamic-normalized spin rate  $\overline{\omega}_{n} \neq \alpha_{n}$  is related to the tip-speed ratio via  $\overline{\omega}_{n} = \mu \overline{V}_{n} \hat{\omega}_{n}$ . The aerodynamic coefficients depend implicitly on  $M_{n}$ ,  $R_{n}$ , and  $\alpha_{n}$ . For a discussion of the equations refer to Section 12.1.

## 9. LINEAR MOMENTUM

In this chapter we shall derive the equations that describe the perturbations of the linear momentum of an MR from the reference glide phase. The dynamic-normalized form of the Perturbation Equation (4.25) will be used:

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(1)}p_{p}^{(0)}(1)\right] - \left[\mathcal{R}^{(5)}_{p,n}\right]\left[\mathcal{R}^{(1)}_{p,n}\right] = \left[\mathcal{E}f_{a}\right] + \left\{\left[\mathcal{E}\right] - \left[\mathcal{R}^{(0)}_{p,n}\right]\right]\left[f_{q}(n)\right] \quad (1)$$

Our goal is to express the differential equations in a coordinate system associated with the perturbed stability frame p.

To begin with, let us concentrate on the first term in Equation (1). Equations (5.10) and (5.11) show that the linear momentum and linear velocity have the same value in a dynamic-normalized system. Therefore,

$$\left[\overline{\mathcal{D}^{(x)}}\rho \frac{\overline{\rho^{(x)}}}{\rho}\right] = \left[\overline{\mathcal{D}^{(x)}} \mathcal{N}_{B_{\rho}}\right]$$
(2)

For ease of calculation, we perform a transformation of frames from (T) to the wind frame  $\frac{(\omega)}{p}$  in a perturbed state:

$$\left[\overline{\mathcal{D}^{(z)}} \mathcal{U}_{o_{p}}^{(z)}\right] = \left[\overline{\mathcal{D}^{(w)}} \mathcal{U}_{o_{p}}^{(z)}\right] + \left[\overline{\Omega^{(w)}} \mathcal{U}_{o_{p}}^{(z)}\right] + \left[\overline{\Omega^{(d)}} \right] \left[\overline{\mathcal{U}_{o_{p}}^{(d)}}\right] + \left[\overline{\Omega^{(d)}} \mathcal{U}_{o_{p}}^{(d)}\right] \left[\overline{\mathcal{U}_{o_{p}}^{(d)}}\right] \left[\overline{\mathcal{$$

Furthermore, introduce the two convenient coordinate systems Jp and Jp:

$$\left[\overline{\mathcal{D}^{(t)}}\mathcal{D}_{q}^{(t)}\right]_{p}^{q} = \left[T\right]_{p}^{w} \left\{\frac{d}{dt}\left[\overline{\mathcal{D}_{q}^{(t)}}\right]_{p}^{w} + \left[\overline{\Omega_{p}^{(w)}}\right]_{p}^{q}\left[\overline{\mathcal{D}_{q}^{(t)}}\right]_{p}^{w}\right] + \left[\overline{\Omega_{p}^{(stp)}}\right]_{p}^{q}\left[\overline{\mathcal{D}_{q}^{(stp)}}\right]_{p}^{q}\left[\overline{\mathcal{D}_{q}^{(t)}}\right]_{p}^{q}\right]$$

where by definition:

$$\left[\mathcal{U}_{\mathbf{s}_{\rho}^{(\mathbf{I})}}\right]_{\rho}^{\mathsf{w}} = \begin{bmatrix}\overline{\mathbf{v}}_{\rho}\\\mathbf{0}\\\mathbf{0}\end{bmatrix}_{\rho}^{\mathsf{w}}$$

(5)

<u>ASSUMPTION 1</u>: Let the angles  $\phi$ ,  $\psi$ ,  $\beta$  be small enough that the cosine of the angle can be replaced by one and the sine by the angle itself.

With this assumption, Equation (4) can be written out using the corresponding relationships derived in Chapters 6 and 7:

$$\left[\overline{\mathcal{D}^{(r)}}_{\mathcal{V}_{p}}\overline{\mathcal{V}_{p}}^{(r)}\right]_{p}^{s} = \begin{bmatrix} \vec{v}_{p} - (\vec{\beta} + \vec{\mu} - \phi \vec{v}_{p}) \vec{v}_{p} \beta \\ \vec{v}_{p}\beta + (\vec{\beta} + \vec{\mu} - \phi \vec{v}_{p}) \vec{v}_{p} \beta \\ -\vec{v}_{p} \vec{v}_{p} + (\vec{\mu} \vec{v}_{p} + \phi) \vec{v}_{p}\beta - \phi \vec{\mu} \vec{v}_{p} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s}$$
(6)

The second term on the left-hand side of Equation (1) becomes, if expressed in the  $]_{p}^{*}$ -coordinate system,

$$[R_{p \ x}^{(s)(g)}]_{p}^{s} [\overline{\mathcal{D}^{(1)}}_{R} p_{R}^{(g)(g)}]_{p}^{s} = [T]_{p \ x}^{s \ s} [R_{p \ x}^{(g)(g)}]_{n}^{s} [\overline{\mathcal{D}^{(1)}}_{R} p_{R}^{(g)(g)}]_{n}^{s} = [E]_{p \ x}^{s \ s} [\overline{\mathcal{D}^{(1)}}_{R} p_{R}^{(g)(g)}]_{n}^{s} (7)$$

which is the left-hand side of Equation (8.35). Both equations combined yield the perturbation of the linear momentum:

where  $\overline{\mathcal{N}}$  is the perturbation of the dynamic-normalized absolute value of the flight velocity, defined by

$$\delta \overline{V} = \overline{V}_p - \overline{V}_n \tag{9}$$

and its time derivative

$$\delta \tilde{V} = \tilde{V}_{p} - \tilde{V}_{r}$$

80

(10)

<u>ASSUMPTION 2</u>: Let  $\overline{\delta V} \ll \overline{V_R}$ ,  $\overline{\delta V} \ll \overline{\tilde{V}_R}$ . This is well justified because the angles  $\phi$ ,  $A_{\mu}$ , and  $\beta$  are small, and, therefore, disturbances will have a small effect on the change and rate of change of the total flight velocity.

Of particular interest for the further development is the second equation in Equation (8). Let us impose Assumption 2 and show that the term  $\oint \tilde{V}_p \ \overline{V}_R$  can be neglected; i.e.,

$$\| \phi \hat{y}_{p} \| \ll \| \hat{\mu} \| \tag{11}$$

To do that we convert Equation (11) into gyro-mechanical quantities using the Equations (7.19) and (7.22):

$$\| \hat{y}_{p, \gamma} \cos \vartheta \| \ll \| - \gamma \vartheta \cos \vartheta - \eta \sin \vartheta \|$$
 (12)

For all MR's the rate of change of cone angle  $\eta$  is much smaller than the nutation rate  $\delta$ ; i.e.

$$\sigma\{\dot{\sigma}/\dot{\eta}\} \ge 10^2 \tag{13}$$

Therefore, even for a small cone angle  $\eta$ , we can replace Equation (12) for all practical purposes by

$$\| y_{p} \eta \cos \delta \| \ll \| \eta \delta \cos \delta \|$$
(14)

and, therefore

$$\|Y_{p}\| \ll \|S\|$$
 (15)

which says that, for the term  $\oint \tilde{V}_R \tilde{V}_R$  to be neglected, the rate of change of glide angle must be much smaller than the nutation rate. This is certainly satisfied  $(\sigma \{\tilde{\mathcal{S}}/\tilde{V}_R\} \geq 10^2)$ .

The same arguments also lead to a simplification of the first and third equation in Equation (8). Summarizing we get:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \overline{\mathcal{D}^{(1)}} \rho_{p}^{(0)} \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ p \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} - \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{D}^{(s)}(s) \\ p \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} \overline{\mathcal{D}^{(1)}} \rho_{n}^{(0)} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} \overline{\mathcal{D}^{(1)}} \rho_{n}^{(0)} \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ p \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{\delta \overline{V}} - (\rho + \mu) \overline{V}_{n} \beta \\ \frac{d}{dt} (\overline{V}_{n}\beta) + A \overline{\mu} \overline{V}_{n} \\ -\delta \overline{V} \overline{V}_{n} + (\phi \beta - \phi A \overline{\mu}) \overline{V}_{n} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s}$$
(16)

where

$$\vec{\sigma Y} = \vec{\gamma}_{p} - \vec{\gamma}_{n} \tag{17}$$

is the perturbation rate of the glide angle. The desired form of the perturbation equation is finally obtained by substituting Equation (16) into Equation (1) and expressing the last term of Equation (1) in the  $\int_{\rho}^{\phi}$  -coordinate system

$$\begin{bmatrix} \vec{\delta V} - (\vec{\beta} + A\vec{\mu}) \vec{V}_{n} \vec{\beta} \\ \frac{d}{d\bar{t}} (\vec{V}_{n} \vec{\beta}) + A\vec{\mu} \vec{V}_{n} \\ -\delta \vec{Y} \vec{V}_{n} + (\dot{\phi} \vec{\beta} - \phi A\vec{\mu}) \vec{V}_{n} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{t} f_{n} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} + \frac{\tau q}{V_{ss}} \begin{bmatrix} -\delta \vec{Y} \cos \vec{Y}_{n} \\ H \sin \vec{Y}_{n} + \phi \cos \vec{Y}_{n} \\ -\delta \vec{Y} \sin \vec{Y}_{n} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s}$$
(18)

The left-hand side represents the perturbations of the time rate of change of linear momentum from the reference flight. The first and third components are expressed in flight direction and normal to it in a vertical plane, respectively. They are nonlinear in  $\phi$ ,  $\psi$  and  $\beta$ . The second component gives the time rate of change of linear momentum along the spin axis. It is linear in  $A\phi$  and  $\beta$ , and will be of major interest in the sequel. The terms on the right-hand are the perturbations of the aerodynamic forces and the gravitational contributions.

## 10. ANGULAR MOMENTUM

We shall derive the equations that describe the perturbations of the angular momentum of an MR from the reference glide phase. We begin with the dynamic-normalized form of Equation (4.23)

$$\left[\overline{\mathcal{D}^{(r)}} \in \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{G}}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{I})}\right] + \left[\overline{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathbf{G}}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{I})}\right] \left[\mathcal{R}_{\mathbf{P},\mathbf{A}}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{S})}\right] \left[\overline{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathbf{G},\mathbf{K}}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{I})}\right] = \left[\overline{\mathcal{E}}_{\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{G}}}\right]$$
(1)

Before converting to component form, we will show that Equation (1) can be simplified considerably by comparing the order of magnitudes of individual terms. Again, as in Chapter 9, we shall assume that  $\phi$ ,  $A\mu$ ,  $\beta$  are small angles. Then, because of Equation (7.27), the cone angle  $\eta$  is also small.

#### 10.1 SIMPLIFICATIONS

<u>SIMPLIFICATION 1</u>: The major contribution to the perturbation of the angular velocity  $\left( \mathcal{E} \omega^{(s)(s)} \right)$  comes from the rotation of the frame  $\begin{pmatrix} s \\ \rho \end{pmatrix}$  relative to  $\begin{pmatrix} r \\ \rho \end{pmatrix}$ ; i.e., the nutation rate is greater than the time rate of change of glide angle. This intuitively leads to the approximation:

$$\left[\varepsilon\omega^{(g)(I)}\right] \approx \left[\omega^{(g)(R)}_{PP}\right]$$
(2)

JUSTIFICATION: From definition Equation (4.13)

where the individual terms have the following order of magnitude

 $\|\overline{\omega}_{p}^{(s)}(\mathbf{R})\| = \mathcal{O}\{\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{n}\} \qquad (\text{see Equation (7.34)})$   $\|\mathbf{I}\mathbf{E}] - [\mathbf{R}_{p}^{(s)}(\mathbf{R})]\| = \mathcal{O}\{\eta\} \qquad (\text{see Table 6.3})$   $\|\overline{\omega}_{n}^{(s')}(\mathbf{E})\| = \mathcal{O}\{\tilde{\mathbf{Y}}_{n}\} \qquad (\text{see Equation (7.7)})$   $\|\overline{\omega}_{p}^{(\mathbf{R})}(\mathbf{s})\| = \mathcal{O}\{\mathcal{S}_{n}^{*}\} \qquad (\text{see Equation (7.7)})$   $\|\overline{\omega}_{p}^{(\mathbf{R})}(\mathbf{s})\| = \mathcal{O}\{\mathcal{S}_{n}^{*}\} \qquad (\text{see Equation (7.8)})$ 

Equation (2) is justified if

$$\| \overline{\omega}_{pp}^{(s)(R)} \| \gg \| [\overline{\omega}_{pn}^{(R)(s)}] + ([E] - [\mathcal{R}_{pn}^{(s)(s)}]) [\overline{\omega}_{nn}^{(s)(E)}] \|$$
(5)

and it is certainly also justified if we can show that

$$\| \overline{\omega}_{p}^{(s)(g)} \| \gg \| \overline{\omega}_{p}^{(g)(g)} \| + \| [E] - [R_{p}^{(s)(g)}] \| \| \overline{\omega}_{n}^{(s)(f)} \|$$
(6)

Expressed in order of magnitudes:

$$\|\mathcal{O}\{\eta\mathcal{S}\}\| \gg \|\mathcal{O}\{\mathcal{S}\}\| + \|\mathcal{O}\{\eta\}\| \|\{\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{n}\}\|$$
(7)

The maximum time rate of change of glide angle  $\tilde{V}_n$  and its maximum perturbation  $\delta \tilde{V}$  are of the same order of magnitude. Furthermore,  $\delta \tilde{V}$ decreases as the magnitude of the disturbance decreases. We can therefore let the last term of Equation (7) be representative for the order of magnitude of the right-hand side of Equation (7). Because the rate of change of glide angle,  $\tilde{V}_n$ , is much smaller than the nutation rate; i.e.,

$$\frac{\sigma\{\eta \hat{s}\}}{\sigma\{\eta \hat{y}_{k}\}} = \frac{\sigma\{\hat{s}\}}{\sigma\{\hat{y}_{k}\}} \cong 10^{2}$$
(8)

Equation (7) is satisfied, and, thus, Equation (2) is justified.

SIMPLIFICATION 2: Equation (1) can be reduced to: -

$$\left[\mathcal{B}_{p}^{(\mathbf{R})} \mathcal{L}_{g}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{r})}\right] - \left[\mathcal{R}_{p}^{(\mathbf{S})(\mathbf{S})}\right] \left[\mathcal{B}_{n}^{(\mathbf{S})} \mathcal{L}_{g}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{r})}\right] = \left[\mathcal{E}_{m_{a}}\right]$$
(9)

<u>JUSTIFICATION</u>: Introduce Simplification 1 into Equation (1) and refer the rotational derivative to the  $\begin{pmatrix} R \\ \rho \end{pmatrix}$  -frame, using the Theorem of Transformation of Frames, Equation (3.53):

$$\left[\overline{\mathcal{D}_{p}^{(\mathbf{R})}} \in \overline{\mathcal{I}_{0}^{(\mathbf{R})}}\right] + \left[\overline{\Omega_{p}^{(\mathbf{R})}}\right] \left[\overline{\mathcal{E}} \left[\frac{(\mathbf{p})(\mathbf{L})}{\mathbf{p}}\right] + \left[\overline{\Omega_{p}^{(\mathbf{p})}}\right] \left[\overline{\mathcal{R}_{p}^{(\mathbf{p})}}\right] \left[\overline{\mathcal{L}_{0n}^{(\mathbf{p})}}\right] = \left[\overline{\mathcal{E}}_{m_{\alpha}}\right] (10)$$

The last two terms of Equation (10) have the following orders of magnitude

$$\|[\Omega_{p}^{(a)(c)}][\varepsilon L_{0}^{(b)(c)}]\| = \sigma\{\tilde{v}_{p}\}\sigma\{\eta\|L_{0}^{(b)(c)}\|\}$$

$$\|[\Omega_{p}^{(a)(c)}][\varepsilon L_{0}^{(b)(c)}]\| = \sigma\{\tilde{v}_{q}\}\sigma\{1\}\sigma\{\|L_{0}^{(b)(c)}\|\}$$
(11)

Because

$$\frac{\sigma\left\{\check{s}_{n} \parallel \ell_{0} \stackrel{(e)}{_{n}} \stackrel{(r)}{_{n}} \parallel\right\}}{\sigma\left\{\check{y}_{n} \gamma \parallel \ell_{0} \stackrel{(e)}{_{n}} \stackrel{(r)}{_{n}} \parallel\right\}} = \frac{\sigma\left\{\check{s}\right\}}{\sigma\left\{\check{y}_{n}\right\}} \ge 10^{2}$$
(12)

the second term on the left-hand side of Equation (10) can be neglected. Substitute Equation (4.12) into Equation (10)

$$\left[\overline{\mathcal{D}_{p}^{(n)}} l_{\mathcal{B}_{p}}^{(0)(\Gamma)}\right] - \left\{\left[\overline{\mathcal{D}_{p}^{(n)}}\left(\left[\mathcal{R}_{pn}^{(s)(s)}\right]\right] l_{\mathcal{B}_{n}}^{(0)(\Gamma)}\right]\right) + \left[\overline{\mathcal{D}_{pp}^{(n)}}\right]\left[\mathcal{R}_{pn}^{(s)(s)}\right]\left[l_{\mathcal{B}_{n}}^{(s)(s)}\right]\right] = \left[\mathcal{E}_{m_{a}}\right] (13)$$

This can be brought into the form of Equation (9) if we first apply the Theorem of Transformation of Frames to the first term in the braces, generating  $\mathcal{D}_{n}^{(s)}$  and then the Theorem of Rotation of Vectors to shift to  $\mathcal{D}_{n}^{(s)} = \mathcal{D}_{n}^{(n)}$ .

SIMPLIFICATION 3: Equation (9) can be further reduced to:

$$\left[\mathcal{D}_{p}^{(R)} L_{g}^{(G)} R_{p}^{(R)}\right] - \left[\mathcal{R}_{p}^{(S)} R_{r}^{(R)}\right] \left[\mathcal{D}_{n}^{(R)} L_{g}^{(R)}\right] = \left[\mathcal{E}_{ma}\right]$$
(14)

$$\underbrace{JUSTIFICATION:}_{\left[\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{B} \\ \mathcal{B} \end{array}\right]} = \left[\overline{I_{\mathcal{B} } \rho}\right] \left[\overline{\mathcal{W}_{\rho}^{(\mathcal{B})(\mathcal{I})}}\right] = \left[\overline{I_{\mathcal{B} } \rho}\right] \left[\overline{\mathcal{W}_{\rho}^{(\mathcal{B})}}\right] + \left[\overline{\mathcal{W}_{\rho}^{(\mathcal{B})(\mathcal{I})}}\right] = \left[\overline{I_{\mathcal{B} } \rho}\right] + \left[\overline{\mathcal{W}_{\rho}^{(\mathcal{B})(\mathcal{I})}}\right] = \left[\overline{\mathcal{W}_{\rho}^{(\mathcal{B})(\mathcal{I})}\right] = \left[\overline{\mathcal{W}_{\rho}^{(\mathcal{B})(\mathcal{I})}}\right] = \left[\overline{\mathcal{W}_$$

 $\begin{bmatrix} \overline{l}_{\mathcal{G},n}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{r})} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{l}_{\mathcal{G},n}^{(\mathbf{G})} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \overline{\omega}_{n}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{r})} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{l}_{\mathcal{G},n}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{r})} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{l}_{\mathcal{G},n}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{r})} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{l}_{\mathcal{G},n}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{r})} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{l}_{\mathcal{G},n}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{r})} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \overline{l}_{\mathcal{G},n}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{r})} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \overline{l}_{\mathcal{G},n}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{r})} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \overline{l}_{\mathcal{G},n}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \overline{l}_{\mathcal{G},n}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \overline{l}_{\mathcal{G},n}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \overline{l}_{\mathcal{G},n}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \overline{l}_{\mathcal{G},n}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \overline{l}_{\mathcal{G},n}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \overline{l}_{\mathcal{G},n}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{G})} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \overline{l}_{\mathcal{G},n}^{(\mathbf{G})($ 

If we can show that, on the left-hand side, the last two terms are small compared with the first two terms, then Equation (14) is justified. Abbreviated, we have to prove that

where  $\|B\|$  is expressed most conveniently in a  $\int_{\pi}^{s}$  coordinate system:

$$\|\mathbf{B}\| = \|\frac{d}{dt} \left[ \left( \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{R} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{L} \end{pmatrix} \right]_{n}^{s} - \left[ \mathcal{R} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{S} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{S} \end{pmatrix} \right]_{n}^{s} \frac{d}{dt} \left[ \left( \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{R} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{L} \end{pmatrix} \right]_{n}^{s} + \left[ \boldsymbol{\Omega} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{R} \end{pmatrix} \right]_{n}^{s} \left[ \left( \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{R} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{L} \end{pmatrix} \right]_{n}^{s} \right] \right]_{n}^{s} \right]$$
(19)

(18)

The last term is zero, because  $\begin{bmatrix} (R) \\ R \\ R \\ P \end{bmatrix}$  is parallel to  $\begin{bmatrix} (R) \\ C \\ B \\ P \end{bmatrix}$ . Therefore, the order of magnitude of  $\|B\|$  is

$$\|\mathbf{B}\| = \mathcal{O}\left\{\overline{\mathbf{I}}_{\mathbf{y}}\,\boldsymbol{\delta}^{\mathbf{x}}\right\} \tag{20}$$

The first two terms are expressed in a  $\int_{p}^{s}$  coordinate system:

$$\|A\| = \|\frac{d}{dt} \left[ \left[ \frac{(B)(R)}{B} \right]^{s} - \left[ E \right]^{ss} \frac{d}{dt} \left[ \frac{(B)(R)}{B} \right]^{s} + \left[ \frac{(S)(R)}{R} \right]^{s} \left[ \frac{(B)(R)}{B} \right]^{s} \right] \| (21)$$

with the order of magnitudes

$$\|A\| = \|O[\overline{I}_{y}\delta\hat{\alpha}] + O\{\eta\hat{\delta}\overline{I}_{y}\hat{\alpha}p\}\|$$
(22)

where  $\alpha$  is the angle of attack and  $\bar{I}_{\gamma}$  the dynamic-normalized moment of inertia about the spin axis.

Equation (18) is proven if we can show that

$$O\{\bar{I}_{y}\eta\partial d_{p}\}-O\{\bar{I}_{y}\delta\partial^{2}\} > O\{\bar{I}_{y}\delta\delta^{2}\}$$
<sup>(23)</sup>

The perturbation of the angular spin acceleration,  $\int \mathcal{A}$ , depends on the magnitude of the disturbance. It usually does not exceed  $10^3 \operatorname{rad/dnt}^2$  and decreases with decreasing disturbance. In contrast with this,  $\mathcal{O}\left\{\mathcal{B}\mathcal{A}\rho\right\} = 5 \times 10^5 \operatorname{rad/dnt}^2$ . Thus, it remains to be shown that

$$\mathcal{O}\{\bar{I}_{y}\eta\tilde{\partial}a_{p}\} \gg \mathcal{O}\{\bar{I}_{y}\tilde{\delta}^{*}\}$$
<sup>(24)</sup>

This is satisfied even for very small nutation angles  $\eta$  , because

$$\frac{O\left\{\tilde{S}\tilde{\alpha}_{\rho}\right\}}{O\left\{\tilde{S}\tilde{\gamma}\right\}} \ge 10^{3}$$
<sup>(25)</sup>

and, if  $\eta = 0$ , then  $S \mathcal{F}$  must also be zero. This completes the justification of Equation (14).

<u>DISCUSSION</u>: Equation (14) will be used for further evaluation of the angular momentum. Its form is similar to Equation (4.26). However, it has some important simplifying features: (i) the rotational derivatives are referred to the reference frame and not to the inertial frame, and (ii) the total angular momentum is calculated relative to the reference frame; i.e., the contribution of the rotation between the reference frame and the inertial frame is neglected. These simplifications are possible because of the high angular spin momentum inherent in an MR. A somewhat less convenient, yet more elegant, form can be found by proceeding in a similar fashion:

$$\left[\mathcal{D}_{n}^{(\mathbf{R})} l_{\mathbf{B} \mathbf{P} n}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{R})}\right] - \left[\mathcal{R}_{\mathbf{P} n}^{(\mathbf{f})(\mathbf{R})}\right] \left[\mathcal{D}_{n}^{(\mathbf{R})} l_{\mathbf{B} \mathbf{A} \mathbf{R}}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{R})}\right] = \left[\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{G}}}\right]$$
(26)

If  $\binom{(R)}{n}$  is replaced by  $(\mathbf{I})$ , we arrive at Equation (4.26). This means that the disturbance of the rate of change of the angular momentum of an MR can be calculated as if the reference frame of the reference flight were an inertial system. Equation (14) goes even farther, permitting the reference frame of the perturbed flight to be considered as the inertial frame for calculating the rate of change of angular momentum of the perturbed MR.

## 10.2 EQUATIONS IN COMPONENT FORM

We shall express the rate of change of angular momentum in a coordinate system associated with the stability frame during perturbed flight. Before writing out the components, let us cast the moment of inertia tensor into a special form most suitable for further discussion.

Because the mass distribution of an MR is assumed to be mirrorsymmetrical, the spin axis is always a principal moment-of-inertia axis. Some MR's have an inertia ellipsoid that is circular with reference to the spin axis; i.e., they have an inertia spheroid. However, others (e.g., wing rotors, see Boehler (3)) have noncircular or triaxial inertia ellipsoids. To treat both cases most easily, we separate the inertia ellipsoid into a mean spheroid and a perturbation ellipsoid. Correspondingly, we write the moment-of-inertia tensor during reference flight as

$$\left[\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{G},\mathbf{n}}^{(\mathbf{G})}\right] = \left[\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{G},\mathbf{n}}^{civ(\mathbf{G})}\right] + \left[\mathbf{\Delta}\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{G},\mathbf{n}}^{(\mathbf{G})}\right]$$
(27)

and during perturbed flight as

$$\left[\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{B}} \stackrel{(\mathbf{B})}{\mathbf{p}}\right] = \left[\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{B}} \stackrel{(\mathbf{C})}{\mathbf{p}}\right] + \left[\Delta \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{B}} \stackrel{(\mathbf{B})}{\mathbf{p}}\right]$$
(28)

To show the advantage of this formulation, let us express the moment of inertia tensor

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{I}_{0} \\ \mathbf{B}_{p} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{\mathbf{B}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{I}_{1} \\ \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{I}_{2} \\ \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{\mathbf{B}}$$
(29)

in a  $\int_{\rho}$  -coordinate system. After performing the proper transformations and introducing the double angle  $2\alpha_{\rho}$ , we obtain:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{G}} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{G}} & \mathbf{0} \end{bmatrix}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathbf{S}} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{I}_{1} + \mathbf{I}_{3}) & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ 0 & \mathbf{I}_{2} & \mathbf{0} \\ 0 & \mathbf{0} \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{I}_{1} + \mathbf{I}_{3}) \end{bmatrix}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathbf{S}} + \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{I}_{3} - \mathbf{I}_{1}) \begin{bmatrix} -\cos 2\alpha \mathbf{p} & \mathbf{0} & \sin 2\alpha \mathbf{p} \\ 0 & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ \sin 2\alpha \mathbf{p} & \mathbf{0} & \cos 2\alpha \mathbf{p} \end{bmatrix}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathbf{S}}$$
(30)

Identify the first term as the mean circular moment of inertia tensor  $[I_{B} \stackrel{cir(B)}{p}]_{p}^{s}$  and the second term as the perturbation inertia tensor

 $\left[\Delta I_{3} \bigcap_{\rho} \bigcap_{\rho}^{d}\right]_{\rho}^{d}$ . An MR with circular or triangular cross-section has  $I_{3} = I_{i}$  and therefore maintains the first term only. For a triaxial inertia ellipsoid and high aspect ratio:  $I_{3} \approx I_{1}$ , and the second term becomes small compared with the first term. Furthermore, we can regard the first term as that part of the moment-of-inertia tensor that is time-independent if expressed in a  $\int_{\rho}^{d} -$  coordinate system. The time derivative with respect to the  $\int_{\rho}^{d} -$  coordinate system is obtained from the second term:

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left[ \Delta I_{B} \left[ \begin{array}{c} B \\ p \end{array} \right]_{p}^{s} = \dot{\alpha}_{p} \left( I_{3} - I_{1} \right) \begin{bmatrix} \sin 2\alpha_{p} & 0 & \cos 2\alpha_{p} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \cos 2\alpha_{p} & 0 & -\sin 2\alpha_{p} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s}$$
(31)

To evaluate Equation (14), we insert the dynamic-normalized form of Equations (27) and (28) and express the first term in a  $\int_{P}^{s}$  -coordinate system and the second term in a  $\int_{R}^{s}$  - coordinate system. The result is

$$\begin{bmatrix} I_{B}^{cir(B)} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \frac{d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} \omega_{p}^{(B)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} + \begin{bmatrix} \Omega_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} I_{B}^{cir(B)} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} \omega_{p}^{(B)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} + \frac{d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta I_{B}^{(B)} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} \omega_{p}^{(B)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} + \begin{bmatrix} \Omega_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} \omega_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} \omega_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \\ - \begin{bmatrix} E \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} U_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \frac{d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} \omega_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \\ = \begin{bmatrix} E \\ M_{a} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} U_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \frac{d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} \omega_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \\ = \begin{bmatrix} E \\ M_{a} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} U_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \frac{d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} U_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \\ = \begin{bmatrix} E \\ M_{a} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} U_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \frac{d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} U_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \\ = \begin{bmatrix} E \\ M_{a} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} U_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \frac{d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} U_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \\ = \begin{bmatrix} E \\ M_{a} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} U_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \frac{d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} U_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \\ = \begin{bmatrix} E \\ M_{a} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} U_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \frac{d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} U_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \\ = \begin{bmatrix} E \\ M_{a} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} U_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \frac{d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} U_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \\ = \begin{bmatrix} E \\ M_{a} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} U_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \frac{d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} U_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} U_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} U_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} U_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \\ \begin{bmatrix} U_{p}^{(s)(R)} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \end{bmatrix}_{s}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} U_{p}^{(s)(R)$$

where we used the facts that

$$[T]_{p_{R}}^{s_{s}}[R_{p_{R}}^{(s)(s)}]_{n}^{s} - [E]_{p_{R}}^{s_{s}}$$
(33)

and

$$\left[\Delta I_{B_{n}}^{(0)}\right]_{n}^{s} \left[\omega_{n_{n}}^{(0)(R)}\right]_{n}^{s} = \left[0\right]_{n}^{s}$$
(34)

which follows from the particular form of  $\left[\Delta I_{G,R}^{(G)}\right]_{L}^{S}$  as obtained by replacing  $\rho$  by  $\kappa$  everywhere in Equation (30). The first and last lines in Equation (32) are the contributions of the circular part of the inertia ellipsoid, while the second line takes the deviations into consideration. For an MR with an inertia spheroid, the second line is, of course, zero.

To write out the components, we substitute Equations (30) and (31), and the proper equations from Chapter 7 into Equation (32). Assuming small angles  $\phi$ ,  $\psi$ ,  $\beta$  and abbreviating

$$\frac{1}{2}\left(\overline{I}_{3}+\overline{I}_{1}\right)=\overline{I}; \quad \frac{1}{2}\left(\overline{I}_{3}-\overline{I}_{1}\right)=\Delta\overline{I}; \quad \overline{I}_{2}=\overline{I}_{3}$$
(35)

we obtain, in view of Equation (8.44):

$$\begin{bmatrix} \vec{i}\vec{\phi} + \{-\vec{i}_{y}\vec{\alpha}_{p} + (\vec{i} - \vec{i}_{y})\vec{\mu}\vec{\phi}\}\vec{\mu} \\ \vec{i}_{y}(\vec{\alpha}_{p} + \vec{\mu}\vec{\phi} + \vec{\mu}\vec{\phi}) \\ \vec{i}_{y}(\vec{\alpha}_{p} + \vec{\mu}\vec{\phi} + \vec{\mu}\vec{\phi}) \\ \vec{i}_{y}\vec{\mu} + \{\vec{i}_{y}\vec{\alpha}_{p} - (2\vec{i} - \vec{i}_{y})\vec{\mu}\vec{\phi}\}\vec{\phi} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} + \delta\vec{i} \begin{bmatrix} (\vec{\mu} + 2\vec{\alpha}_{p}\vec{\phi})\sin 2\alpha_{p} + \{-\vec{\phi}^{*} + (2\vec{\alpha}_{p} + \vec{\mu}\vec{\phi})\vec{\mu}\}\cos 2\alpha_{p} \\ (\vec{\mu}^{*} - \vec{\phi}^{*})\sin 2\alpha_{p} - 2\vec{\mu}\vec{\phi}\cos 2\alpha_{p} \\ \{\vec{\phi} - (2\vec{\alpha}_{p} + \vec{\mu}\vec{\phi})\vec{\mu}\}\sin 2\alpha_{p} + (\vec{\mu}^{*} + 2\vec{\alpha}_{p}\vec{\phi})\cos 2\alpha_{p} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} - \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \vec{i}_{y}\vec{\alpha}\vec{\kappa} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} = [\vec{\epsilon}m_{a}]_{p}^{s} \end{bmatrix}$$

The quantities in Equation (36) have been grouped so that the terms containing  $\overset{\circ}{\propto}_{\rho}$  can be compared with the terms of  $\overset{\circ}{H} \dot{\phi}$ .

SIMPLICATION 4:  $\|A_{\mu}\phi\| \ll \|A_{\rho}\|$  i.e., terms with  $A_{\mu}\phi$  can be neglected.

JUSFIFICATION: From Equation (7.26), we have

$$A \ddot{\mu} \phi = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ -\eta^2 \ddot{\delta} - \eta^2 \ddot{\delta} \cos 2 \tilde{\delta} - \eta \eta \sin 2 \tilde{\delta} \right\}$$
(37)

Therefore, the order of magnitude is

$$\sigma\{\mu\phi\} = \sigma\{\eta^2\delta\}$$
(38)

The ratio between spin rate and nutation rate is approximately

$$\lambda_{\rm p}/\dot{s} \approx \bar{1}/\bar{1}_{\rm y}$$
 (39)

i.e., greater than one for most MR's.

Therefore,

$$\frac{\sigma \{\alpha_{p}\}}{\sigma \{\mu^{p}\}} = \frac{\sigma \{\alpha_{p}\}}{\sigma \{\eta^{2}\delta\}} = \frac{\sigma \{\overline{r}/\overline{r}_{y}\}}{\sigma \{\eta^{2}\}} \ge 10^{2}$$
(40)

and Simplication 4 is justified.

<u>ASSUMPTION</u>: Let  $\alpha_p \approx \alpha_n^2$ . This is well justified because, by Assumption 1, Chapter 9, the deviation  $\beta$  from the reference flight velocity is limited to small angles.

Introduce Simplification 4 and this Assumption into Equation (36) and use the definition

$$\delta d = d p - d n \tag{41}$$

Then the equations assume the form

$$\begin{bmatrix} \vec{l} \phi^{\circ} - \vec{l} y d_{R} A \dot{\mu} \\ \vec{l} y (\delta \phi^{\circ} + \ddot{\mu} \phi + \ddot{\mu} \dot{\phi}) \\ \vec{l} y (\delta \phi^{\circ} + \ddot{\mu} \phi + \ddot{\mu} \dot{\phi}) \\ \vec{l} \dot{\mu}^{\circ} + \vec{l} y d_{R} \dot{\phi} \\ \end{bmatrix} + \delta \vec{l} \begin{bmatrix} (A \dot{\mu}^{2} - \dot{\phi}^{2}) \sin 2d\rho - (\dot{\phi}^{\circ} - 2A \dot{\mu} \dot{\phi} \cos 2d\rho) \\ (\dot{\phi}^{\circ} - 2d_{R} \dot{\mu}) \sin 2d\rho + (A \dot{\mu}^{\circ} + 2d_{R} \dot{\phi}) \cos 2d\rho \\ (\dot{\phi}^{\circ} - 2d_{R} \dot{\mu}) \sin 2d\rho + (A \dot{\mu}^{\circ} + 2d_{R} \dot{\phi}) \cos 2d\rho \\ \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} E m_{A} \end{bmatrix}_{\rho}^{\sigma} (42)$$
They are called roll, pitch, and yaw equations. The terms of the perturbation ellipsoid in the roll and yaw equation are strikingly symmetrical.
This suggests the following theorem.

<u>THEOREM</u>: Consider an MR with a triaxial inertia ellipsoid that performs a perturbed flight along a planar reference trajectory. Assume angles  $\phi$ , A,  $\beta$  are small. Let the inertia ellipsoid be decomposed into mean circular and perturbation ellipsoids, as shown in Equation (30). Then the rate of change of angular momentum calculated from the perturbation ellipsoid vanishes in the roll and yaw equations.

PROOF: Multiply the roll equation by i and the yaw equation by -1 and add:

$$\begin{split} \overline{\mathbf{I}}(-\mathbf{\hat{\mu}}+\mathbf{i}\mathbf{\hat{\varphi}}^{*}) + \mathbf{i}\overline{\mathbf{I}}_{\mathbf{\hat{\mu}}}\mathbf{\hat{\pi}}(-\mathbf{\hat{\mu}}+\mathbf{i}\mathbf{\hat{\varphi}}) + \Delta\overline{\mathbf{I}}\left\{\mathbf{i}(\mathbf{\hat{\mu}}+\mathbf{i}\mathbf{\hat{\varphi}}) + 2\mathbf{\hat{\alpha}}_{\pi}(\mathbf{\hat{\mu}}+\mathbf{i}\mathbf{\hat{\varphi}})\right\} \sin 2\mathbf{\alpha}\rho + \\ (43) \\ + \Delta\overline{\mathbf{I}}\left\{-(\mathbf{\hat{\mu}}^{*}+\mathbf{i}\mathbf{\hat{\varphi}}^{*}) + \mathbf{i}2\mathbf{\hat{\alpha}}_{\pi}(\mathbf{\hat{\mu}}+\mathbf{i}\mathbf{\hat{\varphi}})\right\} \cos 2\mathbf{\alpha}\rho = \mathbf{i}\overline{\mathbf{E}}\overline{\mathbf{m}}_{\mathbf{a}_{1}} - \overline{\mathbf{E}}\overline{\mathbf{m}}_{\mathbf{a}_{2}} \end{split}$$

Abbreviate this equation:

$$\overline{T}\overline{T} + i\overline{I}y\overline{a_{n}}\overline{T} + \Delta\overline{I}(a\sin lap + b\cos lap) = i\overline{Em_{a_{1}}} - \overline{Em_{a_{3}}}$$
(44)

where T is the complex orientation angle used in missile dynamics (see Etkin (16)). The terms of the perturbation ellipsoid can be combined into one expression:

$$\Delta \overline{I} \sqrt{a^2 + b^2} \sin\left(lap + tan^{-1}\frac{b}{a}\right)$$
(45)

But, because  $\alpha = -ib$ , the square root in Equation (45) is zero. Therefore, Equation (44) reduces to

$$\overline{I}\widetilde{P} + i \overline{I}_{y} \mathscr{L}_{n} \overline{T} = i \mathcal{E} m_{a_{1}} - \mathcal{E} m_{a_{3}}$$
(46)

This completes the proof.

Similarly, the contribution of the perturbation ellipsoid to the pitch equation can be estimated by combining the two terms of  $\Delta \overline{I}$ . We obtain for the pitch equation in Equation (42):

$$\overline{I}_{y}(\delta d + \tilde{H} \dot{\phi} + \tilde{H} \dot{\phi}) + \Delta \overline{I} (\tilde{H}^{2} + \tilde{\phi}^{2}) \sin(2dp + \chi) = \overline{Ema_{2}}$$
(47)

with  $\boldsymbol{\varkappa}$  as a phase factor. The order of magnitude of the perturbation ellipsoid is based on Equation (7.28):

$$\mathcal{O}\left\{\Delta \overline{I}\left(\hat{\mu}^{2}+\hat{\phi}^{2}\right)\sin\left(ldp+k\right)\right\}=\mathcal{O}\left\{\Delta \overline{I}\eta^{2}\dot{\mathcal{E}}^{2}\right\}$$
(48)

This is best compared with the last term of the spheroid (see Equation (7.25)):

$$\mathcal{O}\left\{\bar{\mathbf{I}}_{\mathbf{y}}\,\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathbf{x}}\,\mathbf{\hat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}}\right\} = \mathcal{O}\left\{\bar{\mathbf{I}}_{\mathbf{y}}\,\mathbf{n}^{\mathbf{z}}\,\mathbf{\hat{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}}^{\mathbf{z}}\right\} \tag{49}$$

Even though the value of Equation (48) is of the same order as that of Equation (49), the contribution of the perturbation ellipsoid follows a

sine wave with twice the spin frequency. Therefore, its net effect is zero for all practical purposes.

With this additional information, we can put the angular momentum equations into their final form:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \vec{I} \vec{\phi} - \vec{I}_{ij} \vec{\chi}_{n} \vec{\mu} \\ \vec{I}_{ij} \left( \delta \vec{a} + \vec{\mu} \phi + \vec{\mu} \phi \right) \\ \vec{I}_{ij} \vec{\mu} + \vec{I}_{ij} \vec{a}_{n} \phi \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} = \begin{bmatrix} \epsilon m_{a} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s}$$
(50)

<u>DISCUSSION</u>: The assumption of small angles  $\Phi$ ,  $\mu$ ,  $\beta$  is the only major assumption that Equation (50) is based on. The other assumptions and simplifications are a consequence of either small angles or the high angular spin momentum. They are stated separately to clarify the exposition. However, note that we did not assume that the perturbation ellipsoid is small compared with the mean spheroid. Therefore, Equation (50) holds for any type of MR. The left-hand sides of the roll and yaw equations are linear in the perturbation variables  $\Phi$  and  $\mu$  with a time-dependent parameter  $\mathcal{A}_n$ . They are decoupled from the pitch equation. The pitch equation is nonlinear.

## 11. AERODYNAMIC FORCES

In order to treat the aerodynamics of MR's from a general viewpoint, we shall employ a tensor formulation of the aerodynamic coefficients. The coefficients are expanded into a Taylor series, yielding the aerodynamic derivatives. Some of the derivatives are zero because the MR's external configuration is mirror symmetrical. A theorem will be derived that gives a quick answer as to which derivative of arbitrary order exists and which has to be zero.

#### 11.1 FUNCTIONAL RELATIONSHIPS

## **ASSERTIONS:**

The aerodynamic forces depend on the following quantities (see, for instance, Hopkin (17)):

- a. External form (shape, roughness) of MR
- b. Size of MR, represented by reference length  ${\boldsymbol{\lambda}}$
- c. Properties of the air: pressure p , density Q , viscosity V
- d. Position and motion of the MR with respect to the unperturbed air.

Three well justified assumptions will be made:

## ASSUMPTIONS:

 The parameters in Assertions a and b are constant for a particular flight of a particular MR.

<u>Justification</u>: Because we are mostly interested in analyzing the stability of MR's, we do not consider effects of moving control surfaces or aeroelastic deflections.
The aerodynamic forces depend only on the linear and angular velocities of the MR with respect to air and not on the accelerations.

<u>Justification</u>: This assumption is usually not justified in airplane aerodynamics. However, as Brunk (1) pointed out, the acceleration of bodies without lifting surfaces has only a small effect on the aerodynamic forces. So far, no experimenta<sup>1</sup> evidence has been found that contradicts this assumption.

3. The air is assumed to be at rest or in uniform rectilinear motion with respect to the inertial frame. <u>Justification</u>: It is too difficult to analyze the dynamics of a flight vehicle subjected to arbitrary wind conditions. Therefore, this assumption is commonly made. It yields satisfactory approximations, provided the air is not too turbulent.

From the assertions and assumptions, we shall derive the functional dependence of the aerodynamic forces. To express Assertion d in mathematical form, let the frame (A) represent the air, idealized by Assumption 3, and let frame (B) symbolize the MR. Then, according to Section 3.2, the position of the MR is given by the triad of base vectors  $[b_k]$ ; k=1,2,3. Note also, that by Equation (3.11), the base vectors  $[b_k]$  are related to some base vectors,  $[a_k]$ , of frame (A) through the rotation tensor  $[R^{(3)(A)}]$ ; namely,

$$[b_{\kappa}] = [R^{(B)(A)}][a_{\kappa}] ; \kappa = 1,2,3$$
 (1)

The motion of the MR relative to the air is determined by the linear velocity (see Equation (3.34)) of the center-of-mass B:

$$\left[\mathcal{U}_{\mathbf{G}}^{(\mathbf{A})}\right] = \left[\mathcal{Y}^{(\mathbf{A})} \times_{\mathbf{G}\mathbf{A}}\right] \tag{2}$$

and the angular velocity (see Equation (3.44))

$$\left[\Omega^{(B)(A)}\right] = \left[\Theta^{(A)} \mathcal{R}^{(B)(A)}\right] \left[\mathcal{R}^{(B)(A)}\right]^{\mathsf{T}}$$
(3)

From Assertions a through d we establish the following relationship of the aerodynamic force:

$$[f_{a}] = [f_{1}\{FORM, SIZE(L), p, g, v, [\Omega^{(G)(A)}], [U_{B}^{(A)}]]]$$
(4)

Dimensional analysis and, in particular, the  $\pi$  -theorem permit us to eliminate the explicit dependence of the function  $\int_{1}$  from three of its variables. We choose to absorb the reference length  $\ell$ , the air density  $\beta$ , and the absolute value of the velocity  $\|\mathcal{D}_{B}^{(\Lambda)}\| = V$ . We obtain:

$$[f_a] = g V^2 l^2 [f_2 \{ FORMFACTORS, M, R, [b_k], \frac{l}{v} [w^{(B)(A)}], \frac{1}{v} [v_{B}^{(A)}] \} ]$$
 (5)

For geometrically similar MR's, the form factors are the same. Furthermore,  $\ell^2$  can be replaced by any other characteristic area, like  $\frac{1}{2}S = b\ell$ , where b is the span of the MR. Introducing the notation for aero-normalized quantities of Chapter 5.2, we can write Equation (5) as:

$$[f_{a}] = \frac{1}{2} g V^{2} S [f_{3} \{M, R, [b_{k}], [w^{(g)}(A)], [N_{B}^{(k)}]\}]$$
(6)

The aerodynamic moment referred to the center of mass B has the same functional form. Dynamic-normalize the force and moment equations and introduce  $c_{\rm F}^{\rm I}$ ,  $c_{\rm H}^{\rm I}$  as the aerodynamic force and moment coefficients to obtain:

$$[\bar{f}_{a}] = \bar{V}^{2}[C_{F}\{M,R,[b_{k}],[\omega^{(B)(A)}],[\nu^{(A)}_{B}]\}]$$
(7)

$$[\overline{m_{a}}] = \frac{\overline{V}^{2}}{\mu} [C_{H} \{M, R, [b_{u}], [w^{(0)(A)}], [v^{(A)}]]]$$
(8)

These two equations describe the aerodynamics of geometrically similar MR's.

# 11.2 TAYLOR SERIES EXPANSION

The perturbation Equations (4.22) and (4.23) or (4.25) and (4.26) require the aerodynamics to be expressed as perturbations defined by Equations (4.14) and (4.15). Their dynamic-normalized form is:

$$[efu] = [f_a(p)] - [R_{pn}^{(s)}][f_a(n)]$$
<sup>(9)</sup>

$$[Em_{a}] = [m_{a}(p)] - [R_{p}^{(s)(s)}][m_{a}(h)]$$
(10)

The aerodynamic functions on the right are evaluated from Equations (7) and (8). Because Equations (7) and (8) are valid for any flight trajectory, they also determine the aerodynamics of the reference  $fli_{c}$ : and the perturbed flight. We need only introduce the proper notation to distinguish each case:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \overline{f_{\alpha}(p)} \end{bmatrix} = \overline{V_{p}^{2}} \begin{bmatrix} c_{\mu}(p) \end{bmatrix} = \overline{V_{p}^{2}} \begin{bmatrix} c_{\mu}(p) \end{bmatrix} = \overline{V_{p}^{2}} \begin{bmatrix} c_{\mu}(p) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} v_{\mu}(p) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} v_{\mu}$$

and

$$\left[\overline{f_{\alpha}(n)}\right] = \overline{V}_{n}^{2}\left[C_{F}(n)\right] = \overline{V}_{n}^{2}\left[C_{F}(M_{n}, R_{n}, [b_{n}(n)], [w_{n,n}^{(0)(g)}], [w_{n,n}^{(C)(A)}], [w_{n,n}^{(A)}]\right]$$
(13)

$$[\overline{M_{a}(n)}] = \overline{V_{n}^{2}}[C_{M}(n)] = \overline{V_{n}^{2}}[C_{M}[M_{e}, R_{n}, [b_{u}(n)], [w_{n}^{(0)(s)}], [w_{n}^{(s)(a)}], [w_{n}^{(a)}]]$$
(14)

where we have separated the angular velocity into two parts:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \omega \\ \rho \end{bmatrix}^{(0)} \begin{bmatrix} \omega \\ \rho \\ \rho \end{bmatrix}^{(0)} = \begin{bmatrix} \omega \\ \rho \\ \rho \end{bmatrix}^{(0)} \begin{bmatrix} \omega \\ \rho \end{bmatrix}^{(0)} \begin{bmatrix} \omega \\ \rho \end{bmatrix}^{(10)} \begin{bmatrix} \omega \\ \rho \end{bmatrix}^{(10)}$$
(15)

$$[\omega_{R}^{(0)}(4)] - [\omega_{R}^{(0)}(5)] + [\omega_{R}^{(0)}(A)]$$
(16)

The variables of the perturbed and unperturbed flights are related through

$$\delta \overline{\mathbf{v}} = \overline{\mathbf{v}}_{\mathbf{p}} - \overline{\mathbf{v}}_{\mathbf{n}} \tag{17}$$

$$\delta M = M_p - M_n \tag{18}$$

$$\delta R = R_p - R_n \tag{19}$$

$$[\mathcal{E}b_{\kappa}] = [b_{\kappa}(\rho)] - [R_{\rho n}^{(s)}] [b_{\kappa}(n)]; \kappa = 1, 2, 3$$
(20)

$$[ \varepsilon \hat{\omega}^{(G)(s)} ] = [ \hat{\omega}^{(G)}_{p} [ s ] ] - [ \mathcal{R}^{(s)}_{p} [ s ] ] [ \hat{\omega}^{(G)}_{n} [ s ] ]$$
(21)

$$\left[\varepsilon\omega^{(\varepsilon)(A)}\right] = \left[\omega_{p}^{(s)(A)}\right] - \left[R_{p}^{(s)(b)}\right] \left[\omega_{n}^{(\varepsilon)(A)}\right]$$
(22)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \varepsilon U_{\mathcal{G}}^{(A)} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{G}} \\ \rho \\ \rho \end{bmatrix} - \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{R}_{\rho \\ n}^{(a)} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{G}} \\ \mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{G}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(23)

Substitute Equations (11) through (14) into (9) and (10). Because Assumption 2, Chapter 9, permits us to set  $\bar{V}_p^2 \approx \bar{V}_n^2$ , we can establish the following relationships:

$$\left[\overline{\varepsilon_{f_n}}\right] = \overline{V_n}^2 \left[\varepsilon_{f_n}\right]$$
(24)

$$\left[\overline{cm_{a}}\right] = \frac{\overline{V_{n}}}{\mu} \left[\varepsilon C_{m}\right]$$
<sup>(25)</sup>

where we defined the perturbations of the aerodynamic coefficients as:

$$[\mathcal{E}C_{F}] = [C_{F}(p)] - [R_{pn}^{(5)(s)}][C_{F}(n)]$$
(26)

$$[\mathcal{E}C_{m}] = [C_{m}(p)] - [R_{pn}^{(g)}][C_{m}(n)]$$
<sup>(27)</sup>

The problem we have to solve is how to express  $[\mathcal{E}C_{\mathbf{F}}]$  and  $[\mathcal{E}C_{\mathbf{M}}]$  in a form suitable for applications. The most common method is to expand  $[C_{\mathbf{F}}(\mathbf{p})]$  and  $[C_{\mathbf{M}}(\mathbf{p})]$  in a Taylor series about the reference values  $[C_{\mathbf{F}}(\mathbf{h})]$  and  $[C_{\mathbf{M}}(\mathbf{h})]$ . As the "small" expansion variables, we choose  $[\mathcal{E}\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{F}}^{(\mathbf{h})}]$  and  $[\mathcal{E}\mathcal{W}^{(\mathbf{s})(\mathbf{h})}]$ . Symbolically, we can write this as:

$$[C_{\mathbf{F}}(\rho)] = [C_{\mathbf{F}}(\varepsilon=0)] + \left[\frac{\partial C_{\mathbf{F}}}{\partial \hat{\mathcal{D}}_{j}}\right] [\varepsilon \hat{\mathcal{D}}_{\mathbf{G}}^{(\mathbf{A})}] + \left[\frac{\partial C_{\mathbf{F}}}{\partial \hat{\mathcal{D}}_{j}}\right] [\varepsilon \hat{\mathcal{D}}_{\mathbf{G}}^{(\mathbf{A})}] + \cdots$$
<sup>(28)</sup>

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{H}(p) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} C_{H}(\varepsilon=0) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial C_{H}}{\partial \hat{\mathcal{D}}_{j}} \\ \vdots \end{bmatrix}_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \varepsilon \mathcal{D}_{0}(A) \\ \vdots \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial C_{H}}{\partial \hat{\mathcal{D}}_{j}} \\ \vdots \end{bmatrix}_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \varepsilon \mathcal{D}_{0}(S)(A) \\ \vdots \end{bmatrix} + \cdots$$
(29)

If we can show that

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{\mu}(\varepsilon=0) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} R^{\binom{(s)}{p}} \begin{pmatrix} s \\ p \end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} C_{\mu}(h) \end{bmatrix}$$
(30)

and

$$\left[ \mathcal{C}_{\mathsf{H}} \left( \varepsilon = 0 \right) \right] = \left[ \mathcal{R}_{p \ n}^{(\mathsf{g})} \right] \left[ \mathcal{C}_{\mathsf{H}}^{(\mathsf{n})} \right]$$
 (31)

both are satisfied then, in view of Equations (26) and (27),  $[\mathcal{EC}_{F}]$  and  $[\{\mathcal{C}_{H}\}]$  are expressed in a McLaurin series given on the right sides of Equations (28) and (29).

Let us demonstrate this procedure in more detail for  $\lfloor \mathcal{LC}_{\mathsf{F}} \rfloor$ . From Equation (11), with Equations (17) through (23), we obtain for  $\lfloor \mathcal{C}_{\mathsf{F}}(\mathsf{p}) \rfloor$ :

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{p} \{M_{k} + \delta H, R_{n} + \delta R, [Eb_{k}] + [R_{p,k}^{(S)(g)}] \|b_{k}(h)], [E_{\omega}^{(0)(s)}] + [R_{p,k}^{(S)(g)}] \|\omega_{n,k}^{(0)(s)}], \\ \begin{bmatrix} E_{\omega}^{(s)(A)} \end{bmatrix} + [R_{p,n}^{(s)(S)}] \|\omega_{n,k}^{(S)(A)}], [EU_{0}^{(A)}] + [R_{p,n}^{(S)(S)}] \|U_{0,n}^{(A)}] \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} C_{p} \{H_{n}, R_{n}, [R_{p,n}^{(S)(g)}] \|b_{k}(H)], [R_{p,k}^{(S)(g)}] \|\omega_{n,n}^{(S)(g)}], [R_{p,n}^{(S)(g)}] \|\omega_{n,n}^{(S)(g)}] \|\omega_{n,n}^{(S)(g)}\| \|\omega_$$

$$= \left[ R_{p,n}^{(s)(s)} \right] \left[ C_{F}^{(s)(s)} \right] \left[ L_{k}^{(s)(s)} \right] \left[ U_{n,n}^{(s)(s)} \right] \right]$$

$$= \left[ R_{p,n}^{(s)(s)} \right] \left[ C_{F}^{(s)(s)} \right] \left[ L_{k,n}^{(n)} \right] \left[ U_{n,n}^{(s)(s)} \right] \left[ U_{n,n}^{(s)(s)} \right] \left[ U_{n,n}^{(s)(s)} \right] \right]$$

$$(33)$$

The proof is based on the Principle of Material Indifference, which follows from the isotropic property of space (see Section 3.1). That is: consider a physical process consisting of certain frames. The interactions of these frames produce the outcome. From the isotropic property of space, we conclude that, if the frames are subjected to a rotation, then the outcome is rotated by the same amount.

Apply this principle to our particular situation; i.e., let the generation of aerodynamic forces be the physical process. The frames involved are the body, stability, and air frames. The motions of the body frame with respect to the air frame and some scalar quantities of state determine the aerodynamics. Consider the special situation described by Equation (33). On the left, all vectorial variables, representing the frames and their interactions, are rotated by  $\left[ R \stackrel{(s)}{p} \stackrel{(s)}{n} \right]$ . According to the principle, the outcome on the left must be equal to the original outcome rotated by  $\left[ R \stackrel{(s)}{p} \stackrel{(s)}{n} \right]$ . But this is exactly the contents of the right-hand side of Equation (33). This completes the proof.

The McLaurin series of  $[\mathcal{EC}_{F}]$  can now be obtained from Equation (32).

$$\begin{split} \left[ \mathcal{E}C_{\mathsf{F}} \right] &= \left[ \frac{\partial C_{\mathsf{F}}}{\partial \hat{\mathcal{U}}_{\mathsf{G}}^{(\mathsf{A})}} \left\{ \mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{P}}, \mathsf{R}_{\mathsf{P}}, \left[ \mathsf{b}_{\mathsf{L}}(\mathsf{P}) \right], \left[ \mathcal{W}_{\mathsf{P}}^{(\mathsf{B})(\mathsf{S})} \right], \left[ \mathcal{R}_{\mathsf{P}}^{(\mathsf{S})(\mathsf{G})} \right], \left[ \mathcal{R}_{\mathsf{P}}^{(\mathsf{S})(\mathsf{A})} \right], \left[ \mathcal{R}_{\mathsf{P}}^{(\mathsf$$

The expansion for  $[\mathcal{EC}_n]$  is generated the same way and its derivatives have the same functional dependence.

<u>DISCUSSION</u>: Equation (34) differs from the classical expansions used in airplane and missile aerodynamics in two respects. First, it is formu-

lated in an invariant tensor concept, because it is valid in all allowable coordinate systems. Second, in airplane dynamics, the aerodynamic forces are expanded in terms of the linear and angular velocities of the aircraft with reference to the air frame. In the dynamics of spinning missiles, the variables to be expanded are the same linear velocities as in the airplane case; however, the angular velocities are the velocities of the nonspinning body frame with reference to the air frame. The spin angular velocity is usually treated as a constant parameter.

The aerodynamics of MR's follow the missile case as far as the selection of the variables in the expansion is concerned. The nonspinning body frame is here the perturbed stability frame  $\rho$ . But the aerodynamic treatment of the spin degree-of-freedom must be given more attention because of the complex geometrical shape of the MR's body section. Care has been taken in deriving Equation (34) to show this dependence clearly. It is given by  $[b_{\kappa}(\rho)]$  and  $[\omega]_{\rho}^{(0)}[5]$ . Note that both quantities appear in the form associated with the perturbed flight, because they are not included in the expansion. The same holds for Mp and  $R_p$ . However, it is necessary that the derivatives are only functions of the reference variables. This can be partially achieved by introducing Assumption 2 of Chapter 9 and the Assumption of Chapter 10, They permit the simplifications:

$$M_{p} \approx M_{n}$$

$$R_{p} \approx R_{n}$$

$$\hat{\left[\omega_{p}^{(3)}(s)\right]} \approx \left[\omega_{n}^{(3)}(s)\right]$$

104

(35)

The discussion on how to treat  $[b_{\kappa}(p)]$ , the orientation of the MR during perturbed flight, will be given below.

To relate the derivatives to the data obtained from wind tunnel tests, we must express Equation (34) in a coordinate system most suitable for applications. Because internal strain-gage balances promise the best test results, we choose the coordinate system  $\int_{\mathbf{r}}^{\mathbf{s}}$  associated with the perturbed stability frame as defined in Chapter 6. This agrees with missile testing practice. We get:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{E} \mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}} \end{bmatrix}_{\mathsf{p}}^{\mathsf{s}} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}}{\partial \hat{\mathcal{U}}_{\mathsf{K}}^{(\mathsf{A})}} \Big\{ \mathsf{M}_{\mathsf{p}}, \mathsf{R}_{\mathsf{p}}, [\mathsf{b}_{\mathsf{k}}(\mathsf{p})]_{\mathsf{p}}^{\mathsf{s}}, [\mathsf{w}_{\mathsf{p}}^{(\mathsf{B})}\mathsf{p}]_{\mathsf{p}}^{\mathsf{s}}, [\mathsf{w}_{\mathsf{R}}^{(\mathsf{S})}(\mathsf{A})]_{\mathsf{R}}^{\mathsf{s}}, [\mathsf{w}_{\mathsf{R}}^{(\mathsf{A})}]_{\mathsf{R}}^{\mathsf{s}}, [\mathsf{w}_{\mathsf{R}}^{(\mathsf{A})}]_{\mathsf{R}}^{\mathsf{s}} \end{bmatrix} \Big]_{\mathsf{p}}^{\mathsf{s}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{R}}^{(\mathsf{A})} \end{bmatrix}_{\mathsf{p}}^{\mathsf{s}} \\ + \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{F}}}{\partial \hat{\mathcal{U}}_{\mathsf{K}}^{(\mathsf{s})}(\mathsf{A})} \Big\{ \mathsf{SAME} \ \mathsf{DEPENDENCE} \end{bmatrix} \Big]_{\mathsf{p}}^{\mathsf{s}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{w}}^{(\mathsf{s})} \mathsf{A} \\ \end{bmatrix} \Big]_{\mathsf{p}}^{\mathsf{s}} + \cdots$$
(36)

The functional dependence of the derivatives can be simplified and written in a more concise form. Let the base vectors be expressed in body coordinates:

$$\left[ b_{\kappa}(p) \right]_{p}^{s} = \left[ T \right]_{p p}^{B s} \left[ b_{\kappa}(p) \right]_{p}^{B}$$

$$(37)$$

 $\begin{bmatrix} b_{\kappa}(p) \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \text{ is therefore represented by } \mathcal{A}_{p} \text{ alone. Because, by definition,} \\ \begin{bmatrix} \lambda \\ \mathcal{B}_{h} \end{bmatrix}_{h}^{s} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}_{h}^{s}$ (38)

the acro-normalized velocity is constant. Furthermore, we can assume that the effect of  $\begin{bmatrix} \omega \\ a \end{bmatrix}_{h}^{s'}$  on the aerodynamics is small compared with  $\sum_{k=1}^{n} \begin{bmatrix} \omega \\ a \end{bmatrix}_{h}^{s'}$  on the aerodynamics is small compared with

 $\begin{bmatrix} \Lambda(\mathbf{g}) \\ \mathbf{g} \\ \mathbf{g} \end{bmatrix}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathbf{S}}$ . Using the simplifications of Equation (35) and the definition Equation (18) and Equation (8.48) we summarize:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{E}C_{\mathsf{F}} \end{bmatrix}_{\mathsf{p}}^{\mathsf{s}} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial C_{\mathsf{F}}}{\partial \hat{\mathcal{U}}_{\mathsf{B}}^{(\mathsf{h})}} \left\{ \mathsf{M}_{\mathsf{h}}, \mathsf{R}_{\mathsf{h}}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{p}}, \hat{\mathcal{W}}_{\mathsf{h}} \right\} \Big]_{\mathsf{p}}^{\mathsf{s}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{E}\mathcal{U}_{\mathsf{B}}^{(\mathsf{h})} \end{bmatrix}_{\mathsf{p}}^{\mathsf{s}} \\ + \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial C_{\mathsf{F}}}{\partial \hat{\mathcal{U}}_{\mathsf{B}}^{(\mathsf{s})}(\mathsf{a})} \left\{ \mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{h}}, \mathsf{R}_{\mathsf{h}}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{p}}, \hat{\mathcal{W}}_{\mathsf{h}} \right\} \Big]_{\mathsf{p}}^{\mathsf{s}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{E}\mathcal{U}_{\mathsf{B}}^{(\mathsf{s})}(\mathsf{a}) \end{bmatrix}_{\mathsf{p}}^{\mathsf{s}} + \cdots$$
(39)

So far we have shown only the linear terms of the expansions. A more concise notation will be required to express higher order terms. We introduce:

$$\left\{ \frac{\left[ \mathcal{E}C_{e}^{\dagger}\right]_{p}^{s}}{\left[ \mathcal{E}C_{\mu}^{\dagger}\right]_{p}^{s}} \right\} \left\{ \frac{C_{e_{1}}}{C_{H_{1}}} \right\} \left\{ \frac{C_{e_{1}}}{C_{e_{1}}} \right\}$$

The McLaurin expansions up to the third term become, if all partial derivatives are continuous:

$$C_{F_{\ell}} = \frac{\partial C_{F_{\ell}}}{\partial \hat{D}_{a}} \hat{D}_{a} + \frac{\partial C_{F_{\ell}}}{\partial \hat{\Delta}_{a}} \hat{\omega}_{a} + \frac{1}{2!} \left( \frac{\partial C_{F_{\ell}}}{\partial \hat{D}_{a}} \hat{D}_{b} \hat{\omega}_{b} + 2 \frac{\partial C_{F_{\ell}}}{\partial \hat{\Delta}_{a}} \hat{D}_{b} \hat{\omega}_{b} + \frac{\partial^{2} C_{F_{\ell}}}{\partial \hat{\omega}_{a} \partial \hat{\omega}_{b}} \hat{\omega}_{a} \hat{\omega}_{b} \right) + (42)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{3!} \left( \frac{\partial C_{F_{\ell}}}{\partial \hat{D}_{a} \partial \hat{D}_{b}} \hat{D}_{a} \hat{D}_{b} \hat{D}_{c} + 3 \frac{\partial^{2} C_{F_{\ell}}}{\partial \hat{D}_{a} \partial \hat{\omega}_{b}} \hat{D}_{a} \hat{\omega}_{b} \hat{\omega}_{c} + 3 \frac{\partial^{2} C_{F_{\ell}}}{\partial \hat{D}_{a} \partial \hat{\omega}_{b}} \hat{D}_{a} \hat{\omega}_{b} \hat{\omega}_{c} \right) \right) + (42)$$

$$C_{H_{e}}^{\prime} = \frac{\partial C_{H_{e}}}{\partial \hat{v}_{a}} \hat{v}_{a} + \frac{\partial C_{H_{e}}}{\partial \hat{\omega}_{a}} \hat{\omega}_{a} + \frac{1}{2!} \left( \frac{\partial^{2} C_{H_{e}}}{\partial \hat{v}_{a} \partial \hat{v}_{b}} \hat{v}_{a} \hat{v}_{b} + 2 \frac{\partial^{2} C_{H_{e}}}{\partial \hat{v}_{a} \partial \hat{\omega}_{b}} \hat{v}_{a} \hat{\omega}_{b} + \frac{\partial^{2} C_{H_{e}}}{\partial \hat{\omega}_{a} \partial \hat{\omega}_{b}} \hat{\omega}_{a} \hat{\omega}_{b} + \frac{\partial^{2} C_{H_{e}}}{\partial \hat{\omega}_{a} \partial \hat{\omega}_{b}} \hat{\omega}_{a} \hat{\omega}_{b} \right) +$$

$$+ \frac{1}{3!} \left( \frac{\partial^{2} C_{H_{e}}}{\partial \hat{v}_{a} \partial \hat{v}_{b}} \hat{v}_{c} + 3 \frac{\partial^{3} C_{H_{e}}}{\partial \hat{v}_{a} \partial \hat{\omega}_{b}} \hat{\omega}_{c} + 3 \frac{\partial^{3} C_{H_{e}}}{\partial \hat{v}_{a} \partial \hat{\omega}_{b}} \hat{\omega}_{c} + 3 \frac{\partial^{2} C_{H_{e}}}{\partial \hat{v}_{a} \partial \hat{\omega}_{b}} \hat{\omega}_{c} + \frac{\partial^{2} C_{H_{e}}}{\partial \hat{\omega}_{a} \partial \hat{\omega}_{b}} \hat{\omega}_{c} \right)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{3!} \left( \frac{\partial^{2} C_{H_{e}}}{\partial \hat{v}_{a} \partial \hat{v}_{b}} \hat{v}_{c} + 3 \frac{\partial^{3} C_{H_{e}}}{\partial \hat{v}_{a} \partial \hat{\omega}_{b}} \hat{\omega}_{c} + 3 \frac{\partial^{3} C_{H_{e}}}{\partial \hat{v}_{a} \partial \hat{\omega}_{b}} \hat{\omega}_{c} + 3 \frac{\partial^{2} C_{H_{e}}}{\partial \hat{\omega}_{a} \partial \hat{\omega}_{b}} \hat{\omega}_{c} + 3 \frac{\partial^{2} C_{H_{e}}}{\partial \hat{\omega}_{a} \partial \hat{\omega}_{b}} \hat{\omega}_{c} + 3 \frac{\partial^{2} C_{H_{e}}}{\partial \hat{\omega}_{a} \partial \hat{\omega}_{b}} \hat{\omega}_{c} \right)$$

with l,a,b,c=1,2,3 and summation convention. Equations (42) and (43) can be combined formally and written in a concise form if we use  $C_i$  and  $2_j$  as defined in Equations (40) and (41).

$$C_{i} = \frac{\partial C_{i}}{\partial z_{j_{1}}} z_{j_{1}} + \frac{1}{2!} \frac{\partial^{2} C_{i}}{\partial z_{j_{2}}} z_{j_{1}}^{2} z_{j_{2}}^{2} + \dots + \frac{1}{\kappa!} \frac{\partial^{\kappa} C_{i}}{\partial z_{j_{1}}} z_{j_{1}}^{2} \dots z_{j_{\kappa}}^{2} + \dots \quad (44)$$
with
$$i = 1, 2, \dots, 6 \quad ; \quad j_{1}, j_{2}, \dots, j_{\kappa} = 1, 2, \dots, 6 \quad ; \quad \kappa = 1, 2, \dots$$

and summation convention,

Let us abbreviate the derivatives by

$$\frac{\partial^{k} C_{i}}{\partial t_{j_{1}} \cdots \partial t_{j_{M}}} \equiv C_{i}^{j_{1} j_{2} j_{3} \cdots j_{M}}$$

$$(45)$$

Then we can give a mixed matrix and subscript notation for the first three terms in Equation (44):

$$\{ C_{i} \} = \{ C_{i}^{j_{1}} \}^{T} \{ \hat{z}_{j_{1}} \} + \frac{1}{2!} \{ \hat{z}_{j_{1}} \}^{T} \{ C_{i}^{j_{1}j_{2}} \} \{ \hat{z}_{j_{2}} \} +$$

$$+ \frac{1}{3!} \{ \{ \hat{z}_{i_{1}} \}^{T} \{ C_{i}^{j_{1}j_{2}} \} + \{ C_{i}^{j_{1}j_{2}} \} + \cdots + \{ C_{i}^{j_{1}j_{2}} \} \} \{ \hat{z}_{j_{2}} \} \}$$

$$(46)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{3!} \{ \{ \hat{z}_{i_{1}} \}^{T} \{ C_{i}^{j_{1}j_{2}} \} + \{ C_{i}^{j_{1}j_{2}} \} + \cdots + \{ C_{i}^{j_{1}j_{2}} \} \} \{ \hat{z}_{j_{2}} \} \}$$

where the indices run over the same numbers as in Equation (44) but the summation convention is replaced by matrix multiplications. The notation [ ] is used to indicate a 6-dimensional vector space and to contrast it against the 3-dimensional Euclidean space, [ ] . To give an example for Equation (45), we convert back a derivative to physically meaningful nomenclature using the notation of Equations (40) and (41).

$$C_{4}^{344} = \frac{\partial^{3}C_{4}}{\partial t_{3} \partial t_{4} \partial t_{6}} = \frac{\partial^{3}C_{e}}{\partial \epsilon \hat{\omega} \partial \epsilon \hat{p} \partial \epsilon \hat{\lambda}}$$
(47)

### 11.3 CONDITIONS FOR VANISHING DERIVATIVES

In evaluating the aerodynamics of a particular flight vehicle, important information can be derived just by investigating the conditions imposed by the symmetrical properties of the external shape. Maple and Synge (18) conducted a thorough study of the aerodynamic symmetry of projectiles. Their findings are limited to missiles, because they base their method

2

on the complex variable presentation of velocities and forces. In airplane and Magnus Rotor dynamics, the forces are not amenable to this treatment. Charters (19) developed a method that permits one to decide which firs: order derivative is zero because of symmetry conditions.

In this section we shall derive an existence theorem for derivatives of arbitrary order. It will be based on the principle of material indifference (see Section 3.1) and on the property of the reflection tensor as introduced in Section 8.1. Even though we shall use the MR to formulate the proof, the theorem applies equally as well to airplanes with mirror symmetry.

We start out with an argument similar to that in Section 11.2; i.e., the Principle of Material Indifference requires that rotating the elements that produce a physical process, is equivalent to rotating the outcome of the process. However, instead of using  $[R_{p,n}^{(s)}]$  as the rotation tensor, we use the reflection tensor [H]. Specifically, let the perturbations of the aerodynamic forces,  $[\mathcal{EC}_{\mathbf{F}}]$  and  $[\mathcal{EC}_{\mathbf{n}}]$ , be the physical process. Its outcome is determined by the perturbed motions that are described by the motions of the body and stability frames relative to the air frame. Equation (34), for instance, delineates the functional dependencies for the force disturbances. Now, the principle of material indifference postulates the following relationship:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{L} C_{F} \{ M_{P}, R_{P}, [H][b_{k}], -[H][\omega_{PP}^{(g)(g)}], -[H][R_{Pn}^{(g)(g)}][\omega_{k}^{(g)}(A)], \\ [H][R_{Pn}^{(g)(g)}][\omega_{pn}^{(A)}], [H][\mathcal{L} \widehat{\omega}_{B}^{(A)}], -[H][\mathcal{L} \widehat{\omega}_{B}^{(g)(A)}], ] = (48) \\ = [H][\mathcal{L} C_{F} \{ M_{P}, R_{P}, [b_{k}], [\omega_{P}^{(g)(g)}], [R_{Pn}^{(g)(g)}][\omega_{n}^{(g)(g)}], [R_{Pn}^{(g)(g)}][\omega_{pn}^{(g)(g)}], [R_{Pn}^{(g)(g)}][\omega_{pn}^{(g)(g)}], [\mathcal{L} \widehat{\omega}_{pn}^{(A)}], [\mathcal{L} \widehat{\omega}_{p$$

where  $[b_{\mu}]$  are the base vectors of frame (B). The justification for writing the skew-symmetric tensors as axial vectors, even though they are subjected to a reflectional tensor, is given by Equation (8.5).

Let us show now that

$$[b_{\mu}] = [H][b_{\mu}] \tag{49}$$

$$[\omega_{\rho\rho}^{(0)(s)}] = -[H][\omega_{\rho\rho}^{(0)(s)}]$$
(50)

$$[R_{p_{n}}^{(s)}][\hat{w}_{n}^{(s)}] = -[H][R_{p_{n}}^{(s)}][\hat{w}_{n}^{(s)}]$$
(51)

$$\left[ \mathcal{R}_{pk}^{(S)} [S] \right] \left[ \mathcal{N}_{g_{n}}^{(A)} \right] = \left[ H \right] \left[ \mathcal{R}_{pk}^{(S)} [S] \right] \left[ \mathcal{N}_{g_{k}}^{(A)} \right]$$
(52)

Equation (49) is given by Equation (8.25). The Equations (51) and (52) follow from Equations (8.37) and (8.41), using Equation (8.12). To prove Equation (50), we take recourse to the definition of  $\begin{bmatrix} \omega & 0 & 0 \\ p & p \end{bmatrix}$  and multiply out:

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \frac{d}{d\hat{t}} \alpha_{n} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} = -\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \frac{d}{d\hat{t}} \alpha_{n} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s}$$
(53)

Because Equations (49) through (52) hold, we do not have to show them explicitly in Equation (48). The conditions that the aerodynamics of mirror-symmetrical MR's must obey are then given for the force perturbations by Equation (48). The same reasoning leads to the conditions for the moment perturbations, where we have to recall that the moment is an axial vector. Summarizing we have:

$$[\mathcal{E}C_{F} \{ [H] [\mathcal{E}\mathcal{D}_{B}^{(A)}], -[H] [\mathcal{E}\mathcal{D}_{S}^{(S)(A)}] \} ] = [H] [\mathcal{E}C_{F} \{ [\mathcal{E}\mathcal{D}_{B}^{(A)}], [\mathcal{E}\mathcal{D}_{S}^{(S)(A)}] \} ]$$
(54)

$$[\mathcal{EC}_{H}[H][\mathcal{E}\mathcal{D}_{0}^{(A)}], -[H][\mathcal{E}\mathcal{D}_{0}^{(S)(A)}]] = -[H][\mathcal{EC}_{H}[\mathcal{E}\mathcal{D}_{0}^{(A)}], [\mathcal{E}\mathcal{D}_{0}^{(S)(A)}]]]$$
(55)

From these equations we shall formulate the conditions for vanishing derivatives expressed in the  $\int_{\rho}^{s}$ -coordinate system. To arrive at a concise formulation, we use the subscript notation as defined in Equations (40) and (41). The elements of the rotation tensor [H] expressed in the  $\int_{\rho}^{s}$ -coordinate system will be written as  $h_{ij}^{*}$ . Using summation convention we obtain,

$$\mathcal{E}C_{F_{L}}\left\{h_{ad}\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{a},-h_{be}\hat{\mathcal{W}}_{e}\right\} = h_{ln}\mathcal{E}C_{F_{n}}\left\{\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{a},\hat{\mathcal{W}}_{b}\right\}$$
(56)

$$\mathcal{E}\mathcal{C}_{M_{e}}[h_{ed}\hat{\mathcal{D}}_{d}, -h_{be}\hat{\mathcal{W}}_{e}] = -h_{en}\mathcal{E}\mathcal{C}_{M_{n}}[\hat{\mathcal{D}}_{a}, \hat{\mathcal{W}}_{b}] \qquad (57)$$

To combine both equations, let us introduce the six-component vectors 2jand  $C_i$  of Equations (40) and (41). Because it can be shown that

$$\left\{\frac{h_{ad}}{-h_{be}}\hat{\omega}_{e}\right\} = (-1)^{i+1} z_{j}; \quad j = 1, \cdots, 6$$
(58)

and

$$\left\{\frac{h_{ln} \mathcal{E}C_{F_n}}{-h_{ln} \mathcal{E}C_{M_n}}\right\} = (-1)^{i+1}C_i \quad ; \quad i = 1, \dots, 6$$
(59)

we can combine Equations (56) and (57) and arrive at the most concise form in which the mirror symmetry conditions can be expressed:

$$C_{i}\left\{\left(-1\right)^{i+1} \hat{z}_{i}\right\} = \left(-1\right)^{i+1} C_{i}\left\{\hat{z}_{i}\right\}$$
(60)

For the functional form  $C_i\{t_i\}$ , introduce the series expansion, Equation (44)

$$(-1)^{i_{1}+1}C_{i}^{i_{1}} \neq_{i_{1}} + \frac{1}{2!}(-1)^{i_{1}+1}(-1)^{j_{2}+1}C_{i}^{i_{1}}i_{2}} \neq_{i_{1}} \neq_{i_{2}} + \cdots$$

$$+ \frac{1}{k!}(-1)^{i_{1}+1}\dots(-1)^{i_{k}+1}C_{i}^{i_{1}}\dots i_{k}} \neq_{i_{1}} \neq_{i_{2}}\dots \neq_{i_{k}} = (-1)^{i+1}C_{i}^{i_{1}} \neq_{i_{1}} + \cdots$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2!}(-1)^{i+1}C_{i}^{i_{1}}i_{2}} \neq_{i_{1}}^{2}i_{2} + \cdots + \frac{1}{k!}(-1)^{i+1}C_{i}^{i_{1}}\dots i_{k}} \neq_{i_{1}}^{2}i_{2}\dots \neq_{i_{k}}^{2}$$

$$(61)$$

Comparing terms of equal power yields

$$C_{i}^{j_{1}j_{2}\cdots j_{k}} = (-1)^{\frac{j_{k}}{k}} \qquad C_{i}^{j_{1}j_{2}\cdots j_{k}} \qquad (62)$$

For instance, the condition for the linear terms  $C_i^{j_1} = (-1)^{j_1+1+i+1}C_i^{j_1}$ can be rewritten as  $C_i^{j_1}(-1)^{j_1+1} = (-1)^{i+1}C_i^{j_1}$  which is in the form of Equation (61). Equation (62) is satisfied if either the power of (-1)

is even or the derivative is zero. We summarize the results in the following theorem.

THFOREM: Assume that the MR possesses a mirror-symmetrical external configuration as defined in Section 8.1. Let

$$C_{i_{j_{1}},j_{2}}^{i_{j_{1}},j_{2}} = \frac{\partial^{k}C_{i_{1}}}{\partial^{2}} \frac{\partial^{k}C_{i_{2}}}{\partial^{2}} \cdots \frac{\partial^{k}C_{i_{k}}}{\partial^{k}C_{i_{k}}}$$

be an aerodynamic derivative of the disturbed flight in the notation of Equations (40) and (41), where

i = 1, 2, ..., 6 indicates the force or moment component k = 1, 2, ..., 6 indicates the order of the derivative  $j_{k} = 1, 2, ..., 6$  indicates the linear or angular velocity component of disturbance

The existence of the derivative is determined by a function f(J) defined as:

+(+1) - derivative exists

$$f(-1) = \text{ derivative vanishes}$$

$$J = (-1)^{\sum_{k} j_{k}} + i + k + 1$$

where

5

<u>EXAMPLE</u>: Does the derivative  $\frac{\partial^3 C_m}{\partial \epsilon \hat{\mu} \partial \epsilon \hat{q} \partial \epsilon \hat{q}} = C_5^{255}$  exist? We have:

$$i = 5, k = 3, j_1 = 2, j_2 = 5, j_3 = 5$$
  
 $y = (-1)^{2+5+5+5+3+1} = (-1)^{21} = -1$ 

therefore  $\oint (-1) =$  derivative does not exist. The theorem is easy to apply and particularly helpful if nonlinear aerodynamic effects must be considered. It is not only applicable to MR's but also to aircraft with mirror symmetry.

# 11.4 DISCUSSION

The purpose of this discussion is to answer two questions: (i) why is the stability frame introduced, and (ii) why is the second perturbation method used rather than the first one (see Chapter 4)?

In airplane dynamics, the stability coordinate system is introduced to simplify the expressions for the aerodynamic forces. Because it is related to the body coordinate system by a time invariant transformation (see Etkin (16)), it is also a body coordinate system. To investigate the aerodynamics of spinning missiles, a non-rolling body coordinate system is defined, which permits the forces to be expressed in an associated aeroballistic coordinate system. This coordinate system is not a body coordinate system. In MR dynamics, the situation is similar. The attention is focused on nutational and precessional motions, and the spin degree-offreedom is only of interest as far as it affects these motions. Therefore, as in missile dynamics, a non-rolling body coordinate system is introduced. However, because the major flight direction .s normal to the spin axis, the aeroballistic coordinate system, as defined in NOLR 1241 (20), cannot be used for MR's. Instead we employ the stability coordinate system as given in the same report. The x-axis is parallel to the projection of the velocity vector on the mirror plane, and the y-axis is parallel to the

spin axis. This coordinate system suggests the introduction of the stability frame, which is given by the spin axis, the projection of the velocity vector on the mirror plane, and the center of mass, **B**. The motions of the stability frame with respect to the air frame constitute the nutation and precession of an MR. We distinguish between a stability frame during reference flight  $\begin{pmatrix} s \\ r \end{pmatrix}$  and during perturbed flight  $\begin{pmatrix} s \\ r \end{pmatrix}$ . Because the deviations of  $\begin{pmatrix} s \\ r \end{pmatrix}$  from  $\begin{pmatrix} s \\ r \end{pmatrix}$  are assumed to be small, a Taylor expansion can be generated in the variables  $\left[ \mathcal{E} \mathcal{U}_{\mathbf{B}}^{(n)} \right]$  and  $\left[ \mathcal{E} \widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{\mathbf{P}}^{(n)} \right]$ , which permits the most convenient treatment of the flight dynamical problem.

Another important reason for introducing the stability frame lies in the method of measuring aerodynamic forces in a wind tunnel. The internal strain gage balance is best suited to determine the aerodynamic derivatives of a spinning MR. It is aligned with the spin axis, fixed with reference to the mass center of the MR, and directly related to the projection of the velocity vector on the mirror plane. In short, the strain gage balance constitutes the stability frame in wind tunnel measurements.

Note also that the mirror-symmetry conditions can be used to the same advantage in a stability coordinate system as in a body coordinate system. This is based on the fact that the reflection tensor of mirror symmetry has the same simple form in both coordinate systems.

Why is the second perturbation method used? Consider the aerodynamic forces acting on an MR in perturbed flight. The perturbations of the aerodynamic forces are caused by kinematic and aerodynamic effects. Varying attitude angles produce the kinematic effect by changing the direction of the aerodynamic force vectors without changing their magnitude. This

is described by an expression like  $\begin{bmatrix} R \begin{pmatrix} s \\ p \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} f_A(h) \end{bmatrix}$  (see Equation (4.14)). It can easily be evaluated. On the other side, the aerodynamic effect is difficult to determine. It is generated by the perturbation variables  $\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{L} \\ \mathcal{L} \\ \mathbf{G} \end{bmatrix}$  and  $\begin{bmatrix} (\mathcal{L} \\ \mathcal{L} \\ \mathbf{G} \end{bmatrix}$  as they alter the fluid flow around the MR. As an example, consider the side force component acting on an MR. If the MR is rolled through  $\phi$ , the side force changes its direction by  $\phi$  but not its magnitude. However, an MR that alters its flight direction experiences a different magnitude of the side force because of the different fluid pattern.

Thus, we are led to define a vectorial force increment that focuses attention on the aerodynamic effect:

$$[Ef_n] = [f_n(p)] - [R[p]n][f_n(n)]$$
(63)

Because it is independent of the attitude angles, its Taylor expansion assumes the simplest form, as derived in Section 11.2. In contrast, the force perturbation

$$[\overline{\delta f_a}] = [\overline{f_a(p)}] - [\overline{f_a(n)}]$$
(64)

is a function of the attitude angles and therefore unnecessarily complicates the Taylor expansion.

To illustrate this, we compare the perturbation  $[\mathcal{EC}_{\mathsf{F}}]_{\mathsf{p}}^{\mathsf{S}}$  of Equation (36) with the perturbation  $[\mathcal{EC}_{\mathsf{F}}]_{\mathsf{p}}^{\mathsf{S}}$ , derived in a similar fashion:

$$\left[ \delta C_{F} \right]_{F}^{s} = \left[ \frac{\partial C_{F}}{\partial \hat{\mathcal{U}}_{G}^{(A)}} \left\{ M_{P}, R_{P}, \left[ b_{\mu}(p) \right]_{P}^{s}, \left[ \omega_{P}^{(B)}(s) \right]_{P}^{s}, \left[ \omega_{R}^{(s)}(A) \right]_{P}^{s}, \left[ \omega_{R}^{(s)}(A) \right]_{P}^{s}, \left[ \omega_{R}^{(a)} \right]_{P}^{s} \right] \right]_{P}^{s} \left[ \varepsilon \mathcal{U}_{R}^{(A)} \right]_{P}^{s}$$

$$+ \left[ \frac{\partial C_{F}}{\partial \hat{\mathcal{U}}_{G}^{(s)}(A)} \left\{ same dependence \right\} \right]_{P}^{s} \left[ \varepsilon \omega_{R}^{(s)}(A) \right]_{P}^{s} + \cdots$$

Because  $\begin{bmatrix} \lambda \\ w \\ n \end{bmatrix}$  and  $\begin{bmatrix} \lambda \\ g_n \end{bmatrix}$  are known in a  $\begin{bmatrix} \lambda \\ g_n \end{bmatrix}$  coordinate system, we must introduce the coordinate transformation  $\begin{bmatrix} T \end{bmatrix}_{p,n}^{s,s}$  to express them in the  $\begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ g_n \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s}$  coordinate system, as required in Equation (65). Thus, the derivatives become a function of the angles  $\oint , \oint h$ , and  $\delta f$ .

# 11.5 APPLICATIONS

$$\left[\varepsilon \mathcal{U}_{B}^{(k)}\right]_{p}^{s} = \left[\varepsilon \mathcal{U}_{B}^{(k)}\right]_{p}^{s}$$
(66)

$$[\varepsilon \hat{\omega}^{(s)(n)}]_{p}^{s} = [\varepsilon \hat{\omega}^{(s)(z)}]_{p}^{s}$$
(67)

and thus establish the connection between the rate of change of linear and angular momentum and the formulation of the aerodynamic forces.

The linear velocity perturbation is, by definition, Equation (4.11), and in view of Equation (5.10)

$$[\mathcal{E}\mathcal{D}_{g}^{(t)}] - [\mathcal{D}_{g_{p}}^{(t)}] - [\mathcal{R}_{p_{n}}^{(t)}][\mathcal{D}_{g_{n}}^{(t)}]$$
(68)

Expression in a  $\mathbf{J}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathbf{s}}$  coordinate system and transformation into a more convenient form results in:

$$\left[ \mathcal{L} \mathcal{V}_{g}^{(I)} \right]_{p}^{g} = \left[ T \right]_{p}^{Wg} \left[ \mathcal{V}_{Bp}^{(I)} \right]_{p}^{W} - \left[ \mathcal{R}_{pn}^{(g)} \right]_{p}^{g} \left[ T \right]_{pn}^{gg} \left[ \mathcal{V}_{Bn}^{(g)} \right]_{n}^{g}$$
(69)

Let us substitute Equation (8.47) and the equivalent definition

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{\mathcal{N}}_{\beta\rho}^{(\mathbf{r})} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{\omega} = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\rho} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}_{\rho}^{\omega}$$
(70)

into Equation (69) and write, in view of the notation of Equation (41)

$$\left[ \varepsilon \hat{\nu}_{G}^{(A)} \right]_{p}^{s} = \left[ \varepsilon \hat{\nu}_{G}^{(E)} \right]_{p}^{s} = \begin{bmatrix} \varepsilon \hat{\mu} \\ \varepsilon \hat{\nu} \\ \varepsilon \hat{\nu} \\ \varepsilon \hat{\nu} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} = \begin{bmatrix} \delta \hat{\nu} \\ \hat{\nu}_{p} \beta \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s}$$
(71)

where

$$\hat{SV} = \frac{V_p - V_n}{V_n} ; \quad \hat{V}_p = \frac{V_p}{V_n} ; \quad \hat{V}_n = \frac{V_n}{V_n} = 1$$
(72)

The relationship with the dynamic-normalized velocity perturbation is obtained from Equation (5.20):

$$[\overline{\varepsilon \mathcal{N}_{B}^{(\mathbf{r})}}]_{p}^{s} = \overline{V}_{R} [\varepsilon \widehat{\mathcal{N}}_{B}^{(\mathbf{r})}]_{p}^{s} = \overline{V}_{R} \begin{bmatrix} \varepsilon \widehat{\mathcal{U}} \\ \varepsilon \widehat{\mathcal{U}} \\ \varepsilon \widehat{\mathcal{W}} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} = \begin{bmatrix} \delta V \\ \overline{V}_{p} \beta \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s}$$
(73)

whe

$$\delta \overline{V} = \frac{\delta V}{V_{ss}}; \ \overline{V}_{p} = \frac{V_{p}}{V_{ss}}; \ \overline{V}_{h} = \frac{V_{h}}{V_{ss}}$$
(74)

Therefore, the velocity components are:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{\epsilon}\hat{\mu} \\ \hat{\epsilon}\hat{\nu} \\ \hat{\epsilon}\hat{w} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\delta}\bar{\nu}/\bar{\nu}_{n} \\ (\bar{\nu}_{p}/\bar{\nu}_{n})\beta \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\delta}\bar{\nu}/\bar{\nu}_{n} \\ \beta \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\delta}\bar{\nu} \\ \beta \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s}$$
(75)

because we can set, according to Assumption 2 of Chapter 9:

$$\frac{V_{\rho}}{\overline{V}_{R}} = \frac{V_{\rho}}{V_{ss}} \frac{V_{ss}}{\overline{V}_{R}} \approx 1$$
(76)

The angular velocity perturbation is, by definition, Equation (4,13), and in view of Equation (5.13):

$$[\varepsilon \hat{\omega}^{(s)(t)}] = [\hat{\omega}^{(s)(t)}] - [R^{(s)(t)}_{P}] [\hat{\omega}^{(s)(t)}_{R}]$$
(77)

with  $V_{1}/L$  as the aero-normalizing unit. This can be replaced by  $[\omega_{pn}]$ , as shown in Simplification 1 of Section 10.1. Using Equation (7.5) and in view of the notation of Equation (43), we obtain

$$\begin{bmatrix} \varepsilon \omega^{(\varsigma)(A)} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{\varsigma} = \begin{bmatrix} \varepsilon \omega^{(\varsigma)(1)} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{\varsigma} = \begin{bmatrix} \varepsilon p \\ \varepsilon q \\ \varepsilon h \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{\varsigma} = \begin{bmatrix} \omega^{(\varsigma)(\varsigma)} \\ \omega p \\ \varepsilon h \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{\varsigma} = \begin{bmatrix} \widehat{\phi} \\ \widehat{\phi} \\ \widehat{\phi} \\ \widehat{\phi} \\ \widehat{\phi} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{\varsigma}$$
(78)

where

$$\hat{\phi} = \frac{1}{v_{R}} \frac{d}{dt} \phi ; \quad \hat{H} = \frac{1}{v_{R}} \frac{d}{dt} 4$$
(79)

The relationship with the dynamic-normalized velocity perturbation is obtained from Equation (5.23):

$$\left[\overline{\varepsilon\omega}^{(\mathfrak{s})(\mathfrak{a})}\right]_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathfrak{s}} = \mu \overline{V}_{\mathfrak{n}} \left[\varepsilon \widehat{\omega}^{(\mathfrak{s})(\mathfrak{a})}\right]_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathfrak{s}} = \mu \overline{V}_{\mathfrak{n}} \left[\varepsilon \widehat{\mathfrak{p}}\right]_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathfrak{s}}$$
(80)

where

and

$$\Phi = \mathcal{T} \frac{d}{dt} \Phi ; \quad \Psi = \mathcal{T} \frac{d}{dt} \mathcal{H}$$
(82)

Therefore the relationship is:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{\epsilon} \hat{p} \\ \hat{\epsilon} \hat{q} \\ \hat{\epsilon} \hat{n} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\phi} / \mu \bar{V} \\ \phi \lambda \hat{\mu} / \mu \bar{V} \\ \lambda \hat{\mu} / \mu \bar{V} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\phi} \\ \phi \hat{\mu} \\ \hat{\lambda} \hat{\mu} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s}$$

Now we shall use the theorem of Section 11.3 to write out the derivatives up to the third order for the three coefficients  $C_y$ ,  $C_l$ , and  $C_n$ . These coefficients are particularly important for the further development of the theory. Since the i's in  $C_i$  are even numbers for all three coefficients, the theorem has the same form. A schematic summary is given in Table 11.1, based on the matrix notation of Equation (46). The expansion of the three coefficients up to third order consists of 774 derivatives. This number is cut in half by the theorem and further reduced, because pairs of the mixed derivatives are equal. Moreover, some of the derivativas must be zero because, by the definition of the stability coordinate system,  $E\hat{w} = 0$ . However, there are still 84 derivatives to be evaluated.

The determination of these derivatives is probably the most difficult task in Magnus rotor dynamics. Some information can be found in Brunk (1,2) and Bustamante (7). However, much research is still to be done in this field. A combination of engineering intuition, experimental results, and mathematical analysis must be employed to arrive at quantitative values. The final verification will come through free flight tests.

Here, we do not intend to treat this area of Magnus Rotor Dynamics exhaustively. We shall rather concentrate on some aspects that are required for the latter part of this report.

120

(83)



- TO EXISTENCE THEOREM EXISTS ACCORDING IS ZERO BECAUSE & TO BE EVALUATED DERIVATIVE 8
  - DERIVATIVES

MATRICES ARE SYMMETRIC

# **AERODYNAMIC DERIVATIVES** FIGURE 11.1

To begin with, we want to show that the dependence of the coefficients  $f_{\mu}$ ,  $f_{\mu}$ , and  $f_{\mu}$  on  $\mathcal{E}\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{E}\mathcal{q}$  can be neglected. Equation (75) yields  $\mathcal{E}\mathcal{U} = \mathbf{S}\hat{\mathbf{V}}$ ; i.e.,  $\mathcal{E}\mathcal{U}$  is the perturbation of the flight velocity. But the flight velocity appears only in terms of Reynolds number and Mach number in the coefficients, and small changes of the Reynolds number and Mach number have a negligible effect on the coefficients. By Equation (83),  $\mathcal{E}\mathcal{q} = \mathbf{\Phi}\hat{\mathbf{\mu}}$ . Because of the small angle assumption,  $\mathcal{E}\mathcal{q}$  is small compared with  $\mathcal{E}\mathcal{p}$  and  $\mathcal{E}\mathcal{R}$ , and its influence on the coefficients can therefore be disregarded. This simplification means that, in the terminology of Chapter 12, the lateral aerodynamics are decoupled from the longitudinal motions. Thus, the number of derivatives to be evaluated is further reduced. The remaining ones are marked by a black square in Table 11.1. They are summarized in Table 11.2 in the same arrangement. We shorten the list further by two reasonable arguments:

<u>ARGUMENT 1</u>: The side force does not depend on the  $\hat{\rho}$  and  $\hat{\kappa}$  angular velocities.

<u>ARGUMENT 2</u>: The gyroscopic coupling moment is much greater than the comparable aerodynamic coupling.

The derivatives thus deleted are marked by a corresponding sign in Table 11.2. Fourteen of them remain to be evaluated. According to Equation (39), they are still functions of  $M_{R}$ ,  $R_{R}$ ,  $d\rho$ , and  $\hat{\omega}_{R}$ .  $C_{Y\beta}$ and  $C_{Y\beta}$  are the linear and cubic side-force derivatives. They are mainly due to the drag force caused by the component of the flight velocity along the spin axis. Therefore,  $C_{Y\beta}$  is usually negative and decreases with the increasing size of the end plates. For MR's without end plates,  $C_{Y\beta}^{3}$  can

Cyp yp ya Cyps  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{J}}^{\lambda} \hat{\rho}^{\lambda} \hat{\rho$ CIP CIP CIA CIP3 CIAN CIAPT CIPIP CIPPI CIPS CIPS CIPS CIPS Cup ching Cup Cups Laker & ak pr Kn p3 Cnpin Cupin Cupil Cupin Cupin Cupins

Neglected because of Argument 1. Neglected because of Argument 2.

TABLE 11.2 LATERAL DERIVATIVES

become important. The dependence of both derivatives on  $\hat{\omega}_{R}$  is weak and is therefore dropped in most applications.

The rolling derivatives  $\mathcal{C}_{l_{\beta}}$  and  $\mathcal{C}_{l_{\beta}}$  are referred to as the linear and cubic Magnus moment derivatives. They are caused by a shift of the Magnus lift force along the spin axis due to the sideslip angle  $\beta$ . Because the Magnus lift is approximately proportional to the tip speed ratio,  $\hat{\omega}_{\mathbf{A}}$ , the Magnus moment derivatives will also strongly depend on  $\hat{\omega}_{\mathbf{A}}$ . To express this dependence explicitly, we expand the derivatives in power series of  $\hat{\omega}_{\mathbf{A}}$ . For the linear Magnus moment derivativ\_, we have, for instance:

$$C_{\ell_{\beta}} = C_{\ell_{\beta}} \{ M_{R}, R_{R}, d_{\beta} \} + C_{\ell_{\omega_{\beta}}} \{ M_{R}, R_{R}, d_{\beta} \} \hat{\omega}_{n} + \cdots$$
<sup>(84)</sup>

If  $\hat{\omega}_{h} = 0$ , the Magnus lift is zero. Consequently, the constant term in the expansion can be neglected. Because of insufficient wind tunnel data, the linear term is relained only. Thus, the linear coefficients of the power series,  $C_{l\hat{\omega}_{A}}$  and  $C_{l\hat{\omega}_{A}}$ , are usually meant by Magnus moment derivatives. They are important for the stability of the nutation mode and can, in particular, cause a nutation limit cycle.

The yawing moment derivatives  $C_{n,\beta}$  and  $C_{n,\beta}$  are generated by the shift of the drag force along the spin axis. In the first approximation, they are independent of  $\hat{\omega}_n$  because the drag force is independent of  $\hat{\omega}_n$ . They mostly affect the stability of the undulation mode.

The aerodynamic damping is expressed in the derivatives  $C_{p,c}$ ,  $C_{p,3}$ ,  $C_{n,k}$ , and  $C_{n,k}$ .  $C_{p,k}$  and  $C_{n,k}$  are always negative. In the stability analysis, only their sums,  $C_{p,k} + C_{n,k}$  and  $C_{p,1} + C_{n,k}$ , have to be known.

These derivatives cannot be measured in conventional wind tunnels. They require either a curved working section as in the old NACA Langley Stability Tunnel or some free-flight simulations.

The remaining mixed derivatives  $C_{\mu\nu\rho}$ ,  $C_{\mu\rho\nu\rho}$ ,  $C_{\mu\rho\nu\rho}$ , and  $C_{\mu\rho\mu}$ express the aerodynamic damping of a yawed MR. Again, the rolling moment derivatives are expanded in  $\tilde{\omega}_{\mu}$ , and the linear terms are written as  $C_{\mu\rho\nu\rho}$  and  $C_{\mu\rho\rho\nu\rho}$ . No experimental data have been obtained on these derivatives.

For further reference, let us write out some components of Equations (24) and (25) using the derivatives of Table 11.2 and the format of Table 11.1. Equations (75) and (83) introduce the dynamic-normalized variables.

$$[\overline{\epsilon}f_{\alpha_2}]_p^* = \overline{V}_n^2 (C_{y_p}\beta + \frac{1}{6}C_{y_p^3}\beta^3)$$
<sup>(85)</sup>

$$\begin{bmatrix} \overline{Em}_{a_{1}} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} = \frac{\overline{V}_{n}^{2}}{\mu} \{ C_{l_{\omega_{p}}}^{s} \widehat{\omega}_{n} \beta + \frac{1}{\mu \overline{V}_{n}} C_{l_{p}}^{s} \dot{\phi} + \frac{1}{6} C_{l_{\omega_{p}}}^{s} \widehat{\omega}_{n} \beta^{3} + \frac{1}{6(\mu \overline{V}_{n})^{2}} C_{l_{\omega_{p}}}^{s} \hat{\phi} + \frac{1}{6(\mu \overline{V}_{n})^{2}} C_{l_{\omega_{p}}}^{s} \hat{\phi}^{2} + \frac{1}{6(\mu \overline{V}_{n})^{3}} C_{l_{p}}^{s} \dot{\phi}^{3} \}$$

$$(36)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \overline{em}_{a_{3}} \end{bmatrix}_{p}^{s} = \frac{\overline{V}_{n}^{2}}{\mu} \{ C_{np} \beta + \frac{1}{\mu \overline{V}_{n}} C_{nn} \hat{H} + \frac{1}{6} C_{np^{3}} \beta^{3} + \frac{1}{6 \mu \overline{V}_{n}} C_{np^{3}} \beta^{2} + \frac{1}{6 (\mu \overline{V}_{n})^{2}} C_{np^{3}} \beta^{2} + \frac{1}{6 (\mu \overline{V}_{n})^{3}} C_{np^{3}} \beta^{2} + \frac{1}{6 (\mu \overline{V}_{n})^{3}} C_{np^{3}} \beta^{3} + \frac{1}{6 (\mu \overline{V}_{n})^{3}} C_{np^{3}} \beta^{2} + \frac{1}{6 (\mu \overline{V}_{n})^{3}} C_{np^{3}} \beta^{3} + \frac{1}{6 (\mu \overline{V}_{n})^{3}} C_{np^{3}} \beta^{3$$

## 12. EQUATIONS OF MOTION

Thus far, all the required details have been derived for the perturbation equations of an MR in planar glide phase. What is left is to investigate the possibility of separating the equations into laceral and longitudinal perturbation equations and to eliminate the dependence on the rapidly rotating angle of attack.

# 12.1 LATERAL PERTURBATION EQUATIONS

The perturbation equations are given by Equations (9.18) and (10.50). We observe that the second component of Equation (9.18) and the first and third components of Equation (10.50) can be evaluated without knowing the solution of the remaining three components, provided that the aerodynamic forces can be separated accordingly. Borrowing from airplane terminology, we call this set the <u>lateral perturbation equations</u> and the remaining three equations the <u>longitudinal perturbation equations</u>. Notice that the lateral equations are decoupled from the longitudinal equations but the converse is not true. The lateral perturbation equations are the side force, rolling, and yawing equations, with the side slip angle  $\beta$ , roll angle  $\phi$ , and yaw angle  $\mu$  as the perturbations. The longitudinal perturbation equations and the pitch equation, with the increments of the flight speed  $\overline{\delta V}$ , glide angle  $\delta Y$ , and the angle of attack  $\delta d$  as the perturbations.

Now we want to justify the separation of the aerodynamic forces into

knowing the longitudinal motions. Equations (11.85) through (11.87) provide part of the justification. They do not depend on the variables  $\delta X$  and  $\delta \overline{V}$ . But the aerodynamic derivatives do depend on  $\alpha_p = \alpha_n + \delta \alpha$  implicitly, as seen from Equation (11.84). However, in Section 12.3 we shall show that the dependency on  $\alpha_p$  can be averaged over one revolution resulting in a zero net effect. Therefore, the lateral equations are entirely decoupled from the longitudinal equations. They are summarized in Table 12.1 together with the equations of the reference flight.

<u>DISCUSSION</u>: The equations of motion are presented in their dynamicnormalized form (see Chapter 5). The crossbar indicates that the quantity is measured in dynamic-normalized units, and the circle stands for the time derivative with respect to the dynamic-normalized time  $\frac{1}{4}$ .

Equations (1) through (3) are Equations (8.57) through (8.59), The first equation is the force equation tangent to the flight path, while the second is the normal force equation. The moment equation about the spin axis is given by the third equation. There are two major assumptions that must be satisfied:

1. The MR is mirror symmetrical with respect to its external geometry and its mass distribution.

2. The rate of change of glide angle is much smaller than the rate of change of the angle of attack; i.e.,  $\tilde{V}_n \ll \tilde{d}_n$ Furthermore, the condition  $\bar{V}_n \neq 0$  must be imposed to keep the coefficients finite. Otherwise, the equations must be revised. The aerodynamic coefficients are still a function of Mach number  $M_n$ , Reynolds number  $R_n$ and angle of attack  $d_n$ . If the initial flight speed of a particular problem does not reach into the compressible regime, and if the air density



changes only little during the flight, the aerodynamic coefficients can be considered to be a function of  $\alpha_n$  only. In Section 12.2, we will show that even this dependence can be eliminated and that, under those conditions, the aerodynamic coefficients can be considered to be constants. The equations of the reference flight are highly nonlinear and cannot be simplified further. They must be solved by computer.

Equations (4) through (8) describe the lateral perturbations of an MR during the planar glide phase. They are referred to the coordinate system  $\int_{0}^{\pi}$  associated with the stability frame  $\begin{pmatrix} e \\ r \end{pmatrix}$  of the perturbed motions. Equation (4) is the force equation along the spin axis. Its first term on the right includes the inertial force component  $-\tilde{\nabla}/\tilde{\nabla}_{\mathbf{x}}$  caused by the acceleration of the mass during the reference flight. The last two linear terms are the gravitational contributions. The moment Equation (5) is similar in structure to Equation (6). The first terms on the right are the aerodynamic moments about the roll axis  $X_{1} \stackrel{e}{\rightarrow}$  and the yaw axis  $X_{3} \stackrel{e}{\rightarrow}$ , respectively. The following two terms are the aerodynamic contributions are collected in the right matrix. In addition to the two assumptions already stated in the previous paragraph, the lateral perturbation equations are valid under the following major conditions:

3. The angles  $\beta$ ,  $\phi$ ,  $A_{\mu}$  remain small throughout the flight.

4. The aerodynamic forces depend on the linear and angular velocities only and not on the accelerations.

The small-angle assumption means that the sine of an angle is replaced by the angle itself and the cosine is set equal to one. For an engineering

analysis, angles up to 20 degree can be admitted. This causes errors of 2% and 6%, in the sine and cosine, respectively, at 20 degree. One of the consequences of this assumption is that the nonlinear behavior of the aerodynamic forces must occur at small angles in order to be correctly analyzed by these equations.

The aerodynamic coefficients are functions of  $M_R$ ,  $R_n$ , and  $A_p$ . As in the case of the reference flight, we can gain much information by limiting ourselves to the dependence on  $\mathcal{A}_p$  alone. And again, in Section 12.3, we shall show that this dependence can be neglected if certain conditions are satisfied. Also, the value  $\overline{V}_n = 0$  must be excluded in order that the coefficients are finite. In Table 12.1, the perturbation equations are separated into linear and nonlinear parts. If we neglect the nonlinear part, and if we consider the steady-state glide phase only, the perturbation equations are linear differential equations with constant coefficients and therefore easy to solve. If we consider the transient glide phase, the equations remain linear but become nonautonomous. Adding the nonlinear aerodynamic terms makes the equations nonlinear and nonautonomous; i.e., for solutions, we have to rely on a digital computer.

## 12.2 AVERAGING THE REFERENCE EQUATIONS

In this section we shall give a mathematical justification for the intuitive reasoning that the effect of  $A_n$  on the reference flight can be averaged over one revolution, provided that  $d_n$  changes rapidly enough. The method of averaging, as developed by Bogoliubov and Mitropolsky (21),

will be employed. In particular, we refer to the "Case of the Rapidly Rotating Phase", as outlined in Chapter 5, Paragraph 25 of their book, and assume that the reader is familiar with this part.

The underlying idea is to introduce a transformation composed of the averaged state and small vibrations due to  $\alpha_{\kappa}$ . This leads to the averaged equations of motion that are independent of  $\alpha_{\kappa}$ . The vibrations are described by a power series in terms of a small parameter  $1/\lambda$ , and, thus, the averaged equations will have the same power series expansion. The search for such a large parameter  $\lambda$  requires a slight change of the equations of the reference flight. In view of Equation (5.23) and Equation (5.13), we obtain

$$\overline{\omega}_{R} = \mu \overline{V}_{R} \hat{\omega}_{R} = \mu \overline{V}_{R} \frac{\omega_{R} l}{V_{R}} \frac{V_{ss}}{V_{ss}} \frac{\omega_{ss}}{\omega_{ss}} = \mu \hat{\omega}_{ss} \frac{\omega_{R}}{\omega_{ss}}$$
(9)

and define

$$\lambda = \mu \hat{\omega}_{ss}$$
(10)

For common MR's,  $\lambda$  is a large parameter compared with the circular frequencies of the solution, because  $\omega_{35}$  is of the order of one, and  $\mu$ , the density ratio between the MR and air, is of the order of 10<sup>3</sup>. Representative circular frequencies of the solution are of the order of 10<sup>-1</sup>. Substitute Equation (9) into Equations (1), (2), and (3):

$$\vec{V}_n = -C_D \vec{V}_n^2 - \frac{29}{V_{ss}} \sin Y_n \tag{11}$$

$$\tilde{V}_{R} = C_{L\tilde{\omega}} \tilde{\omega}_{ss} \frac{\omega_{R}}{\omega_{ss}} - \frac{\tilde{\tau}g}{V_{ss}\bar{V}_{R}} \cos \tilde{V}_{R}$$
(12)

$$\frac{d}{d\bar{t}}\left(\frac{\omega_{n}}{\omega_{ss}}\right) = \frac{\dot{C}_{H_{\alpha}}}{\mu^{2}\bar{I}_{y}}\hat{\omega}_{ss}^{2} + \frac{\dot{C}_{H_{\alpha}}}{\mu^{2}\bar{I}_{y}}\bar{V}_{n}\frac{\omega_{n}}{\omega_{ss}}$$
(13)

with

$$\frac{d}{d\bar{t}} \alpha_n = \mu \frac{\omega_n}{\omega_{ss}}$$
(14)

The new variable is  $\frac{\omega_h}{\omega_{ss}}$ , the percentage of the spin rate relative to its steady-state value. We abbreviate these equations to obtain a corresponding form used in Ref. 21:

$$\frac{dy_{k}}{dt} = Y_{k}(\alpha_{x}, y_{1}, y_{2}, y_{3}) ; k = 1, 2, 3$$
<sup>(15)</sup>

$$\frac{d\alpha_n}{d\overline{t}} = \lambda y_3 \tag{16}$$

where the state vector is:

$$\begin{bmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \\ y_3 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{v}_n \\ \overline{v}_n \\ \omega_n / \omega_{ss} \end{bmatrix}$$
(17)

According to page 417 of Ref. 21, the transformations

$$y_{k} = \widetilde{y}_{k} + \frac{1}{\lambda} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n \widetilde{y}_{3}} \left\{ -G_{k,n} \cos n \widetilde{\alpha}_{k} + F_{k,n} \sin n \widetilde{\alpha}_{k} \right\} + O\left\{ \frac{1}{\lambda^{2}} \right\} (18)$$

$$\alpha_n = \widetilde{\alpha_n} - \frac{1}{\lambda} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^2 \widetilde{y}_3^2} \left\{ F_{2,n} \cos n\widetilde{\alpha_n} + G_{3,n} \sin n\widetilde{\alpha_n} \right\} + O\left\{ \frac{1}{\lambda^2} \right\}$$
(19)

generale the averaged equations:
$$\frac{d\tilde{y}_{k}}{d\tilde{t}} = Y_{k,0} - \frac{1}{\lambda} \sum_{\substack{n,q \ n\neq 0}}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2n\tilde{y}_{3}} \left\{ \frac{\partial F_{k,n}}{\partial \tilde{y}_{q}} G_{q,n} - \frac{\partial G_{k,n}}{\partial \tilde{y}_{q}} F_{q,n} \right\} + \frac{1}{\lambda} \sum_{\substack{n=1}}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2\tilde{y}_{3}^{2}n} \left\{ F_{k,n} G_{3,n} - G_{k,n} F_{3,n} \right\} + \theta \left\{ \frac{1}{\lambda^{2}} \right\}$$
(20)

$$\frac{d\tilde{\alpha}_{n}}{d\bar{t}} = \lambda \tilde{\gamma}_{3} + O\left\{\frac{1}{\lambda^{2}}\right\}$$
(21)

where the tilde denotes the averaged variable.  $Y_{k,0}$  is the first term in the Fourier expansion:

$$Y_{k} = Y_{k,0} + \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left\{ F_{k,n} \cos n \tilde{\alpha}_{k} + G_{k,n} \sin n \tilde{\alpha}_{n} \right\}$$
(22)

with the Fourier coefficients still being a function of the  $\tilde{Y}_{k}$ 's. In order that the second terms on the right of the Equations (18), (19), and (20) remain small, we must put a restriction on  $\tilde{Y}_{3} = \frac{\tilde{W}_{h}}{\tilde{W}_{55}}$ . We require that  $\tilde{Y}_{3} \geq 0.1$ ; i.e., that the spin rate never drops below 10% of its steady state value. Now, because  $\lambda$  is a large value ( $10^{3}$ ) and the terms of  $\tilde{Y}_{k,0}$  are of the order of one, it suffices to let the zeroth order approximation

$$\frac{d\tilde{y}_{\mu}}{d\bar{t}} = Y_{\mu,0}(\tilde{y}_{i})$$
(23)

represent the equations of motion of the reference flight. The error committed is given by Equation (18).

#### 12.3 AVERAGING THE LATERAL PERTURBATION EQUATIONS

We would like to use the same averaging method to eliminate the dependence of the lateral perturbation equations from  $\alpha_p$ . However, the method given in Ref. 21 is only applicable to autonomous differential equations, whereas the coefficients of the lateral perturbation equations depend on the state of the reference equation; i.e., we have to deal with a nonautonomous case. Fortunately, the coefficients change slowly in time compared with  $\alpha_p$  so that the averaging method can be extended to the lateral perturbation equations. We shall outline the procedure below, again closely following the book by Bogoliubov and Mitropolsky (21).

The lateral perturbation Equations (4) through (8) will be abbreviated as:

$$\frac{dx_{k}}{d\bar{t}} = X_{k} (dp, x_{i}, \bar{t}) ; k = 1, ..., 5 ; i = 1, ..., 5$$
<sup>(24)</sup>

Notice that the rapidly rotating phase  $\alpha_p$  is different from the previous case. We therefore cannot use Equation (14) directly. But we can still take the same large parameter  $\lambda = \mu \hat{\omega}_{ss}$  if we include a correction term  $A(x_{u}, i)$ . Thus, we form

$$\frac{d\alpha \rho}{d\bar{t}} = \lambda \frac{\omega_n(\bar{t})}{\omega_{ss}} + A(x_{k_1}\bar{t})$$
(25)

where  $A(x_{w_3},t)$  is small compared with  $\lambda \frac{\omega_n(t)}{\omega_{ss}}$  by the Assumption of Section 10.2.

As in Ref. 21, Equation (25.2), let us introduce the transformations

$$\mathbf{x}_{k} = \widetilde{\mathbf{x}}_{k} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\lambda^{n}} \overline{\mathbf{y}}_{k}^{(n)} (\widetilde{\alpha \rho}, \widetilde{\mathbf{x}}_{i}, \overline{\mathbf{t}})$$
(26)

134

$$\alpha_{p} = \widetilde{\alpha}_{p} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\lambda^{n}} U_{n}(\widetilde{\alpha}_{p}, \widetilde{x}_{i}, t)$$
<sup>(27)</sup>

with the difference that the coefficients of the power series are also timedependent. They will reduce Equations (24) and (25) to the form

$$\frac{d\tilde{x}_{\mu}}{d\bar{t}} = \sum_{\bar{n}=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\lambda^{n}} X_{\mu}^{(n)} (\tilde{x}_{i}, \bar{t})$$
<sup>(28)</sup>

$$\frac{d\tilde{x}_{p}}{d\bar{t}} = \lambda \frac{\omega_{n}(\bar{t})}{\omega_{ss}} + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\lambda_{n}} \Omega_{n}(\tilde{x}; \bar{t})$$
(29)

Substitute Equations (26) and (27) into Equation (24):

$$\frac{d\tilde{x}_{u}}{d\bar{t}} + \frac{1}{\lambda} \left( \frac{\partial \xi_{u}^{(l)}}{\partial \tilde{x}_{p}} \frac{d\tilde{a}_{p}}{d\bar{t}} + \frac{\partial \xi_{u}^{(l)}}{\partial \bar{t}} + \frac{\partial \xi_{u}^{(l)}}{\partial \tilde{x}_{q}} \frac{d\tilde{x}_{q}}{d\bar{t}} \right) + \frac{1}{\lambda^{2}} \left( \frac{\partial \xi_{u}^{(l)}}{\partial \tilde{a}_{p}} \frac{d\tilde{a}_{p}}{d\bar{t}} + \frac{\partial \xi_{u}^{(l)}}{\partial \tilde{t}} \right) + \frac{\partial \xi_{u}^{(l)}}{\partial \tilde{x}_{q}} \frac{d\tilde{a}_{p}}{d\bar{t}} + \frac{\partial \xi_{u}^{(l)}}{\partial \tilde{a}_{p}} \frac{d\tilde{a}_{p}}{d\bar{t}} + \frac{\partial \xi_{u}^{(l)}}{\partial \tilde{a}_{p}} \frac{d\tilde{a}_{p}}{d\bar{t}} + \frac{\partial \xi_{u}^{(l)}}{\partial \tilde{a}_{p}} \right) = X_{u} \left( \tilde{a}_{p} + \frac{1}{\lambda} U_{i} \left( \tilde{a}_{p}, \tilde{x}_{i}, \tilde{t} \right) + \dots + \tilde{x}_{i} + \frac{1}{\lambda} \xi_{i}^{(l)} \left( \tilde{a}_{p}, \tilde{x}_{i}, \tilde{t} \right) + \dots, \tilde{t} \right)$$

Then, similarly insert Equations (26) and (27) into Equation (25):

$$\frac{d\tilde{\alpha}}{d\tilde{t}}^{\rho} + \frac{1}{\lambda} \left\{ \frac{\partial U_{1}}{\partial \tilde{\alpha}_{\rho}} \frac{d\tilde{\alpha}}{d\tilde{t}}^{\rho} + \frac{\partial U_{1}}{\partial \tilde{\alpha}_{\rho}} \frac{d\tilde{\alpha}}{d\tilde{t}}^{\rho} + \frac{\partial U_{1}}{\partial \tilde{t}} + \frac{\partial U_{1}}{\partial \tilde{t}} \frac{d\tilde{\alpha}}{d\tilde{t}}^{\rho} \right\} + \frac{1}{\lambda^{2}} \left\{ \frac{\partial U_{1}}{\partial \tilde{\alpha}_{\rho}} \frac{d\tilde{\alpha}}{d\tilde{t}}^{\rho} + \frac{\partial U_{2}}{\partial \tilde{t}} \right\} = \lambda \frac{\omega_{h}(\tilde{t})}{\omega_{ss}} + A \left\{ \tilde{\chi}_{u} + \frac{1}{\lambda} \sum_{u}^{(1)} \left( \tilde{\alpha}_{\rho}, \tilde{\chi}_{i}, \tilde{t} \right) + \dots, \tilde{t} \right\}$$
We want to show now that the partial derivatives
$$\frac{\partial \xi_{u}^{(1)}}{\partial \tilde{t}} = \frac{\partial U_{1}}{\partial \tilde{t}} = 0$$
and
$$\frac{\partial U_{1}}{\partial \tilde{t}} = 0$$
are of
order
$$\frac{1}{\lambda}$$
relative to their preceding term. By Equations (26) and (27),
 $\xi_{u}^{(1)}$ 
and
 $U_{1}$ 
are the first "vibrations" of the solution vectors
 $\chi_{u}$ 
and

 $\xi_{L}^{(l)}$  and  $U_{l}$  are the first "vibrations" of the solution vectors  $\times_{L}$  and  $\alpha_{p}$ , respectively. Their gradients relative to  $\alpha_{p}$  are certainly of the same order of magnitude or greater than their gradients with respect

to the slowly changing time  $\tilde{t}$ . Furthermore, because  $\frac{d\tilde{\alpha}\rho}{dt} = O(\lambda)$ , we obtain the desired result:

$$\lambda \frac{\partial \xi_{\mu}^{(l)}}{\partial t} \approx \frac{\partial \xi_{\mu}^{(l)}}{\partial \tilde{\alpha}_{p}} \frac{d \tilde{\alpha}_{p}}{d t}$$
(32)

$$\lambda \frac{\partial U_1}{\partial \bar{t}} \approx \frac{\partial U_1}{\partial \bar{\alpha}_p} \frac{d \tilde{\alpha}_p}{d \bar{t}}$$
(33)

Substitute Equations (28) and (29) into Equations (30) and (31) and compare equal powers of  $\lambda^0$  ,  $\lambda^{-1}$  :

$$X_{k}^{(0)}(\tilde{x}_{i},\bar{t}) + \frac{\partial \xi_{k}^{(0)}}{\partial \tilde{a}_{p}} \frac{\omega_{n}(\bar{t})}{\omega_{ss}} = X_{k}(\tilde{a}_{p},\tilde{x}_{i},\bar{t}) + \frac{\partial X_{k}}{\partial \bar{t}} d\bar{t}$$
(34)

$$\begin{split} \underline{X}_{k}^{(l)}(\widetilde{x}_{i},\overline{t}) + \frac{\partial \underline{\xi}_{k}^{(l)}}{\partial \overline{a}_{p}} \Omega_{0}(\widetilde{x}_{i},\overline{t}) + \frac{\partial \underline{\xi}_{k}^{(l)}}{\partial \overline{x}_{q}} \underline{X}_{q}^{(0)}(\widetilde{x}_{i},\overline{t}) + \frac{\partial \underline{\xi}_{k}^{(2)}}{\partial \overline{a}_{p}} \frac{\omega_{n}(\overline{t})}{\omega_{ss}} = \\ = \frac{\partial \underline{X}_{k}}{\partial \overline{a}_{p}} U_{1}(\widetilde{a}_{p},\widetilde{x}_{i},\overline{t}) + \frac{\partial \underline{X}_{k}}{\partial \overline{x}_{q}} \underline{\xi}_{q}^{(l)}(\widetilde{a}_{p},\widetilde{x}_{i},\overline{t}) \end{split}$$
(35)

$$\Omega_{L}(\tilde{x}_{i},\bar{t}) + \frac{\partial U_{L}}{\partial \tilde{\alpha}_{p}} \Omega_{0}(\tilde{x}_{i},\bar{t}) + \frac{\partial U_{L}}{\partial \tilde{x}_{q}} \tilde{X}_{4}^{(0)}(\tilde{x}_{i},\bar{t}) + \frac{\partial U_{L}}{\partial \tilde{\alpha}_{p}} \frac{\omega_{h}(\bar{t})}{\omega_{ss}} = \frac{\partial A}{\partial \tilde{x}_{q}} \overline{\xi}_{4}^{(1)}(\tilde{\alpha}_{p},\tilde{x}_{i},\bar{t})$$
(36)

$$\Omega_{0}(\tilde{x}_{i},\tilde{t}) + \frac{\partial U_{1}}{\partial \tilde{a}_{p}} \frac{\omega_{n}(\tilde{t})}{\omega_{m}} = A(\tilde{x}_{i},\tilde{t}) + \frac{\partial A}{\partial \tilde{t}} d\tilde{t}$$
<sup>(37)</sup>

These equations correspond to the Equations (25.4) of Ref. 21, but contain two more partial derivatives with respect to time (underlined terms). We want to show that these partials can be neglected and begin with the term of Equation (30). Compare  $X_{k}(\tilde{\alpha}_{p},\tilde{\chi}_{i},\tilde{t})$  with  $\frac{\partial X_{k}}{\partial \tilde{t}} d\tilde{t}$ . Because  $X_{k}$ changes slowly in  $\tilde{t}$ , we have

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{X}_{i}}{\partial \mathbf{t}} d\mathbf{t} \ll \mathbf{X}_{i} (\tilde{\alpha}_{p}, \tilde{\mathbf{X}}_{i}, \mathbf{t})$$
(38)

The same reasoning holds for Equation (33); i.e.,

$$\frac{\partial A}{\partial \overline{t}} \ll A(\overline{x};,\overline{t})$$
<sup>(39)</sup>

Therefore, partial derivatives with respect to time do not occur in terms with powers of  $\lambda^0$  and  $\lambda^{-1}$ . Rather they appear in terms with  $\lambda^{-2}$  and higher order. But, because the averaging method is based on the first two powers only, we can carry over the results from Bogoliubov and Mitropolsky directly. The only difference lies in the implicit timedependence of some of the terms in the Equations (34) through (37). This does not pose any problem, because there are no further operations on the time  $\overline{\mathbf{t}}$  as the solution of the averaging method is developed. The time  $\overline{\mathbf{t}}$ is just another parameter.

From Equations (25.16), (25.17), and (25.18) of Ref. 21, we obtain the result that the transformation

$$\kappa_{\mu} = \widetilde{\chi}_{\mu} + \frac{1}{\lambda} \sum_{h=1}^{\infty} \frac{\omega_{ss}}{n \omega_{\mu}(\tilde{\tau})} \left\{ -G_{\mu,\mu}(\widetilde{\chi}_{i},\tilde{t}) \cosh \widetilde{\alpha}_{p} + F_{\mu,n}(\widetilde{\chi}_{i},\tilde{t}) \sinh \widetilde{\alpha}_{p} \right\} + O\left\{ \frac{1}{\lambda^{2}} \right\} (40)$$

$$cip = dp + 0 \left( \frac{1}{\lambda^2} \right)$$

generates the averaged equations

(41)

$$\frac{d\tilde{X}_{k}}{d\bar{t}} = X_{k,0}(\tilde{X}_{i,\bar{t}}) - \frac{1}{\lambda} \sum_{n,q}^{\infty} \frac{\omega_{ss}}{2n\omega_{n}(\bar{t})} \left\{ \frac{\partial F_{k,n}}{\partial \tilde{X}_{q}} G_{q,n} - \frac{\partial G_{k,m}}{\partial \tilde{X}_{q}} F_{q,n} \right\} + O\left(\frac{1}{\lambda^{2}}\right) (42)$$

$$\frac{dd}{d\bar{t}} = \lambda \frac{\omega_n(\bar{t})}{\omega_{ss}} + A_0(\tilde{x}_{\kappa_j}\bar{t}) + O\left(\frac{1}{\lambda^2}\right)$$
(43)

where the following Fourier expansion was used:

$$\bar{X}_{k}(\vec{a}_{p},\vec{x}_{i},\vec{t}) = \bar{X}_{k,0}(\vec{x}_{i},\vec{t}) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \{\bar{F}_{k,n}(\vec{x}_{i},\vec{t}) \cos n\vec{a}_{p} + G_{k,n}(\vec{x}_{i},\vec{t}) \sin n\vec{a}_{p} \}$$
(44)

Again, as in the previous section, we will be satisfied by the zeroth order approximation of the lateral perturbation equations

$$\frac{d\tilde{x}_{\mu}}{d\bar{t}} = \tilde{X}_{\mu,0} \left( \tilde{\chi}_{i}, \bar{t} \right)$$
(45)

The error incurred is given by Equation (40).

## 12.4 AVERAGED EQUATIONS OF MOTION

We have arrived at the major set of equations describing the flight dynamics of MR's in the planar glide phase. They are given by Equations (23) and (45) and have the same form as the equations of Table 12.1, except for a tilde over the variables to indicate the averaging process. In the sequel, we only shall deal with these averaged equations and drop the tilde for simplicity. Equations (1) through (8) of Table 11.1 represent then the equations of motion, averaged over  $\mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{k}}$  and  $\mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{p}}$ , respectively, and, thus, the aerodynamic coefficients and derivatives are only functions of the Mach and Reynolds numbers. We summarize the major assumptions for these equations:

1. The MR is mirror symmetrical with respect to its external geometry and its mass distribution.

2.  $\delta_n \ll d_n$ 

3.  $\beta$ ,  $\phi$ ,  $4\phi$  are small angles, i.e. less than 20°.

4. The aerodynamic forces depend on the linear and angular velocities only and not on the accelerations.

5. The density ratio between the MR and the surrounding medium is large; i.e.,  $\mu \geq O(|0^2)$  which results in a spin rate high enough to justify the averaging process.

6. The flight speed and the spin rate do not drop below ten percent of their steady-state values; i.e.,

 $\overline{V}_n \ge 0.1 \, \overline{V}_{ss} = 0.1$ 

$$\overline{\omega}_{R} \geq 0.1 \,\overline{\omega}_{ss}$$

The value of "ten percent" is somewhat arbitrary. It should emphasize that neither the flight velocity nor the spin rate should become too small to invalidate the averaging process. The reference values  $\widetilde{V}_{55}$  and  $\widetilde{\omega}_{55}$  are chosen because they are simple characteristic constants of a particular MR.

The averaged equations of motion of the planar glide phase are considered to be the most important set of equations for the flight dynamics of Magnus rotors because they cover most of the motions of interest. They describe the dynamics of an MR released from a launcher and the motions of a randomly released MR after some initial transient motions. This assumes that the MR was properly designed so that it is actually able to achieve a steady-state glide phase. If this is not the case, the MR may slip into

one of the undesirable flight phases like "end-on flight," "end-over rotation" or "top mode." Our equations would not be applicable to these flight regimes. The averaged equations of motion are also capable of describing the influence of nonlinear aerodynamic forces that might occur at small sideslip angles  $\beta$  and give the effect of the accelerated center of mass on the lateral perturbation equations. But it should be emphasized that, by Assumption 5, the dynamics of very light MR's in air or common MR's in water may not be well presented by the averaged equations.

The longitudinal perturbation equations will not be investigated further, because they only add some small corrections to the flight speed, spin rate, and glide angle of the reference flight.

There are two important extensions of the equations of motion, Table 12.1, that should be mentioned. First, we can supplement the homogeneous lateral perturbation equations by inhomogeneous terms, representing an external side force and an external torque about the roll and yaw axes. We shall omit the details. The other extension allows for a slow turning of the spin axis in a horizontal plane. This turning or spiraling is observed very often in free flight, whenever the flight models were not balanced carefully enough before test. It is caused by a slight mass asymmetry resulting in a small shift of the center of gravity along the spin axis. Let this displacement between the geometrical center and the gravitational center be "a", and make it positive for a shift along the positive spin axis. Suppose that the MR is in a steady-state glide phase. The time rate of change of angular momentum then balances the gravitarional torque:

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(\mathbf{E})} \mathbf{L}_{\mathbf{D}}^{(\mathbf{G})(\mathbf{E})}\right] = \left[\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{q}}\right] = \operatorname{am}\left[\mathbf{q}\right] \tag{46}$$

To introduce the proper coordinate systems, consider the vertical plane normal to the steady-state angular momentum vector. This is the plane we refer to when we speak about the equations of the reference flight, Table 12.1, of the planar glide phase. It was taken to be fixed in the earth frame (E) and therefore also fixed relative to an inertial frame (I). Now, we still require that this plane is normal to the steady-state angular momentum vector but lift the restriction that it is fixed relative to an earth frame. Call this plane the guiding plane, and let  $\int_{1}^{P}$  be the associated coordinate system with the  $\times_{1}^{P}$ -axis horizontal and in the direction of flight and the  $\times_{3}^{P}$ -axis in the direction of the gravitational vector. Express Equation (46) in this coordinate system, and note that, for small center-of-gravity displacements, the angular momentum vector does not change relative to the guiding plane. We obtain:

$$\left[\Omega^{(P)(E)}\right]^{P}\left[\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{G}}^{(G)(E)}\right]^{P} = \operatorname{am}\left[g\right]^{P} \qquad (47)$$

which reduces to

$$-\frac{d\Psi}{dt}I_{y}\omega_{ss} = amg \qquad (48)$$

where  $\frac{dA}{dt}$  is the angular velocity of the guiding plane about a vertical axis:

$$\frac{dM_{\rm H}}{dt} = -\frac{\partial mq}{I_{\rm U}\omega_{\rm SS}} \tag{49}$$

So far we have assumed that the MR is in a quasi-steady-state glide phase; i.e., the absolute value of the angular momentum vector is constant while

the vector turns in a horizontal plane. We can extend this to other flight regimes, such as perturbations in quasi-steady-state glide phase and transient glide phase, as long as the time rate of change of the angular momentum vector with respect to the guiding plane is small relative to  $\|[\Omega^{(P)(E)}]^{P}[\Lambda_{G}^{(O)(E)}]^{P}\|$ . Under this condition, we solve the equations of motion, Table 12.1, with reference to the guiding plane and then perform a coordinate transformation  $[T]^{PE}$  to obtain the solution relative to the earth frame. The transformation angle is given by Equation (49). In short, the case of the turning of an MR due to slight mass asymmetry is reduced to a coordinate transformation.

#### 13. STABILITY ANALYSIS

Suppose we are interested in evaluating the performance of a given MR. It would suffice to analyze the equations of the reference flight only. But for the results to be a good approximation of the actual behavior, the particular MR must be stable with respect to the reference flight. Otherwise, any perturbations would cause the MR to deviate too far from the reference flight. A stability analysis, therefore, has to proceed a performance evaluation. Other problem areas that are solved with the methods of a stability analysis are the identification of the important design parameters, the improvement of a particular MR design, and the response of an MR to disturbances.

The stability analysis is based on the lateral perturbation Equations (12.4) through (12.8) of Table 12.1. They are a fifth-order system of nonlinear nonautonomous ordinary differential equations. We shall first show that, under certain assumptions, a transformation reduces them to a fourth-order system. Then we shall discuss the asymptotic stability of the first approximation in general terms, using a theorem by Malkin (22). The simplest but also most important case is the stability in the planar steady-state glide phase with linear behavior of the aerodynamic forces. The associated equations are linear and autonomous. They were already investigated by Millivolte (6). Here, we shall only summarize the results and give some simplified expressions for the roots of the characteristic equation. To treat certain aspects of the nonlinear nonautonomous case, the equations are reduced first to the two degrees of freedom: rolling and yawing. Then, the yaw and roll angle are combined to form the nutation

cone angle, resulting, via the method of averaging, in a first-order nonlinear and nonautonomous differential equation. Its stability is discussed in detail, and necessary and sufficient conditions for limit cycles are given.

## 13.1 REDUCTION TO A FOURTH ORDER SYSTEM

To simplify the notation, we shall abbreviate the equations of the planar glide phase; i.e., the reference equations of Table 12.1, by

$$\dot{\mathbf{y}}_{\mathbf{k}} = f_{\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{y}_{i})$$
;  $\mathbf{k} = 1, 2, 3$ ;  $i = 1, 2, 3$  (1)

with the state vector  $y_1 = \overline{V}_n$ ,  $y_2 = \overline{V}_n$ ,  $y_3 = \overline{\omega}_n$ . The lateral perturbation equations, Table 12.1, are abridged by

$$\dot{x}_{\ell} = Q_{\ell_m}(\bar{t}) X_m + Q_{\ell}(X_n, \bar{t}) ; l, m, n = 1, \dots, 5$$
 (2)

with the state vector  $X_1 = \beta$ ,  $X_2 = \dot{\phi}$ ,  $X_3 = A\dot{\mu}$ ,  $X_4 = \phi$ ,  $X_5 = A\dot{\mu}$ We shall also refer to Equation (2) in a special matrix form:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \beta \\ \beta \\ \alpha^{\circ} \\ \alpha^{\circ} \\ \beta^{\circ} \\ \alpha^{\circ} \\ \alpha^{\circ} \\ \beta^{\circ} \\ \alpha^{\circ} \\ \alpha^$$

The elements are found by comparison with the lateral perturbation equations of Table 12.1.

A salient feature of Equation (3) is that it admits a one parametric family of stationary solutions; i.e., the state vector

$$(\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{L}})_{\mathbf{s}} = \{0, 0, 0, -\lambda \tan \mathbf{y}_{n}, \lambda\}$$
<sup>(4)</sup>

satisfies the Equation (3) for any value of  $\lambda$  . The physical explanation follows from Figure 13.1. It shows the roll and yaw angles of the



# FIGURE 13.1 ROLL AND YAW ANGLES PROJECTED

spin axis projected on a horizontal plane and the glide angle plotted in negative direction. If the spin axis is horizontal, the ratio of roll to yaw angle is

$$\frac{P_s}{H_a} = -\tan \delta_n \tag{5}$$

This is the same ratio we obtain from the last two components,  $\phi_s$  and  $\mu_s$  of Equation (4). Therefore, the stationary solutions imply a horizontal spin axis. In particular, it means that, once the perturbations have

dampened out and the MR has achieved its steady-state flight, its spin axis will be horizontal though it may be heading in another direction. The MR has no heading stability. Such a behavior indicates that one eigenvalue of the  $\alpha_{lm}$  matrix is zero. This can easily be checked by actually evaluating the characteristic equation.

Under certain simplifying assumptions, this zero root can be removed by a transformation resulting in a fourth order system of differential equations. The details follow. Introduce the new roll angle  $\Phi$  about a horizontal axis:

$$\Phi = \frac{r_q}{V_{ss}} \frac{1}{\bar{V}_n} \left\{ \phi \cos \tilde{V}_n + A \mu \sin \tilde{V}_n \right\}$$
(6)

and take the time derivative with respect to the dynamic-normalized time

$$\begin{split} \hat{\Phi} &= \frac{\tau_{g}}{V_{ss}} \left\{ -\frac{\overline{V}_{n}}{\overline{V}_{n}^{2}} \left( \phi \cos Y_{n} + A \phi \sin Y_{n} \right) + \frac{1}{\overline{V}_{n}} \left( \dot{\phi} \cos Y_{n} + A \dot{\phi} \sin Y_{n} \right) + \frac{\dot{Y}_{n}}{\dot{Y}_{n}} \left( -\phi \sin Y_{n} + A \phi \cos Y_{n} \right) \end{split}$$
(7)

The last term is much smaller than the preceding term because  $\Phi, M$  are small angles and the glide angle  $V_n$  changes much slower than the roll and yaw angles executing nutational motions. Without this term and in view of Equation (6), we get

$$\hat{\Phi} = -\frac{\bar{V}_{n}}{\bar{V}_{n}} \Phi + \frac{r_{q} \cos \delta_{n}}{V_{ss} \bar{V}_{n}} + \frac{r_{q} \sin v_{n}}{V_{ss} \bar{V}_{n}} \mu \qquad (8)$$

Substitute Equations (6) and (8) into Equation (3):

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathring{\beta} \\ \mathring{\varphi} \\ \mathring{\varphi} \\ \mathring{\varphi} \\ \mathring{\varphi} \\ \mathring{\varphi} \\ \mathring{\varphi} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \alpha_{1} & 0 & -1 & 1 \\ a_{21} & a_{22} & a_{13} & 0 \\ a_{31} & -a_{23} & a_{33} & 0 \\ 0 & a_{24} & a_{15} - \frac{\nabla_{n}}{\nabla_{n}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \beta \\ \mathring{\varphi} \\ \mathring{\varphi} \\ \mathring{\varphi} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} q_{1} (\beta, \mathring{\varphi}, \mathring{\psi}, \mathring{\psi}, \overline{t}) \\ q_{1} (\beta, \mathring{\varphi}, \mathring{\psi}, \overline{t}) \\ q_{3} (\beta, \mathring{\varphi}, \mathring{\psi}, \overline{t}) \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(9)

and abbreviate

$$\dot{z}_{q} = b_{qs}(\bar{t}) \dot{z}_{s} + g_{q}(z_{1}, \dot{z}_{1}, \dot{z}_{3}, \dot{t}) ; q, s = 1, ..., 4$$
 (10)

The order of the system of differential equations has been reduced by one and the dependence on  $A_{h}$  and  $\varphi$  replaced by  $\Phi$ . In other words, the dependence on the heading of the MR has been eliminated. A check of the eigenvalues of  $b_{qs}$  will show that the zero root has also been removed. The remaining eigenvalues of  $b_{qs}$  are identical with the non-zero eigenvalues of  $b_{qs}$  because the transformation of variables is linear.

We succeeded in removing the zero root through a simple transformation. This root was independent of the shape or mass of the particular MR under consideration and was present in the transient and steady-state glide phases. It also could happen that one of the other eigenvalues assumes a zero real value. But this is only possible for a very special combination of shape and mass distribution and therefore unlikely to occur. We shall not deal with this case any further.

We now ask whether asymptotic stability of the first approximation of Equation (9) implies asymptotic stability of the nonlinear system? A theorem by Malkin (22) p. 322 provides the conditions under which the answer is affirmative:

If the equations of the first approximation are regular and if all its characteristic numbers are positive, then the unperturbed motions of Equation (10) are asymptotically stable, provided the functions  $\{j_1(t_1, t_2, t_3, t)\}$ satisfy in  $|t_1| \leq H$  = constant,  $t \geq 0$  the inequality:

$$|g_{q}(z_{1},z_{3},\overline{z})| < A(|z_{1}|+|z_{2}|+|z_{3}|+|z_{4}|)^{m}$$
(11)
$$A>0, m>1$$

We shall show that Equation (9) satisfies these conditions. A necessary and sufficient condition for the first approximation to be regular is, according to Malkin (22) p. 294 that

$$\lim_{\overline{t}\to\infty} \frac{1}{\overline{t}} \int_{0}^{\overline{t}} b_{ss} d\overline{t} = \text{CONSTANT} < \infty ; s = 1, 2, 3, 4 \quad (12)$$

Consider the elements of the trace of  $b_{34}(\bar{t})$ . They approach either a constant or zero value as time increases. Therefore, Equation (12) is satisfied. The characteristic number of a function  $f(\bar{t})$  is defined (Malkin (22) p. 283) by

$$\pi(f) = -\lim_{\overline{t} \to \infty} \sup \frac{\ln |f(\overline{t})|}{\overline{t}}$$
(13)

To find the characteristic numbers of the first approximation,

$$\hat{z} = b_{qs}(\bar{t}) z_s \tag{14}$$

separate the matrix  $b_{qs}$  into a constant part  $C_{qs}$  and a variable part  $d_{qs}(\bar{t})$ . The elements of  $d_{qs}(\bar{t})$  be chosen such that:

$$\lim_{\bar{t}\to\infty} d_{qs}(\bar{t}) = 0 ; q, s = 1, \cdots, 4$$
 (15)

This is always possible because the solutions of the reference Equations (12.1) through (12.3) of Table 12.1 tend to constant values as time increases.  $C_{q_s}$  is just the matrix of the autonomous case; i.e., the matrix of the first approximation of the lateral perturbation equations in steady-state glide phase:

$$\dot{z}_q = c_{qs} \dot{z}_s$$
 (16)

A theorem by Malkin (22) p. 305 states that, if Equation (15) is satisfied, the characteristic numbers of Equation (14) are equal to the characteristic numbers of Equation (16). But the characteristic numbers of an autonomous linear system, Equation (16), are the negative values of the real parts of the eigenvalues of the matrix  $C_{13}$ . Therefore, if Equation (16) is asymptotically stable, all its characteristic numbers are positive, and, consequently, all characteristic numbers of the first approximation, Equation (14), are positive. The conditions, Equation (11), are satisfied because the nonlinear aerodynamic functions  $Q_1$  are power series expansions of  $Z_1$ ,  $Z_2$ , and  $Z_3$  and because  $\overline{V}_R = 0$  is excluded. We conclude that asymptotic stability of the first approximation, Equation (14), implies asymptotic stability of the nonlinear Equation (10). Moreover, asymptotic stability of Equation (14) is simply established if the gutonemous Equation (16) is asymptotically stable.

#### 13.2 STABILITY OF THE FIRST APPROXIMATION

The important stability theorem has already been stated in the previous section; namely, that asymptotic stability of the autonomous linear perturba-

tion Equation (16) implies the asymptotic stability of the nonautonomous linear Equation (14). We can extend this to Equation (2); separate the  $\alpha_{i}(\tilde{t})$  matrix into unstant and time-dependent parts as at the end of the previous section:

$$\dot{X}_{L} = a_{\ell m}(\bar{t}) X_{m} = (h_{Lm} + p_{Lm}(\bar{t})) X_{m}$$
<sup>(17)</sup>

Again,  $P_{\ell_m}(\bar{4})$  tends to zero as time increases. But now, instead of asymptotic stability, only stability can be inferred. We conclude that, if the equilibrium of the autonomous perturbation equations

$$\dot{X}_{\ell} = h_{\ell m} X_{m}$$
(18)

is stable, the equilibrium of the nonautonomous Equation (17) is stable too.

We have shown that the issue of stability can be reduced to the simple problem of the stability of the linear autonomous perturbation equations. However, a word of caution is necessary. The perturbation equations are valid only so long as the angles  $\Phi$ ,  $A_{h}$ , A remain small throughout the flight. This can always be satisfied for sufficiently small initial conditions  $2_{0_1}$ . But for an engineering analysis the initial conditions cannot always be made ar' itrarily small. Then, we have to ask whether a particular solution of an asymptotically stable system, Equation (14), stays within the small angle limits, say  $\mathcal{E}$ , for all times  $\overline{\pm} > \overline{t}_0$  for

 $\|2_{q}(\bar{t}, 2_{0_{q}}, \bar{t}_{0})\| < \varepsilon \text{ for All } \bar{t}_{2}\bar{t}_{0}, \|2_{0_{q}}\| < \delta < \varepsilon$ <sup>(19)</sup>

The search for an answer leads to theorems that establish an upper bound on the solution vector. See Bellman (23) p. 44, Cesari (24) p. 48, and

Zubov (25) p. 78. However, all bounds include arbitrary constants that cannot be predetermined. The only way, therefore, to judge whether the Condition (19) is satisfied for a particular MR is to actually calculate the solutions for some representative initial conditions by computer.

In general, the eigenvalues of the matrix  $h_{\ell_m}$  or  $C_{q_s}$  are evaluated by computer. But for design purposes, we can use simplified formulas that have been shown to be accurate within  $\pm$  5% for common MR configurations. The simplification is based on the overriding effect of the gyroscopic coupling term  $Q_{23}$  (see Equation (3)). More specifically, it is assumed that

$$a_{23} \gg a_{21}$$
 and  $a_{33}$  (20)  
 $a_{23}^2 \gg a_{21}$  and  $a_{31}$  and  $a_{11}$ 

The result is that the pair of roots of the so-called <u>nutation mode</u> are approximated by:

$$\bar{s}_{N} = \bar{f}_{N} \pm i\bar{\eta}_{N} = \frac{1}{2a_{13}} \left\{ (a_{11} + a_{33}) a_{23} - a_{11} \right\} \pm i a_{23}$$
(21)

where

$$\bar{\xi}_{N} = \frac{\bar{V}_{ss}}{\ell_{\mu}^{2} \bar{I}_{y}} \left\{ \left( C_{\ell \beta} + C_{n \beta} \right) \frac{\bar{I}_{y}}{\bar{I}} - C_{\ell \hat{\omega}_{\beta}} \right\}$$
<sup>(22)</sup>

$$\bar{\eta}_{N} = \frac{\bar{I}_{N}}{\bar{I}} \bar{\omega}_{ss}$$
(23)

The other pair of roots of the undulation mode are:

$$\bar{S}_{U} = \bar{F}_{U} \pm \bar{\eta}_{U} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \alpha_{1} + \frac{\alpha_{21}}{\alpha_{13}} \right) \pm \sqrt{\frac{1}{4} \left( \alpha_{11} + \frac{\alpha_{21}}{\alpha_{23}} \right)^{2} + \frac{1}{\alpha_{23}} \left( \alpha_{31} \alpha_{14} - \alpha_{21} \alpha_{15} \right)}$$
(24)

where

$$\overline{\overline{F}}_{u} = \frac{V_{ss}}{2} \left( C_{yp} + \frac{1}{\mu^{2} \overline{I}_{y}} C_{l} \omega_{p} \right)$$
<sup>(25)</sup>

$$\bar{\eta}_{u} = \left\{ \bar{\xi}_{u}^{2} + \frac{\tau q}{\mu^{2} \bar{I}_{y} \bar{\omega}_{ss} \bar{V}_{ss}} \left( \mu \bar{V}_{ss} C_{u\beta} \cos \tilde{V}_{ss} - \bar{\omega}_{ss} C_{\ell \omega \beta} \sin \tilde{V}_{ss} \right) \right\}^{1/2} (26)$$

The dimensions of the roots are radians per dynamic-normalized unit time. This result can be verified by multiplying out the nutation and undulation roots. The approximate characteristic equation thus obtained agrees with the characteristic equation of the matrix  $h_{\ell m}$  subjected to the simplifications of Equation (20).

The nutation roots are always conjugate complex with a nutation frequency of

$$\dot{\delta} = \frac{\bar{I}}{\bar{I}} + \bar{\omega}_{55}$$
(27)

just as in the case of a classical gyroscope. Equation (22) determines the aerodynamic damping. The damping derivatives  $C_{1\rho}$  and  $C_{n\rho}$ , which are always negative, are opposed by a usual negative Magnus moment derivative  $C_{1\omega\rho}$ . The higher the moment-of-inertia ratio  $\bar{J}_{\nu}/\bar{I}$ , the higher the nutation rate and the more effective the aerodynamic damping. The undulation roots can be conjugate complex or both real. Their rate of change of amplitude is generally two orders of magnitude less than that of the nutation mode. In gyroscopic terms, the undulation mode of an MR is the unsteady precession caused by aerodynamic torques. It would not be present in a vacuum. In the oscillatory case, a necessary and sufficient condition for asymptotic stability of the undulation mode is:

11-

$$C_{y\beta} + \frac{1}{\mu^2 \, \tilde{k}_y} \, C_{\ell \hat{k}_\beta} < 0 \qquad (28)$$

and, because  $C_{A}$  is negative for most practical MR's:

$$C_{y\beta} < -\frac{1}{\mu^2 \bar{I}_y} C_{\ell \hat{\omega} \beta}$$
<sup>(29)</sup>

This is always satisfied for a negative Magnus moment  $C_{k\omega_{\beta}}$ . If the undulation mode is purely exponential, Equation (28) is only a necessary condition. Without giving the details, we remark that the sufficient condition can be derived from Equation (24) Thus, we have seen that the important aerodynamic derivatives are  $C_{k\omega_{\beta}}$ , and the sum  $C_{k\beta} + C_{k\alpha}$  and the important mass parameter is  $\bar{\mathbf{I}}_{\mathbf{u}} / \bar{\mathbf{I}}$ .

The effect of the acceleration of the center of mass on the lateral perturbation equations is limited to the matrix element

$$\alpha_{\rm p} = -\frac{\bar{V}_{\rm r}}{\bar{V}_{\rm r}} + C_{\rm ys} \bar{V}_{\rm r} \tag{30}$$

In steady-state it is desirable to have a highly negative  $G_{\mu}$ , as can be seen from Equation (28). This can be generalized to the transient case by saying that the more negative  $\Omega_{\mu}$  is, the smaller the deviation of the solution vector from the unperturbed flight for a given set of initial conditions. Therefore, we conclude from Equation (30) that the effect of a decelerated center of mass is destabilizing whereas acceleration tends to stabilize the perturbations. Some sample solutions in support of this statement will be given in Chapter 14.

We have indicated that the undulation mode is much slower than the nutation mode. Consequently, one can identify them as two separate motion

histories and would like to investigate them separately. If the nutational motions are of main interest, one can assume that the center of mass remains in the plane defined by the planar glide phase. This implies that  $\beta = -A_{\rm h}$  and therefore reduces the perturbation equations to two degrees of freedom, namely, rolling and yawing. We obtain from Equation (3):

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{\phi} \\ \hat{\mu} \\ \hat{\mu} \\ \hat{\mu} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} a_{22} & a_{23} & -a_{21} \\ -a_{23} & a_{33} & -a_{31} \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\phi} \\ \hat{\mu} \\ \hat{\mu} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} -g_{21} & \mu^3 + g_{22} & \mu^3 + g_{13} & \mu^2 & \hat{\phi} - g_{24} & \mu & \hat{\phi}^2 \\ -g_{31} & \mu^3 + g_{32} & \mu^3 + g_{33} & \mu^2 & \mu^3 - g_{34} & \mu & \mu^2 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(31)

or abbreviated:

$$\tilde{J}_{n} = u_{nt}(\bar{t})\tilde{J}_{t} + w_{n}(\tilde{J}_{1}, \tilde{J}_{2}, \tilde{J}_{3}, \bar{t}); n, t = 1, 2, 3$$
 (32)

The eigenvalues of the matrix  $u_{nt}$  are with the assumptions, Equation (20):

$$\overline{S}_{N} = \overline{S}_{N} \pm i\overline{\eta}_{N} = \frac{1}{2a_{23}} \left\{ (a_{22} + a_{33}) a_{23} - a_{21} \right\} \pm ia_{23}$$
(33)

$$\overline{\xi}_{4} = \frac{1}{\alpha_{23}^{2}} \left( \alpha_{22} \alpha_{31} + \alpha_{23} \alpha_{21} \right)$$
(34)

We again recognize in Equation (33) the roots of the nutation mode, Equation (21). The undulation mode is represented by only one real root, Equation (34). In steady-state glide phase it has the form:

$$\overline{\overline{F}}_{u} = \frac{\overline{V}_{ss}}{\mu^{2}\overline{I}_{y}^{2}} \left\{ \frac{V_{ss}^{2}}{\mu \overline{\omega}_{ss}^{2}} C_{ep} C_{up} + \overline{I}_{y} C_{e\omega_{p}} \right\}$$
(35)

which has no common features either with Equation (25) or Equation (26). But then we do not attempt to analyze the undulation mode with Equation (31).

## 13.3 NUTATION LIMIT CYCLES

In the previous section we showed that the stability of the perturbation equations can be determined from the linear autonomous perturbation equations. But this requires initial conditions small enough, so that the state vector remains sufficiently small. In an engineering analysis, the investigation is focused not only on the question of stability, but also on the motions of MR's, resulting from realistic initial conditions. For a majority of MR's, the first approximation is still satisfactory. However, wind tunnel tests show that for certain configurations, the rolling and yawing moment coefficients are not approximated satisfactorily by the linear derivatives only. Even for small angles  $\beta$ , higher order derivatives must be considered. This can lead, as observed in flight tests, to limit cycles of the nutational motions; i.e., a coning motion about a horizontal axis with constaut cone angle.

For the first part of this section, we shall concentrate on the most important aerodynamic nonlinearities, namely,  $g_{21}$  and  $g_{31}$  (see Equation (31)). This case is also more easily treated than if other nonlinearities are included. Afterwards the effect of the nonlinear damping derivatives,  $g_{22}$  and  $g_{32}$ , will be discussed. The complete set of nonlinearities will not be studied because little is known about the values of the mixed derivatives  $g_{23}$ ,  $g_{14}$ ,  $g_{33}$ , and  $g_{34}$ .

We can begin our analysis of limit cycles with the two-degrees-offreedom Equation (31) because this phenomenon is basically a nutational motion. First, we perform a transformation of variables from the flight mechanical angles  $\phi$  and  $A_{1}$  to the gyro mechanical cone angle  $\eta$  and

გ

node angle  $\diamond$  . This is accomplished by substituting Equations (7.19) through (7.24) in Equation (31). The relevant angle for the nutational motions is the cone angle  $\eta$ , whereas we shall not be particularly interested in the value of the node angle  $\diamond$  . From the observed exponential damping of the nutation mode we also expect that a firstorder differential equation in  $\eta$  is a reasonably good approximation. Guided by these physical considerations, we eliminate  $\eta$  from the two equations just obtained by multiplying the first equation by sin  $\diamond$  and the second equation by  $\cos \diamond$  and adding both equations. Arranging terms in form of a differential equation in  $\eta$  yields:

$$\eta \left\{ -2 \delta + a_{23} + (a_{33} - a_{22}) \cos \delta \sin \delta \right\} +$$

$$+ \eta \left\{ -\delta + (a_{22} \sin^2 \delta + a_{33} \cos^2 \delta) \delta - a_{21} \sin^2 \delta - a_{31} \sin \delta \cos \delta \right\}$$

$$+ \eta^3 \left\{ -g_{21} \sin \delta - g_{21} \cos \delta \right\} \sin^3 \delta = 0$$

$$(36)$$

This equation cannot be solved as it stands. It would have to be supplemented by an equation in **&**. However, in the following we shall show that, if we can approximate **&** and **&** by some known quantities, and if we consider **&** as a rapidly rotating phase, the averaging method of Bogoliubov and Mitropolsky can again be applied and Equation (36) reduced to a solvable first-order differential equation.

From the linear theory, we have for the nutation frequency, in view of Equation (21):

$$\approx a_{23}$$
 (37)

Because this does not depend on the aerodynamic derivatives, we can assume that the nonlinear aerodynamic effect is also small and that

Equation (37) holds also for Equation (36). In steady-state glide phase, 3 = 0. In the transient glide phase, 3 changes like the slowlychanging  $Q_{23}$ . Therefore, we can assume that:

$$\| \mathring{\delta} \| \ll \| (u_{11} + u_{33}) \mathring{\delta} \| \tag{38}$$

Furthermore, it is easily justifiable to drop the last term in the first line of Equation (36) because

$$\|(a_{33} - a_{22})\cos 3\sin 3\| = \|(a_{33} - a_{22})\frac{1}{2}\sin 22\| \ll \|-23 + a_{23}\| \approx \|a_{23}\| \|a_{$$

With those simplifications, Equation (36) reduces to

$$\eta = (a_{22} \sin^2 b + a_{33} \cos^2 b - \frac{a_{21}}{a_{23}} \sin^2 b - \frac{a_{31}}{a_{23}} \sin b \cos b) \eta$$

$$- (\frac{g_{21}}{a_{23}} \sin^4 b + \frac{g_{21}}{a_{23}} \sin^3 b \cos b) \eta^3$$
(40)

This equation is similar to Equation (12.24) with the rapidly rotating phase  $\delta$ . We abbreviate:

$$\frac{d\eta}{dt} = N(3,\eta,t)$$
<sup>(41)</sup>

and express the rate of change of the phase by

$$\frac{d\mathcal{E}}{dt} = \alpha_{23} = \lambda' \frac{\omega_n(t)}{\omega_{ss}}$$
(42)

where, in view of Equation (12.9), the large parameter becomes:

$$\lambda' = \frac{\bar{\mathbf{I}}}{\bar{\mathbf{I}}} \mu \hat{\omega}_{ss} = \frac{\bar{\mathbf{I}}}{\bar{\mathbf{I}}} \lambda \tag{43}$$

The time-dependence of Equation (41) is due to the  $\alpha_{lm}$ ,  $q_{21}$ , and  $q_{31}$  in Equation (40). As in Section 12.3, this is a "slow" time-dependence, and, therefore, the results obtained there can be carried over directly.

Corresponding to Equations (12.40) and (12.41), we introduce the transformations

$$\eta = \tilde{\eta} + \frac{1}{\lambda'} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\omega_{s_{1}}}{n\omega_{a}(\tilde{t})} \left\{ -G_{n}(\tilde{\eta},\tilde{t}) \cos \tilde{d} + F_{n}(\tilde{\eta},\tilde{t}) \sin n \tilde{d} \right\} + O\left(\chi^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)^{(44)}$$

$$\delta = \widetilde{\delta} + O\left(\frac{1}{\lambda^2}\right) \tag{45}$$

which generate the averaged equations (see Equations (12.42) and (12.43)):

$$\frac{d\tilde{\eta}}{d\bar{t}} = N_0(\tilde{\eta},\bar{t}) - \frac{1}{\lambda'} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\omega_{ss}}{2n \, \omega_n(\bar{t})} \left\{ \frac{\partial F_n}{\partial \tilde{\eta}} G_n - \frac{\partial G_n}{\partial \tilde{\eta}} F_n \right\} + O\left(\frac{1}{\lambda'^2}\right) \quad (46)$$

$$\frac{d\tilde{\delta}}{d\bar{t}} = \lambda' \frac{\omega_n(\bar{t})}{\omega_{ss}} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\lambda^2}\right)$$
(47)

when the following Fourier expansion was used:

$$N(\tilde{\mathfrak{D}},\tilde{\eta},\tilde{t}) = N_{\mathfrak{o}}(\tilde{\eta},\tilde{t}) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left\{ F_{n}(\tilde{\eta},\tilde{t}) \cos n\tilde{\mathfrak{D}} + G_{n}(\tilde{\eta},\tilde{t}) \sin n\tilde{\mathfrak{D}} \right\}$$
(48)

To determine the Fourier coefficients, convert the powers of the trigonometric functions in Equation (40) into multiples of the phase angle  $\diamond$ , and compare coefficients of the same harmonics with Equation (48). The result is:

$$N_{0} = \frac{1}{2a_{22}} \left\{ (a_{22} + a_{33}) a_{23} - a_{21} \right\} \tilde{\eta} - \frac{3}{8} \frac{\partial_{21}}{\partial_{23}} \tilde{\eta}^{3}$$
(49)

$$F_{2} = \frac{1}{2a_{13}} \left\{ \left( -a_{22} + a_{33} \right) a_{23} + a_{21} \right\} \tilde{\eta} + \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{a_{21}}{a_{23}} \tilde{\eta}^{3} \right\}$$
(50)

$$G_{2} = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{q_{31}}{a_{23}} \tilde{\gamma} - \frac{1}{4} \frac{q_{31}}{a_{23}} \tilde{\gamma}^{3}$$
(51)

$$F_4 = -\frac{1}{8} \frac{g_{21}}{a_{23}} \tilde{\gamma}^3$$
 (52)

$$G_4 = \frac{1}{B} \frac{23}{a_{13}} \tilde{\eta}^3 \tag{53}$$

Substitute Equations (49) through (53) into Equations (44) and (46):

$$\eta = \tilde{\eta} + \frac{1}{4a_{23}^{2}} \left\{ (a_{31}\tilde{\eta} + \frac{9^{31}}{2}\tilde{\eta}^{3}) (0s2\tilde{s} + \left[ ([-a_{32} + a_{33})a_{23} + a_{21})\tilde{\eta} + g_{21}\tilde{\eta}^{3} \right] sin2\tilde{s} \right\}$$

$$-\frac{1}{32a_{23}^{2}} \left\{ g_{31}\tilde{\eta}^{3} (0s4\tilde{s} + g_{21}\tilde{\eta}^{3} sin4\tilde{s} \right\} + O\left(\frac{1}{\lambda^{12}}\right)$$
(54)

$$\frac{d\tilde{\eta}}{d\tilde{t}} = \frac{1}{2a_{23}} \left\{ \left[ (a_{11} + a_{33})a_{23} - a_{21} \right] \tilde{\eta} - \frac{3}{4} g_{21} \tilde{\eta}^{2} \right\} - \frac{1}{16 a_{23}^{3}} \left\{ \left[ (-a_{12} + a_{33})a_{23} + a_{21} \right] g_{31} - 2a_{31} g_{21} \right] \tilde{\eta}^{3} + O\left(\frac{1}{\lambda^{12}}\right) \right\}$$
(55)

Writing out the individual terms yields the final equations:

$$\eta = \tilde{\eta} + \frac{1}{4} \left( \frac{\tilde{I}}{\tilde{I}_{y}} \right)^{2} \frac{1}{\tilde{\omega}_{n}^{2}} \left\{ \left[ C_{n\beta} \tilde{\eta} + \frac{1}{12} C_{n\beta^{3}} \tilde{\eta}^{3} \right] \frac{\tilde{V}_{n}^{2}}{\mu^{\tilde{I}}} \cos 2\tilde{\omega} + \left[ \left( \left( -C_{\ell\beta} + C_{n\beta} \right)^{\tilde{I}_{y}} + C_{\ell\omega\beta} \right) \tilde{\eta} + \frac{1}{6} C_{\ell\omega\beta^{3}} \tilde{\eta}^{3} \right] \frac{\tilde{V}_{n} \tilde{\omega}_{n}}{\mu^{2} \tilde{I}} \sin 2\tilde{\omega} \right] - (56)$$
$$- \frac{1}{192} \left( \frac{\tilde{I}}{\tilde{I}_{y}} \right)^{2} \frac{\tilde{V}_{n}}{\mu^{\tilde{I}}} \tilde{\omega}_{n}^{2} \left\{ \tilde{V}_{n} C_{n\beta^{3}} \tilde{\eta}^{3} \cos 4\tilde{\omega} + \frac{\tilde{\omega}_{n}}{\mu} C_{\ell\omega\beta^{3}} \tilde{\eta}^{3} \sin 4\tilde{\omega} \right\} + O\left\{ \frac{1}{\chi^{2}} \right\}$$

$$\tilde{\tilde{\eta}} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\bar{V}_{n}}{\mu^{2} \bar{I}_{y}} \left\{ \left[ (C_{\ell_{p}} + C_{n_{\hat{n}}}) \frac{\bar{I}_{y}}{\bar{I}} - C_{\ell_{w_{p}}} \right] \tilde{\eta} - \frac{1}{8} C_{\ell_{w_{p}}} \tilde{\eta}^{3} \right\} - \frac{1}{96} \frac{\bar{V}_{n}^{3} \bar{I}}{\mu^{3} \bar{I}_{y}^{3} \bar{\omega}_{n}^{2}} \left\{ \left[ -C_{\ell_{p}} + C_{n_{\hat{n}}} \right] \frac{\bar{I}_{y}}{\bar{I}} + C_{\ell_{w_{p}}} \right] C_{n_{p}3} - 2C_{n_{p}} C_{\ell_{w_{p}3}} \frac{1}{\tilde{\eta}} + O\left(\frac{1}{\tilde{\chi}^{2}}\right) \right\}$$
(57)

The equations above were arranged in the following way: in Equation (56), the terms between the first pair of braces are the second harmonics, and the expressions between the second pair of braces are the fourth harmonics of the first-order corrections of 1. The averaged equation of motion of the cone angle, Equation (57), displays the zeroth order approximation within the first braces and the first-order correction between the second braces. From Equation (55), we see that the accuracy of the zeroth approximation depends on the nutation frequency  $\hat{\delta} = \alpha_{23} = \tilde{\frac{1}{1}} \tilde{\omega}_n$ . The greater the moment of inertia ratio  $\tilde{\frac{1}{1}}/\tilde{1}$  and the spin rate  $\tilde{\omega}_n$ , the better the approximation. An estimate of the error incurred is obtained from Equation (56). In the sequel we shall first investigate the zeroth order approximation and then look into the possible error.

The simplest case is obtained if all nonlinear terms are dropped:

$$\tilde{\tilde{\eta}} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\tilde{V}_n}{\mu^2 \tilde{I}_{y}} \left\{ \left( C_{\ell \hat{p}} + C_{n_{\hat{n}}} \right) \frac{\tilde{I}_y}{\tilde{I}} - C_{\ell \hat{\omega}_{j}} \right\} \tilde{\eta}$$
(58)

The root of this equation agrees with the real part of the nutation root, Equation (22); i.e., the decay of  $\eta$  equals the exponential decrease of the envelope of the nutation mode. This result was to be expected if the averaging method is a physically justifiable process.

Now we consider the nonlinear zeroth order approximation:

$$\tilde{\tilde{\eta}} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\bar{v}_n}{\mu^2 \bar{z}_y} \left\{ \left[ \left( C_{\mu \eta} + C_{\mu \eta} \right) \frac{\bar{z}_y}{\bar{z}_y} - C_{\mu \omega \rho} \right] \tilde{\eta} - \frac{1}{8} C_{\mu \omega \rho^2} \tilde{\eta}^3 \right\}$$
(59)

and note first that it is independent of  $C_{n_{\beta}}$ ; i.e., in the zeroth approximation, the effect of  $C_{n_{\beta}}$  cancels over one nutation cycle. A necessary condition for the existence of a limit cycle is  $\tilde{\eta} = 0$  and  $\tilde{\eta} \neq 0$ , yielding:

$$\tilde{\eta}_{Lc}^{2} = 8 \frac{\left(C_{\ell\rho} + C_{n\rho}\right)\frac{\bar{I}_{\nu}}{\bar{I}} - C_{\ell\omega}}{C_{\ell\omega}\beta^{3}}$$
(60)

Only the real and positive value is physically of interest. To determine whether a limit cycle will actually occur, the stability at  $\eta_{LC}$  must be investigated. We have the simple conditions



where Equation (59) furnishes the relationship:

(61)

$$\frac{\Im \tilde{\eta}}{\Im \tilde{\eta}} \bigg|_{L_{c}} = -\frac{\overline{V_{n}}}{\mu^{2} \overline{I}_{y}} \bigg\{ (C_{e\beta} + C_{n\beta}) \frac{\overline{I}_{y}}{\overline{I}} - C_{e\beta} \bigg\}$$
(62)

which is according to Equation (22):

$$\frac{\partial \vec{\eta}}{\partial \vec{\eta}} = -2\vec{\xi}_{N}$$
(63)

Consequently, the conditions expressed in Equation (61) are equivalent to

$$\xi_{N} > 0$$
 stable limit cycle (64)  
 $\xi_{L} < 0$  unstable limit cycle

By stable limit cycle we mean that any solution of Equation (59) tends toward the limit cycle, provided it initiated closely enough to  $\tilde{\eta}_{LC}$ . If the limit cycle is unstable, the solution will diverge from it, no matter how close to  $\tilde{\eta}_{LC}$  it originated. Summarizing, we state: the necessary and sufficient condition for an MR to experience a nutation limit cycle is that  $\tilde{\eta}_{LC}$ , evaluated from Equation (60), has a positive value and that the nutation root is unstable; i.e.,  $\tilde{\xi}_{L} > 0$ .

Next we want to show that this condition can only be satisfied if the linear Magnus moment derivative  $C_{las}$  is negative. The damping derivatives  $C_{las}$  and  $C_{na}$  can only be negative. In order for  $\overline{\xi}_{N}$  to be positive,  $C_{las}$  must be negative. If  $C_{las}$  is a nonlinear function of  $\beta$  in the range  $\pm 20^{\circ}$ , a negative  $C_{las}$  will be accompanied by a positive  $C_{las}$ , and, thus, Equation (60) has a positive value.

The cone angle of the limit cycle,  $\tilde{\eta}_{Lc}$ , does not depend on the state of the planar trajectory. Therefore, once it has reached  $\tilde{\eta}_{Lc}$ , an MR will maintain this cone angle, even though it might still be in

the transient glide phase. Consider Equation (59). The rate of change of  $\tilde{\gamma}$  in the transient glide phase is proportional to the only variable  $\overline{V}_{R}$ . The higher the velocity, the greater  $\tilde{\gamma}$ .

In general, it is undesirable for an NR to nutate in a stable limit cycle because it is detrimental to its performance. A properly designed MR must satisfy two conditions: the limit cycle is unstable, and the nutation root is stable. Both are fulfilled by  $\overline{\xi}_{N} < 0$ . Then any nutational motion of the spin exis will converge into a horizontal attitude. To avoid a limit cycle, the designer can choose a configuration with positive  $C_{\ell_{on}}$ . Kowever, because these shapes are not very common, he might accept a negative  $C_{\ell_{on}}$  but assure a negative  $\overline{\xi}_{N}$  value by increasing the  $\overline{i}_{N}/\overline{i}$  ratio or providing larger end plates to increase the aerodynamic damping derivatives. We conclude that it is very important to assure a stable nutation mode. An unstable nutation mode will either lead to a limit cycle, if  $C_{\ell_o}$  is sufficiently nonlinear, or to a divergent nutation and an ensuing tumbling motion.

The zeroth approximation predicts a circular limit cycle; i.e., the spin axis moves on the surface of a circular cone. To estimate the deviations from the circular motions, we consider the second harmonics of the first-order approximation of Equation (56) and write them in the form

$$\eta_{LC} = \tilde{\eta}_{LC} \left\{ 1 + A\cos l\tilde{a} + B\sin l\tilde{a} \right\} = \tilde{\eta}_{LC} \left\{ 1 + F\sin \left( 2\tilde{a} + \chi \right) \right\}$$
(65)

where:

$$F = (A^{2} + B^{2})^{1/2} \quad ; \quad \chi = \tan^{-1} \frac{B}{A}$$
 (66)

$$A = \frac{1}{4} \left( \frac{\underline{T}}{\underline{T}_{y}} \right)^{2} \frac{\overline{V}_{n}^{2}}{\overline{\omega}_{n}^{2} \mu \overline{\underline{T}}} \left( C_{n}_{\beta} + \frac{1}{12} C_{n}_{\beta} \widetilde{\eta}_{lc}^{2} \right)$$
(67)

$$B = \frac{1}{4} \left( \frac{\overline{T}}{\overline{I}y} \right)^2 \frac{\overline{V}_n}{\overline{\omega}_n \mu^2 \overline{I}} \left[ \left( -C_{\ell \hat{p}} + C_{\mu \hat{n}} \right) \frac{\overline{T}}{\overline{I}} + C_{\ell \hat{\omega}_{\hat{p}}} + \frac{1}{6} C_{\ell \hat{\omega}_{\hat{p}}} \frac{\widetilde{\eta}^2}{\overline{I}} \right]$$
(68)

From Equation (65), it follows that the maximum deviation is given by F and occurs at  $25 + \chi = \frac{\pi}{2}$  or

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_{\max} = \frac{1}{2} \cot^{-1} \frac{B}{A}$$
(69)

We now extend our investigation to include the effect of the nonlinear damping derivatives  $C_{p_3}$  and  $C_{n_3}$ . This means that, in Equation (31), the nonlinear terms  $g_{21}$ ,  $g_{22}$ ,  $g_{31}$ , and  $g_{32}$  are taken to be different from zero. The analysis proceeds just like in the first part of this section. However, we have to deal with the  $\phi^3$  and  $A^{\phi_3}$  expressed in gyromechanical angles that are quite awkward. To simplify the expressions, we restrict the validity of the ensuing equations to cone angles  $2^{\circ} < \eta < 20^{\circ}$ . Then we can use the approximate relationships:

$$\dot{\phi}^3 = -\eta^3 \dot{\tilde{c}}^3 \sin^3 \tilde{c} \tag{70}$$

$$\hat{\mu}^{3} = -\eta^{3} \hat{c}^{3} \cos^{3} \hat{c}$$
 (71)

After averaging the equations over one nutation cycle, we obtain the result equivalent to the Equations (54) and (55)

$$\eta = \tilde{\eta} + \frac{1}{4a_{23}^{2}} \left\{ \left( a_{31}\tilde{\eta} + \frac{1}{2}g_{31}\tilde{\eta}^{3} \right) \cos 2\tilde{\vartheta} + \left[ \left( \left( -a_{21} + a_{33} \right)a_{23} + a_{21} \right)\tilde{\eta} + \left( \left( -g_{21} + g_{32} \right)a_{23}^{3} + g_{21} \right)\tilde{\eta}^{3} \right] \sin 2\tilde{\vartheta} - \left( \frac{1}{2} \right) \right\}$$

$$(72)$$

$$-\frac{1}{32 a_{23}^2} \left\{ g_{21} \ddot{\eta}^3 \cos 4\tilde{\varepsilon} - \left[ (g_{22} + g_{32}) a_{23}^2 - g_{21} \right] \tilde{\eta}^3 \sin 4\tilde{\varepsilon} \right\} + O\left(\frac{1}{\lambda^{1/2}}\right)$$

$$\frac{d\tilde{\eta}}{d\tilde{t}} = \frac{1}{2a_{23}} \left\{ \left[ \left( a_{22} + a_{33} \right) a_{23} - a_{21} \right] \tilde{\eta} + \frac{3}{4} \left[ \left( g_{22} + g_{32} \right) a_{23}^{3} - g_{21} \right] \tilde{\eta}^{3} \right\} - \frac{1}{16 a_{23}^{3}} \left\{ \left[ \left( -a_{12} + a_{33} \right) a_{23} + a_{21} \right] g_{31} - 2 \left[ \left( -g_{22} + g_{32} \right) a_{23}^{3} + g_{21} \right] a_{31} \right\} \tilde{\eta}^{3} + U \left( \frac{1}{\lambda^{12}} \right) \right\}$$
(73)

The underlined terms constitute the effect of the nonlinear aerodynamic damping. Like before we can find a limit cycle at

$$\tilde{\eta}_{LC}^{2} = 8 \frac{\left(C_{\ell\rho}^{l} + C_{n\rho}^{l}\right)^{\frac{1}{T}} - C_{\ell\omega\rho}}{C_{\ell\omega\rho}^{l} - \left(\frac{1}{T}\right)^{3} \left(\frac{\overline{\omega}_{n}}{\mu \overline{\nu}_{n}}\right)^{2} \left(C_{\ell\rho}^{l} + C_{n\rho}^{l}\right)}$$
(74)

if, and only if, the right-hand side is positive and the nutation root is unstable. Compare Equation (74) with Equation (60). We have stated earlier that  $C_{l_{\omega_{\beta^3}}}$  is positive most of the time. Therefore, if  $C_{l_{\beta^3}} + C_{n_{\beta^3}}$ are positive (i.e., if damping diminishes for higher nutation rates), the cone angle of the limit cycle is larger than that given by Equation (60). For increased damping at high nutation rates, the limit cycle will be smaller.

#### 14. COMPUTER SIMULATIONS AND TEST RESULTS

In this chapter, the dynamics of actual Magnus rotor flight models are investigated. The basic configurations are shown in Figure 1.1, and they are classified by the form of the cross-sections as cylindrical, triangular, and rectangular Magnus rotors. Some sample trajectories are calculated, using the equations of motion from Table 12.1, as programmed for computer in Appendix B. The mass and aerodynamic input data are given in Appendix C. Wind tunnel data from NACA Langley, Aerojet General, and Arnold Research Organization are used to obtain the aerodynamic derivatives. To validate the assumptions of the previous chapters, order-of-magnitude comparisons are made of the pertinent terms. Finally, the Magnus rotor models were flight tested, and the results are correlated with computer simulations.

### 14.1 COMPUTED FLIGHT HISTORIES

The calculations of the trajectories and attitude motions are based on the equations of motion (Table 12.1), with the additional simplifying assumptions that the aerodynamic coefficients and the air density are censtant. This implies aerodynamic coefficients independent of the Reynolds and Mach numbers and a short flight during which the air densicy does not change appreciably. Because we are mostly concerned with transient and short-time attitude motions, the last assumption is not very restrictive. Moreover, the computer program is easily extended to include a variable

density atmosphere. To limit the calculations to the incompressible flight region is a more serious restriction. It had to be made to simplify the calculations and because of the lack of reliable transonic and supersonic wind tunnel data. The justification for neglecting the dependence on the Reynolds number will be given next.

Extensive studies have been performed to investigate the Reynolds number effect on externally driven, smooth cylinders, e.g., those of Van Aken and Kelly (26) and Swanson (27). Van Aken and Kelly show that the Magnus lift coefficient is sensitive to changes in Reynolds number if (i) the test Reynolds number is close to the critical value of the nonspinning cylinder, and (ii) the tip-speed ratio is below 0.6. The critical Reynolds number for smooth cylinders is approximately  $4 \times 10^5$ . They explain this sensitivity by the flow separation on the bottom and the top of the cylinder caused by the flow transition from laminar to turbulent and vice versa. For tip-speed ratios above 0.6 and at high supercritical Reynolds numbers, no Reynolds number effect was observed.

The MR's investigated in this chapter have a steady-state Reynolds number between  $10^5$  to 3 x  $10^5$  and a steady-state tip speed ratio between 0.4 and 1.2. In the transient glide phase, we experience a Reynolds number range of  $10^4$  to  $10^6$  and a tip-speed range of 0.1 to 20. Thus, the MR's are well within the critical range. However, because an MR is never a smooth cylinder but always has sharp driving vanes, no laminar flow is expected to develop and no flow transition can occur. Therefore, even for low Reynolds numbers, the MR should fly supercritically, and the dependence of the aerodynamic coefficients on the Reynolds number can be neglected. The limited wind tunnel tests that have been conducted support this assumption.

The purpose of this section is to provide a broad sample of flight histories for the reader so that he can develop a "feel" for the flight dynamics of MR's. Table 14.1, page 173, summarizes the computer simulations. The MR's are the same as the models used in the flight tests. Their most important physical characteristics are included in the table. For more details, refer to the run sheets and drawings in Appendix C.

The first flight histories, Run 13, simulate a typical low speed release of a rectangular MR from a helicopter with a transient nutational motion about a horizontal axis. They are graphed in Figures 14.1 through 14.4. Flight speed, glide angle, and spin rate are highly dampened. A small overshoot occurs first in the flight speed, which causes a delayed overshoot in the spin rate and the glide angle. The transient nutation is also dampened with an increasing cyclic frequency according to the increase of the spin rate. The vacuum approximation for the nutation frequency, Equation (13.37), is in real time:

$$\Omega_{N} = \dot{\delta} = \frac{\Gamma}{\Gamma} \omega_{R} \tag{1}$$

It correlates very closely with the actual nutation frequency of Figure 14.4. The Rectangular MR 1 has a steady-state lift/drag (L/D) ratio of  $\lambda_{ss}$  of 1.13. It is the best performer of all shapes investigated in this report.

Its high transient spin-up potential is illustrated in Figures 14.5 and 14.6. The initial linear and rotational kinetic energy is converted into potential energy, resulting in a full loop. This Computer Run 15 simulates the launch of an MR with overspin from an aircraft. It is assumed that the spin axis is rolled 3 degrees from the horizontal. The
ensuing lateral motions are shown in Figure 14.7. To show the influence of the deceleration of the center of mass on the stability, as discussed in Section 13.2, the equations of motion were solved again in Run 23, but without the acceleration term  $\tilde{V}_R / \tilde{V}_R$ . The result is a more stable lateral motion. Therefore, in agreement with Section 13.2, the effect of the decelerated center of mass is destabilizing.

To show that an accelerated center of mass is stabilizing, a typical flight history is graphed in Figures 14.8 and 14.9. Run 25 is the solution of the complete equations of motion, while the acceleration term has been deleted in Run 24. Much effort was spent in Chapters 3 through 10 to derive the perturbation equations of an MR about an accelerated reference flight. Figures 14.7 and 14.9 justify the travail.

Refer back to the end of Chapter 6 for the definition of a positive spin axis. The MR is said to be launched with a positive spin if the angular velocity vector has the same direction as the spin axis. All pre-spun MR's are launched with a positive spin because, in the other case, the driving vanes would de-spin the MR immediately, causing it to tumble until it reorients itself and picks up positive spin. On the other hand, an MR can be released with a positive or negative horizontal linear velocity component. In Computer Run 15, it is positive. This is the normal case. It is also called the "lift-up" launch, because the lift force initially points upward. A launch with a negative horizontal linear velocity component is the "lift-down" case. Figures 14.10 through 14.12 show such a "lift-down" flight history. The initial conditions are those of Run 15, except for a negative horizontal linear velocity component.

field, the MR is subjected for the first two seconds to a centripetal force, the Magnus lift, resulting in a near circular trajectory. Because the overspin is so high, it loops again before reaching the steady-state glide phase.

Next, we simulate the flight of a triangular MR in the Figures 14.13 through 14.15. We assume that the MR is launched with a high horizontal linear velocity component, low spin rate, and a roll angle of 3 degree. The MR rapidly picks up spin and climbs to approximately 30 meter above release while losing much of its velocity. Consequently, even though the spin rate is still high, the Magnus lift force is small and the MR starts descending towards its steady-state glide phase. The Triangular MR 1 is not as good a performer as the Rectangular MR 1. Its steady-state values are L/D = 1.50 and  $\hat{\omega}_{ss} = 0.77$ . The attitude motions, Figure 14.15, exhibit a transient nutation that is quickly dampened out. The roll and yaw angles reach a steady-state value of  $\Phi_s = 0.13$  degree and  $\mu_s = 0.20$ degree. This means, according to Figure 13.1, that the MR is heading in a new direction with its spin axis still horizontal. A check is provided by Equations (13.5) and (13.6). The change in heading angle  $\mu_s$  is calculated from:

$$4\bar{\mu} = \left(4\mu_{s}^{2} + \phi_{s}^{2}\right)^{1/2}$$
(2)

A simulation of the release of a cylindrical MR is shown in Figures 14.16 and 14.17. It is launched with a small linear velocity and a high spin rate. Because of the high moment of inertia about the spin axis, the Cylindrical MR 1 loses its rotational speed only slowly. In Figure 14.16 the steady-state values are not yet reached. They are:  $V_{55} = 23.7 \text{ m/sec}$ 

 $\omega_{ss} = 1574 \text{ RPM}$ ;  $\overline{\delta}_{ss} = -42.3^{\circ}$ . With a L/D = 1.10 and  $\hat{\omega}_{ss} = 0.53$ , the Cylindrical MR 1 is the poorest performer among the three shapes investigated so far. It was also assumed that initially  $\beta = 3$  degree. Because of the small linear velocity at launch, the sideslip vanishes quickly. After 1.5 sec of flight time, it is below 0.1 degree. The effect on the roll and yaw angle is negligible.

So far the aerodynamic stability coefficients of the MR's behaved sufficiently linear to be represented by the linear stability derivatives only. Now we shall investigate two Magnus rotor shapes whose rolling moment coefficients exhibit a nonlinear behavior at the origin. They are the cylindrical MR without end plates and the rectangular MR with cut-off end plates. The nutational motions in steady-suate glide phase are simulated for each shape with two different moment of inertia rations  $I/I_{\gamma}$ . First, we choose for the cylindrical MR 4A,  $\mathbf{T} | \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{y}} = 2.19$ , which, according to Equation (13.60), results in a limit cycle with  $\eta_{14}$  = 12.5 degree. The result is plotted in Figure 14.18. In particular, note the circular motion as predicted by the zeroth order approximation (see Section 13.3). The corrections are indeed small. Furthermore, in good agreement is the approximated nutation frequency  $\Omega_{N} = 9.63$  CPS, as calculated from Equation (1), with the exact nutation frequency  $\Omega_{N}$  = 9.80 CPS from Computer Run 30. In Section 13.3 we stated that one way to eliminate the limit cycle is to decrease the ratio  $I/I_y$ . Figure 14.19 shows the result for  $I/I_y = 1.28$ . The other possibility is to increase the damping by end plates. This was demonstrated by Computer Run 40.

A similar result is obtained for the rectangular MR with cut-off end plates. The noncircular end plates lower the aerodynamic damping and

generate a nonlinear behavior of the rolling and yawing moment coefficients. Equation (13.60) predicts a steady-state limit cycle at  $\eta_{Le} = 1.36$  degree, which is in very close agreement with Figure 14.20. We also notice again that the limit cycle is very nearly circular, as predicted by the zeroth approximation. A decrease of the  $I/I_J$  ratio to 8.50 dampens the nutation cycle. This is demonstrated by Computer Run 37 in Figure 14.21, using the initial conditions of Run 36. The other method of eliminating the limit cycle (i.e., the increase in aerodynamic damping through larger end plates) leads back to the circular end plates of the Rectangular MR 1, as exemplified in the Figures 14.1 to 14.4.

		Т									
. SIMULATION	Ē	Iransient nuration	Deceleration from high speed Effect of deceleration.	Accelerated flight. Effect of acceleration.	"Lift-down" deceleration from high speeds.	Deceleration from high speed and low spin rate.	Deceleration from low speed and high spin rate.	Limit cycle.	Dampened nutation cycles.	Limit cycle.	Dampened nutation cycles.
FIG.	-		c. 1	c.1	c.1	C.2	c.3	c.3	<b>c.</b> 3	c. 1	C.1
ㅋ		841	841	841	841	549	1450	1060	1280	965	829
MASS KG		1.200	1.500	1.500	1.500	2.395	3.148	2.137	2.580	1,607	1.367
I/Iy		<b>۰</b> /0	6.70	6.70	. 70	4.40	2.41	2.19	1.28	12.00	8.50
END PLATE		Circular	Circular	Circular	Circular	Circular	Gircular	None	None	Cut-off	Cut-off
CONF IGURATION		KECT. MK 1	RECT. MR 1	BECT. MR 1	RECT. MR 1	TRIA. MR 1	CYL, NR 1	CYL. MR 4A	CYL. MR 11	RECT. MR 2	RECT. MR 3
RUN	- (	Ĩ	15,23	24,25	21	36	40	30	31	36	37
FIGURES		14.1-14.4	14.5-14.7	14.8-14.9	14.10-14.12	14.13-14.15	14.16-14.17	14.18	14.19	14.20	14.21

Figure numbers refer to Appendix C.

\*

TABLE 14.1 COMPUTER SIMULATIONS



## FIGURE 14.1 TRANSIENT PERFORMANCE OF RECTANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 1. COMPUTER RUN 13



# FIGURE 14.2 TRANSIENT TRAJECTORY OF RECTANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 1. -COMPUTER RUN 13

174

Ì

G



# FIGURE 14.3 TRANSIENT NUTATION OF RECTANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 1. COMPUTER RUN 13



## FIGURE 14.4 TRANSIENT NUTATION OF RECTANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 1. COMPUTER RUN 13



# FIGURE 14.5 HIGH SPEED TRANSIENT PERFORMANCE OF RECTANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 1, COMPUTER RUN 15



FIGURE 14.6 HIGH SPEED TRANSIENT TRAJECTORY OF RECTANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 1 COMPUTER RUN 15



# FIGURE 14.7 LATERAL MOTIONS WITH AND WITHOUT ACCELERATION TERM OF RECTANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 1. COMPUTER RUNS 15 AND 23



FIGURE 14.8 PERFORMANCE OF ACCELERATED RECTANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 1. COMPUTER RUNS 24 AND 25



FIGURE 14.9 LATERAL MOTIONS WITH AND WITHOUT ACCELERATION TERM OF RECTANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 1. COMPUTER RUNS 24 AND 25

á



FIGURE 14.10 "LIFT-DOWN" HIGH SPEED TRANSIENT PERFORMANCE OF RECTANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 1. COMPUTER RUN 21



FIGURE 14.13 "LIFT-DOWN" HIGH SPEED TRANSIENT TRAJECTORY OF RECTANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 1.COMPUTER RUN 21





FIGURE 14.12 "LIFT-DOWN" LATERAL MOTIONS OF RECTANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 1. COMPUTER RUN 21









FIGURE 14.14 TRANSIENT TRAJECTORY OF TRIANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 1. COMPUTER RUN 39



## FIGURE 14.15 TRANSIENT ATTITUDE MOTIONS OF TRIANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 1. COMPUTER RUN 39





FIGURE 14.16 LOW SPEED; HIGH SPIN RATE TRANSIENT PERFORMANCE OF CYLINDRICAS MAXINUS ROTOR 1. COMPUTER RUN 40



FIGURE 14.17 TRANSIENT TRAJECTORY OF CYLINDRICAL MAGNUS ROTOR 1. COMPUTER RUN 40





# FIGURE 14.18 STEADY-STATE LIMIT CYCLE OF CYLINDRICAL MAGNUS ROTOR 4A. COMPUTER RUN 30

CHAPTLR 14



FIGURE 14.19 DAMPENED NUTATION CYCLES IN STEADY-STATE FLIGHT OF CYLINDRICAL MAGNUS ROTOR 11. COMPUTER RUN 31

184



# FIGURE 14.20 LIMIT CYCLE IN STEADY-STATE FLIGHT OF RECTANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 2. COMPUTER RUN 36



# FIGURE 14.21 DAMPENED NUTATION CYCLES IN STEADY-STATE FLIGHT OF RECTANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 3. COMPUTER RUN 37

CHAPTER 14

#### 14.2 VALIDATION OF ASSUMPTIONS

Let us go back to the earlier chapters and scrutinize the assumptions in view of the flight simulations of the previous Section 14.1. In Chapter 2, the basic Assumption 3 can be directly related to the mass parameter  $\mu = 2m/g st$ , as it has been done in Assumption 5 of Section 12.4. The individual values for our Magnus rotor models satisfy the condition  $\mathfrak{V}(\mu) \geq 10^2$ , as shown in Table 14.1. Furthermore, a check shows that Assumptions 3 and 6 of Section 12.4 hold for all computer simulations. The justification for Assumption 2 will be part of the following outline.

During the derivation of the equations of motion, we have made several order-of-magnitude estimates to simplify some of the terms. The more important ones are summarized in Table 14.2. The first three estimates should be greater than 100. The next order-of-magnitude term relates to Equation (10.25), which includes the unknown term  $\delta X = X_{\rho} - Y_{n}$ . However, from the previous computer runs, we know that  $Y_{n}$  changes slowly for most parts of the flight. Therefore, the perturbation  $\delta X$  is also a small term. To verify Equation (10.25), it is left to show that  $O(\{\delta X_{\rho}\})$  is large throughout the trajectory and in particular at the maximum value of  $\tilde{Y}_{n}$ , where the largest  $\delta \tilde{Y}$  can be expected. This value is given in Table 14.2. The order of magnitude requirements on the remaining estimates are only  $\geq |0|$  because they are used to arrive at simplified formulas, which can always be checked out by the exact computer calculations.

ORDER OF MAGNITUDE	REFERENCE	RUN 13	TIME	RUN 15	TIME SEC	RUN 40	TIME SEC	
0[&n [3n] = 100	Eq. 8.47	067	¢;	254	5.6	41	3.5	
0 2 1 4 1 2 100	Eq. 9.13	263	0.2	2000	6	258	0.5	
0{ \$ / \$ 1 > 100	Eq. 10.8	118	2	38	بي 9 ت	17	3.5	
O{Ôdr] @ max h	Eq. 10.25	245	7	$1.2 \times 10^{4}$	5.6	10 <sup>3</sup>	3.5	
0\(a <sub>11</sub> +a <sub>13</sub> )&/&\$ ≥ 10	Eq. 13.38	19	0	м	0	ы	c	
0 = 1 = 10	Eq. 13.20	33	0	743	0	6.5	0	
0{an/an] = 10	Eq. 13.20	14	0	314	0	2.7	0	
$\sigma_1^{\ell} a_{13}^2 / a_{11} \} \ge 10$	Eq. 13.20	33	0	1575	0.7	33	1.3	
0{ai3   asi ] = 10	Eq. 13.20	11	0	9 х 10 <sup>4</sup>	0	2.7	0	
of all   a   > 10	Eq. 13.20	588	0	4.5 x 10 <sup>4</sup>	20	270	0	
							ŗ	

-188

TABLE 14.2 VALIDATION OF ORDER OF MAGNITUDE ESTIMATES

As a sample we use three computer runs. Run 13 represents a typical drop test, while Runs 15 and 40 give some extreme release conditions. In Table 14.2, the minimum values of the order-of-magnitude terms during a particular run are given, together with their times of occurrence. Run 13 (ulfills all conditions. Two of the order-of-magnitude estimates in Run 15 and six in Run 40 are not satisfied. But in all cases this is due to the extreme transient behavior and lasts only a fraction of the total flight. The closer to the steady-state glide phase, the better the conditions hold. Therefore, even though the order of magnitude estimates are not satisfied throughout, computer Runs 15 and 40 simulate the flights of the respective MR's accurately enough.

At the conclusion of Section 13.2, we introduced the two-degrees-offreedom lateral equations of motion to study the nutational motions. The simplifications were based on the assumption that  $\beta = -4\beta$ . To validate this assumption, the initial conditions of Run 13 were chosen so that only the nutation mode would be excited. The transient time history of  $\beta$ and  $A\beta$  are shown in Figure 14.4. Because the initial conditions were not matched exactly, a constant  $A\beta$  value of 0.1 degree is superimposed. If we disregard this effect,  $\beta$  and  $-\beta$  are equal within 3%. An even better agreement is found in Run 30. There is no constant  $A\beta$  and  $\beta = -A\beta$ within 0.5% accuracy. In Run 36  $\beta$  and  $-A\beta$  are within 3%.

An important assumption that leads to the one-degree-of-freedom equation of Section 13.3 is expressed in Equation (13.37). Table 14.3 compares the approximate and exact values. They lie within 2% of each other. An equally good agreement of the transient nutation frequencies is given in Figure 14.22.

RUN	NUTATION FREQUE	ENCY (CPS) FROM COMPUTER RUN
30	9.63	9.80
31	17.08	16.90
36	3.33	3.36
37	4.36	4.40

TABLE 14.3 STEADY-STATE NUTATION FREQUENCIES

Finally, we want to show that the zeroth order approximation of the one-degree-of-freedom equation of motion, Equation (13.59), gives an accurate account of the nutational motions. The test case is the prediction of a limit cycle. We refer to the Figures 14.18 and 14.20. In both cases the nutation angle calculated from Equation (13.60) is within 3% of the value obtained from the exact Computer Rens 30 and 36. Furthermore, the zeroth order approximation requires a circular limit cycle. This is well demonstrated in the Figures 14.18 and 14.20.





# FREQUENCIES OF RECTANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 1. COMPUTER RUN 13 COMPARISON OF EXACT AND APPROXIMATE TRANSIENT NUTATION FIGURE 14.22

## 14.3 FLIGHT TEST RESULTS

The flight tests were conducted between June 1968 and June 1970. The test area was equipped with two man-operated turrets to track the flight models. One turret carried a high-speed 16-mm Millikan movie camera with an 800-mm telephoto lens. The angles of the turrets were recorded digitally in half-second time intervals and fed into a computer to yield space coordinates, velocity and glide angle. To obtain the attitude angles, the film was processed through a photoanalyzer.

Prior to each test a pilot balloon was released and tracked. The nailoon data were used by the computer to correct the MR tracking results for the mean wind. The flight models were launched from a hovering heliconter either by hand or by a so-called jo-jo method; i.e., a canvas wrapped around the MR provided the initial spin rate. This limited the release conditions to low speed and small spin rates.

Several error sources must be considered when interpreting the data:

- Human error. The turvet operator follows the MR through a monocular with a solid view angle of 0.6 degree, the same as the angle of the 800-mm camera lens. No corrections are made if the model is not centered on the film.
- 2. Mechanical error. Backlash in the encoders and gear boxes amounts to approximately 0.3 degree.
- 3. Wind error. Changes in wind speed and direction during test and local gusts cannot be accounted for.
- Helicopter downwash error. At release the helicopter rotor blades induce a downward velocity on the MR. No correction is made for this effect.

5. Photoanalyzer error. The two attitude angles  $\mathbf{A}$  and  $\mathbf{\phi}$  are projected on the plane film surface. A separate estimate of  $\mathbf{A}$  and  $\mathbf{\phi}$  can only be made with an error of 25%. However, for the nutation and limit cycle tests, only the projection of the nutation cone angle  $\eta$  on a plane is required. If the MR flies straight towards the camera, this angle can be measured within  $\stackrel{+}{=}$  0.25 degree.

Thirty MR's representing 8 different types were drop tested. The best test of each category was analyzed. They are summarized in Table 14.4. The purpose of the tests was to validate some of the theoretical predictions, to show the influence of end plates and moment-of-inertia ratios, and to develop test methods to determine the nutational damping derivatives.

To achieve the proper moment-of-inertia ratios, various materials (aluminum, steel, brass, acrylic plastic, styrofoam) were used to build the flight models. Great care was taken to avoid mass unbalances. In Models RECT. MR 1, CYL. MR 1, and CYL. MR 3, a special impulse fixture was added to induce a nutational motion. The impulse was generated by two cylindrical tubes, located at both ends of the MR normal to the spin axes, containing one to 2.5 grams of black powder. An electronic timer fired two MK 1 Squibs, which in turn set off the black powder charges.

CHA	PTER	14
-----	------	----

DATA REFERENCE*	Fig.C.1; Run 19	Fig.C.l; Run 32	F.g.C.1; Run 36	Fig.C.2; Run 35	Fig.C.3; Run 34	Fig.C.3; Run 41	Fig.C.3; Run 38	Fig.C.3; Run 30	
TEST PURPOSE	Trajectory, transient nutation, induced nutatio	No limit cycle	Limit cycle	Trajectory, transient nutation	Induced nutation	Induced nutation	Limit cycle	No limit cycle	
MASS KG.	1.500	1.367	1.607	2.395	3.148	3.242	2.137	2.580	-
1/1 <sub>y</sub>	6.70	8.50	12.00	4.40	2.41	2.50	2.19	1.28	
END PLATE	Cirular	Cut-off	Cut-off	Circular	Circular	Circular	None	None	
IDENTIFICATION	RECT. MR 1	RECT. MR 3	RECT. MR 2	TRIA. MR I	CYL. MR 1	CYL. NR 3	CYL. MR 11	CYL. MR 4A	
FIGURES	14.23-14.28	14.29	14.30	14.31	14.32,14.33	14.34	. 14.35	14.36	

\* Figure and Run Numbers refer to Appendix C.

TABLE 14.4 ANALYZED FLIGHT TESTS

The first flight test results are shown in Figures 14.23 through 14.28, together with the computer simulation Run 19. A disturbance was introduced through impulse fixtures at 13.5 seconds into the flight. The induced nutational motion was analyzed from the film and graphed in Figure 14.28; it produced a 7% drop in the spin rate (see Figure 14.24). Its influence on the flight speed and glide angle, Figure 14.23, is less certain because wind, mechanical, and human errors can introduce an inaccuracy of the order  $\pm$  5%. But the result of the analytical investigation seems to be confirmed because the effect of lateral perturbations on the reference flight is small.

All results of the flight test of July 26 (Figures 14.23 through 14.27) are in good agreement with the computer simulation. This is due to the relatively weak wind (12 ft/sec) blowing from the turrets to the helicopter and the fact that the RECT. MR 1 flew straight towards the camera, such remaining only a short time in the downwash of the helicopter rotor. A transient nutation was also observed and recorded in Figure 14.27. The computer simulation shows a slowly changing rolling motion superimposed over the nutational motion. The photoanalyzer does not allow the extraction of such a slow motion from the film. Otherwise the agreement of the nutational frequencies and amplitudes is satisfactory.

To determine the aerodynamic damping derivatives from free-flight, the <u>Induced-Nutation Method</u> was tried out. An impulse is initiated during steady-state flight and the nutational response analyzed (see Figure 14.28). The time-to-halve-the-amplitude,  $\mathbf{t}_{H_N}$ , and Equation (13.22) yield the damping derivatives:

$$C_{\ell\rho} + C_{n\rho} = \frac{\overline{I}}{\overline{I}_{y}} \left\{ C_{\ell\rho\rho} - \frac{1.386 \tau \mu^{2} \overline{I}_{y}}{t \mu_{N}} \right\}$$
(3)

The result,  $C_{\mu\rho} + C_{\mu\rho} = -21.4$ , agrees well with NACA's value of -19.62 measured in the Langley Stability Tunnel. Notice also the constant nutation frequency throughout the decay. This confirms the linear perturbation equation as a good model of the flight dynamics.

The effect of cutting off the end plates at two sides is given next. We tested two models with different moment-of-inertia ratios, the Rectangular MR's 2 and 3. Because the aerodynamic coefficients behave nonlinearly at small sideslip angles, the possibility of limit cycles must be investigated. According to Equation (13.60), the Rectangular MR 3 is not capable of a limit cycle (See Figure 14.21). Its moment-ofinertia ratio  $\overline{I}/\overline{I}_y$  is too low and its nutation mode, Equation (13.21), is stable. This was confirmed by a flight test. The transient performance is given in Figure 14.29. An increase in the  $\overline{I}/\overline{I}_y$  ratio leads to a limit cycle. For the Rectangular MR 2, we calculated  $\eta_{LC} = 1.36$  degree. The flight yielded  $\eta_{LC} = 1.25$  degree as shown in Figure 14.30. The measured frequency of 3.75 CPS also compares favorably with Simulation Run 36, Figure 14.20, of 3.36 CPS.

S: Figure 14.31, the flight test of the Triangular MR 1 is compared with the computer simulation. The model disintegrated after 9 seconds of flight time. Except for the spin history, the correlation is poor. This is probably due to the strong winds of 35 ft/sec during the test.

To obtain the unknown damping derivatives for the cylindrical MR with end plates, the induced-nutation method was used. Figure 14.32 shows such a typical transient flight performance. The correlation of the calculated with the measured flight speed is poor because of human error during the early tracking phase. Figures 14.33 and 14.34 give the decay of the nutation mode for the Cylindrical MR's 1 and 3. Using Equation (3) we obtain  $C_{lp} + C_{mh} = -35$  from Figure 14.33 and -27 from Figure 14.34. The mean value -31 will be used.

Without end plates the cylindrical MR exhibits a nonlinear behavior of the rolling and yawing moment coefficients. For  $\overline{\mathbf{I}}/\overline{\mathbf{I}}_{\mathbf{y}} = 1.28$ , the nutation mode is scable (see Figure 14.19), and no limit cycle is predicted by Equation (13.60). This was confirmed by the flight test of the Cylindrical MR 11. Its transient performance is correlated with the computer simulation in Figure 14.35. Again, because of the high winds, the glide angle and the flight speed do not check out well. If the  $\overline{\mathbf{I}}/\overline{\mathbf{I}}_{\mathbf{y}}$  ratio is increased to 2.19, a limit cycle exists, as shown by the computer simulation, Figure 14.20, and the flight test result, Figure 14.36.

There is an alternate method, the so-called <u>Limit-Cycle Method</u>, to measure damping derivatives from free-flight tests. It can be used if, through proper choice of the  $\overline{I}/\overline{I}_{y}$  ratio, the MR performs steady-state limit cycles. The limit cycle cone angle  $\eta_{uc}$  is measured and the damping derivatives are evaluated from Equation (13.60):

$$C_{R\beta} + C_{N\beta} = \frac{\overline{I}}{\overline{I}_{Y}} \left\{ C_{R\beta} + \frac{\gamma_{Le}^{2} C_{R\beta}}{8} \right\}$$
(4)

From Figure 14.36 we obtain for the Cylindrical Magnus Rotor 4A without end plates:  $C_{p} + C_{nh} = -3.2$ .





FIGURE 14.24 SPIN RATE OF RECTANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 1, FLIGHT 15ST JULY 26. SIMULATION RUN 19



199

FIGURE 14.25 TRAJECTORY OF RECTANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 1. FLIGHT TEST

JULY 26. SIMULATION RUN 19







FIGURE 14.28 INDUCED NUTATION OF RECTANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 1. FLIGHT TEST JULY 26





FIGURE 14.29 TRANSIENT PERFORMANCE OF RECTANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 3. FJIGHT TEST JUNE 10.5IMULATION RUN 32



## FIGURE 14.30 STEADY-STATE LIMIT CYCLE OF RECTANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 2. FLIGHT TEST JUNE 30

202

ś





FIGURE 14.31 TRANSIENT PERFORMANCE OF TRIANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 1. FLIGHT TEST JUNE 30.5IMULATION RUN 35



FIGURE 14.32 TRANSIENT PERFORMANCE OF CYLINDRICAL MAGNUS ROTOR 1. FLIGHT TEST JUNE 10. SIMULATION RUN 34





FIGURE 14.33 INDUCED NUTATION OF CYLINDRICAL MAGNUS ROTOR 1. FLIGHT TEST JUNE 10



FIGURE 14.34 INDUCED NUTATION OF CYLINDRICAL MAGNUS ROTOR 3. FLIGHT TEST JUNE 30-




FIGURE 14.35 TRANSIENT PERFORMANCE OF CYLINDRICAL MAGNUS ROTOR 11. FLIGHT TEST JUNE 30. SIMULATION RUN 38





CHAPTER 15

## 15. CRITICAL EVALUATION OF RESULTS

The contributions of this report are in two areas: the formulation of flight dynamical problems in general and the flight dynamics of Magnus rotors (MR) in particular. As is so often the case, the general formulation evolved from the specific requirements of Magnus rotor dynamics: the reference flight of the perturbation equations can be under acceleration, nonlinear aerodynamics must be included, and many coordinate systems are involved. Tensor algebra is the natural remedy for too many coordinate systems. It presents the equations in an invariant form, valid in all coordinate systems. In flight dynamics, most coordinate transformations are time dependent. To preserve the invariant form of the equations of motion, the rotational derivative was introduced to replace the ordinary time derivative. Then, for instance, Newton's Second Law can truly be written in an invariant form for inertial or noninertial coordinate systems.

The tensor formulation of the perturbation equations is carried out as far as possible, leading to a generalization of the classical small disturbance method and to a particularly convenient series expansion of the aerodynamic forces. No restrictions have to be placed on the reference flight. It can be accelerated or decelerated.

The state-of-the-art of Magnus rotor dynamics has been advanced in several respects. The perturbation equations of the steady-state glide phase are extended into the transient glide phase. The nonlinearities of the aerodynamic forces are taken into account by derivatives up to the

#### CHAPTER 15

third order. A simple theorem states which derivative must vanish because of the mirror symmetry of MR's. This considerably reduces the number of derivatives. A one-degree-of-freedom perturbation equation is introduced by combining the roll and yaw angles into the single nutation angle and using the method of averaging. With this equation, necessary and sufficient conditions are derived for the existence of nutational limit cycles. Other intuitive concepts have been given a sound mathematical basis: the effect of a noncircular moment of inertia ellipsoid can be neglected, and the influence of the rapidly rotating angle of attack is averaged out over one revolution.

To back up the analytical results of this report, an extensive flight test program has been conducted. Two new methods proved to be successful in determining the otherwise difficult to obtain damping derivatives. They are the induced-nutation and the limit-cycle methods. The first one requires some external energy source that induces a nutational motion in steady-state flight, while the second one can be applied to MR's capable of limit cycles by the proper choice of the moment of inertia ratio. A good correlation was obtained between the analytically predicted and the free-flight limit cycles.

The agreement between the simulated trajectories and the test results is only satisfactory. This is mainly due to the high winds encountered during testing and mechanical and human tracking errors. A more accurate tracking facility should be used for further testing, and the wind should not exceed 5 knots. Also, the acquisition of attitude angles from highspeed film is not accurate enough to determine the roll and yaw angles

## CHAPTER 15

separately. The MR should be equipped with on-board instruments such as accelerometers or gyromagnetic sensors, and the measurements recorded on the ground.

The accuracy of the computer simulations depends on the quality of the wind tunnel data. Because of the high spin rate, the aerodynamic coefficients of an MR are difficult to measure. Improved testing methods should be developed. In particular, more transient wind tunnel tests should be conducted. They would provide a better basis for the formulation of the transient behavior of the aerodynamic coefficients than has been attempted in Chapter 11. No theoretical analysis of the aerodynamics of MR's was conducted. This is an area which requires more research. It is particularly important to improve the understanding of the airflow around MR's and to derive methods for the theoretical evaluation of aerodynamic derivatives.

Except 'or Section 12.4, the ideal MR postulated by Assumption 2 of Chapter 2 occupied our interest throughout this report. Such aberrations as configurational and mass asymmetries were not discussed in detail. Because they usually are small, they can be treated as external disturbances of the ideal MR. Their effect should be studied further. An especially fruitful area of research may be the resonance instability of MR's.

The general tensorial formulation of flight dynamics, as outlined in Chapters 3 to 5, was successfully applied to the dynamics of MR's. This method should also be smployed to formulate the flight of missiles and airplanes and thus be developed into a general tool of flight dynamics.

# NOMENCLATURE

CONVENTIONS	
<b>[a]</b>	Vector in Euclidean three-space. Lower case
	letter.
ĨA]	Second-order tensor in Euclidean three-space.
	Upper case letter.
JB	Right-handed orthogonal Cartesian coordinate
-	system called B.
[]。	Components of a vector or tensor expressed in
	the ] <sup>B</sup> -coordinate system.
[T] <sup>GA</sup>	Transformation matrix of coordinate system ] <sup>B</sup>
	with respect to coordinate system $]^{A}$ .
(A)	Frame A. Upper case letter.
(A) r	Frame A during reference flight.
(A) P	Frame A during perturbed flight.
A	Point A. Upper case letter.
[× <sub>BA</sub> ]	Displacement vector of point B with respect
	to point A. Arrow points to B.
[R <sup>(B)(A)</sup> ]	Rotation tensor of frame (B) with respect to
	frame (A).
[Ω <sup>(ဠ)(♠)</sup> ]	Skew-symmetric angular velocity tensor of
	frame (B) with respect to frame (A).
$\frac{d}{dt} = (`)$	Time derivative. Operates on the components
	of a tensor.
d = (°)	Time derivative, dynamic-normalized.
<b>(</b> 14)	Rotational time derivative with respect to
	frame (A).

£)(A) || || Rotational time derivative, dynamic-normalized. Absolute value sign and matrix norm.

SYMBOLS (A) Air frame. α Center-of-gravity offset along spin axis. 8 Center of mass of Magnus rotor. **(B)** Body frame. (B) Body frame during reference flight. (B) Body frame during perturbed flight. Span. С Chord.  $[C_{E}]$ Aerodynamic force coefficient vector. [Cn] Aerodynamic moment coefficient axial vector.  $C_{D} = D/45$ Drag coefficient.  $C_L = L/qS$ Lift coefficient.  $C_{LC} = C_L / \hat{\omega}_R$ Magnus lift coefficient. Cn= HalqSl Accelerating spin torque.  $C_{H_{dA}} = H_d / q \lesssim L \hat{\omega}_n$ Damping spin torque.  $c_{x} = 8/95$ Axial force coefficient.  $C_y = Y / q S$ Side force coefficient.  $C_1 = Z | q g$ Normal force coefficient.  $C_1 = Lilgsl$ Rolling moment coefficient.  $C_{\rm m} = M/g SL$ Pitching moment coefficient.  $C_n = N/4SL$ Yawing moment coefficient.

cys = Dcylds	Side force derivative.
$C_{y_{\beta^3}} = \partial^3 C_y  \partial \beta^3$	Cubic side force derivative.
$C_{liss} = \partial C_e / \partial \beta \hat{w}_{r}$	Magnus moment derivative.
$C_{2\hat{\omega}\beta^3} = \partial^3 C_e / \partial \beta^3 \hat{\omega}_n$	Cubic Magnus moment derivative.
Cnp = OCn/OB	Yawing moment derivative.
$C_{n\beta^3} = \partial^3 C_n  \partial \beta^3 $	Cubic yawing moment derivative.
$C_{L\hat{p}} = \partial C_{L}   \partial c\hat{p}$	Roll damping derivative.
$C_{\ell \hat{p}3} = \partial C_{\ell}   \partial \epsilon \hat{p}^3$	Cubic roll damping derivative.
$C_{n,\hat{n}} = \partial C_n / \partial c \hat{h}$	Yaw damping derivative.
$C_{nA3} = \partial C_n / \partial c A^3$	Cubic yaw damping derivative.
Cause = d'Celdsdep ŵr	Mixed linear roll damping derivative.
Cruppi= d'Ce /dB dep in	Mixed quadratic roll damping derivative.
$C_{n\beta^2h} = \partial^2 C_n / \partial \beta^2 \partial \epsilon h$	Mixed linear yaw damping derivative.
$C_{n\beta\hat{n}^2} = \partial^3 C_n / \partial \beta \partial \hat{L} \hat{h}^2$	Mixed quadratic yaw damping derivative.
d	End plate diameter.
A(r)	Rotational derivative relative to inertial
	frame (I).
Ð	Drag force.
[E]	Second order unit tensor.
(E) ·	Earth frame.
[fa]	Aerodynamic force,
[fz]	Gravitational force.
Fk,n	Fourier coefficients.
9	Earth acceleration constant.
G <sub>kin</sub>	Fourier coefficients.
91,92,93	Nonlinear aerodynamic functions.
[4]	Reflection tensor.

	Moment-of-inertia tensor of body (3) referred
	to center of mass B,
I	Transverse moment of inertia.
Iy=I2	Spin moment of inertia.
$\bar{I} = L / \ell^2 \mu^2 m$	Dynamic-normalized transverse moment of inertia.
$I_y = I_y / l^2 \mu^2 m$	Dynamic-normalized spin moment of inertia.
[l <sub>3</sub> <sup>(6)(I)</sup> ]	Angular momentum of body (B) relative to inertial
	frame (I) and referred to the mass center B.
	Axial vector.
L= c/2	Reference length.
L	Lift force.
LID	Lift over drag ratio.
[ma]	Aerodynamic moment. Axial vector.
MR	Magnus rotor.
m	Mass of MR.
Ma	Mach number of reference flight.
013	Order of magnitude.
[p <sup>(B)(I)</sup> ]	Linear momentum of body (B) relative to
	inertial frame (I).
ep, eq, er	Perturbations of the angular velocity components.
$q = g V_{\kappa}^2 / 2$	Dynamic pressure.
$[R_{p_{n}}^{(0)}]$	Rotation tensor of the perturbed stability frame
	relative to the reference stability frame.
(R)	Reference frame.
R <sub>n</sub>	Reynolds number of reference flight.
5	Reference area.
( <del>\</del> \)	Stability frame.

[s <sub>1</sub> B]	Displacement vector of element $\ell$ relative to
	point B.
S	Summation sign over a continuum.
SN= FN+inN	Roots of nutation mode.
$\overline{S}_{u} = \overline{\xi}_{u} \pm \eta_{u}$	Roots of undulation mode.
t	Time.
$\bar{t} = \bar{v}t$	Dynamic-normalized time.
$\hat{t} = \frac{V_n}{k} t$	Aero-normalized time.
eû, eû, eŵ	Perturbations of the linear velocity components.
V	Flight speed.
V <sub>R</sub>	Reference flight speed.
Vss	Steady-state flight speed.
$\delta V = V_p - V_R$	Flight speed perturbation.
[ug(A)]	Velocity vector of center of mass B relative
	to air frame (A).
$\left[ u_{\mathcal{G}_{\mu}}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mu}}\right]$	Velocity vector of the center of mass during
K	reference flight, $\boldsymbol{B}_{\boldsymbol{k}}$ , relative to the
	inertial frame (I).
Ŵ	Weight of MR.
(w)	Wind frame.
×1 <sup>3</sup> , ×2 <sup>6</sup> , ×3 <sup>8</sup>	Body axes.
X, \$, X, \$, X, \$	Stability axes during perturbed flight.
X12, X22, X22	Stability axes during reference flight.
X, Y, X <sub>2</sub> Y, X <sub>3</sub> Y	Yawing axes.
$X_1^L, X_2^L, X_3^L$	Line of node axes.
$X_1^N, X_2^N, X_3^N$	Nutation axes.
	-

X	Angle of attack.
$\vec{\alpha}_{R} = \vec{\omega}_{R}$	Dynamic-normalized spin rate during reference
	flight.
ß	Angle of sideslip.
ጸ	Glide angle.
58 - 8p - in	Glide angle perturbation.
<b>T</b> .	Complex angle of orientation.
δ	Perturbation symbol.
3	Perturbation symbol.
5	Body angle.
η	Cone angle.
$\mu = 2m   g S L$	Mass parameter.
8	Air density.
6	Node angle.
τ	Time parameter.
<b>¢</b>	Roll angle.
Ŧ	Roll angle referred to earth frame.
4	Yaw angle.
4	Yaw angle referred to earth frame.
$\left[ \mathcal{D}_{(a)(t)}^{b} \right]$	Skew-symmetric angular velocity tensor of
	perturbed stability frame relative to
	inertial frame.
$\left[ \omega_{\rho}^{(g)(t)} \right]$	Axial vector of $\left[\Omega_{p}^{(1)}\right]$ .
[ w (B)(A) ]	Angular velocity axial vector of body frame (B)
<i>k.</i>	relative to air frame (A).
[ $\varepsilon \omega^{(s)(1)}$ ]	Perturbations of angular velocity of frame (S)
	relative to frame (I).

214

ŗ

	vector along the spin axis.
Wr= dr	Dynamic-normalized spin rate during reference
	flight.
$\hat{\omega} = \frac{\omega l}{v}$	Tip-speed ratio.
$\hat{\omega}_{r} = \omega_{r} L$	Aero-normalized spin rate during reference
Va	flight or tin-speed ratio.

Spin rate. Component of the angular velocity

# SUBSCRIPTS

ω

r.	Reference flight
SS	Steady-state flight.

# SUPERSCRIPTS

υ

Α -	Aero-normalized.
	Dynamic-normalized.
~	Averaged value.
T	Transposed.

# LITERATURE CITED

1.	Brunk, J.; Davidson, W.L.; Rakestraw, R.W.	"The Dynamics of Spinning Bodies at Large Angle of Attack." AFOSR/DRA-62-3. January 1962. AD 275 437.
2.	Brunk, J.	"The Dynamics and Aerodynamics of Self- Sustained Large Angle of Attack Body Spinning Motions." AFOSR-4596. February 1963. AD 407 183.
3.	Boehier, G.D. and Foshag, W.F.	"Wing Rotors." US Patent No. 3262656. Filed October 1964.
4.	Foshag, W.F. and Eoehler, G.D.	"Review and Preliminary Evaluation of Lift- ing Horizontal-Axis Rotating-Wing Aero- nautical Systems (HARWAS)". USAAVLABS Technical Report 69-13. March 1969. AD 857 462.
5.	Maxwell, J.C.	"On A Particular Gase of the Descent of a Heavy Body in a Resisting Medium." Cambridge and Dublin Math. J. IX (1854) pp. 115-118.
6.	Millevolte, P.L.	"Dynamic Stability of Vortex Gliders." Master's Thesis, University of Minnesota, 1966.
7.	Bustamante, A.C. and Stone, G.W.	"Autorotational Characteristics of Flat Plates and Right Circular Cylinders at Subsonic Speeds." Sandia Labs., New Mexico, SC-RR-67-778. November 1967.
8.	Bustamante, A.C.	"Free-Fall Rotation and Aerodynamic Motion of Rectangular Plates." Sandia Labs., New Mexico. SC-RR-68-132. August 1968.
9.	Bustamante, A.C. and Stone, G.W.	"The Autorotation Characteristics of Various Shapes in Subsonic and Hypersonic Flow." Sandia Labs., New Mexico. SC-RR-69-159. April 1969.
10.	Truesdell, C.	"Die rationale Mechanik der Kontinua." ZAMM Band 44 (1964) Heft 8/9 pp. 341-347.
11.	Hamel, G.	'Die Axiome der Mechanik." Handbuch der Physik, Band 5 (1929) Springer Verlag, Berlin, p. 6.

.

, -

216

.

0

.

12	Noll, W.	"On the Continuity of the Solid and Fluid States." J. Rat. Mech. Anal. 4, 1 (1955) p. 19.
13.	Jeffreys and Jeffreys	"Methods of Mathematical Physics." Cambridge at the University Press, 1956.
14.	Wrede, R.C.	"Introduction to Veccor and Tensor Analysis." John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 1963.
15.	Brillouin, L.	"Tensors in Mechanics and Elasticity." Academic Press, 1964.
16.	Etkin, B.	"Dynamics of Flight." John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1959.
17.	Hopkin, H.R.	"A Scheme of Notation and Nomenclature for Aircraft Dynamics and Associated Aero- dynamics." June 1966. Royal Aircraft Establishment. TR 66200.
18.	Maple, C.G. and Synge, J.L.	"Aerodynamic Symmetry of Projectiles." Quarterly of Applied Mathematics Vol. VI No. 4, (1949), pp. 345-366.
19.	Charters, A.C.	"The Linearized Equations of Motion Under- lying The Dynamic Stability of Aircraft, Spinning Projectiles, and Symmetrical Missiles." NACA TN 3350. January 1955.
20.	Wright, J.	"A Compilation of Aerodynamic Nomenclature and Axes Systems." NOLR 1241. August 1962. AD 284 911.
21.	Bogoliubov, N.N. and Mitropolsky, Y.A.	"Asymptotic Methods in the Theory of Non- Linear Oscillations." Second Edition. Translated from the Russian. Gordon and Breach Science Publisher, Inc., 1961.
22.	Malkin, I.C.	"Theorie der Stabilitaet einer Bewegung." Translated from the Russian by W. Hahn. R. Oldenbourg Munic, W. Germany, 1959.
23.	Bellman, R.	"Stability Theory of Differential Equations." McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., 1953.
24.	Cesari, L.	"Asymptotic Behavior and Stability Problems in Ordinary Differential Equations." Second Edition. Academic Press Inc., 1963.

ş

25.	Zubov, V.1.	Automatic Control Systems." Translated from the Russian by Yaakov Schorr-Kon. MacMillan Company, 1963.					
26.	Van Aken, R.W. and Kelly, H.R.	"The Magnus Force on Spinning Cylinders." IAS Reprint No. 712. January 1957.					
27.	Swanson, W.M.	"An Experimental Investigation of the Two- Dimensional Magnus Effect." Final Report, Contract DA-33-019-ORD-1434. Case Institute of Technology. December 1956. AD 122 945.					
28.	Ralston, A. and Wilf, H.S.	"Mathematical Methods for Digital Computers." John Wiley & Sons, 1960.					

and the second design of the

# APPENDIX A

### PROOFS OF SECTION 3.3

<u>PROPERTY 1</u>: The rotational derivative of a vector [p] relative to a frame (R) is a vector; i.e., let  $(\overline{M})$  and  $(\overline{\overline{M}})$  be any two frames with the associated coordinate systems  $]^{\overline{M}}$  and  $]^{\overline{\overline{M}}}$  and the transformation matrix  $[T]^{\overline{M}\overline{M}}$ , then

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(n)}_{p}\right]^{\tilde{H}} = \left[T\right]^{\tilde{H}\tilde{\tilde{H}}} \left[\mathcal{D}^{(n)}_{p}\right]^{\tilde{\tilde{H}}}$$
(1)

<u>PROOF</u>: The proof will be carried out in subscript notation with summation convention. We shall use the following notation:

$$\vec{p}_{i} \leftarrow [p] \quad \text{arbitrary vector}$$

$$\vec{p}_{i} \leftarrow [p]^{R} \quad \text{components in } ]^{R} - \text{coordinate system}$$

$$\vec{p}_{i} \leftarrow [p]^{\tilde{h}} \quad \text{components in } ]^{\tilde{h}} - \text{coordinate system}$$

$$\vec{p}_{i} \leftarrow [p]^{\tilde{h}} \quad \text{components in } ]^{\tilde{h}} - \text{coordinate system}$$

$$\vec{n}_{i} \leftarrow [n]^{R} \quad \text{vector fixed in reference frame but otherwise}$$

$$arbitrary ; \frac{d}{dt} \pi_{i} = 0$$

$$\vec{t}_{ij} \leftarrow [T]^{\tilde{h}R} \quad \text{transformation matrix}$$

$$\vec{t}_{ij} \leftarrow [T]^{\tilde{h}R} \quad \text{transformation matrix}$$

$$\vec{t}_{ij} = \vec{t}_{ik} \cdot \vec{t}_{jk} \leftarrow [T]^{\tilde{h}R} = [T]^{\tilde{h}R} [T]^{\tilde{h}R}$$

To prove Equation (1), we will generate a scalar  $\beta_i n_i$ ; and take the time derivative:

$$\frac{d}{dt}(\rho;\pi_i) = \frac{d}{dt}(\bar{\rho};\bar{\pi}_i) = \frac{d}{dt}(\bar{\rho};\bar{\pi}_i)$$
(2)

Expanding the first relationship of Equation (2), we obtain:

$$\pi_{L} \frac{d}{dt} \rho_{L} = \bar{\rho}_{L} \frac{d}{dt} \bar{\pi}_{L} + \bar{\pi}_{s} \frac{d}{dt} \bar{\rho}_{s}$$
(3)

where we used the fact that  $\pi_i$  is a vector fixed in the reference frame, i.e.,  $\frac{d}{dt} \pi_i = 0$ 

Let ...

$$\bar{\pi}_{\mu} = \bar{t}_{\mu}; \pi; \qquad (4)$$

and substitute into Equation (3):

$$\pi_i \frac{d}{dt} p_i = \left(\frac{d}{dt} \overline{t}_{ki}\right) \overline{p}_k \pi_i + \overline{t}_{si} \left(\frac{d}{dt} \overline{p}_s\right) \pi_i$$
(5)

Because  $\Lambda_1^*$  is arbitrary, we get:

$$\frac{d}{dt} p_i = \left( \frac{d}{dt} \bar{f}_{ui} \right) \bar{p}_u + \bar{t}_{si} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \bar{p}_s \right)$$
(6)

Multiply and contract

$$\delta_{Li} = \bar{t}_{sL} \bar{t}_{si} \tag{7}$$

on both sides of Equation (6)

$$\delta_{li} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} p_{i} = \tilde{t}_{sl} \tilde{t}_{si} \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \tilde{t}_{wi} \right) \tilde{p}_{u} + \delta_{li} \tilde{t}_{si} \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \tilde{p}_{s} \right)$$
(8)

Thus

$$\frac{d}{dt} p_{\ell} = \overline{f}_{s\ell} \left[ \frac{d}{dt} \, \overline{p}_{s} + \overline{f}_{si} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \, \overline{f}_{ki} \right) \overline{p}_{k} \right]$$
<sup>(9)</sup>

The second relationship of Equation (2)

$$\frac{d}{dt}(p;h;) = \frac{d}{dt}(\bar{p};\bar{h};)$$
(10)

220

ņ

yields a similar equation using the same procedure:

$$\frac{d}{dt}\rho_{\ell} = \bar{t}_{n\ell} \left\{ \frac{d}{dt} \bar{p}_{n} + \bar{t}_{nj} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \bar{t}_{pj} \right) \bar{p}_{p} \right\}$$
(11)

Set Equation (9) equal to Equation (11)

$$\bar{f}_{sl}\left(\frac{d}{dt}\bar{p}_{s}+\bar{f}_{si}\left(\frac{d}{dt}\bar{t}_{ki}\right)\bar{p}_{k}\right)=\bar{f}_{nl}\left(\frac{d}{dt}\bar{p}_{n}+\bar{f}_{nj}\left(\frac{d}{dt}\bar{t}_{pj}\right)\bar{p}_{p}\right)$$
(12)

Multiply and contract  $\overline{t}_{te}$  on both sides of Equation (12) and introduce

$$\dot{t}_{tn}^{*} = \bar{t}_{tk} \bar{\bar{t}}_{nk}$$
(13)

We get

$$\frac{d}{dt} \bar{p}_{t} + \bar{t}_{ti} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \bar{t}_{ui} \right) \bar{p}_{u} = t_{tn}^{u} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \bar{p}_{n} + \bar{t}_{nj} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \bar{t}_{pj} \right) \bar{p}_{p} \right)$$
(14)

which, in matrix notation, takes the form:

$$\frac{d}{dt}[p]^{\overline{H}} + [T]^{\overline{H}R} \left( \frac{d}{dt}[T]^{\overline{H}R} \right) [p]^{\overline{H}} = [T]^{\overline{H}\overline{H}} \left( \frac{d}{dt}[p]^{\overline{H}} + [T]^{\overline{H}R} \left( \frac{d}{dt}[T]^{\overline{H}R} \right) [p]^{\overline{H}} \right) (15)$$

This can be written according to Equation (3.19):

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(n)}p\right]^{\overline{H}} = \left[T\right]^{\overline{H}\overline{\overline{H}}} \left[\mathcal{D}^{(n)}p\right]^{\overline{\overline{H}}}$$
(16)

which is exactly the form of Equation (1).

<u>PROPERTY 2</u>: The rotational derivative of a tensor (P) relative to frame (R) is a tensor; i.e., let  $(\bar{n})$  and  $(\bar{\bar{n}})$  be any two frames with the associated coordinate systems  $]^{\bar{n}}$  and  $]^{\bar{\bar{n}}}$  and the transformation matrix  $[T]^{\bar{n}\bar{\bar{n}}}$ , then

$$\left[\mathcal{B}^{(\boldsymbol{\varrho})} \boldsymbol{P}\right]^{\overline{\mathbf{h}}} = \left[\boldsymbol{T}\right]^{\overline{\mathbf{h}} \overline{\overline{\mathbf{h}}}} \left[\mathcal{B}^{(\boldsymbol{\varrho})} \boldsymbol{P}\right]^{\overline{\mathbf{h}}} \left[\boldsymbol{T}\right]^{\overline{\mathbf{h}} \overline{\overline{\mathbf{h}}}^{T}}$$
(17)

<u>PROOF</u>: The proof is similar to that of Property 1. As additional notation, we need only  $R_{ij}$ , a tensor whose components are time invariant with respect to the frame (R), i.e.,  $\frac{d}{dt}R_{ij} = 0_{ij}$ 

We form a scalar with the twice-contracted product of  $P_{ij}$  and  $R_{ij}$  and take the time derivative

$$\frac{d}{dt}(P_{ij}R_{ij}) = \frac{d}{dt}(\bar{P}_{ij}\bar{R}_{ij}) = \frac{d}{dt}(\bar{P}_{ij}\bar{R}_{ij})$$
(18)

Expanding the first relationship of Equation (18), we obtain:

$$R_{ij} \frac{d}{dt} P_{ij} = \bar{R}_{lm} \frac{d}{dt} \bar{P}_{lm} + \bar{P}_{kn} \frac{d}{dt} \bar{R}_{kn}$$
(19)

Take the time derivative of

$$\bar{R}_{kn} = \bar{t}_{ki} \bar{t}_{nj} R_{ij}$$
<sup>(20)</sup>

$$\frac{d}{dt} \bar{R}_{kn} = \left(\bar{t}_{ki} \left(\frac{d}{dt} \bar{t}_{kj}\right) + \left(\frac{d}{dt} \bar{t}_{ki}\right) \bar{t}_{kj}\right) R_{ij} \qquad (21)$$

and substitute into Equation (19). Because  $R_{ij}$  is arbitrary, we get, in view of Equation (20):

$$\frac{d}{dt} P_{ij} = t_{m_j} t_{ij} \frac{d}{dt} \overline{P}_{lm} + \overline{t}_{\kappa i} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \overline{t}_{n_j} \right) \overline{P}_{m} + \left( \frac{d}{dt} \overline{t}_{\kappa i} \right) \overline{t}_{n_j} \overline{P}_{m}$$
(22)

Multiplying Equation (22) by

$$\delta_{pi} = \bar{t}_{np} \bar{t}_{ni}$$
;  $\delta_{qj} = \bar{t}_{sq} \bar{t}_{sj}$  (23)

and contracting yields:

$$\frac{d}{dt} P_{p_{1}} = \bar{t}_{m_{1}} \bar{t}_{ep} \left\{ \frac{d}{dt} \bar{P}_{em} + \bar{t}_{ei} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \bar{t}_{ui} \right) \bar{P}_{um} + \bar{P}_{en} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \bar{t}_{uj} \right) \bar{t}_{m_{j}} \right\}$$
(24)

The second relationship of Equation (18)

$$\frac{d}{dt}(P_{ij}R_{ij}) - \frac{d}{dt}(\bar{P}_{ij}\bar{R}_{ij})$$
<sup>(25)</sup>

yields a similar equation using the same procedure:

$$\frac{d}{dt}P_{pq} = \bar{t}_{nq}\bar{t}_{lp}\left(\frac{d}{dt}\bar{P}_{lm} + \bar{t}_{li}\left(\frac{d}{dt}\bar{t}_{ki}\right)\bar{P}_{km} + \bar{P}_{ln}\left(\frac{d}{dt}\bar{t}_{nj}\right)\bar{t}_{mj}\right) (26)$$

Set Equation (24) equal to Equation (26), multiply both sides by  $\overline{t}_{aq} \overline{t}_{bp}$ , contract, and introduce

$$t_{as}^{*} = \overline{t}_{aq} \overline{t}_{sq} \quad ; \quad t_{bt}^{*} = \overline{t}_{bp} \overline{t}_{tp} \tag{27}$$

The result is:

$$\frac{d}{dt} \overline{P}_{ba} + \overline{t}_{bi} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \overline{t}_{ki} \right) \overline{P}_{kc} + \overline{P}_{bn} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \overline{t}_{nj} \right) \overline{t}_{aj} =$$

$$= t_{bt}^{*} + t_{as}^{*} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \overline{P}_{ts} + \overline{t}_{tn} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \overline{t}_{nn} \right) \overline{P}_{vs} + \overline{P}_{tn} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \overline{t}_{nw} \right) \overline{t}_{sw} \right\}$$

$$(28)$$

$$= t_{bt}^{*} + t_{as}^{*} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \overline{P}_{ts} + \overline{t}_{tn} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \overline{t}_{nn} \right) \overline{P}_{vs} + \overline{P}_{tn} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \overline{t}_{nw} \right) \overline{t}_{sw} \right\}$$

$$= t_{bt}^{*} + t_{as}^{*} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \overline{t}_{nw} \right) \overline{t}_{sw} \left\{ \frac{d}{dt} \overline{t}_{nw} \right\}$$

and

$$\frac{d}{dt} [P]^{\overline{H}} + [T]^{\overline{H}R} (\frac{d}{dt} [T]^{\overline{H}R^{T}}) [P]^{\overline{H}} + [P]^{\overline{H}} (\frac{d}{dt} [T]^{\overline{H}R}) [T]^{\overline{H}R^{T}}$$
(29)  
$$= [T]^{\overline{H}\overline{H}} \left\{ \frac{d}{dt} [P]^{\overline{H}} + [T]^{\overline{H}R} (\frac{d}{dt} [T]^{\overline{H}R^{T}}) [P]^{\overline{H}} + [P]^{\overline{H}} (\frac{d}{dt} [T]^{\overline{H}R}) [T]^{\overline{H}R^{T}} \right\}$$

This can be written according to Equation (3.20):

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(\mathbf{R})} \mathbf{P}\right]^{\overline{\mathbf{H}}} = \left[\mathbf{T}\right]^{\overline{\mathbf{H}} \overline{\mathbf{H}}} \left[\mathcal{D}^{(\mathbf{R})} \mathbf{P}\right]^{\overline{\mathbf{H}}} \left[\mathbf{T}\right]^{\overline{\mathbf{H}} \overline{\mathbf{H}}^{T}}$$
(30)

which is exactly Equation (17).

PROPERTY 3: If the allowable coordinate systems are right-hand orthogonal Cartesian coordinate systems, then an axial vector [l] has the same

rotational derivative as a regular vector; i.e., let  $(\overline{M})$  and  $(\overline{\overline{M}})$  be any two frames with the associated coordinate systems  $]^{\overline{M}}$  and  $]^{\overline{M}}$  and the transformation matrix  $[7]^{\overline{M}}$ , then

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{(\mathbf{R})}\right]^{\overline{\mathbf{H}}} = \left[\mathbf{T}\right]^{\overline{\mathbf{H}}\overline{\mathbf{H}}} \left[\mathcal{D}^{(\mathbf{R})}\right]^{\overline{\mathbf{H}}}$$
(31)

<u>PROOF</u>: It is sufficient to show that, if  $P_{ij}$  of Equation (22) is a skewsymmetric second-order tensor, say  $L_{ij}$ , Equation (22) can be reduced to Equation (9) with axial vector  $l_i$ . Rewrite Equation (22) for  $L_{ij}$ :

$$\frac{d}{dt} \operatorname{Lij} = \overline{\operatorname{Lij}} \overline{\operatorname{Li}} \frac{d}{dt} \overline{\operatorname{Lim}} + \overline{\operatorname{Lim}} \left\{ \overline{\operatorname{Lii}} \frac{d}{dt} \overline{\operatorname{Lij}} + \left( \frac{d}{dt} \overline{\operatorname{Lii}} \right) \overline{\operatorname{Lij}} \right\}$$
(32)

Introduce the definition

$$L_{ij} = \mathcal{E}_{ijp} l_{p} ; \ \overline{L}_{ij} = \overline{\mathcal{E}}_{ijp} \overline{l}_{p}$$
(33)

into Equation (32):

$$\mathcal{E}_{ijp} \frac{d}{dt} lp = \bar{t}_{uj} \bar{t}_{li} \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{lmq} \frac{d}{dt} \bar{l}_{q} + \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{unn} \bar{l}_{n} \left\{ \bar{t}_{ui} \frac{d}{dt} \bar{t}_{uj} + \left( \frac{d}{dt} \bar{t}_{ui} \right) \bar{t}_{uj} \right\}$$
(34)

To reduce further the second term on the right-hand side of Equation (34), we use the transformation relation

$$\tilde{\epsilon}_{pqn} = [\bar{\epsilon}] \bar{\epsilon}_{pi} \bar{\epsilon}_{qu} \bar{\epsilon}_{nm} \tilde{\epsilon}_{ium}$$
 (35)

Multiplying both sides by  $\overline{t}_{p}$ ,  $\overline{t}_{q_{1}}$  and taking the time derivative yields:

$$\overline{\epsilon}_{kna} \left\{ \overline{\epsilon}_{ki} \frac{d}{dt} \overline{\epsilon}_{nj} + \left( \frac{d}{dt} \overline{\epsilon}_{ki} \right) \overline{\epsilon}_{nj} \right\} = |\overline{\epsilon}| \epsilon_{ijs} \frac{d}{dt} \overline{\epsilon}_{ns}$$
 (36)

Substitute Equation (36) into Equation (34)

$$\mathcal{E}_{ijp} \frac{d}{dt} \mathcal{L}_{p} = \overline{t}_{mj} \overline{t}_{\ell i} \overline{\mathcal{E}}_{\ell mq} \frac{d}{dt} \overline{\mathcal{L}}_{q} + |\overline{t}| \mathcal{E}_{ijs} \left(\frac{d}{dt} \overline{t}_{ns}\right) \overline{\mathcal{L}}_{n} \qquad (37)$$

and use the inverse of Equation (35)

$$\varepsilon_{ijs} = \frac{1}{|\overline{t}|} \ \overline{\varepsilon}_{lmq} \ \overline{t}_{li} \ \overline{t}_{mj} \ \overline{t}_{qs}$$
(38)

to combine the terms on the right-hand side of Equation (37):

$$\varepsilon_{ijp} \frac{d}{dt} lp = \varepsilon_{lmq} \overline{t}_{mj} \overline{t}_{li} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \overline{l}_q + \overline{t}_{qs} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \overline{t}_{ss} \right) \overline{l}_n \right)$$
(39)

In view of

$$\overline{\varepsilon}_{lmq} \overline{t}_{mj} \overline{t}_{li} = |\overline{t}| \varepsilon_{ijp} \overline{t}_{qp}$$
 (40)

we get:

$$\varepsilon_{ijp} \frac{d}{dt} l_p = \varepsilon_{ijp} |\overline{t}| \overline{t}_{qp} \left\{ \frac{d}{dt} \overline{l}_q + \overline{t}_{qs} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \overline{t}_{rs} \right) \overline{l}_r \right\}$$
(41)

For right-hand orthogonal Cartesian coordinate systems,  $(\overline{t}) = +1$ . Furthermore, because i, j are free indices, there will be for each  $\rho = 1, 2, 3$  a combination of i, j such that  $\epsilon_{ij}\rho \neq 0$ . Therefore, Equation (41) becomes

$$\frac{d}{dt} l_{p} = \bar{t}_{qp} \left\{ \frac{d}{dt} \bar{l}_{q} + \bar{t}_{qs} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \bar{t}_{ns} \right) \bar{l}_{n} \right\}$$
(42)

which is exactly in the form of Equation (9).

THEOREM OF TRANSFORMATION OF FRAMES. Let (A) and (B) be two arbitrary frames related by the angular velocity tensor  $[\Omega^{(B)(A)}]$ . Then, for any vector [p], the following relationship holds:

$$[\mathcal{B}^{(A)}p] = [\mathcal{B}^{(B)}p] + [\Omega^{(B)(A)}][p]$$
(43)

where every term is a first-order tensor.

PROOF: We shall use the following notation:

 $p_i \leftarrow [p]$ arbitrary vector vector fixed in frame (A) but otherwise arbitrary a: vector fixed in frame (B) but otherwise arbitrary 6 components in first arbitrary coordinate system ]  $\bar{p}_i \longrightarrow \lfloor p \rfloor^{\bar{H}}$ components in second arbitrary coordinate system ] pī ←> [p]<sup>ā</sup> components in coordinate system 3<sup>A</sup> associated with ã frame (A); note:  $\frac{d}{dt} \widetilde{a}_{t} = 0$ يع نو components in coordinate system **3**<sup>B</sup> associated with frame (B); note:  $\frac{d}{d_{f}} = 0$ 

coordinate transformations

Equation (3.45) permits us to introduce the components of two angular velocity tensors:

$$\stackrel{d}{=} \widetilde{b}_{i} = \widetilde{\Omega}_{ij}^{(B)(A)} \widetilde{b}_{j}$$
(44)

$$\hat{\vec{a}}_{i} = \hat{\vec{a}}_{i} (A)(B) \hat{\vec{a}}_{j}$$
(45)

To prove the theorem, generate two scalars  $a_i p_i$  and  $b_i p_i$ , take their time derivatives and add:

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left( \vec{\alpha}_{i} \vec{p}_{i} \right) + \frac{d}{dt} \left( \vec{b}_{i} \vec{p}_{i} \right) = \frac{d}{dt} \left( \vec{a}_{i} \vec{p}_{i} \right) + \frac{d}{dt} \left( \vec{b}_{i} \vec{p}_{i} \right)$$
(46)

$$(\tilde{a}_{i}+\tilde{b}_{i})\frac{d}{dt}\tilde{p}_{i}+\tilde{p}_{i}\frac{d}{dt}\tilde{b}_{i}=(\tilde{a}_{i}+\tilde{b}_{i})\frac{d}{dt}\tilde{p}_{i}+\tilde{p}_{i}\frac{d}{dt}\tilde{a}_{i}$$
(47)

Substitute Equations (44) and (45) into Equation (47) and get:

$$(\widetilde{\alpha}_{i} + \widetilde{b}_{i}) \frac{d}{dt} \widetilde{p}_{i} = (\widetilde{\widetilde{\alpha}}_{i} + \widetilde{\widetilde{b}}_{i}) \frac{d}{dt} \widetilde{p}_{i} + \widetilde{p}_{i} \widetilde{\Omega}_{ij}^{(A)(B)} \widetilde{\widetilde{\alpha}}_{j} - \widetilde{p}_{j} \widetilde{\Omega}_{ij}^{(B)(A)} \widetilde{b}_{j}^{(A)}$$

$$(48)$$

This can be simplified, noting that each term is a scalar and that:

$$\widehat{\Omega}_{ij}^{(A)(B)} = - \widehat{\Omega}_{ij}^{(B)(A)} = + \widehat{\Omega}_{ji}^{(C)(A)}$$
(49)

$$(\tilde{a}_{i}+\tilde{b}_{i})\overset{\alpha}{\rightarrow}\tilde{p}_{i} = (\tilde{a}_{i}+\tilde{b}_{i})\overset{\alpha}{\rightarrow}\tilde{p}_{i} + (\tilde{a}_{j}+\tilde{b}_{j})\overset{\alpha}{\rightarrow}\tilde{\Omega}_{ji} \overset{(0)(A)}{\rightarrow}\tilde{p}_{i} \qquad (50)$$

We will express the first factor of every term as  $(\overline{a_i} + \overline{b_i})$ , using the appropriate coordinate transformations, and convert the arbitrary vector  $p_i$  into  $\overline{p_i}$ ,  $\overline{p_i}$  components by

$$\vec{p}_i = t_{ji}^2 \vec{p}_j \quad ; \quad \vec{p}_i = t_{ji}^4 \vec{p}_j \quad (51)$$

We obtain:

$$(\overline{a}_{L} + \overline{b}_{L}) \{ t_{ki}^{1} t_{ii}^{1} \frac{d}{dt} \overline{p}_{i} + t_{ki}^{2} (\frac{d}{dt} t_{ji}^{1}) \overline{p}_{i}^{1} \} =$$

$$= (\overline{a}_{e} + \overline{b}_{k}) t_{ke}^{3} \{ t_{ki}^{4} t_{ji}^{4} \frac{d}{dt} \overline{p}_{i}^{2} + t_{ki}^{4} (\frac{d}{dt} t_{ji}^{4}) \overline{p}_{j} + \overline{\Omega}_{kj}^{(B)(A)} \overline{p}_{j} \}$$

$$= (\overline{a}_{e} + \overline{b}_{k}) t_{ke}^{3} \{ t_{ki}^{4} t_{ji}^{4} \frac{d}{dt} \overline{p}_{i}^{2} + t_{ki}^{4} (\frac{d}{dt} t_{ji}^{4}) \overline{p}_{j} + \overline{\Omega}_{kj}^{(B)(A)} \overline{p}_{j} \}$$

$$(52)$$

Because  $\bar{a}_{\ell}$  and  $\bar{b}_{\ell}$  are the components of arbitrary vectors contained in (A) and (B), respectively,  $(\bar{a}_{\ell} + \bar{b}_{\ell})$  are the components of an arbitrary vector. From Equation (52) it follows:

$$\frac{d}{dt}\overline{p}_{\ell} + t_{\ell_i}^1 \left( \frac{d}{dt} t_{ji}^1 \right) \overline{p}_j = t_{k\ell}^3 \left\{ \frac{d}{dt} \overline{p}_{k} + t_{ki}^4 \left( \frac{d}{dt} t_{ji}^4 \right) \overline{p}_j + \overline{\Omega}_{kj}^{(0)(A)} \overline{p}_j \right\}$$
(53)

and in matrix notation:

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left[ p \right]^{\overline{H}} + \left[ T \right]^{\overline{H}A} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \left[ T \right]^{\overline{H}A^{T}} \right) \left[ p \right]^{\overline{H}} =$$

$$(54)$$

$$= \left[ T \right]^{\overline{H}\overline{H}} \left\{ \frac{d}{dt} \left[ p \right]^{\overline{H}} + \left[ T \right]^{\overline{H}G} \left( \frac{d}{dt} \left[ T \right]^{\overline{H}G^{T}} \right) \left[ p \right]^{\overline{H}} + \left[ \Omega^{(G)(A)} \right]^{\overline{H}} \right] p \right]^{\overline{H}}$$

which, in view of Equation (3.19), becomes:

$$[\mathfrak{D}^{(A)}p]^{\overline{H}} = [T]^{\overline{H}\overline{h}} \left\{ [\mathfrak{D}^{(0)}p]^{\overline{H}} + [\Omega^{(0)(A)}]^{\overline{H}} [p]^{\overline{H}} \right\}$$
(55)

Because  $]^{H}$  and  $]^{H}$  are arbitrary coordinate systems, we can write Equation (55) in the tensorial form of Equation (43).

## APPENDIX B

## COMPUTER PROGRAM MAGSIX

The equations of motion of a Magnus rotor in perturbed planar glide phase, Table 12.1, were programmed in Fortran IV for the Control Data Corporation Computer CDC 3150. It was assumed that the air density and the aerodynamic coefficients are constant. To solve the differential equations, a fourth-order Runge-Kutta method was used because it is stable, self-starting, and adjusts the time increment so that a specified upper error bound is not exceeded (see Ralston and Wilf (28)).

The functional operation of the program is shown in Figure B.1. The main program MAGSIX reads the data, controls the computational process, and writes the headings, input parameters, and initial conditions. The input data are given in the dimensions  $K_g$ (mass), m, sec, while the calculation is performed in dynamic-normalized (DN) units. To convert from one system to the other, the subroutine CONVERT is used. The actual calculations are executed in the subroutines RKGS and FCT. They start at the initial time specified by PRMT (1) and proceed in time intervals not to exceed the value PRMT (2) until the final time PRMT (3) is reached. Then the control is transferred back to MAGSIX for new input data. The results of the calculations are written by the subroutine OUTPUT in row form, following the initial conditions.



# FIGURE B.1 MAGSIX FUNCTIONAL CHART

Table B. 1 summarizes all the required input data. The accuracy of the computations is controlled by the upper error bound, PRMT (4), and the error weights W(I); I = 1, ..., 10. At each time step the total error is calculated by the formula

$$\delta = \frac{1}{15} \sum_{I=1}^{10} W(I) \Delta P(I)$$
(B.1)

If  $\delta > Pant(4)$ , the time interval is halved and the calculation repeated. The number of these bisections is given on the print-out in the column IHLF. The maximum error incurred at each time step by the I's state variable is

$$E(I) \leq \frac{15}{W(I)} \operatorname{PRMT}(4)$$
(B.2)

Some of the symbols used in the program have already been given in Table B.1. The remaining definitions are collected in Table B.2. The Fortran IV statements follow on pages 234 through 238, with the first portion of a print-out sheet on page 239.

RUN NO.:										
IDENT	TIFICATION	۷:						-		-
MAGNU	IS ROTOR I	PARAMETERS				CONTROL	PARAMET	ERS		
SYMBOL	COMP.SY.	VALUE	DIM.				COMP.	sy.*	VALUE	DIM.
9	RHO		KG/M <sup>3</sup>	No. o	f Equa	ations	NDIM		10	-
S	S		M2	Initi	al Tin	ne	PRMT (	1)		DNT
c/2	RL		M	Final	Time		PRMT (	2)		DNT
m	BM		KG	Upper	Time	Incr.	PRMT (	3)		DNT
I	TMOI		kg m <sup>2</sup>	Upper	Erroi	Bd.	PRMT (	4)		-
Iy	SMOI		kg m <sup>2</sup>	TN		CONDITI				TOUTS
×ss	GSS		DEG			CONDITI			RUK WI	
ĊD	C(1)	-		SYM.	CO.S	VALUE	DIM.	SYM.	VAL.	DIM.
ĊLÂ	C(2)			v <sub>R</sub> √	P(1)		M/SEC	۵۷ <sub>;۲</sub>	.05	DNL/DNT
C'na	C(3)			• n.	P(2)		DEG	<i>Ll</i> yn	.049	RAD
Cnad	C(4)		s	ω <sub>π</sub>	P(3)		RPM	٥.	.001	RAD/DNT
Cyp	C(5)		A N		P(4)		DEG	012	.2	RAD
Cyps	C(6)		лd	φ 	P(5)		DEG	40	.2	RAD
CLOB	C(7)		RA	Ψ	P(6)		DEG/SEC	40	.05	RAD/UNT
CLp	C(8)		z		P(/)		DEG	Δ4h	.2	RAD
CLOBS	C(9)		н	<b>Ar</b>	P(8)	-	DEG/SEC	54	.05	RAD/DNT
CLô3	C(10)		ы Б	X	P(9)		M	۵x	.1	DNL
	C(11)	-	ч	2	P(10)		М	<u>۶5</u>	.1	DNL
CLA AZ	C(12)		A 1	REMAR	<u>KS:</u>					
Cns	C(13)		ΛΙ	* сом	P.SY.	means:	Compute	r Sym	bol	
Cni	C(14)		а ш							
Cups	C(15)	×		-			-			
Cn <sub>n</sub> 3	C(16)		T T		-		-	-	-	-
Cnsif	C(17)	-	4				-			
CuBA2	C(18)					-		-	-	-

Ľ,

SYM.	COMP. SY.	EXPLANATION
というない ひょうしょう ひょうしょう ひょう ひょう ひょう ひょう ひょう ひょう ひょう ひょう ひょう ひ	GSS VSS TAU TMOIDN SMOIDN VR GAMR BETA FHI PHI. PSI PSI. XX ZZ WRAN DNT DNL	steady-state glide angle steady-state flight speed time parameter transverse M.O.I. dynamic norm. spin M.O.I. dynamic norm. flight speed glide angle side slip angle rolling angle yawing angle range vertical drop tip speed ratic dynamic-norm. time dynamic-norm. length
1	1	

TABLE B.2 COMPUTER SYMBOLS

00/14/70 MS FURTRAN (4.0)/MOUS PROGRAM MAGSIX EIMENSIUM Y (10) + P (10) + UERY (10) + PRMT (7) + AUX (8+10) + AAA (50) COMMON SMORHUSSALO TAULOSMOIOGSSOGOBMUOVSSOTAUOTAUIDNOSADIDNOC(18) C+ACCEL EXTERNAL FOT+UUIP I CALL SHEEN FEAU(00+11) 1404 COTO(10+2)+EUFCKE(OU) - HEAD (06+12) 444 ĤEAD(50+15) KHÚ+5,ML+5M+1M01+SMU1+655+(C(1)+1=1+18) FEΔ0(00+14) NDIM+ (PMMI(1)+I=1+6) HEAU(0(+15)(((1)+)CRY(1)+I=1+NDIM) ACCEL=0. FGSS=055#0.01/45 6=9.8065 EMU=(2.46M)/(480454KL) CUM1=SIN(HGSS) LUM2=AFS(DUM1) CUM3=>\*\*L\*5\*0\*00\*2/0(1) VSS=SUPT(DUM3) TAU=dML#AL/V35 1M0IDN=TM0I/(3K#(QL#0MU)##2) SMOIDN=SK(1/(-K\*(2L\*0MU)\*\*2) CALL CONVERT (H.Y.) + NUIM) FITE (E1,16) [HUN, AAA, HHU, GSS, S, VSS, HL, TAU, BM, BMU, TMOI, TMOIDN, C\$MOI+5MUIDN+(C(1)+1=1+15) #RITE(61,17)(#(1),Y(1),I=1,10) WPITE(61+18) CALL REGS (PERT +Y DERY + NDIM + THEF + FCT + UUTP + AUX) CALL RED(ITIPE) 11 FC MAT(12) 12 FORMAT (SUAL) 13 FORMAT (F20.6) 14 FORMAT(12, EX, 6E10.3) 15 FORMAT(2F2(.6) 16 FORMAT(181.942.00 PUN NU +12.5041.//// 655 \*.Elu.2.6m DEG C/.98 RHO =+EIU, C+CUM KG/CUM C/ . 9h S = FIU. COCUM DUM V55 =, 10,2,6H M/SEC, Crosh HL =+ElU.C+CUR M TAU =+E10-2+6H SEC C1.9H BN = + Elu + C + C UM NG BMU =, 10.2, TMUIDN =, E10.2. THUI = + EIU, COCUM KG. SOM C/,9H SMUI =+EIU.C+EUM NG.SOM SMOIDN =+10.2./// C1,9H CLw =, E10.2,8H CD =+E10.2+BM CMA =+E10.2:8H CMDw =+ H9.10 CE10.2+8H CYD =,E10.2,8H CYB3 =,E10.2,/,0H CLBW =,E10.2, CLP =,E10.2.8M "CL83 =,E10.2.8H CLP3 =,E10.2.8H CL82P =, CEH CE10.2+8H CLBP2 =+E10.2+/+8H = CNB ++E10.2+8H CNR =+E10+2+ CEH \_ CN83 =, E10.2.84 CNR3 =, E10.2.84 CN82R =, E10.2.84 CN8R2 =. CE10.2:////// 17 FORMAT (20X. 20H INITIAL CONDITIONS .// VHON =, E10.2.9H DNL/DNT , C/+20X+9n VE = . E10. 2, 16H M/SEC GAMR =, E10.2,16H DEG C/+20X+4H GAMR =, E10.2,94 RAD \*F = + 210 . 2 . 16H RPM C/+203+9h WRDN =+E10.2.9H RAD/DNT

.234

Ś

		235	
CLORE DETA -	F10 7-146 SEG		
	5 10 2. 164 DEG		
	Fla 2.155 CEG/EEC	PHI - FIN 3.0H DAD/DNT	
	EIVERION DEVISED	051 =+ 10 d-94 040	
	F10.2.144 DEG/EEP	PSI = FID 2.2H 65770 F	
		YYON SEED 249H ONE	
	Flürzalom M		
18 FORMAT (1+1.40).52	A TRAJECTORY AND AT	TITUDE MOTIONS OF THE MAGNUS	. 0
CCTCH-/// 21 1000			
		LI44JCHAAJJAICHLLJJAJCH48JJ X.AUVDANAAZADDTA EV.DUDNU.I	Α <b>γ</b>
C74051+5X+44041.+7		AIGHNEANITAGHDEIMJDAIJHEHIII 7.45.44HTTME: BX.48HTTME: 77.48	,
C2HONT+1UA+3HSEC+6	(   HM + 53 + 1 HM + 2X + 5 HM	/\$20.31.40056.31.5000.31.7	413A
CLIDAT + 60 640/11 1 +	PH RAUZANT 31 3HOFG	ASX. BHOEG. SV. BHOFC. AV. THOEG.	155
CC - 4 X = 7 HUE 67 SEC - 77		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
ISFC=)T1MF/1000-	•	-	
1M1N=15EC/60		_	
ISEC=FLUAT(ISEC)=	SUC "FLOAT (IMIN)		
*PITE(61,19)[41N+		-	
19 FORMAT (14H1 FUNN IN	5 TIME 13,9H MIN AN	U 13+47 SEC)	
60 TO 1			
10 CALL RED(ITIME)	<b>a</b> .		
STOP		-	
ÊND			
	-		
	-		
	-		
		- -	
· .		- - -	
· .			
SUBBOUT 1NF COLVER			
SUBROUTINE CUNVER	T(P,Y,NCODE,NDIM)		
SUBROUTINE CUVVER EIMENSIUN P(10) Y COMMON HMARHUASAR	T(P)Y)NCODE(NDIM) (10)+4(10) + TMUIADMOIAGSS-G-4		18.
SUBROUTINE CUVVER DIMENSIUN P(10) Y Common Em,Rhu,S+R C+ACCEL	T (P + Y + NCODE + NDIM) (10) + 4 (10) L + TMUI + 5M0I + GS5 + G + E	MU + VSS + TAU + THUIDN + SMOIDN + C (	18)
SUBROUTINE CUVVER DIMENSIUM P(10)+Y Common Em,RHU,S+R C+ACCEL FAD=57.2958 = 4(1	T(P+Y+NCODE+NDIM) (10)+4(10) L+TMUI+5M0I+GS5+G+E )=1/V55 + 4(2)=1/PA	BMU+VSS+TAU+THOIDN+SHOIDN+C(	18)
SUBROUTINE CUVVER DIMENSIUM P(10) Y COMMON BM,RHU,S+R C+ACCEL FAD=57.2958 D A(1 A(4)=1/KAD D A(5)	T(P,Y)NCODE,NDIM) (10)+4(10) L+TMUI+5M0I+GS5+G+E )=1/V55 \$ 4(2)=1/PA = 1/H40 \$ 4(6)=T400	MU+VSS+TAU+THUIDN+SMOIDN+C(	18)
SUBROUTINE CUVVER DIMENSIUM P(10) Y COMMON BM,RHU,S+R C+ACCEL FAD=57,2958 D A(1 A(4)=1/HAD S A(5) A(8)=TAU/HAD S A(	T(P,Y,NCODE,NDIM) (10)+4(10) L+TMUI+5M0I+GS5+G+E )=1/V35 \$ A(2)=1/PA = 1/RAD \$ A(6)=TAU/ 9)=1/(BMU*R(1) \$ A(1)	MU+VSS+TAU+THUIDN,SMOIDN+C( 10 \$ A(3)=TAU+0+10472 HAD \$ A(7)=1/RAD 0)=1/(3MU+R(1)	18)
SUBROUTINE CUVVER EIMENSIUM P(10) +Y COMMON BM,RHU,S+R C+ACCEL FAD=57.2958 = A(1 A(4)=1/KAD = A(5) A(8)=TAU/RAD = A( GO TO (100+200) NC	T(P,Y,NCODE,NDIM) (10)+4(10) L+TMUI+5M0I+655+6+E = 1/RAD \$ A(2)=1/PA = 1/RAD \$ A(6)=TAU/ 9)=1/(BMU*RL) \$ A(1 025	MU+VSS+TAU+TMUIDN,SMOIDN+C( ND & A(3)=TAU+0+10472 HAD & A(7)=1/RAD 0)=1/(3MU+RL)	18)
SUBROUTINE CUVVER CIMENSIUM P(10) +Y COMMON EM,RHU,S+R C+ACCEL FAD=57,2958 = A(1 A(4)=1/RAD = A(5) A(8)=TAU/RAD = A(5) A(8)=TAU/RAD = A(1) OU TO (100,200) WC 100 EO 101 1=1-WD	T(P,Y,OCODE,NDIM) (10)+4(10) LOTMUI,SMOI,GSS,G,E )=1/VSS \$ A(2)=1/PA = 1/NAD \$ A(6)=TAU/ 9)=1/(BMU+RL) \$ A(1 0CE	MU+VSS+TAU+TMUIDN,SMOIDN+C( D \$ A(3)=TAU#0+10472 HAD \$ A(7)=1/RAD 0)=1/(SMU#RL)	18)
SUBROUTINE CUVVER EIMENSIUM P(10) +Y COMMON EM,RHU,S+R C+ACCEL FAD=57,2958 D A(1 A(4)=1/HAD D A(5) A(8)=TAU/HAD D A(5) A(8)=TAU/HAD D A(5) IOU TO (100,200)WC 100 CO 101 I=1+WD 101 Y(1)=P(1)+A(1,	T(P,Y,NCODE,NDIM) (10)+4(10) L+TMUI+5M0I+GS5+G+E )=1/VSS \$ A(2)=1/PA = 1/RAD \$ A(6)=TAU/ 9)=1/(BMU*RL) \$ A(1 000	MU+VSS+TAU+TMOIDN,SMOIDN+C( ND & A(J)=TAU#U+10472 HAD & A(7)=1/RAU U)=1/(SMU#RL)	18)
SUBROUTINE CUVVER EIMENSIUM P(10) +Y COMMON BM,RHU,S.R C+ACCEL FAD=57.2958 B A(1 A(4)=1/RAD B A(5) A(8)=TAU/RAD B A(5) A(8)=TAU/RAD B A(5) IOU TO (100,200) NC 100 CO 101 1=1.40 101 Y(1)=P(1)+A(1, METURN	T(P,Y)+CODE+NDIM) (10)+A(10) L+TMUI+SMOI+GSS+G+E )=1/VSS \$ A(2)=1/PA = 1/HAD \$ A(6)=TAU/ 9)=1/(BMU+RL) \$ A(1 0CE	BMU+VSS+TAU+TMOIDN,SMOIDN+C( ND \$ A(3)=TAU*0+10472 HAD \$ A(7)=1/RAD 0)=1/(3MÚ*RL)	18)
SUBROUTINE CUVVER EIMENSIUM P(10) +Y COMMON BM,RHU,S+R C+ACCEL FAD=57.2958 D A(1 A(4)=1/KAD D A(5) A(8)=TAU/RAD D A(5) A(8)=TAU/RAD D A(1) GO TO (100,200) MC 100 EO 101 I=1+40 101 Y(I)=P(1)+A(1, METURN 200 EO 201 I=1+10 IM	T(P,Y,NCODE,NDIM) (10)+4(10) L+TMUI+5MOI+GS5+G+E )=1/V55 \$ A(2)=1/PA = 1/RAD \$ A(6)=TAU/ 9)=1/(BMU+RL) \$ A(1 0CE	MU+VSS+TAU+TMOIDN,SMOIDN+C( ND \$ A(J)=TAU*0+10472 HAD \$ A(7)=1/RAD 0)=1/(SMU*RL)	18)
SUBROUTINE CUVVEN EIMENSIUM P(10) +Y COMMON BM,RHU,S+R C+ACCEL FAD=57.2958 $\Rightarrow$ A(1 A(4)=1/RAD $\Rightarrow$ A(5) A(8)=TAU/RAD $\Rightarrow$ A(5) A(8)=TAU/RAD $\Rightarrow$ A(1) (0) TO (100,200) WC 100 EO 101 I=1+WD 101 Y(I)=P(1)+A(1, RETURN 201 P(1)=Y(1)/A(1)	T(P,Y,NCODE,NDIM) (10)+4(10) L+TMUI+5M0I+GS5+G+E )=1/V35 \$ A(2)=1/PA = 1/RAD \$ A(6)=TAU/ 9)=1/(BMU*RL) \$ A(1 000	MU+VSS+TAU+TMUIDN,SMOIDN+C( MU \$ A(3)=TAU*0+10472 HAD \$ A(7)=1/RAD 0)=1/(SMU*RL)	18)
SUBROUTINE CUVVER EIMENSIUM P(10) +Y COMMON EM,RHU,S+R C+ACCEL FAD=57,2958 D A(1 A(4)=1/HAD D A(5) A(8)=TAU/HAD D A(5) A(8)=TAU/HAD D A(5) A(8)=TAU/HAD D A(1) HETURN 201 F(1)=Y(1)/A(1) HETURN	T(P,Y,NCODE,NDIM) (10)+4(10) L+TMUI+5M0I+655+6+E )=1/V55 \$ A(2)=1/PA = 1/RAD \$ A(6)=TAU/ 9)=1/(BMU*RL) \$ A(1 0CE	MU+VSS+TAU+TMUIDN,SMOIDN+C( AD \$ A(3)=TAU*0+10472 HAD \$ A(7)=1/RAD 0)=1/(SMU*RL)	18)
SUBROUTINE CUVVER EIMENSIUM P(10) +Y COMMON EM,RHU,S+R C+ACCEL FAD=57,2958 D A(1 A(4)=1/HAD D A(5) A(8)=TAU/HAD D A(5) A(8)=TAU/HAD D A(5) A(8)=TAU/HAD D A(5) A(1)=1/HAD D A(1) HOU DO 101 I=1+HU 101 Y(I)=P(1)=A(1) HETURN 201 P(1)=Y(1)/A(1) HETURN END	T(P,Y,NCODE,NDIM) (10)+A(10) L+TMUI+SMOI+GSS+G+E )=1/VSS \$ A(2)=1/PA = 1/RAD \$ A(6)=TAU/ 9)=1/(BMU+RL) \$ A(1 0CE	MU+VSS+TAU+TMOIDN,SMOIDN+C( ND \$ A(J)=TAU*0+10472 HAD \$ A(7)=1/RAD 0)=1/(3MU*RL)	18)
SUBROUTINE CUVVER EIMENSIUM P(10) +Y COMMON EM,RHU,S.R C+ACCEL FAD=57.2958 $\Rightarrow$ A(1 A(4)=1/RAD $\Rightarrow$ A(5) A(8)=TAU/RAD $\Rightarrow$ A(5) A(8)=TAU/RAD $\Rightarrow$ A(1) CO TO (100.200) NC 100 EO 101 I=1.40 101 Y(I)=P(I)+A(1, METURN 201 F(I)=Y(I)/A(I) HETURN END	T(P,Y,NCODE,NDIM) (10)+4(10) L+TMUI+5MOI+GS5+G+E )=1/V55 \$ A(2)=1/PA = 1/HAD \$ A(6)=TAU/ 9)=1/(BMU+RL) \$ A(1 00E	BMU + VSS + TAU + TMOIDN , SMOIDN + C ( AU \$ A (3) = TAU * 0 + 10472 HAD \$ A (7) = 1/RAD 0) = 1/(3MU * RL)	18)

```
SURROUTINE WASS (PRATOYOEKYONDIMOTHLE OFCTOUTPOAUX)
   LIMENSIUN Y(1), UENY(1), AUX(801) (A(4), 88(4), U(4), PRMT(1)
   LO 1 I=1. NOIM
 1 AUX(d+1)=.0600500740ERY(1)
   FRMT(5)=U
   A=PPMT(1) & AEND=PMME(2) & H=PRMT(3) & CALL FCT(X+Y+DERY)
   IF (H+ (XEND-X))30,3/,2
 2 A(1)=.5 $ A(2)=.2928732 $ A(3)=1.707107 $ A(4)=.1060067
   E(1)=B(4)=2.0 \pm D(2)=B(3)=1.0
   C(1)=C(+)=0.5 + C(2)=.2920932 5 C(3)=1.707107
   CO 3 1=1.401M
   AJX(1,01)=Y(1) + AUX(d,01)=0ERY(1)
 3 AJX(3+I)エムルメ(り+1)エリ・リ
   IRECEN & SERVE & IMULANT & ISTEPHIENDED
 + IF ((X+H+XEND)+-)/+0+5
 5 FEXENUEA
 > 1=(v)=1
 7 CALL OUTP ( (.Y. JERY + INEL + NUIM + PRMT)
   IF (2247 (5) ) 43+3+41)
 O TIESPED
 * ISTEP=ISTEP+1 & J=1
(U) AJ=A(U) > HU=H(U) 2 UJ=C(U)
   00 11 1=1,NO14
   Y(I)=Y(戸)+Hノ ホーマピーネビャドビード
11 A JX (0+1) = AUX (0+1) + HZ=CU#R]
   1-(J-+)12,17+13
12 5=3+1
   IF (J=3) 13+14+13
13 X=X+. 341
14 CALL FOT(X.Y. JERY) 2 UU 10 10
10 17 (ITES 1) 10+ 10+20
15 C) 17 1=1. WIT 4
17 AJX(4+1)=(1)
   ITEST=1 & ISTER=ISTER+ISTER=2
13 [HLF= [HLF+] 5 A=A=C > M=+04H
   C) 19 I=1.der 4
   1(I)=AUX(1+1) 2 UEA((1)=AUX(2+1)
19 AUX(6+I)=UUX(2+L)
   3) TU 4
21 IMODELSIEN/2
   シティストレート・フリーシャリアノイシ・ピコ・ピュ
21 CALL FCI (X+Y++EMY)
   3) 26 I=14001 -
   A \rightarrow (5 \bullet I) = (I)
ZZ − 4 JX(7+1)=UERY(1)
   61 TO 7
23 CELTER
   6) 24 I=1+421
24 11月11日11日11日111日1194131444(491)44(1)
   18 ((死してードマリてしい)) というとうしつ
. > IF (IHLF-10) 20130+30
とう じり Z7 TFF15 の「ト
27 AUX(4)ゴン=AUX(-11)
   SOTEP=IST-P+ISTEP=4 & AGAAM & IEND=0 & GU TU IN
13 GALL FOR LAPPERTY
```

236

ŝ

30 CO 31 1=1+NDIA Y(I)=AUA(I+I) 31 DERY(1)=AUX(2+1) IREC=IHLF IF (IEND) 32+32+34 J2 IHLF=IHLF-1 & ISTEP=ISTEP/2 & H=H+H IF (IHLF) 4,33,33 JJ IMOD=1STEP/2 1+ (ISTEP-IMUU-1000) ++ 34++ 4 IF (DELT- 024241(4)) 339 3344 55 IHEFEIHEFEI & ISTEFEISIEF/2 & HEH+H & GU TU 4 35 IHLF=11 & CALL FOT(X+Y+DERY) & GO TO 39-37 IHLF=12 5 50 10 39 38 IHLF=13 37 CALL UUTP (KOYODERYOINLFONUIMOPRMT) WU RETURN END SUBBOUTINE FOT (X+Y+UERT) GIMENSIUN Y (13) + UEN Y(10) COMMON BARRAUSSAL . THOIS BOIS 655, G. BMU, VSS . TAU, THOIDN . SMOIDN . C (18) C+ACCEL UE2Y(1)=+C(1)\*Y(1)\*42+(TAU#G/455)#SIN(Y(2)) DEAY (2)=C(2) +Y(3)/#MU-1&U\*G\*COS(Y(2))/(VSS\*Y(1)) C = 2Y(3) = C(3) + (1) + 2/(BMU + SMUIDN) + C(4) + Y(1) + Y(3) / (SMUIDN + BMU + 2) $LERY(4) = (-ACCE_/Y(1) + Y(1) + C(5)) + Y(4) = Y(0) + TAU + G + COS(Y(2)) + Y(5))$ C(VSS#Y(1))+T404645111(Y(2))+Y(7)/(VSS#Y(1))+C(6)#YTTT+Y(4)#+3/6. 1178Y(5)=Y(6) ULQY(5)=C(7)+Y(1)+Y(3)+Y(4)/(TMUIUN+BHU++2)+C(8)+Y(1)+Y(6)/(TMUIDN C+HMU++2)+5MUIUN+Y(3)+Y(0)/TMUIUN+C(9)+Y(1)+Y(3)+Y(4)++3/(6.\*TMUIDN C+RMU++2)+C(10)+Y(6)++43/(0++Y(1)+TMOIDN+BMU+++)+C(11)+Y(3)+Y(4)++2+ CY (6) / (6.4 THOIDK #BML ##3) + C(12) #Y (4) #Y (0) ##2#Y (3) / (6.4 TMOIUN #BMU ##4# CY(1)) (EHA(3)=A(H))0E34(3)=((/140100)+(C(13)+Y(1)++2+Y(4)/BMU - 5M0I0N+Y(3)+Y(6)+ CE(14)\*Y(1)\*Y(3)/DMU\*\*2 + C(15)\*Y(1)\*\*2\*Y(4)\*\*3/(6.\*dMU) + C(16)\* CY (3) ##3/ (N. #HAN( ##4#Y(1)) + C(17) #Y(1) #Y(4) ##2#Y(8)/(0-#BMU##21+ CC(18)\*Y(4)+Y(4)\*#2/(0.#0MU##3)) (544(4)=4(1)400>(Y(2)) DERA(10) =- 4(1) + 21N(4(5)) - HE TURN とつけ

 $A_{ij} \times (1 + 1) = Y(1) = A_{ij} \times (2 + 1) = UEHY(1) = A_{ij} \times (3 + 1) = A_{ij} \times (6 + 1) = Y(1) = A_{ij} \times (6 + 1)$ 

APPENDIX B

LO 29 1=1+ND14

24 CERY(I)=AUX(/+I/

1F (PRMT (5)) 40, 30,40

CALL OUTP (X+M+Y) DEMINISHLF + NOIMOPRMT)

```
SUGROUTINE OUTERS, YOUERY, INLE, NDIM, PRMT)

LIMENSION Y(I) > + (IU) + UERY(ID) + PRMT(7) +

CGMMUN MARHU, SHELLIMUI, SMUI, GSS, G+BMU, VSS, TAU, TMUIDN, SMUIDN, C(IB)

C+ACCEL

ACCEL=DEFY(I)

I=TAUMX

C4LL CUNVERI(++Y+2+NUIA)

AFAN=Y(3)/(EMUM)(1))

AFITE(61+1)x+1+(9)+P(10)+P(2)+P(3)+Y(1)+Y(3)+WRAN, P(4)+P(5),

C+(7)+P(0)+P(0)+INLF

F(HMAI(IX+EIU+3+F1++2+NUIA)

AFTUEN

EFG
```

NO ERROPS LOAD.56 RUN.10

è

! ł DE6/SEC P51. 0.0 ļ DEG/SEC ľ 22000 000 3 ·IHd 3.206 6.366 9.006 1.136 1.376 í I Į DEG ISd : 5.91 19.75 19.75 22.47 CYB3 CLBP2 CNBR2 į THE MAGNUS ROTOR DEG THA 00 -25-27 -19-02 -19-02 00 8 ~3.82E - BETA DEG 11.20 . . . CLA2P CNA2P GYB CYB ĩ RAD/ANT **üRAN** FRAJECTORY AND ATTITUDE MOTIONS OF 255 ÷ RAD DNT RAD DNT RAD CNT RAD CNT DNT DNT /DNT • 0 -4.50E-01 : RAD/DNT "RON" 141 1.03E-02 3.63E-02 3.63E-02 000 -4.36E-01 10-. 1.48E × CHON CLP3 CNR3 DNL/UNT VADN 649 679 677 747 747 A 7 DEG M/SEC SEC U E. 1 . CO . 5.085-01 VRDN GANG BETA PHI PHI PSI ISS NON XADN XDX 1 -2.47E 01 1.31E 01 4.20E 00 8.81E 02 5.89E-06 8.79E-06 н ž **8**-1 . M/SEC DEG DEG DEG/SEC DEG/SEC MEG/SEC MAGNUS ROTOR -2.47E GANR. 0 OEG .... C . .... INIFIAL CONDITIONS 8 8 6 6 6 19 6 8 8 6 6 6 6 19 6 8 8 6 7 8 8 19 6 200'00 200'00 M/SEC N. - H.50E 885 -2.50E 2.00E -15.51 -1 19 .RECTANGULAR 2 2 81 <sup>6</sup> 6 N" K ни พร์พ H # KG/CUM к КG-SQM КG-SQM и и и XX T ณ พพพ พ ភ-៤ ៤ បី បី បី 504 999127 1-041079 1-043041 1-125501 1-156963 1-256963 1-256963 1-256963 1-256963 1-256963 1-256963 1-256963 1-256963 1-2550505 1-2550505 1-2550505 1-2550505 1-2550505 1-25505 1-25505 1 TIME 1.31E 00 -3.57E-01 -7.37E-01 SFC Ŷ X Z Z Z 044.-7054. TI4E 2.9916-01 2.5916-01 2.5916-01 2.5916-01 2.9916-01 2.9916-01 я і я . N HINS 0Ha CCH, C Dv1






FIGURE C.2 TRIANGULAR MAGNUS ROTOR 1. DIMENSIONS IN INCHES



FIGURE C.3 CYLINDRICAL MAGNUS ROTORS 1, 3, 4A, and 11. DIMENSIONS IN INCHES

RUN	NO.: 13			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,					-	-
IDEN	<b>TIFICATIO</b>	N: RECT	. MR 1							
MAGNI	US ROTOR	PARAMETER	5			CONTROL	PARAMET	ERS		
SYMBOL	COMP.SY	VALUE	DIM.				COMP.	SY.	VALUE	DIM.
9	RHO	1.225	KG/H <sup>3</sup>	No. o	f Equ	ations	NDIM		10	-
S	S	.0468	M <sup>2</sup>	Initi	al Tin	ne	PRMT (	1)	0	DNT
c/2	RL	.0625	м	Final	Time		PRMT (	2)	10	DNT
m	BM	1.50	ХG	Upper	Time	Incr.	PRMT (	3)	10-1	DNT
İ	TMOI	.0268	kg m²	Upper	Error	Bd.	PRMT (	4)	10-6	-
Iy	Smoi	.0040	kg m <sup>2</sup>							
8 <b>55</b>	GSS	-24.7	DEG		ITIAL	CONDITIO	ONS	EI	RROR WE	IGHTS
d <sub>D</sub>	C(1)	1.31		SYM.	co.s	VALUE	DIM.	SYM.	VAL.	DIM.
ĊLA	C(2)	2,51		V <sub>R</sub>	P(1)	16.6	M/SEC	۵v <sub>n</sub>	.05	DNL/DNT
Ċ <sub>no</sub>	C(3)	.508		δη.	P(2)	-77	DEG	۵γμ	.049	RAD
CHUA	C(4)	450	s	ω <sub>R</sub>	P(3)	850	RPM	٥.	.001	RAD/DNT
Cys	C(5)	-3.82	A N	ß	P(4)	0	DEG	۵ĵЗ	.2	RAD
Cyas	C(6)	Ø	H Q	•	P(5)	3	DEG	54	.2	RAD
CLEA	C(7)	357	R A	φ	P(6)	0	DEG/SEC	٥¢	.05	RAD/DNT
CLA	C(8)	-5.82	z	41	P(7)	n	deg	Δлф	.2	RAD
CLAR	C(9)	0	н	4	P(8)	-40	DEG/SEC	Δųμ̃	.05	RAD, DNT
CLAS	C(10)	0.	N R	×	P (9)	0 O	м	٥x	.1	DNL _
Class	C(11)	0	I V	2	P(10)	Ð	ĸ	52	.1	dni,
CLA AL	C(12)	0	A T	REMARI	<u>KS :</u>		*****		\$	
Cna	C(13)	737	ΓΛ	Aerody	namic	data ir	om NACA			
Ċná	C(14)	-13.80	E	Langle Test H	ey Stal M SL	billty T 55 J 26	unnel			
Cn B2	C(15)	0	P	Novemp	er 19	55				
Cnas	C(16)	0	1 1							
Chara	Ç(17)	0	V						_	ĺ
CuBAL	C(18)	0	-				-		×	

<b>\</b> ₽	PETDIX C								,	244	
	RUN N	<b>0.:</b> 15									
	IDENT	IFICATION	I: RECI.	MR 1							
	MAGNU	S ROTOR P	ARAMETERS	3			CONTROL	PARAMET	ERS		
	SYMBOL	COMP.SY.	VALUE	DIM.				COMP.	SY.	VALUE	DIM.
	9	RHO		KG/M <sup>3</sup>	No. o	f Equa	tions	NDIM		10	-
	ຽ	S	L1	M2	Initi	al Tim	ie	PRMT (	1)	0.	DNT
	c/L	RL	z	м	Final	Time		PRMT (	2)	5.	DNT
	m	BM	с К	KG	Upper	•Time	Incr.	PRMT (	3)	10 <sup>-1</sup>	DNT
11	I	TMOI	(r <b>)</b>	kg m <sup>2</sup>	Upper	Error	Bd.	PRMT (	4)	10-5	-
	Iy	SMOI	ш 0	kg m <sup>2</sup>							
	833	GSS		DEG			CONDITIO	ля s	Et	T	,IGHIS
	¢ <sub>D</sub>	C(1)			SYM.	CO.S	VALUE	DIM.	SYM.	VAL.	DIM.
	Ć <sub>lá</sub>	C(2)			VR.	P(1)	100	M/SEC	Δ٧٫	.05	DNL/DNT
	Ċ <sub>He</sub>	C(3)		-	12	P(2)	0	DEG	۵yn	.049	RAD
	Church	C(4)		s	ω <sub>R</sub>	P(3)	4000	RPM	٥.	.001	RAD/DNT
	Cyr	C(5)		N N	/5	P(4)	0	DEG	012	.2	RAD
	Curs.	C(6)		H Q	φ :	P(5)	3	DEG	40	.2	RAD
	CLAA	C(7)		R A	φ	P(6)	0	DEG/SEC	44	.05	RAD/DNT
	CLA	C(8)	1 3	z	A41	P(7)	0	DEG	Δų °	2	RAD
	Cina	-C(9)		H.	41	P (8)	0	DEG/SEC	54	.05	RAD/DNT
ļ	C133	C(10)	n	с) М	×	P(9)	6	M	٥x	.1	DNL
	Class	C(11)	22	ΓΛ	2	P(10)	0	M	25	.1	DNL
	CIA AN	C(12)	(*) [1]	A T	REMAR	<u>KS :</u>					
	Cna	C(13)	S	ч		• - •				-	
Ì	Cna	C(14)		ัช ผ							
	Cn A3	C(15)		9			- 1	v v			-
	Cn 43	C(16)		н н			-				
	Cnain	<b>Ç(</b> 17)		V				-		•	
	Cubar	C(18)									

e

٠

•

. .

RUN N	10.: 19									
IDENJ	IFICATIO:	N: RECT.	MR 1	•						
MAGNU	S ROTOR I	ARAMETERS		]		CONTROL	PARAMET	ERS		
SYMBOL	COMP.SY.	VALUE	DIM.				COMP.	5Y.	VALUE	DIM.
٩	RHO	1.164	KG/M <sup>3</sup>	No. o	f Equa	tions	NDIM	İ	10	-
\$	S	.0468	м <sup>2</sup>	Initi	al Tim	e	PRYT (	1)	0.238	DNT
c/L	RL	.0625	м	Final	Time		PRMT (	2)	6.	DNT
m	BM	1.50	KG	Upper	Time	Incr.	PRMT (:	3)	10 <sup>-2</sup>	DNT
I	TMOI	.0268	kg m <sup>2</sup>	Upper	Error	Bd.	PRMT (	4)	10 <sup>-5</sup>	-
Iy	SMOI	.0040	kg m <sup>2</sup>	TN						
8 <b>55</b>	GSS	-24.7	DEG			CONDITIC	м5 	<b>E</b> .		
¢ <sub>D</sub>	C(1)			SYM.	CO.S.	VALUK	DIM.	SYM	VAL.	DIM.
ĊĹŵ	C(2)			YR Y	F(L)	8.5	<i>E/ 320</i>	/3×n	.05	DNL/ AI
C <sub>na</sub>	C(3)			(2)	F(2)	-85	DEG	08n	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	KAD
C <sub>Ma@</sub>	C(4)		es.	A	r(3)	360	RFF1	δω,		KAD/DN1
Cyp	C(5)		AN		r (4)	0	DEG	als	.2	RAD
Cyps	C(6)		ΓQ	ц ф њ	<b>P</b> (5)	-25		ıφ	.2	KAD
CLAB	C(7)		RA	4h	$\mathbf{r}(\mathbf{e})$	0	DEG/SEC	Δφ Δι	.05	KAD/DNT
CLp	C(8)	1 3	iz;	ملد	x(1)	U 1/3	DEG	10M 	.2	KAD
Clips	C(9)	ż	н		r (0)	141	DEG/SEC	1044	.05	KAD/DNT
CLAS	C(10)	ນ້	ง ย		E(3)	20	n N	0X	,,,	DNL
Ciasia	C(11)		л И	£	F(10)	2()	<b>N</b>	75		
CLAAL	C(12)	년 19	T V.	REMAR	<u>KS :</u>					
Cns	C(13)	S	л н Т							
CnA	C(14)	-	е; ы		·				-	-
Cnpa	C(15)		Α					-		
CnAs	C(16)		н н							
Chain	<b>Ç(</b> 17)	-	Υ		-				• _	
Cuant	C(18)			۰,				-		

Ł

RUN N	0.: 21						(1-1			·
IDENI	IFICATION	RECT.	MR I	•						
MAGNU	S ROTOR P	ARAMETERS				CONTROL	PARAMET	ERS		
SYMBOL	COMP.SY.	VALUE	DIM.				COMP.	SY.	VALUE	DIM.
9	RHO		KG/M <sup>3</sup>	No. o	f Equa	tions	NDIM		10	-
S	S	13	м <sup>2</sup>	Initi	al Tim	e	PRMT (	1)	0	DNT
c/L	<b>XL</b>	7	м	Final	Time		PRMT (	2)	5	DNT
m	BM	R U N	KG	Upper	·Time	Incr.	PRHT (	3)	10 <sup>-1</sup>	DNT
I	THOI	_	kg m <sup>2</sup>	Upper	Error	Bd.	PRMT (	4)	10-5	-
Iy	SMOI	ਸ ਸ	kg m <sup>2</sup>	TN	ITTAL	CONDITIO	)NS		ROR WE	IGHTS
885	GSS	ŝ	DEG						Τ	
Ċ <sub>D</sub>	C(1)			V.	CU.S.	VALUE	DIM.	SYM.	VAL.	DIM.
ĊLŵ	C(2)			Y.	P(2)	180	DRC		.05	
Cna	C(3)		•	(A)	P(2)	4000	BDM	adr.	.043	PAD /DWT
CHAG	C(4)		S	A	P(4)	4000	DEC	A C	.001	RAD/DAT
Cyp	C(5)		× ×	4	P(5)	2	DEC			PAD
Cyps	C(6)	*	н А	↓	x (J)	2		40	, <i>L</i>	
CLOB	C(7)		RA	Ah	P(7)	0	DEG/SEC	δφ ΛιL	.05	RAD/DAL
CLp	C(8)	13	N	, in	P(8)	0	DEC/SEC			PAD /DNT
Clap:	C(9)			Y Y	P(9)	, v n	. м	50	.05	DNT.
Cips	C(10)	N N N	8	2	P(10	0		47	.1	DNT.
Clart	C(11)		I I				· · · ·			
CLARA	C(12)	년 11	A V	REMAR	<u>KS :</u>					-
Cnp	C(13)	ŵ	н							-
Cna	C(14)	-	N	-			2 			
Cn p3	C(15)					-			•	
Cnis	C(16)		A L J		-				-	
Cnsin	Ç(17)	~	-		-		1		• _	
Cup 22	Ç(1 <b>9</b> )			-		-			~	-

RUN N	10.: 23									-
IDENT	<b>UFICATION</b>	I: RECT.	MR 1	•						
MAGNU	S ROTOR E	ARAMETERS				CONTROL	PARAMET	ERS		+
SYMBOL	COMP.SY.	VALUE	DIM.				COMP.	sy.	VALUE	DIM.
٩	RHO		KG/M <sup>3</sup>	No. o	f Equa	tions	NDIM		10	-
\$	S	13	M <sup>2</sup>	Initi	al Tim	e	PRMT (	1)	0	DNT
c/2	RL		м	Final	Time		PRMT (	2)	5	DNT
m	BM	N N	KG	Upper	•Time	Incr.	PRMT (	3)	10 <sup>-2</sup>	DNT
I,	TMOI	R	kg m <sup>2</sup>	Upper	Error	Bd.	PRMT (	4)	10 <sup>-5</sup>	-
Iy	SMO I,	មា មា	kg m <sup>2</sup>	TN		CONDITI	NIC		DOP UE	TOUTS
ک <mark>هه</mark>	GSS	S	DEG			GONDIII				IGHTS
¢ <sub>D</sub>	C(1)	,		SYM.	CO.S	VALUE	DIM.	SYM.	VAL.	DIM.
CLâ	C(2)			Y.	F(2)	100	DEC	1.3 V R	.03	
C <sub>Ma</sub>	C(3)		•	•n.	F(2)	4000	DEG DEG	Dyn NT		KAU
Chai	C(4)	,	s	A	P(4)	4000	DEC			
Cyp	C(5)		V V	6	F(4)	3	DEG		.2	RAD
Cyps	C(6)		П Д		r (3) P (6)	0	DEG	40		
CLAB	C(7)		R A	Ah	P(7)	0	DEG/SEC	2φ Λ.ι.	.05	RAD/DN1
ĊLÂ	C(8)	13	Z	, in	P(8)	0	DEC/SEC		.2	
Clips	C(9 <u>)</u>	z .			P(9)	0	¥	1040	.05	זאט <i>ו</i> עראז.
CLôs	C(10)	R U	LA LA		P(10)	0	 	40 47		DNT
Clapip	C(11)		I I				•1.	ðt		
CLA AT	C(12)	년 년	V V	REMAR	<u>KS :</u>					
Cns	C(13)	۰ <u>۰</u>	КГ	-						
Cna	C(14)		20 20	-						
Cn p3	C(15)			-						
C'n <sub>n</sub> 3	- C(16)		4 F 1			-				
Cnsin	<b>Ç(</b> 17)	-					-		•	
Cupil	C(18)									

C(18)

RUN NO.: 24 IDENTIFICATION: REC1. MR 1 CONTROL PARAMETERS MAGNUS ROTOP PARAMETERS VALUE DIM. COMP.SY. DIM. VALUE SYMBOL COMP.SY KG/M<sup>3</sup> No. of Equations NDIM 10 9 RHO DNT PRMT(1) ຮ່ м2 0 Initial Time S DNT PRMT(2)5 Final Time c/2 М RL  $\mathbf{z}$ 10<sup>-2</sup> PRMT(3) DNT Upper Time Incr. KG BM m 5 Ľ 10<sup>-5</sup>  $KG M^2$ PRMT(4)Upper Error Bd. 1 TMOI ы kg m<sup>2</sup> Iy. SMOI ERROR WEIGHTS INITIAL CONDITIONS ы S DZG GSS 885 VALUE DIM. SYM. VAL DIM. SYM. CO.S d C(1) 0.1 ۵Ŷ'n M/SEC .05 DNL/DNT V<sub>R</sub> P(1) C.ŵ C(2) Yn P(2) - 90 .049 RAD DEG ۵yn Ć<sub>ne</sub> C(3) ٥. P(3) 200 .001 RAD/DNT  $\omega_{\mathbf{R}}$ RPM С.наф Сур Сурэ C(4) S ۵ß 5 ß P(4) DEG .2 RAD  $\mathbf{z}$ C(5) 4 ф 40 .2 RAD P(5) 0 DEG н C(6) ρ φ DEG/SEC A .05 RAD/DNT P(6) 0 CLOB 4 C(7) щ 4 AH P(7) 0 DEG ,2 RAD CLA C(8) 2 DEG/SEC AH RAD/DNT A. P(8) 0 , 05 н (م ش ا C(9) 0 DNL X P(9) M ۵x .1  $\mathbf{Z}$ S CLAS C(10) n μ 0 DNL P(10) H .1 ٧Ŧ Ц z > Clarp C(11) М ы ы المُ مِنْ REMARKS : C(12) 4 μ > 5 Cnp н C(13) 24 Ćn<sup>A</sup> C(14) 24 Cnp<sup>2</sup> Cnp<sup>2</sup> Cnp<sup>2</sup> ρ C(15) Ч C(16) البر ₹¢. **Ç(17)** 

RUN N	0.: 25					,				
IDENT	IFICATION	I: RECT. 1	MR 1							
MAGNU	S ROTOR P	ARAMETERS		<u> </u>		CONTROL	PARAMET	ERS		
SYMBOL	COMP.SY.	VALUE	DIM.				COMP .	SY.	VALUE	DIM
9	RHO		kg/m <sup>3</sup>	No. of	E Equa	tions	NDIM		10	-
5	S	ε	м2	Initia	al Tim	e	PRMT (	1)	0	DNT
c/2	RL	1	M	Final	Time		FRMT (	2)	5	DNT
m	BM	N N	KG	Upper	·Time	Incr.	PRMT (	3)	10-2	DNT
I	TMO1	R	kg m <sup>2</sup>	Upper	Error	Bd.	PRMT (	4)	10 <sup>-5</sup>	_
Iy	SMOI	ਸ ਹ	kg m <sup>2</sup>	[ 				<u>_</u>		
8	GSS	S E	DEG			CONDITIC	DNS	EI	ROR WE	IGHTS
d <sub>p</sub>	C(1)			SYM.	co.s.	VALUE	DIM.	SYM.	VAL.	DIM.
C <sub>LA</sub>	C(2)	-		Vre	P(1)	0.1	M/SĘC	۵۷ <sub>n</sub>	.05	DNL/DNT
с	C(3)			In	P(2)	-90	DEG	۵۶π	•049	RÁD
Cr.	C(4)		5	ω"	P(3)	200	RPM	۵ῶ,	.001	RAD/UNT
C.	C(5)		N	ß	P(4)	5	DEG	DB	.2	RAD
-7/2 C	0(3)		н	•	P(5)	0	DEG	٥ф	.2	RAD
C A B	C(0)			φ.	P(6)	0	DEG/SEC	۵Å	.05	RAD/DNT
Chip		e N		4	P(7)	0	DEG	DAH	.2	kad
d in	0(0)	ч,	И Н	A.	P(8)	0	DEG/SEC	54	.05	RAD/DNT
Chap?	U(9)	z	s	×	P(9)	0	м	۵x	.1	DNL
C1 p3	C(10)	R U	A E	Z	P(10)	0		52	.1	DNL
C w p p		ដា	н	DEMAR	4		L	<u>.</u>	-#	
Chin pr	C(12)	ය ග	ΓΛΨ							
Cmp	C(14)		8							
Cura	C(15)	-	а А							
C.A.	C(16)		ч							, ,
-n <sub>k</sub> ;	<b>c(</b> 17)		A l							
-ngin Cur As	C(18)	-							•	
~ BRL			1	L						

APPLADIX C

RUN N	0.: 30					-				
IDENT	IFICATION	: CYL. :	1K -+A	~ <del>~~~~~</del> ~~~~~						
MAGNU	S ROTOR PA	ARAMETERS			, 	CONTROL	PARAMETH	RS		
SYMBOL	COMP.SY.	VALUE	DIM.				COMP.S	Y.	VALUE	DIM.
9	RHO	1.139	kg/m <sup>3</sup>	No. of	E Equa	tions	NDIM	Ì	10	-
క	S	.0464	M <sup>2</sup>	Initie	al Tim	e	PRMT (1	.)	Ø	DNT
c/2	RL	.0762	м	Final	Time		PRMT (2	2)	2	DNT
m	вм	2.137	КG	Upper	Time	incr.	PRMT (3	3)	10-2	DNT
I	TMOI	.0267	kg m <sup>2</sup>	Upper	Error	Bd.	PRMT (4	+)	10-5	-
Iy	SMOL	.0122	kg m <sup>2</sup>	TN	TTTAT.	CONDITIC	)NS	EF	ROR WE	IGHTS
8 <b>55</b>	GSS	-57	DEG							
ć,	C(1)	1.2		SYM.	CO.S.	VALUE	DIM.	SYM.	VAL.	DIM.
Ċ. A	C(2)	1.6		Vr	P(1)	24	M/SEC	'7A <sup>H</sup>	, US	UNL/DN1
-Lŵ 1	c(2)	92		. Yn.	P(2)	-57	DEG	۵yn	.049	RAD
Ha	6(3)			ω <sub>n</sub>	P(3)	1290	rpm	۵۵۵,	.001	RAD/DNT
CHAR	C(4)	55	N N	ß	P(4)	0	DEG	۵ß	.2	RAD
Cyp	C(5)	-1.0	I A	•	P(5)	12.5	DEG	۰Δφ	.2	RAD
Cyps	C(6)	0	A D	φ	P(6)	0	DEG/SEC	٥ф	.05	RAD/DNT
CLAB	C(7)	-2.11	×	4	P(7)	0	DEG	۵л	.2	RAD
Cip	C(8)	-1.54	N I	A.	P(8)	-768	DEG/SEC	104	.05	RAD/DNT
Clûps	C(9)	104	S	×	P (9)	0	м	٥x	.1	DNL
C1 p3	C(10)	0	V E	2	P(10	0	м	52	.1	DNL
Clŵpip	C(11)	0	1 1		1	ļ	L	<u>.</u>		L
CLAND	C(12)	Ð	V A	REMAI	<u> </u>			<b>T</b>	**>	.1
Cnp	C(13)	.47	н	Aero Tunn	dynami el Tes	c data f t PC 003	rom ARO	, Inc 1970	., Win	(1
Cnâ	C(14)	$ -1.7^{\pm/}$	2 2	<u>1</u> /	from F	light Te	st, Juno	e 197	'0	
CnB2	C(15)	0	L .				L			
CnA3	C(16)	0 <sup>'</sup>	A L 1							
Cnsift	Ç(17)	0							•	
Cuc 12	C(18)	0 <sup>~</sup>	1	11						

RUN N	10.: 31						<del></del>			
IDENT	IFICATION	N: CYL.	MR 11	•						
MAGNU	S ROTOR I	PARAMETERS	5			CONTROL	PARAMET	ERS		
SYMBOL	COMP.SY.	VALUE	DIM.				COMP.	SY.	VALUE	DIM.
9	RHO	1.139	KG/M <sup>3</sup>	No. o	f Equa	tions	NDIM		10	-
5	S	.0464	<u>м</u> 2	Initi	al Tim	ie	PRMT (	1)	0	DNT
c/L	RL	.0762	м	Final	Time		PRMT (	2)	2	DNT
m	BM	2.580	KG	Upper	Time	Incr.	PRMT (	3)	10-2	DNT
I,	TM01	.0170	kg m <sup>2</sup>	Upper	Error	Bd.	PRMT (	4)	10-5	-
Iy	SMOI	.0133	kg m <sup>2</sup>	TN	TTTA1	CONDITIO		FD		TCHTS
855	GSS	-57	DEG							
d <sub>p</sub>	C(1)			SYM.	CO.S.	VALUE	DIM.	SYM.	VAL.	DIM.
ĊĹŵ	C(2)			νπ. γ-	r(1)	26	MISEC	Δv <sub>π</sub>	.05	DNL/DNT
C <sub>ne</sub>	C(3)		•	•n.	P(2)	-57	DEG	08n	.049	RAD
CMAA	C(4)		s	w <sub>n</sub>	P(3)	1290	RPM	٥.	.001	RAD/DNT
Cys	C(5)		N N	/5	P(4)	0	DEG	Δ <u>[</u> 5	.2	RAD
Cy 3	C(6)		н G	φ	P(5)	12.5	DEG	40	.2	RAD
CLOR	C(7)		R A	φ	P(6)	0	DEG/SEC	04	.05	RAD/DNT
CLA	C(8)	0	Z	44	<b>۲</b> (7)	0	DEG	Δ.h	.2	RAD
Chinas	C(9)	т	н.	4	P(8)	-768	DEG/SEC	54	.05	RÁD/DNT
CLAS	C(10)	N N	ы N	×	P(9)	0	M	٥x	.1	DNL
Clark	C(11)	R	ΓΛ	2	P(10)	0	'M	75	.1	DNL
CLA AL	C(12)	ध्य ध्य	A T	REMAR	<u>KS:</u>					
Cns	C(13)	Ś	ΓΛ				-	-	-	
Cni	C(14)		स्र भ्र							-
Cnpa	C(15)		Ω							
Cnfs	C(16)		1 1							
Cnsif	<b>Ç(</b> 17)		Y							
CuBAL	C(18)					-	-			

RUN N	10.: 32						****	*******		
IDENI	IFICATION	N: RECT.	MR 3							
MAGNU	IS ROTOR I	ARAMETERS	5			CONTROL	PARAMET	ERS		
SYMBOL	COMP.SY.	VALUE	DIM.				COMP .	SY.	VALUE	DIM.
9	RHO	1,127	KG/M <sup>3</sup>	No. o	f Equa	tions	MDTM		10	-
S	S	.11468	M2	Initi	al Tim	e	PRMT (	1)	0	DNT
c/2	RL	.0625	м	Final	Time		PRMT (	2)	.6	DNT
m	BM	1.367	KG	Upper	·Time	Incr.	PRMT (	3)	10-2	DNT
I	TMOI	.0238	kg m <sup>2</sup>	Upper	Error	Bd.	PRMT (	4)	10-5	-
Iy	SMOI	.0028	KG M <sup>2</sup>	TN		CONDITI	DN C			TOUTS
855	GSS	-27.7	DEG			·				
¢ <sub>D</sub>	C(1)	1.42		SYM.	CO.S	VALUE	DIM.	SYM.	VAL	DIM.
CLA	C(2)	2,39		ν <sub>2</sub> √	P(1)	7	M/SEC	Δv <sub>k</sub>	.05	DNL/DNT
Ċ,	C(3)	.508		₿n_	P(2)	-50	DEG	۵yu	.049	RAD
Chia	C(4)	45	s	ω <sub>R</sub>	P(3)	300	RPM	۵۵۰,	.001	RAD/DNT
Cua	C(5)	-2.51	Z	ß	P(4)	3	DEG	٥ļ۶	.2	RAD
di a	C(6)	0	н	•	P(5)	0	DEG	40	.2	RAD
CIA.	C(7)	-1 23	1 V 1	•	P(6)	0	reg/sec	٥ф	.05	RAD/DNT
Cas	c (8)	-4. 24		44	P(7)	0	DEG	54	.2	RAD
d		245	и н	4	P(8)	0	DEG/SEC	۵ŵ	.05	RAD/DNT
Cings		545	S	×	P(9)	0	M	۵x	.1	DNL
C 1 3		0	2 >	Z	P (10)	Ü	'N	25	.1	DNL
-lŵpiệ	0(11)	0	H H	DEMAR					<b></b>	
CLŵp p2	C(12)	1 20	V N	Aarod	vnamic	data fi	CON NACA	Lano	1.01	
Cns	6(13)	1.50	н ж_	Stabi	lity T	unnel Te	est RM SI	L 55J	26.	
Cn <sub>R</sub>	C(14)	-10	ы Д	novem	oer ta					
CnB3	C(15)	-212	_	-				-		
CnA3	C(16)	0	A L					-		
Cnpin	<b>Ç(</b> 17)	11		-					•	
CHASI	C(18)	0								

r

RUN	NO.: 34									
IDEN	<b>FIFICATIO</b>	N: CYL.	MR 1							
MAGN	JS ROTOR	PARAMETER	5			CONTROL	PARAMET	ERS		
SYMBOL	COMP.SY	VALUE	DIM.				COMP.	SY.	VALUE	DIM.
٩	RHO	1.127	KG/M <sup>3</sup>	Nc. o	E Equ	ations	NDIM		10	-
S	s	.0464	M2	Initi	al Tir	ne	PRMT (	1)	0	DNT
c/2,	RL	.0762	м	Final	Tíme		PRMT (	2)	7	DNT
m	вм	3.148	KG	Upper	Time	Incr.	PRMT (	3)	10-2	DNT
1	TMOI	.0598	kg m <sup>2</sup>	Upper	Erroi	Bd.	PRMT (	4)	10-5	_
Iy	SMOI	.0248	kg m <sup>2</sup>			<b></b>				
X <sub>53</sub>	GSS	-42.3	DEG		ITIAL	CONDITI	0NS T	ER	ROR WI	EIGHTS
d <sub>D</sub>	C(1)	1.3		SYM.	co.s	VALUE	DIM.	SYM.	VAL.	DIM.
CLA	C(2)	2.64	-	Vr	P(1)	13.5	M/SEC	Δ٧π	.05	DNL/DNT
Ċ <sub>n</sub>	C(3)	.21		In.	P(2)	-32	DEG	Δ۶π	-049	RAD
CHAA	C(4)	40	S	ω	P(3)	470	RPM	٥.	.001	RAD/DNT
Cys	C(5)	-4.9	N N	ß	P(4)	0	DEG	۵ß	.2	RAD
Cuns	C(6)	0	н	•	P(5)	0	DEG	40	.2	RAD
CLA	C(7)	-2.0	R A	φ	P(6)	0	DEG/SEC	44	.05	RAD/DNT
CLA	, (8)	-10 <sup>1</sup> /	Z	41	P(7)	0	DEG	DAh	.2	RAD
C <sub>IA</sub>	C(9)	0	н.	4	P(8)	0	DEG/SEC	Δųμ	.05	RAD/DNT
Clas	C(10)	0	ى ت	×	<b>P(</b> 9)	0	M	٥x	.1	DNL
Ciana	C(11)	0		Z	P(10)	0	M	25	.i	DNL
τω <sub>β</sub> ρ C	C(12)	0	ч	REMAR	(s :				<u> </u>	
τώρρ Cno	C(13)	-2,0	ΛI	Aerod	<del></del> ynamic	data fi	rom ARO.	Inc,		
Cna	C(14)	-20 <u>1</u> /	23 23	Wind '	Tunnel	. Test P(	0037.	May	1970	
Cnaz	C(15)	0	A	<u>1</u> / fr	om Fli	ght Test	t, June	1970		
Cna	C(16)	0 .	н н							
China	<b>¢(</b> 17)	0	A		•					
Cupil	C(18)	0							•	

م حصور میں نہ جب ہے جو ہے کہ			******						الراد متعلق أكامه براعتهم	
run n	0.: 35									
IDENT	IFICATION	: TRIANG	. MR 1	r <del> </del>	<u> </u>					
MAGNU	S ROTOR P	ARAMETERS			<u> </u>	CONTRCL	PARAMETI	ers T		
SYMBOL	COMP.SY.	VALUE	DIM.				COMP.5	<u>, Y</u>	VALUE	DIM.
9	RHO	1.127	KG/M <sup>3</sup>	No. of	E Equa	tion#	NDIM		10	-
S	S	.0810	M2	Initia	al Tim	e	PRMT (1	L)	0	DNT
c/L	RL	.0880	M	Final	Time		PRMT (2	2)	5	DNT
m	BM	2.395	KG	Upper	·Time	lncr.	PRHT (	»;	10 <sup>-2</sup>	DNT
1	TMOI	.0541	kg m <sup>2</sup>	Upper	Error	Bd.	PRMT (4	4)	10 <sup>-5</sup>	-
Iy	SMOI	.0123	kg m <sup>2</sup>	TN		CONDITI	INS	E	RROR WE	IGHTS
8.5	GSS	-33.7	DEG	111						
Ċ <sub>D</sub>	C(1)	1.03		SYM.	co.s.	VALUE	DIM.	SYM	VAL.	DIM.
Ć	C(2)	2.0		V <sub>R</sub>	P(1)	19	M/SEC '	10v <sub>7</sub>	.05	DNL/DN1
	c(3)	.247		Nn.	P(2)	-40	DEG	٨۶٣	.049	RAD
C Ha	c(4)	205		ω	P(3)	200	RPM	٥ῶ,	.001	RAD/DNT
CHAG	6(4)	525	5 2	ß	P(4)	0	DEG	۵ß	.2	RAD
Cyp	C(5)	-3.85	V I	<b>\$</b>	P(5)	3	DEG	۵φ	.2	RAD
Cyps	C(6)	0	9 4	<b></b>	P(6)	0	DEG/SEC	100	.05	RAD/DNT
CLAR	C(7)	35	R	4	P(7)	0	DEG	AN	.2	RAD
CLp	C(8)	-5.4	L N	in	P(8)	0	, DEG/SEC	٨٣	.05	RAD/DNT
CIAp:	C(9)	0		×	P (9)	0	M	AV	.1	DNL
CIPS	C(10)	0	8	-8	P(10)	0	Ж.	1	.1	DNL
Clusto	C(11)	0	H						_	
CLAR	C(12)	0	L A .	REMAR	<u>KS:</u>					
Cns	C(13)	-2.0	L L V	Aero	dyna ai TR	c data i & D Repo	From Aero	ojet -23((	Genera 01)FP	1
Cni	C(14)	-13.1	ณ ม	Apri	1 1965	u s nope		20 (1		
Cngo	C(15)	0	9		-					
Cnás	C(16)	0	7 7		-		-			
Cnais	<b>Ç(</b> 17)	0								
CuBAI	C(18)	U		-						

											and the second se
	RUN N	<b>0.:</b> 36					-			-	
	IDENT	IFICATION	ERECT.	MR 2							
	MAGNU	S ROTOR P	ARAMETERS				CONTROL	PARAMETI	ERS		
	SYMBOL	COMP.SY.	VALUE	DIM.				COMP.5	3Y.	VALUE	DIM.
	٩	RHO	1.140	kg/m <sup>3</sup>	No. of	E Equa	tions	NDIM		1.0	-
	క	8	.0468	м <sup>2</sup>	Initia	al Tim	e	PRMT (1	)	0	Di 1
	c/£	ĸL	.0625	M	Final	Time		PRMI (2	2)	1	DNT
	m	BM	1.607	КG	Upper	Time	îner.	PRMT (	\$	10 <sup>-2</sup>	DNT
	I	ICMT	.0336	kg m²	Upper	Error	Bd.	PRMT (4	+)	10-5	-
rt I	ły	SMOL	.0028	кс м <sup>2</sup>	TN	 [፹ንለ].	CONDITIO	)NS	ER	ROR WE	IGHTS
	855	GSS	-27.7	DEG							DTM
	d <sub>D</sub>	C(1)			SYM.	CO.S.	VALUE	DIM.	SYM.	VAi.	DIM.
	ĊĿŵ	C(2)			Y.	P(2)	-97 7	DEC	л <sup>, с.,</sup> т	.049	RAD
	¢ <sub>ma</sub>	C(3)		-	in la	P(3)	-27.7	PTM	1 Don	.042	RAD /DNT
	Cnda	C(4)		S	A		2400	DEC	A CL		RAD
	Cyp	C(5)		A N	4	D(E)	1.5	DEC		••	PAD
	Cyps	C(6)		н Д	ц Ф.	E(3)	1.5	DEG		.2	
	CLOB	C(7)		R A	Ak.	P(7)	0 0	DEG/ SEC		.05	RAD DAT
	CLp	C(8)	3 2	N	in	P(8)	-30	DEC/SEC		- 05	PAD/DNT
	Class	C(9)				P (0)		м	AT.	.05	DNT
	CLAS	C(10)	ה א	E C		P(10	0	M	UX AT	.1	DNL.
	CLARA	C(11)	62	L V	E		1		۵ŧ		
	CLAR	C(12)	មា ក្រ	L A 1	REMAR	XS:			-	-	
	Cns	C(13)	s	1 I X							
	Crâ	C(14)		) E ]				-			
	Cnps	C(15)									
	China	C(16)	-	A L I			-			-	-
	Cnsin	¢(17)				۰		-		•	
	Cupit	C(1E)								-	

RUN N	0.: 37											
IDENT	IFICATION	: RECT.	MR 3									
MAGNU	S ROTOR P	ARAMETERS		CONTROL PARAMETERS								
SYMBOL	COMP.SY.	VALUE	DIM.				COMP.S		ALUE	DIM.		
9	RHÔ	-	KG/M <sup>3</sup>	No. of Equations			NDIM		10	-		
5	S	63	M2	Initi	al Tim	e	PRMT (1	0	0	DNT		
c/L	RL	97. 1	M	Final	Time		PRMT (2	2)	l	DNT		
m	BM	и 0	KG	Upper	Time	Incr.	PRMT (	3)	10 <sup>-2</sup>	DNT		
I	TMOI	¥	kg m <sup>2</sup>	Upper	Error	Bd.	PRMT (	4)	10-5	-		
Iy	Smoi	വ പ	kg m <sup>2</sup>	IN	ITIAL	CONDITIC	)NS	ERROR WEIGHTS				
8 <sub>55</sub>	GSS	S	DEG	SVM	CO 5	VALUE	DTM.	SYM.	VAL.	DIM.		
C <sub>D</sub>	C(1)			V <sub>R</sub>	P(1)	12.9	M/SEC	ΔŸ,	.05	ONL/DNT		
ĊĹŴ	C(2)			Ya	P(2)	-27.7	DEG	AY.	.049	RAD		
C <sub>na</sub>	C(3)			ŵ,	P(3)	2227	RPM	AIS	.001	KED/DNT		
CHAG	C(4)		S X	ß	<b>P</b> (4)	0 -	DEG	AB	.2	RAD		
Cup	C(5)		L A J	•	P(5)	1.5	DEG	Λф	.2	RAD		
Cyps	C(5)		9	ġ.	P(6)	0	DEG/SEC	ΛÅ	.05	RAD/DNT		
CLUB	C(7)		R	4	P(7)	0	DEG	AN	.2	RAD		
CLp	C (8)	3 5	N	Mi	P(8)	-27.8	DEG/SEC		.05	RAD/DNT		
CLAPS	C(9)			×	P(9)	0	м	AT	.1	DNL		
C1 \$3	C(10)	2	ы ы	-	P(10	n	H H	40	.1	DNL		
CLAST	C(11)		I I J									
CLAA	C(12)	ਯ ਯ	(, ¥ )	REMAR	UKS :							
Cnp	C(13)	S	L L									
Cra	C(14)		30									
Cnp	C(15)											
Cnfs	C(16)		111	-		-						
Cnsin	Ç(17)			-					•			
CuBAL	C(18)			-								

RUN NO.: 38											
IDENT	TIFICATION	N: CYL.	MR 11		<del></del>						
HAGHUS RUIUR PARAMETERS			CONTROL PARAMETERS								
SYMBOL	COMP.SY.	VALUE	DIM.				COMP.	SY.	VALUE	DIM.	
Ŷ	RHO		KG/M <sup>-7</sup>	No. o	f Eque	tions.	NDIM		10	-	
5	S	31	M <sup>2</sup>	Initi	al Tim	e	PRMI (	1)	.53	DNT	
c/L	RL.		M	Final	Time		PRMT (	2)	7	DNT	
m	BM	N N	KG	Upper	·Time	Incr.	PRMT (	3)	10 <sup>-1</sup>	DNT	
I.	TMOI	~ .	XG M <sup>2</sup>	Upper	Error	Bd.	PRMT (	4)	10 <sup>-5</sup>	-	
Jy	- SMOI	ы	kg m <sup>2</sup>								
8 <sub>93</sub>	GSS	ы S	DEG			CONDITI		ER	ROR WE	IGHTS	
c,	C(1)			SYM.	co.s	VALUE	DIM.	SYM.	VAL.	DIM.	
CLA	C(2)			VR	P(1)	18	M/SEC	۵۷ѫ	.05	DNL/DNT	
Ċ.	C(3)			Tn	P(2)	-51	DEG	۵Yn	.049	RAD	
C.	C(4)			ω <sub>R</sub>	P(3)	230	RPM	٥.	.001	RAD/DNT	
C.	C(5)		Z	ß	P(4)	0	DEG	۵ß	.2	RAD	
41 <sup>2</sup>	0(5)		н	•	P(5)	0	DEG	۵φ	.2	RAD	
			A A	φ	P(6)	0	DEG/SEC DEG	٥ф	.05	RAD/DNT	
CLOR	C(/)			4	P(7)	0		AN	.2	RAD	
	C (8)	30	I N	, AL	P(8)	0	DEG/SEC	<b>D</b> H	.05	RAD/DNT	
L lips	C(9)	z	v	×	P(9)	0	M	٥x	.1	DNL	
CLôs	C(10)	R U	N >	2	P(10)	0	'M	12	.1	DNL	
Clŵpip	C(11)		н н						<b>I</b>		
CLARA	¢(12)	ы ы	V N	REMAR	<u>KS :</u>					4 , 4	
Cns	C(13)	S	H								
Cna	C(14)		ы ы								
Cnpa	C(15)										
Cnas	C(16)		ALL			×					
Cnsin	<b>Ç{</b> 17)					-			•		
CHARL	C(18)			1							

APPENELK C

RUN N	<b>0.:</b> 30											
IDENT	IFICATION	: TRIAN	G. MR 1	•								
MAGNU	S ROTOR P.	ARAMETERS		CONTROL PARAMETERS								
SYMBOL	COMP.SY.	VALUE	DIM.				COMP .S	<u>. Y</u>	ALUE	DIM.		
9	RHO	1.225	Kg/M <sup>3</sup>	No. of	E Equa	tiors	NDIM	1	10	-		
Ś	s	.0810	₩ <sup>2</sup>	Initi	al Tim	e	PRMT (1	0	0	DNT		
c/L	RL	.0880	М	Final	Time		* PRMT (2	2)	7	DNT		
m	BM	2.395	KG	Upper	<b>'Time</b>	Incr,	PRMT (3	3)	10 <sup>-2</sup>	DNT		
I	THOI	.0541	kg m <sup>2</sup>	Upper	Error	Bd.	PRMT (4	•)	10-5	-		
Iy	SMOI	.0123	kg m <sup>2</sup>	TN		CONDITIO	NS	EPROP UFICUTS				
۲ <sub>83</sub>	GSS	-33.7	DEG									
Ċ <sub>p</sub>	C(1)			SYM.	CO.S.	VALUE	DIM.	SYM.	VAL.	DIM.		
Ċ.A	C(2)		-	У <sub>R</sub> . У	P(L)	100	M/ 5 <b>EC</b>	DN <sup>M</sup>	.05	DNL/DNT		
ω- -	c(3)			In.	P(2)	0	DEG	DYn.	.049	RAD		
- Ma				ω <sub>R</sub>	P(3)	200	RPM	Awr	.001	RAD/DNT		
CHUG	6(4)		S Z	ß	P (4')	0	DEG	۵ß	.2	RAD		
Cyp	C(5)		Ч Г Ч	•	P(5)	3	DEG	Δφ	.2	RAD		
Cyps	C(6)		A D	φ	P(6)	0	DEG/SEC	۵Å	.05	rad/dnt		
CLUB	C(7)		œ	4	P(7)	0	DEG	DAh	.2	RAD		
Clp	C(8)	່ມ ທູ	N H	i	P(8)	0	DEG/SEC	AN	.05	RAD/DNT		
Clips	C(9)	7	S	×	P (9)	0	м	٨x	.1	DNL		
CLp3	C(10)	n v	ы N	E	P(10)	0	' <b>Н</b>	14	.1	DNL		
Cinpip	C(11)		н		1		L		<b></b>			
CLARP	C(12)	ម ម	A V	REMAN	<u>uks:</u>							
Cng	C(13)	S	вг									
Ċnâ	C(14)		ผ									
Cup	C(15)		н									
Cnh3	C(16)		A L L									
Cnsin	¢(17)								•			
CuBA2	C(18)											

RUN NO.: 40												
IDENT	IFICATION	I: CYL.	MR 1	•			_					
MAGNU	S ROTOR P	ARAMETERS	;	CONTROL PARAMETERS								
SYMBOL	COMP.SY.	VALUS	DIM.				COMP.	SY.	VALUE	DIM.		
٩	хно	1.225	KG/M <sup>3</sup>	No. of Equations			MDIM		10	-		
5	3	.0464	<u>к</u> 2	Initi	al Tim	e	PRMT (	1)	0	DNT		
c/ <b>L</b>	RL	.0762	M	Final	Time		PRMT (	2)	7	DNT		
m	BM	3.148	KG	Upper	•Time	Incr.	PPMT (	3}	10-2	DNT		
I	TMOI	.0598	kg m <sup>2</sup>	Upper	Error	Bd.	PRMT (	4)	10 <sup>-5</sup>	-		
Iy	SMOI	.0248	KA H <sup>2</sup>	TH		CONDITI	WS.	ED		TCHTS		
855 .	GSS	-42.3	DEG									
¢,	C(1)			SYM.	CO.S.	VALUE	DIM.	SYM.	VAL.	DIM.		
ĊĿŵ	C(2)			νε Υ	F(1)	1	n/SEC	12.v <sub>R</sub>	.05			
C <sub>na</sub>	C(3)		•	• R.	r(2)	0	DEG	$\Delta \mathcal{Y}_{R}$	.049	KAD		
Chad	C(4)		ŝ		x (3)	4000	RPM	δω <sub>κ</sub>	.001	KAD/DN1		
Cyp	C(5)		N N		r (4)	3	DEG	β	.2	RAD		
Cyps	C(6)		н а	÷.	r(5)	0	DEG	40	.2	RAD		
CLOB	C(7)		R A	AL I	P(0)	0	DEG/SEC	Δφ	.05	RAD/DNT		
ĊLô	C(8)	34	Z	, in	P(8)	0	DEC /SEC		.2			
Claps	C(9)	z			P(Q)	0	DEG/SEC	24	.02			
CLAS	C(10)	R U ]	о М		P(10)	0	n v	ΔX		DNI		
CLUSP	C(11)		н	2	1 (10)		, n	95				
CLAAT	C(12)	ម ម	L A 7	REMAR	<u>KS :</u>							
Cns	C(13)	S	ч Ч									
Crin	C(14)		8							5		
Cnp2	C(15)		H									
Cnas	C(16)		I I I		-							
Cnsif	<b>Ç(</b> 17)				-							
CuBAL	C(18)				-							

APREMUMA U

RUN NO.: 4)												
IDENT	IFICATION	I: CYL.	MR 3	•								
MAGNU	S ROTOR P	ARAMETERS	2	CONTROL PARAMETERS								
SYMBOL	COMP.SY.	VALUE	DIN.	İ			COMP.	SY.	VALUE	DIM.		
8	RHO	1.127	KG/H <sup>3</sup>	No. o	f Equa	tions	NDIM		10	-		
5	5	.0464	M <sup>2</sup>	Initi	al Tin	ie -	PRMT (	1)	-	DNT		
c/L	RL.	.0762	м	Final	Time		PRMT (	2)	-	DNT		
m	BM	3.242	КG	Upper	Time	Incr.	PRMT (	3)		DNT		
1	TMOI	.0617	kg m <sup>2</sup>	Upper	Error	Bá.	PRMT (	4)		-		
Iy	SMOI	.0247	kg m <sup>2</sup>	TN	TTTAI.	CONDITIO			TCHTS			
8 <sub>85</sub>	GSS	-42.3	DEG	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·								
Ċ <sub>D</sub>	C(1)			SYM.	CO.S.	VALUE	DIM.	SYN.	VAL.	DIM.		
CLA	C(2)			ν <sub>R</sub> γ-	F(1)		M/SEC	Cv,	.05	DNL/DNT		
Ċ <sub>na</sub>	C(3)		•	1 n.	¥(2)		DEG	ayn	.049	RAD		
Chas	C(4)		S	ω <sub>R</sub>	P(3)		RPM	۵ŵr	.001	RAD/DNT		
Cyp	C(3)		A N	[] []	P(4)		deg	012	.2	RAD		
Cyps	C(6)		N R A D I	φ 	P(5)		DEG	40	.2	RAD		
CLAB	C(7)			Ψ	P(6)		DEG/SEC	ΔΦ	.05	RAD/DNT		
CLÂ	C(8)	34			P(/)		DEG	Δ.Υn	.2	RAD		
CLips	C(9)	77	н		r(8)		DEG/SEC	541	.05	RAD/DNT		
CLAS	C(10)	N N N	ы М		x (3)		M	-ΔX		DNL		
Clara	C(11)		ч	2	r(10)		ñ	75	••	DNL		
CLA AS	C(12)	ម ម	4	REMAR	<u>K8 :</u>							
Cns	C(13)	S	ΓΛ	CYL. MR 3 was flight tested only. It is similar to CYL. MR 1 with small changes in mass distribution.								
Cnâ	C(14)		а Ш									
Cnp	C(15)		A					-				
Cn <sub>h</sub> 3	C(16)		L L									
Cnsig	Ç(17)		V					-				
Cubre	C(18)				-				-			

----

٠

Unclassified

. | .

,

ι

•

-

Security Classification	
DOCUMENT CONT	ROL DATA - R L D
(Seculty classification of title, budy of at \$ 14rt and indexing a	modation must be entered when the overall report to stassified)
Department of the Army	Unclassified
Fort Detrick	th GROUP
Frederick, Maryland 21701	
PRPORT HILE	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
ON FLIGHT DYNAMICS OF MAGNUS RCTORS	
4. DESCRIPTIVE NOTES (Type of input and inclusive dates)	
5- AUTHOR(3) (First nazie, middle initial, last name)	
Peter H. 7ipfel	
A REPONT DATE	TAL TOTAL NO OF PAGES 170 HO OF ASES
November 1970	264 28
te. CONTRACT OR GRANT NO	SO. DRIGINATOR'S REPORT NUMBERIES
	Technical Report 117
*. PROJECT NO 1T061101A91A	
	inia report
с.	
4	AMXFD-AE-T 50403
10 DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT	
Distribution of this	s publication is unlimited; it has
been cleared for release to the gener	ral public. Non-DOD agencies may
purchase this publication from Clear	inghouse, ATTN: Storage and Dissemi-
nation Section, Springfield, Virginia	a, 22151.
11 SUPPLEMENTARY NOTE	12 SPONSORING MILITARY ACTIVITY
Munitions Development Division	Department of the Armay
	Fort Detrick
	Frederick, Maryland 21701
13. ABSTRACT	
A Hagnus rotor is an autorotating	; flight vehicle, designed to develop
a Magnus force efficiently and to emp	oloy it as the major lift force in
free flight. In this report the equa	tions of motion of Magnus rotors are
derived and their performance and sta	bility analyzed and correlated with
free flight tests. Tensor concepts a	re used extensively in formulating the
flight dynumical problem. In particu	lar the ordinary time derivative is
linghe dynamical problem. In particu	the ordinary time derivative is
replaced by the Rotational Derivative	, thus permitting an invariant formo-
lation of the equations of motion, ev	en under time-dependent coordinate
transformations. The perturbation eq	uations are nonlinear nonautonomous
ordinary differential equations of fi	fth-order with three degrees-of-
freedom: rolling, yawing, and sidesl	ipping. Their stability is analyzed.
A reduction to one degree-of-freedom	is achieved by combining the roll and
vaw angles to form the nutation angle	and by employing the method of aver-
aging The stability of the reculting	a first-order equation is discussed
Noopport and sufficient conditions f	the limit evolog and devived and the
necessary and sufficient conditions r	ded he manage design of the Mary -
is snown now limit cycles can be avoi	ded by proper design of the Magnus
rotor. Thirty models were flight tes	ted. Their trajectories and attitude
motions are correlated with computer	simulations whose aerodynamic input
data are solely based on wind tunnel	tests. The agreement is satisfactory.
Two different Magnus shapes were test	ed for limit cycles. The test
results agree well with predictions.	
TO THE CATO REPLACES DO FORM 1478, 1 JAH 44, 1	NHICH IS
UU I NOV 41 24 / 5 OBBOLETE FOR ARMY USE.	Unclassified
	Security Classification

Unclassified Security Clausification

4 x 2 #0501	LIN	K A	LIN	K 8	LIN	ĸĸ							
·····	ROLE	WT	ROLE	WT	ROLE	WT							
Magnua matawa													
Plicht duranica													
Flight dynamics			-										
Aught Lesting													
Aeroballistics													
Equations of Motion													
Aerodynamic derivative	[												
Tensor analysis													
Time derivative													
Perturbation equations	1	-											
Aerial delivery													
Decelerator					_								
Spinning bodies	ļ												
Rigid body dynamics	]												
					l '								
	[				1								
	1				1								
					Í.								
-					ľ								
	i			Į	1	}							
	1				1	ł							
				1		i							
	i	-	1	}	1	1							
	[	í			1								
	l	l		{	ļ								
			}	ļ	1								
		1		ł	1								
	1			ł									
	1	1	í	1	ļ								
	1	í		l									
		ł		ł	1								
	{	1	•		ł	{							
		ł				1							
			ł		1								
•	1		<b>!</b>	1	1								
	[	[	I		1	1							
		-	ł	ł	]								
		1	1	1	1	1							
		[ -			1								
		Ì	ł		[								
	1	Į	ł	l	ł								
			1		1								
	l	l	l	l	1								
	1		I		ļ	1							
	1	1	-		!								
	I	1			1								
	ļ	]	1		1	]							
	di serie de la constante de la constante de la constante de la constante de la constante de la constante de la		Ann 1997	-									
	Ur	nclass	ified	!									
•		for available	Classif	lashlas.		UNCIABULICA							